
Multiple files are bound together in this PDF Package.

Adobe recommends using Adobe Reader or Adobe Acrobat version 8 or later to work with 
documents contained within a PDF Package. By updating to the latest version, you’ll enjoy 
the following benefits:  

•  Efficient, integrated PDF viewing 

•  Easy printing 

•  Quick searches 

Don’t have the latest version of Adobe Reader?  

Click here to download the latest version of Adobe Reader

If you already have Adobe Reader 8, 
click a file in this PDF Package to view it.

http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html




 
 


    
 
 
MEETING NUMBER FOUR HUNDRED AND SEVENTY THREE OF THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF 
ALGONQUIN  COLLEGE  WILL  BE  HELD  ON  MONDAY,  MAY  14,  2012,  BEGINNING  AT 
APPROXIMATELY 5:30 P.M. IN ROOM 104 AT THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE HERITAGE INSTITUTE 
(PERTH CAMPUS) 


 
AGENDA 


 
Item 
 


  Tab # 


1.  Conflict of Interest Declaration 
 


 


2.  Approval of Previous Minutes of April 9, 2012 
 


1 


3.  Business Arising 
 


 


4.  Presentations   


  4.1  Social Media 
 


2 
 


  4.2  Key Performance Indicators & Multi Year Accountability 
  Agreement Update 
 


3 
 


5.  Decision Items & Reports   


  5.1  Report of the Governance Committee 
 Board Policy Update 


 


4 


  5.2  4th Quarter Business Plan Report 
 


5 
 


  5.3  Report of the Audit Committee 
 Revised Endowment Fund Statement of Investment 
Policies & Goals 


 


6 
 


6.  Report of the Chair 
 


 


7.  Report of the President 
 


 


8.  Management Summary Report 
 


7 


9.  Other Business (if applicable) 
 


 


10.  In Camera Session   
 








                                BOARD OF GOVERNORS   


DRAFT 


MINUTES  OF  MEETING  NUMBER  FOUR  HUNDRED  AND  SEVENTY  ONE  OF  THE  BOARD  OF 
GOVERNORS OF ALGONQUIN COLLEGE WHICH WAS HELD ON MONDAY, APRIL 9, 2012, AT 5:00 
P.M. IN THE STAFF DINING LOUNGE, WOODROFFE CAMPUS 


Present  Michael Dunlop, Chair  
Doug Orendorff, Vice Chair  
Denise Amyot (teleconference) 
Jeanine Chiasson  
Lynne Clark 
Pauline Edmonds  
Barbara Farber 
Robert Gillett, President 
Doreen Hume  
Kathyrn Leroux 
James McIntosh 
John Owens 
Andrew Pridham 
Mark Sutcliffe 


Regrets 
 


Eric Agyemang 
Louis Lamontagne 
 
 


Vice 
Presidents:
 
 
 
 
 
Recording 
Secretary 


Gerry Barker, Human Resources 
Kent MacDonald, Academic 
Joy McKinnon, Business    
  Development 
Duane McNair, Administration  
Deborah Rowan‐Legg, Student  
   Services 
 
Anna Cobus 


Observers  Nouran Abdellah, Algonquin Times 
Jo‐Ann Aubut, Acting Dean, Academic Development 
Fred Blackstein   
Claude Brulé, Dean, Faculty of Technology and Trades 
Jennifer Daly‐Cyr, Acting Director , Strategic Programs & Services Planning Project 
Cathy Dempsey, Director, Finance & Administrative Services 
Dave Donaldson, Dean, School of Business 
Karen Foster, Director, Ancillary Services 
Barbara Foulds, Acting Dean, Faculty of Health, Public Safety & Community Studies 
Robyn Heaton, Chair, Media Studies 
Mark Hoddenbagh, Director, Applied Research and Innovation 
Murray Kyte, Acting Dean, Algonquin College Heritage Institute 
Russ Mills, Dean, Faculty of Arts, Media and Design 
Mischek Mwaba, Chair, Mechanical & Transportation Studies 
Kathryn Moore, Registrar 
Doug Ouderkirk, Director, Academic Operations & Planning 
Brenda Rothwell, Executive Director, Foundation 
Claire Snasdell‐Taylor, Chair, Career & Academic Access Centre 
Mike Sparling, Director, Information, Institutional Research and Technology Services 
Laura Stanbra, Director, Student Support Services 
Jack Wilson, Professor, Police & Public Safety Institute 
Doug Wotherspoon, Executive Director, Advancement 


 


 







B.G. #472    April 9, 2012 
Page 2 


 
The Chair called the meeting to order at 5:03 p.m. 


 
12‐18   CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARATION 


None. 


 
12‐19  APPROVAL OF THE PREVIOUS MINUTES 
 
RESOLUTION 
 
MOVED & SECONDED – Clark and Leroux 
 
That the minutes of March 12, 2012, be approved as presented. 
 
 
12‐20 BUSINESS ARISING 
 
None. 
 
12‐21  PRESENTATIONS  
 
PROGRAM LIFE CYCLE 
 
Kent MacDonald  introduced  Jo‐Ann  Aubut,  Acting  Dean,  Academic  Development,  and  Doug 
Ouderkirk,  Director,  Academic  Operations,  who  presented  information  in  response  to  the 
recent  information  requests  from  the  Board  regarding  the  program  life  cycle  (program 
approvals, suspension, cancellations), as well as a methodology  for reporting on the status of 
new  program  approvals.    Three  charts  were  presented  for  consideration.    The  first  chart 
outlined the required approval levels for each program credential.  The second chart provided a 
tracking methodology  for providing  the Board with updates on  the  status of new programs.  
The  third  chart provided  a map outlining  the Minister’s Binding Policy Directive on program 
suspension  and  cancellation,  as  well  as  College  Policy  AA30:    Program  Suspension.  A 
recommendation was  tabled  that  the  Board  of  Governors  approve  the  continuation  of  the 
present  model  of  program  approvals,  suspensions  and  cancellations  and  the  addition  (for 
information  purposes)  of  administration  decisions  regarding  College  Certificates,  expanded 
campus offerings and Collaborative Degree Offerings.  It was agreed that the recommendation 
would be  referred  to  the Governance Committee  for  further  consideration  at  its meeting of 
April 16, 2012. 
 
Questions/Comments: 
‐ Governor  Leroux:    Is  there  any  difference  in  how  we  manage  program  offerings  in 


comparison to other Colleges?  Each College has its own practice; however, many have the 
same practice  in bringing  forward  credentials  for approval and other College  certificates, 
etc., for information.  There are no substantive differences. 







B.G. #472    April 9, 2012 
Page 3 


 
‐ Governor Leroux:  Will tracking information be provided on new programs until they become 


sustainable?   On new programs,  information could be provided for a period of 3 years, or 
until a program becomes sustainable. 


‐ Governor Leroux:  What is the expectation for a program to reach its sustainability?  From a 
financial  perspective, we  incur  expenses when  a  new  program  is  launched  until  the  full 
funding  is  flowed 3 years down  the  road; however,  for  internal costing purposes,  the  full 
grant value is assumed and a one year program is expected to make a contribution by year 
two.  The other indicator is quality and it too is closely monitored.   


‐ Kent MacDonald  indicated  that  the template could be extended  to  report on all programs 
until they become sustainable. 


‐ Governor Edmonds:  Inquired as to whether the report could include program quality as well 
as financial metrics.  It was responded that both the financial and quality metrics could be 
included; however, a draft template will be shared with the Board prior to commencing the 
process.   


‐ Governor Owens:  Indicated that the document is very useful and helps to answer questions. 
‐ Governor Owens:  Inquired as to why the Bachelor of Building Science program has not yet 


been approved.  The program has been referred to the Minister for consideration.  Colleges 
Ontario has raised a concern that there is far too long a delay with the Ministry.  Governor 
Owens offered  to  send  a  letter  from  the Ottawa Construction Association  if  it would be 
helpful.   


 
 
12‐22  DECISION ITEMS AND REPORTS 


In early 2012, the  International Education Centre (IEC),  in collaboration with the Academic Area, 
proposed  the  creation  of  additional  Ontario  College  Graduate  Certificate  (OCGC)  programs 
designed for international student recruitment. The proposal was based on IEC’s knowledge of the 
international  market  and  evidenced  by  enrolment  data  available  from  the  Ontario  College 
Application  Service  that  35.3%  of  students  enrolled  in  OCGC  programs  in  fall,  2011  were 
international students. To achieve  international enrolment targets for 2012‐13, the development 
of the  following two programs was expedited to meet  international marketing events scheduled 
for late April in India.  


PROGRAM PROPOSAL:  HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT  
Dave  Donaldson,  Dean  of  the  School  of  Business,  presented  a  proposal  to  offer  a  one  year 
graduate  certificate  program  in  the  field  of  Human  Resources Management.    The  program  is 
delivered over two semesters  in a variety of course formats  including classroom,  lab and online. 
Qualified  students  also  complete  an  unpaid work  placement  at  the  end  of  the  program.  The 
curriculum  focuses  on  building  HR  knowledge  needed  to  attract,  select  and  retain  the  best 
employees.  In addition,  the program provides  the  foundational  knowledge  required  to act as a 
strategic  partner  to  any  organization  and  provides  a  background  in  finance  and  accounting, 
organizational  behaviour,  labour  economics  and  employment  law.    Graduates  may  find 
employment  as  an  HR  generalist  or  business  partner  in  many  for  profit  and  non‐profit 
organizations such as hi‐tech, manufacturing and retail. Graduates may also find employment by 
specializing  in  occupational  health  and  safety,  recruitment  and  selection,  training  and 
development, industrial relations or compensation.    







B.G. #472    April 9, 2012 
Page 4 


 
The  implementation of this program reflects the strategic directions of the College  including the 
commitment  to  digital  learning  with  37%  online,  alternative  delivery,  leveraging  of  our 
relationships with business and  industry, and meeting the needs of students and the community 
both domestically and abroad. 


Questions/Comments:   


‐ Governor Amyot:  Where does the concept of employee engagement fit into the curriculum?  
It would be a component in the HR Management and HR Planning courses, and would also 
be a theme throughout the entire program. 


‐ Once the program receives approval, an application will be made for the CHRP designation. 


‐ Governor Amyot:  Why are there so few hours of field placement, and why do students have 
a choice between field placement and career planning?  The expectation is that students will 
be working while taking the course; however, if students do not have the necessary skill set 
or GPA to take placement, an alternative option is provided.   


‐ Governor  Amyot:    Why  are  there  so  few  hours  of  field  placement  in  this  program  in 
comparison  to  the Marketing Management  program?    The Marketing Management  field 
placement  is based on  students working with a  firm  to build a  company marketing plan, 
whereas the HR placement will be time spent in an HR capacity. 


‐ Governor Dunlop:  Is it correct that if the hours could be augmented students would be more 
experienced entering the field?  Yes, however, the program is based on, and is not dissimilar 
to, other graduate certificates in the province. 


‐ Governor Leroux:   Does the College establish operating costs similar to common area costs 
in  commercial  leases, based on program  support  requirements?    For  the purposes of  the 
cash  flow,  only  incremental  costs  for  teaching  and  consumables,  etc.  are  reviewed.  
Overhead and other costs are accounted for in the program costing. 


RESOLUTION 


MOVED AND SECONDED – Owens and Leroux 


That  the  Board  of  Governors  approve  the  Human  Resources Management  Ontario  College 
Graduate Certificate program effective Fall 2012 and seek validation of  the program  title and 
outcomes from the Credentials Validation Service and approval for funding from the Ministry of 
Training, Colleges and Universities. 


 


MARKETING MANAGEMENT 


Dave  Donaldson,  Dean  of  the  School  of  Business,  presented  a  proposal  to  offer  a  one  year 
Marketing Management Ontario Graduate Certificate Program.  Using a variety of learning formats 
including  classroom,  lab,  online  and  field  study,  this  program  is  delivered  over  two  15‐week 
semesters.  Students  complete  a  consulting  field  placement  to  develop  a marketing  plan  and 
strategy for a Canadian or international organization where students apply their learning and best 







B.G. #472    April 9, 2012 
Page 5 


 
practices in real world situations. Among other topics, students develop a critical understanding of 
the competitive and customer‐oriented demands of a business, its product and service operations 
as well as marketing processes and  resources. Students acquire creative, procedural and critical 
marketing expertise to generate, implement and evaluate marketing programs satisfying customer 
requirements. 


Students  may  find  employment  as  a  marketing  professional  in  a  wide  range  of  national, 
international,  profit  and  non‐profit  organizations  in  industries  such  as  hi‐tech, manufacturing, 
services and  retail.   The  implementation of  this program  reflects  the  strategic directions of  the 
College  including  the  commitment  to  digital  learning  with  28%  online,  alternative  delivery, 
leveraging of relationships with business and industry, and meeting the needs of students and the 
community both domestically and abroad. 


Questions/Comments: 


‐ Governor  Edmonds:    Is  the  120  hours  of  field  placement  in  a  block  or  do  students  visit  an 
employer for a number of hours each week during the semester?   Are students working on a 
project  under  the  direct  supervision  of  a  potential  employer  and  how much  faculty  input  is 
there?      Students will work  together  in  teams  for  an  employer  looking  for  a  solution  to  a 
specific problem.  The field placement takes place over the span of the second semester and is 
most definitely under the close supervision of a faculty member. 


‐ Governor Orendorff:  Are there different advisory committees for international programs?  No, 
advisory  committees  exist  for  both  the  Marketing  Management  and  Human  Resources 
programs  and both provided  their unanimous  support  to move  forward with  these Ontario 
Graduate Certificate programs.   


RESOLUTION 


MOVED AND SECONDED – Leroux and Amyot 


That  the Board of Governors approve  the Marketing Management Ontario College Graduate 
Certificate program effective Fall 2012 and seek validation of the program title and outcomes 
from the Credentials Validation Service and approval for funding from the Ministry of Training, 
Colleges and Universities. 


 
STRATEGIC PLAN UPDATE 2012‐2017 
 
Doug Wotherspoon presented an update on the development of the Strategic Plan.   Since the 
December  12th  version  of  the  plan  was  presented  to  the  Board  of  Governors,  additional 
feedback was sought and  incorporated  into the revised plan, which was also updated to align 
with the Budget, Business Plan and Digital College Strategy. An overview of the mission, vision, 
values  and  four  pillars  of  Applied  Education  and  Training,  Student  and  Client  Success, 
Empowered People, and Financial Sustainability were provided, along with the goal statements 
under  each  of  the  four  pillars.  It  was  recognized  that  goals  #6  and  #12  require  further 
refinement as well as a broadening of the measurements for goal #11 to ensure it encompasses 
all College activity. 







B.G. #472    April 9, 2012 
Page 6 


 
 
The President added that no direction has been received from the Government on the possible 
implications  of  the  Drummond  Report  or  the  tuition  and  funding  policies;  therefore, 
adjustments may be required once this information is received.    
 
The  full  Strategic  Plan  can  be  viewed  online  at  http://www2.algonquincollege.com/vision‐
2020/.  
 
Questions/Comments: 
 
‐ Governor  Edmonds:  Indicated  that  she  is  a  big  supporter  of  goal  #4,  providing  work 


experience opportunities, and inquired as to the interpretation of the goal and how broad or 
narrow it is.  It was noted that not only is co‐op experience included in the definition, but so 
too  are  other  types  of  work  and  community  experiences.    This  is  a  dialogue  that  the 
academic sector is currently engaging itself in.  The intent of the goal is to expose students 
to the community and workplace through a variety of methods which also  include service 
learning and applied research.   


‐ Governor Leroux:   Suggested that something more representative than the KPI benchmark 
for  client  satisfaction  would  be  beneficial.    The  College  cannot  change  the  KPI  survey 
methodology as  it  is mandated by the Ministry; however, some type of outreach could be 
done to educate and encourage local employers to participate in the KPI surveys when they 
are  contacted.    The  Chair  observed  that  this  is  something  that  Administration  should 
consider and report back to the Board.   


‐ Governor Orendorff:   Stated that the overall vision of the Strategic Plan  is superb and that 
the  formal vision  statement will move  the College  forward.   He also noted  that  there are 
variations of the Board Chair and President’s message within the Plan which are dramatic, 
strong and impressive statements,  and that the work was well done. 


‐ Governor  Orendorff:    Is  it  the  intent  of  this  document  that  we  will  evolve  to  be  fully 
compliant  with  the  MTCU  Strategic  Plan  Operating  Procedure,  and  will  the  goals  be 
measurable and time‐bound so that the Board can fulfill its responsibility to annually review 
the goals and objectives?   The plan has been sent  to  the Ministry  for review and  it  is  the 
intent of  the College  to ensure  it  is compliant  for  the  formal submission.   A question has 
also  been  posed  to MTCU  asking  if  there must  be  annual  timelines  or  if  there  can  be  a 
fulsome timeline to 2017.   


‐ Governor Orendorff:  The Board recently heard about the integrated development planning 
framework.    As  that  is  rolled  out  and  decisions  are made  around  centres  of  excellence, 
facilities plan, capital plan and advocacy plans, will those components all be integrated with 
the  Strategic  Plan  so  there  is  one  view  of  the  College’s  direction,  for  both  Board  and 
stakeholder  purposes?    Yes.  The  first  step  is  to  integrate  the  Strategic  Plan,  Budget  and 
Business Plan  framework  and  then  integrate  the  remainder  as  the  second  step  including 
MTCU requirements.   


‐ Governor Orendorff:  There are a lot of commitment statements in the document which are 
not  fully  captured  in  the  12  goals;  will  we  try  to  achieve  the  whole  expectation?    The 
document has been written to allow for a degree of flexibility and as mentioned, is a moving 
target based on the government, the Drummond Report and the chosen funding model.  It 
has  been  written  as  a  visionary  document  intended  to move  the  organization  forward 



http://www2.algonquincollege.com/vision-2020/

http://www2.algonquincollege.com/vision-2020/





B.G. #472    April 9, 2012 
Page 7 


 
structurally, with the detail coming in the annual Business Plans.  The 12 goals are the high 
level major  directions;  one would  have  to  look  at  all  goals  of  all  areas  to  see  how  they 
encompass the entire College.   


‐ Governor Orendorff:  In the past, the Board has discussed off ramps to the Strategic Plan. If 
we do not get as  far as we want,  is  it correct that  in April each year the Board has an off 
ramp based on circumstantial changes and at that point, the Board can adjust the Budget, 
Business Plan, and Strategic Plan as required to accommodate the realities?  Ideally it would 
be at anytime when  changes  impact  the validity of  the plan or when new  information  is 
received on any one of the directions.  


‐ Governor  Leroux:    Is  there  any  sense  as  to  the  timeframe  of  the  branding  exercise?    A 
branding preview will be presented at the Staff BBQ in May, with the unveiling to take place 
at the President’s Breakfast in August.   


 
The Chair congratulated  the College  for  the hard work and  its accomplishment  in developing 
the Plan and asked that compliments be passed on to all involved.  He and the President spoke 
to the Board about the option of the Board either (a) receiving and approving the presentation 
at the meeting or (b) receiving the presentation with the formal approval to take place at the 
next Board meeting.  Governors were in favour of approving the Strategic Plan immediately.   
 
RESOLUTION 
 
MOVED AND SECONDED – Farber and Sutcliffe 
 
That the 2012‐2017 Strategic Plan be approved as presented. 
 
2012/13 FEES SCHEDULES 
Deborah  Rowan‐Legg  introduced  Kathryn  Moore,  Registrar,  and  indicated  that  in  previous 
years,  the  Fees  Schedules  have  traditionally  been  presented  to  the  Board  in  December  or 
January to align with the commitment to provide students with fee information when offers of 
admissions are released in February.  However, the Ministry has yet to provide formal direction 
other than a press release dated March 8th indicating that Ontario is extending, for one year, a 
cap of five per cent on overall increases to tuition fees for colleges and universities.  Ontario will 
place  a moratorium  on  increasing  or  establishing  flat  and  deferral  fees  for  2012‐13.    The 
moratorium will allow the government to work with the sector on a system‐wide approach for 
institutional  flat  and deferral  fees. Given  the direction,  a  summary of  the  fee  increases was 
provided  as  follows, with  the  recognition  that  the  fees  schedule  is  subject  to  final  budget 
clarification by  the  government.   Any  further  changes will be brought back  to  the Board  for 
information.   


 Increases  to  full‐time  Post‐Secondary  and Graduate  Certificate  programs with  regulated 
tuition  fees  have  been made  within  the maximum  allowable  increase.    The maximum 
allowable fee  increase for these programs  is the greater of 4.5% or $100  in the  first year 
and 4% in continuing years; 


 Percentage increases for High Demand programs, Graduate Certificate programs with high 
demand tuition fees, and Applied Degree programs are listed within the schedules and are 







B.G. #472    April 9, 2012 
Page 8 


 
within the maximum allowable.  The maximum allowable fee increase in these programs is 
8% in the first year and 4% for continuing years; 


 Enrolment  in High Demand  programs  does  not  exceed  the maximum  allowable  15%  of 
total post‐secondary enrolment; 


 The  Prior  Learning  Assessment  and  Recognition  Fee  has  increased  by  the  maximum 
allowable 4.5% to $135.16; 


 The Students’ Association Board of Directors has requested that the Student Activity and 
Sports Fee be increased to $200.50 per term; 


 The Students’ Association Board of Directors has  requested  that  the Health Plan Fee be 
increased to $117.02; 


 The  Students’  Association  Board  of  Directors  has  requested  that  the  Student 
Commons/Auditorium Fee be created and have approved a $22.00 per term fee; 


 The Students’ Association Board of Directors has approved an  increase to the Graduation 
Fee to $40.00; 


 The  Students’  Association  Board  of  Directors  has  approved  an  increase  to  the  Health 
Services Fee to $20.00 per term; 


 The  International Premium  remains unchanged at $4,400.00 per academic  term  for  full‐
time Post‐Secondary Programs with Regular and High Demand Tuition.   This  fee  is under 
review subject to final budget clarification by the government; 


 The  International Premium has  remained unchanged at $3,600.00  for  full‐time Graduate 
Certificate  and  Bachelor Degree  of Applied  Studies  Programs.    This  fee  is  under  review 
subject to final budget clarification by the government; and, 


 The overall maximum average annual fee increase is within Ministry regulations. 
 
Questions/Comments: 


‐ Governor Orendorff:   Does the Students’ Association  (SA) vote on the overall  fee  increase?  
No;  however,  the  College  does  consult with  the  SA with  respect  to  ancillary  fees  and  a 
protocol agreement is in place with the SA board that overall ancillary fees will not increase 
by more than 20% year over year.   


‐ Governor Orendorff:  When reviewing the tuition fees in the budget over time, the average 
increase  is  4.5%  each  year,  whereas  the  grant  has  not  increased  on  a  student  basis 
whatsoever.    Tuition  revenue  is now at  $100M  versus  $66M  in grant  revenue. Could  the 
College possibly not increase the full 4.5% and perhaps only increase by the cost of living?  Is 
a full  increase something we may choose not to do?   The College has not  increased by the 
maximum  across  the  Board  nor  does  it  increase  by  the maximum  amount  for  all  high 
demand programs.   Ontario College  tuition  fees are  the  lowest  in  the  country,  the grant 
funding  is the  lowest, and the government has made a social policy decision to keep grant 
funding frozen and allow tuition to rise to offset some of the costs.    If we reduce the fees 
for students, further cuts will be required to balance the budget.  


‐ Governor Hume:   How do we  compare  in Ontario with  respect  to  the  fees we  charge  to 
students?   And how do we compare with other Colleges  in Canada?   The fees are virtually 
identical across the province. Ontario Colleges charge the lowest tuition amongst colleges in 
the  country.    In  terms  of  Ancillary  Fees,  Algonquin  is  amongst  the  lowest  and  students 







B.G. #472    April 9, 2012 
Page 9 


 
receive a high value  for  their dollar.   The new  tax credit will be of benefit  to students as 
well. 


‐ Governor  Edmonds:    Is  there  a  risk  in  offering  international  degree  programs  versus 
certificate or diploma programs?    It  is  interesting  that  the  fees  that  can be assessed are 
lower  for degrees  versus  certificates?   The  fee was  intentionally  set by  the College  in  an 
effort  to  increase  market  share  because  in  many  markets,  students  are  interested  in 
graduate  certificates  and  degrees.    There  is  also  a  $750K  claw  back  for  international 
revenues which poses larger problems as this was not anticipated.  


‐ Governor McIntosh?  Have we maximized the tuition fees we can charge based on ministry 
directives?   No, we have  increased based on market demand.   We  are  at  an  increase of 
4.43% of an overall cap of 5%. 


‐ Governor  Leroux:   Has  the  strategy  of  pricing  tuition  lower  overseas worked  to make  us 
more  competitive?    Has  it  increased  our  share?    All  Ontario  colleges  have  increased 
international  enrolment.  Pricing  is  one  part  of  the  strategy.  The  other  focus  is  on  the 
product development, such as the two programs just approved by the Board.  It is expected 
that this strategy will help to increase market share.   


RESOLUTION 


Moved and Seconded – Owens and McIntosh 


That  the  Board  of Governors  approve  the  fees  schedules  for  the  2012‐2013  academic  year 
based  on  the Ministry  guidance  presented  in  the March  8,  2012  press  release  stating  that 
‘Ontario  is extending for one year a cap of five per cent on overall  increases to tuition fees at 
colleges and universities’ and subject to final budget clarification by the government. 


 


PROGRAM SUSPENSIONS:  PRINT MEDIA & DOCUMENTARY PRODUCTION  


The Board Chair observed that over the past 45 days, numerous individuals including graduates 
of  the  Documentary  program,  have  been  advocating  against  the  suspension  of  the 
Documentary  Production  program,  and  that  a  petition  and  commentary  submitted  by 
graduates of  the program was sent  to Governors  for  review  in advance of  the meeting.   The 
Chair also reiterated that he had offered the opportunity for the Advisory Committee to speak 
to the Board but did not receive any response in this regard.   


Kent MacDonald introduced Russ Mills, and recognized the amount of feedback that has been 
received on this recommendation and the  impact that  it has had; however, he  indicated that 
the College has reviewed  its programs through the SPSP process and requires sustained  levels 
of quality and financial success, noting that the programs being recommended for suspension 
do not meet these requirements.   


Russ  Mills  provided  an  overview  of  the  financial  and  quality  indicators  resulting  in  the 
recommendation to suspend the programs as follows:     







B.G. #472    April 9, 2012 
Page 10 


 
Print Media was originally titled Graphic Technician – Print and has been offered by the College 
since at least 1987. A title revision was put in place effective fall, 2002 in an attempt to better 
promote the program.  It was subsequently revised from a Standard‐AAL, two year delivery to 
the Non‐semester Diploma Program (NSDP) format effective fall, 2007 in an attempt to address 
financial contribution targets.  Documentary Production was launched in fall, 2008.    


Over the past three years, both identified programs have been unable to consistently meet the 
minimum target contribution of 25%. The inability of programs to meet the target contribution 
is directly related to the inability of the programs to attract a sufficient number of students or 
to decrease expenses.   Projections  for 2012‐2013  indicate that the programs will, once again, 
not be able to make significant progress to meet the anticipated contribution.  


The Print Media program has met  the Quality  index but has  fallen below  the average quality 
index for all College programs.   This combined with  low financial metrics makes  it difficult for 
the College to support the continuation of this program. 


The Documentary Production program has not met the Quality Index since 2009 and the drop 
in quality has been dramatic in both 2011 and 2010.   Other than a single spike in enrolment in 
one  year,  the  financial  strength  of  this  program  is  not  considered  strong  and  the  program 
cannot bear the cost of a full‐time faculty member. 


A  film  commission has been established by  “Invest Ottawa” with  the hopes of developing  a 
lively and sustainable  film business  in Ottawa.   The College  is working with  Invest Ottawa on 
this initiative and has received many offers of assistance to develop a new film program.   


Questions/Comments: 


‐ Governor McIntosh:  Is there a program similar to documentary production elsewhere in the 
Country?    Not  in  Ontario;  however,  documentary  training  is  offered  within  the  TV 
Broadcasting program and during the two years that students are in the program, they get 
as much documentary  training as with  the graduate certificate program.   A  third year  for 
advanced film training is also an option.  


‐ Governor Edmonds: Noted that the Chair observed at the  last meeting that he had denied 
the  opportunity  for  a  presentation  to  be  made  to  the  Board  about  the  Documentary 
Production program and suggested that it was in contravention of the Board’s policy in this 
regard.   The Chair responded that he had acted in good faith without the policy in front of 
him and apologized if an error had been made.   


‐ Governor Edmonds:  Is the decision premature?  Is the Documentary Program being cut too 
soon based on contribution  in  the  last  three years  (7.7%, 48% and 18%  respectively), and 
also on the quality rating (75%, 58% and 54% respectively).  Perhaps administration should 
be asked to look at increasing the quality of the program as the retention rate is improving.  
The program shows promise and appears to be reaching some of the benchmarks.  The Chair 
responded that the retention, quality and contribution figures are  inconsistent and that  in 
looking ahead to fall, 2012, applications are at 27 at this time, versus a total of 94 for  last 
year.  Based on the applications at this time, the program would be at best half full for the 
fall which indicates that the financial contribution would further decrease.  Also, there is an 
existing opportunity with Invest Ottawa to assist in its strategy.   







B.G. #472    April 9, 2012 
Page 11 


 
‐ Governor Leroux:  Is there a sense around the issues for the decline in quality ratings?  It is a 


result of both delivery and content of the program.    


‐ Governor Farber:  We have established principles concerning appropriate criteria and there 
are dollars and cents attached to them.  It  is  important  in this day and age when we have 
little  to  work  with  to  exit  a  program  that  is  not measuring  up  to  where  it  should  be, 
especially given that there are other opportunities available in the field. 


‐ Governor  Edmonds:    Taking  into  account  the  Strategic  Plan which was  approved  and  its 
emphasis on attracting, retaining and developing employees, are there plans to reassign the 
faculty to other programs?  Human Resources is working on that at this time.  In the event 
that  there  is  no  appropriate  placement,  a  retraining  policy  is  in  place  which  could  be 
enacted; however, we are not there as yet.    


RESOLUTION  


MOVED & SECONDED – Clark and Leroux 


That  the Board of Governors approve, effective  fall, 2012,  the suspension of  the Print Media 
program.   


CARRIED 
1 ABSTENTION ‐ Edmonds 


 
RESOLUTION 
 
MOVED & SECONDED – McIntosh and Owens 
 
That the Board of Governors approve, effective fall, 2012, the suspension of the Documentary 
Production program. 


CARRIED 
1 ABSTENTION ‐ Edmonds 


 


BUSINESS PLAN GOALS AND OBJECTIVES 


The  President  spoke  to  the  Business  Plan  goals  for  2012‐13,  indicating  that  the  goals  are 
expected to  lead the College  in the direction  it wishes to pursue and also to achieve the  first 
20% of  the  Strategic Plan.    The  goals  are  clearly  aligned with  the  annual Budget,  subject  to 
further information being received about the provincial budget and Drummond report. 


Questions/Comments:   


‐ Governor Orendorff:  Some of the measures are quite process oriented rather than outcome 
oriented.  Is it possible that over time, some of the goals could be more outcome measures 
rather  than  process measures,  to  allow  for  an  idea  of  the  degree  of  achievement  of  the 
Strategic  Plan?  Once  the  budget  is  dealt  with  on  April  24th,  firmer measures  could  be 
determined thereafter.   







B.G. #472    April 9, 2012 
Page 12 


 
2012/2013 BUDGET 


The President  introduced  the 2012/13 Budget  and  indicated  that  the plan  is  compliant with 
MTCU  requirements  and  that  a  decision  was  taken  to  realign  funded  programs  with  the 
operational grants.  Furthermore, he indicated that the Budget is well aligned with the Strategic 
Plan and Business Plan goals and objectives.   


D. McNair presented an overview of the Budget as follows: 
 
Budget Highlights 


 Balanced Budget 
 Board Mandated $1 Million Net Cash Flow 
 Resources for the Strategic Plan and Business Plan 
 Aligned  the  College’s  operating  expenditures  and  revenues within  the  provincial  funding 
and tuition fee framework 


 Increased capacity for Strategic One Time Investments by $5 million 
 Projected enrolment increase of 3.5% 


 
Budget Challenges 


 Ontario Economy and Fiscal Uncertainty 
 Deficits projected up until 2017/18 
 Drummond Report recommending program spending restraint 
 Post‐Secondary Education funding to increase no more than 1% per year  
 Significantly reduced infrastructure funding 


 
Algonquin Budget Challenges 


 Inflation rate of 4 to 4.5% on operating costs 
 Salary and benefits costs approximately 2/3 of operating costs 
 Constraints on Tuition Fee increases 
 College Funding Framework has been in place for past 3 years but does not fund inflation  


 
Provincial Budget Highlights 


 Provincial Budget confirms Operating and Growth Grant Assumptions ($4,358 per Weighted 
Funding Unit) 


 Small Northern Rural Grant phased out over 2013/14 and 2014/15 ($1.8 million) 
 $750 International Student Recovery Fee beginning in 2013/14 
 Ontario Work Study and Special Bursary Programs are discontinued 
 Municipal Tax Grant will not fund International Students starting 2013/14 
 Wage Freeze extended 


 
Also  provided  was  a  summary  of  each  of  the  Budget  schedules  including  the  pro  forma 
schedule,  annual  Budget,  statement  of  financial  position,  revenue  schedule,  expenditure 
schedule, funding for strategic  investments, summary of funded positions, and the enrolment 
schedule.   







B.G. #472    April 9, 2012 
Page 13 


 
 
Questions/Comments: 
‐ Governor Edmonds:  Were last year’s enrolment figures met and are the 2012/13 projections 


realistic compared to last year’s figures?  Last year, a 6% increase was budgeted and a 4.1% 
increase was achieved.  There was a slow start in the fall of 2011, but there was a recovery 
in  the  winter  semester  which  indicates  that  retention  initiatives  are  succeeding.    4.1% 
growth  represents 1200  students, and  there has been a growth of 25% over  the  last  five 
years.  This year’s projection is less ambitious at 3.5% but it is expected that the target will 
be met.  Overall, enrolment figures for 2012/13 are looking positive to date. 


‐ Governor Edmonds:  Should the Ontario Financing Authority loan proceeds shown on pages 
14 and 16 refer to the Pembroke Campus?   Yes, there  is a construction  loan for Pembroke 
which  is  being  used  to  assist with  cash  flow  to  cover  the  construction  costs.   Once  the 
facility is built, reserves will be used to pay down the loan.   


‐ Governor  Clark:   Do we  report  2010/11  actuals  for  comparison  purposes?    They will  be 
provided  in  June with  the  Audited  Financial  Statements.    A  comment was  taken  under 
advisement that it would be helpful to see the actuals dating back two years. 


‐ Governor Leroux:  Are the 19 positions at risk a net total?  No. The net total is 4 once the 15 
new positions are added.   


‐ Governor Leroux:    Is this a stretch budget, or a comfortable budget?   This budget  is a best 
estimate  based  on  the  uncertainties  at  this  time.  Enrolments  are  coming  in  and  can  be 
enhanced in the winter should we need to augment the fall results.   


‐ Governor McIntosh:  Commended the President and Staff for a job well done during difficult 
times, and indicated that there are a lot of positives in the budget.  


 
RESOLUTION 
 
MOVED AND SECONDED – McIntosh and Chiasson 
 


CARRIED 
 
12‐23  REPORT OF THE CHAIR 
 
The Chair reported the following: 
 
‐ Four meeting  feedback  forms were  submitted  following  the  last meeting.   The  responses 


were all positive. 


‐ On April 1st, an email was  sent  to  the Board asking  that  the  suspension of Documentary 
Production program be reconsidered.   


‐ On March 19th, a request was received from Pat Kennedy asking to share the documents on 
the Board table:   one being a Globe and Mail article on severance payments and a second 
regarding the recent suspension of a College employee. 


‐ A memo  will  be  sent  to  all members  of  the  Board  seeking  nominations  for  the  Board 
Officers and a number of Committee Positions for the upcoming year.   







B.G. #472    April 9, 2012 
Page 14 


 
‐ On the table for each Governor was a copy of the remittance declaration from the financial 


officers of  the College  confirming  that as of March 31st, all applicable  income  tax  source 
deductions and remittances have been submitted  in accordance with CRA and Ministry of 
Revenue requirements. 


‐ This spring’s Convocation ceremonies are scheduled for Saturday, June 9th in Pembroke and 
Thursday,  June  14th  in  Perth.    The  Ottawa  Convocation  Ceremonies will  be  held  at  the 
ScotiaBank Place on June 18th, 19th and 20th.  Governors will receive formal invitations to all 
of the ceremonies. 


‐ Governors will receive an invitation to the annual College year end staff meeting and BBQ, 
which  celebrates  the  success and achievements of  the past academic year.   The event  is 
scheduled for Thursday, May 10th.   


‐ The  election  for  next  year’s  Student  and  Academic  Representatives  on  the  Board  of 
Governors will be held on April 17th and 18th with the winning candidates to be announced 
at the close of the elections.  The call for nominations was released on March 26th.    


‐ The May 14th Board meeting will be held at the Perth Campus; a bus has been reserved for 
the Board and will  leave the Woodroffe Campus at approximately 3:00 p.m., with a return 
at approximately 9:00 p.m. 


 
12‐24 REPORT OF THE PRESIDENT 
 
The President reported the following: 
 
‐ Discussions are underway  in an attempt to seek clarification on a number of points  in the 


recent budget including the wage restraint in terms of the named positions.   
‐ There are only two weeks of classes left.  Faculty and staff are working hard to conclude the 


semester so that students can obtain their results.   
‐ A large number of retrofits will occur over the summer months to prepare for the fall term.  


The  bookstore  has  been  temporarily moved  to  the A  building  as  its  permanent  space  is 
being renovated to align with the opening of the Students Commons.   


‐ Construction at the Pembroke Campus is well underway.  The view from the fourth floor of 
the building is spectacular.   


 
The  President  concluded  his  remarks  by  thanking  the  Board,  on  behalf  of  the Management 
team, for the approval of the Budget, Business Plan and Strategic Plan, as it allows the College 
to move forward.   
 
12‐25  MANAGEMENT SUMMARY REPORT 
 
The  complete  management  summary  report  for  April,  2012,  is  available  online  at 
www.algonquincollege.com/board.   


 
 



http://www.algonquincollege.com/board





B.G. #472    April 9, 2012 
Page 15 


 
12‐26  OTHER BUSINESS 


There being no further business, the Board of Governors moved in camera. 


 


                           


       Michael Dunlop, Chair              Anna Cobus, Recording Secretary 


 








1 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


DRAFT 


SOCIAL MEDIA PLAN                                           


2012-2013 
 


 


 


Prepared by:  


Advancement Division 


Last Updated: April 29, 2012  


 


A     L     G     O     N     Q     U     I     N           C     O     L     L     E     G     E 







DRAFT – April 29, 2012  2 
 


TABLE OF CONTENTS    
 


A. INTRODUCTION & EXECUTIVE SUMMARY .............................................................................................................. 3 


B. ALGONQUIN COLLEGE STRATEGIC DIRECTION ......................................................................................................... 3 


C.  THE BUSINESS VALUE OF SOCIAL MEDIA ............................................................................................................... 4 


D.  ALGONQUIN COLLEGE AND PEERS ........................................................................................................................ 4 


Primary Channels ......................................................................................................................................... 4 


Secondary Channels ..................................................................................................................................... 5 


Governance ................................................................................................................................................. 5 


Staffing ........................................................................................................................................................ 6 


E. SWOT ANALYSIS ............................................................................................................................................. 6 


Strengths — Internal Advantages ................................................................................................................. 6 


Weaknesses — Internal Disadvantages ........................................................................................................ 6 


Opportunities — External Advantages ......................................................................................................... 6 


Threats — External Disadvantages ............................................................................................................... 7 


F. SOCIAL MEDIA GOALS & MEASUREABLE OBJECTIVES ............................................................................................... 7 


G. TARGET AUDIENCES .......................................................................................................................................... 8 


H.  SOCIAL MEDIA STRATEGIES ................................................................................................................................ 8 


I. BUDGET ....................................................................................................................................................... 10 


APPENDIX 1 – ALGONQUIN COLLEGE SOCIAL MEDIA NETWORKS ...................................................................................... 11 


APPENDIX 2 – COMPETITIVE ANALYSIS BY SOCIAL MEDIA NETWORKS ............................................................................... 15 


APPENDIX 3 – SOCIAL MEDIA BEST PRACTICES ............................................................................................................. 19 


 


  







DRAFT – April 29, 2012  3 
 


A. INTRODUCTION & EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The principle purpose of this social media plan is to establish a roadmap that will confirm Algonquin’s position as 
the Connected College and a leader in the corporate and academic use of social media. 


  
Since the College began engaging in social media in 2008, Algonquin has been recognized as a leader in the field. 
In 2011, Algonquin was recognized by Klout.com as the top Canadian college, placing eighth in its annual 
benchmark of post-secondary institutions in Canada.  
 
Building on this position of strength, this Social Media Plan sets its sights on ensuring Algonquin continues to lead 
all colleges in the use of social networks by setting goals which will; 
 


1. Build our employees capacity to use social media 


2. Increase awareness of Algonquin College  


3. Increase interest in studying/working/doing business at Algonquin College 


The plan focuses on two target audiences, college employees who will help build the content foundation and 


stakeholders’ who will help share content and shape the experience in each of the channels we focus on.  


To deliver on these goals the plan identifies seven key strategies; 


I. Tell the Algonquin Story 


II. Train people to use social media 


III. Focus on 5, Empower 100s 


IV. Integrate Social Media into the College Website 


V. Invest in Advertising and Promotion that Leverages the Social Graph 


VI. Invest in scalable systems 


VII. Learn to measure 


Our success will be measured in the quantity and quality of our networks. By 2014, we have set our sights on 


leading in 3 of the five channels we participate in. By 2017, we expect to deliver on our goal of being the 


Connected College.    


B. ALGONQUIN COLLEGE STRATEGIC DIRECTION 
“Post-secondary education is now on the leading edge of the digital revolution as technology shapes, reshapes, 
and transforms how learning and content are created and delivered, leveraging connections between people 
across cities and nations.  Today’s students are connected and we want to reach them in the ways that they want 
to be reached.” 
Robert C. Gillett 
 
In 2012, the College updated its 5-year strategic plan, outlining its plans to become the Connected College. The 
College’s Strategic Plan recognizes that social technologies have created a culture of sharing information and 
knowledge at home, at school and in the workplace. Increasingly, organizations are expected to be open, 
transparent and collaborative—embracing distributed decision-making and the real-time, free flow of 
information and services. 







DRAFT – April 29, 2012  4 
 


 
Increased employee, student and alumni use of social media fully supports Algonquin’s vision of becoming a 
“global leader in digitally-connected applied education and training”.  


C.  THE BUSINESS VALUE OF SOCIAL MEDIA 
Social media is both exciting and terrifying to most businesses. The excitement comes from the ability to begin 
and continue conversations and extend relationships with a growing number of clients and prospective clients, 
ultimately delivering on the College’s business objectives. The terror sets in when one realizes that one tweet can 
unleash a tornado of customer angst and brand sapping client displeasure.  
 
Like other business tools, social media supports a business’s ability to; 


 Build awareness 


 Establish thought leadership 


 Increase its customer base 


 Improve customer service and engagement 


 Educate customers 


 Generate leads 


 Drive sales 


 Lower costs and improve process 


 Source product development 


 Improve internal communication 
 
Essential to recognizing the value inherent in the use of social media is establishing goals that align and support 
the existing business strategy. Increasing social media engagement is not a goal in and of itself. 


D.  ALGONQUIN COLLEGE AND PEERS 


Primary Channels 
Algonquin College was an early adopter of social 
media within the Canadian post-secondary sector. Its 
official Twitter account was launched in October of 
2008 and was soon followed by YouTube in February 
of 2009. In mid-2010, the College established several 
accounts on Facebook, LinkedIn, Flickr, YouTube, and 
a number of additional accounts on Twitter. By 
February of 2011, Algonquin College was ranked the 
most influential Canadian College on Twitter by 
www.klout.com. In addition, the College also has also 
piloted the use Google+ and Foursquare. 


Twitter 


On Twitter, Algonquin leads in terms of the number of Followers (6856) and the number of people or brands the 


College is Following (5355). Centennial College publishes almost three times the number of messages with over 


9000 tweets since its beginning in 2009. Most recently, Humber College (49) passed Algonquin (48) in terms of 



http://www.klout.com/





DRAFT – April 29, 2012  5 
 


influence that drives action as measured by www.Klout.com, the most used social media monitoring 


measurement system.  


YouTube 


On YouTube, George Brown leads the sector with over 600 subscribers and one million views. The large majority 


of those views are related to Knife Techniques in which a chef provides the general public with instruction on 


how to handle a knife professionally. Centennial College ranks second in views (391,000+) and subscribers (350) 


but has the highest number of videos uploaded to the site with over 400. Seneca ranks third in terms of views 


with over 300,000, but follows the same trend as George Brown with a large proportion of their viewership 


coming from their involvement in the UK based Raspberry Pi $40 computer project. Algonquin finds itself in the 


middle range with over 100,000 views and 142 subscribers. It places second to Centennial in terms of the 


number of videos posted (202). 


Facebook   


On Facebook, Humber College and George Brown lead the college system in terms of Facebook presence with 


over 20,432 and 15,248 likes respectively. With some reports of 90% of people liking a page not returning for a 


second visit these statistics can be misleading. More accurate measures of engagement would be the number of 


people talking about your brand. Using this measure George Brown places first with over 300+ actively sharing 


content while Humber sat at 255 and Algonquin at 40. 


Algonquin’s most popular Facebook page is its Future Student site with over 3,883 likes (an increase of over 


100% in 2011) and 65 people talking about the College. 


Secondary Channels 
In addition to these primary corporate accounts, schools, departments, faculty and students have created social 


media environments on their own. A recent audit of College supported social media found Algonquin had; 


 Facebook sites - 68 


 Twitter sites – 37 


 LinkedIn sites – 27 


 YouTube sites – 16 


 Flickr sites – 4 


 Blogs sites – 10 


Governance  
The College has no specific policies governing College sponsored social media and in keeping with the medium 


uses a decentralized model for managing its various social media channels. Advancement, by virtue of it securing 


the channels originally has responsibility for the College’s primary Twitter, Facebook, Flickr and YouTube 


accounts. Responsibility for the primary LinkedIn account was moved from Advancement to the Foundation 


when responsibility for Alumni Relations was transferred to the unit. School, program and departmental 


channels are free to acquire and operate social media channels as they see fit.  



http://www.klout.com/

http://www.facebook.com/algonquincollegefuturestudents





DRAFT – April 29, 2012  6 
 


The College currently relies on general policies covering privacy and conduct to govern social media efforts. 


While no formal rules are in place there is common agreement among schools and departments that ensures all 


future Algonquin Twitter accounts begin with AC and that all profile pictures follow a common look and feel.    


Staffing 
To date, we have not found any College who has delegated social media management to a social media 


community manager. The current practice within the Ontario College sector seems to be wrapping responsibility 


for social media into an existing position usually found in marketing, communications or a service unit. 


Algonquin follows a similar pattern with responsibility for Advancement’s channels falling to individuals spread 


throughout the unit. 


Equally, few have identified social media specific budget. This follows North America trends published in a 


recent report entitled State of Social Media Marketing where 57% of marketers indicated they had not allocated 


budgets to social marketing, relying instead on people resources. This group was followed by 18% of marketers 


who spend between $1,000 and $10,000 annually. Only 8% reported 2011 budgets of over $50,000 year.  


E. SWOT ANALYSIS 


Strengths — Internal Advantages 
 The College has a large potential audience for its content including; current and prospective students, 


current and prospective employees, alumni, employers, political leaders, and media. 


 Social media expertise in the form of faculty, staff, current students and alumni is extensive, with many 


willing to share their knowledge. 


 A robust network of social media accounts are already in place, creating a substantial opportunity for 


cross collaboration of news and public relations among the different schools and departments. 


 Most social media channels have very little start-up-costs in dollars.  


 Social media is easy to use with basic computer office skills.  


 Clear responsibility of ownership of content targeting the general public, prospective students, alumni, 


industry, prospective employees, and government. 


Weaknesses — Internal Disadvantages 
 Lack of social media specific policies makes coordination uneven.   


 Ease of setup makes controlling the College’s social media channels difficult. 


 Large number of social media channels makes consistency of message challenging. 


 Volume of social media messages can seem overwhelming. 


 No base budget for social media initiatives.  


 Overlapping ownership of content targeting current students and employees. 


Opportunities — External Advantages 
 Social media growth continues unabated with IPOs for LinkedIn, Facebook, and Twitter set to further 


advance the sector. 


 Large, active potential audience eager to be part of a larger conversations 







DRAFT – April 29, 2012  7 
 


 Nature of social media allows for a message to become viral and for conversations to grow past one-on-


one communications. 


Threats — External Disadvantages 
 Possibility of having messages lost in the noise. 


 Early positions of leadership at risk as other educational institutions begin engaging in social media more 


actively. 


 Misrepresentations could be released and propagated. 


F. SOCIAL MEDIA GOALS & MEASUREABLE OBJECTIVES 
The plan identifies three overarching Social Media goals; 


1. Build our employees capacity to use social media  


2. Increase awareness of Algonquin College  


3. Increase interest in studying/working/doing business at Algonquin College 


The question of measurement is widely discussed in the social media community, especially as communicators 


ask for resources to fully leverage the power of this new form of communication. Currently, the industry uses a 


collection of lag indicators coupled with anecdotal examples of customer acquisition and conversations. We will 


consider our social media efforts successful if we:  


1. Build our employees capacity to use social media 


 Develop three social media training modules for delivery through the COL 


 Identify and deliver training annually to 10 social media champions 


 Establish and execute social media plans in collaboration with five of the trained social media champions 


 


2. Increase awareness 


 Grow the number of social media followers by channel with the view of leading all colleges in Twitter, 


Facebook, and LinkedIn by 2014.  


 Grow and maintain Algonquin’s Social Media Klout (online influence) 2% per year 


 Maintain over 90% positive mentions in social media (measured using Sysomos) 


 Establish a client awareness benchmark by surveying employees and students awareness and utility of 


Algonquin College’s social media presence 


 


3. Increase interest 


 Increase social media web referrals to College program sites by 2% annually (measured using Google 


Analytics) 


 Benchmark the number of referrals from social media websites and track against competitors to set 


goals for future years (measured using Compete/Hitwise)  


 Have the largest percentage of online conversation across Twitter, Facebook, and Blogs when measured 


against our competitors(measured using Sysomos Heartbeat) 







DRAFT – April 29, 2012  8 
 


G. TARGET AUDIENCES 
The focus of this plan is two-fold. To be successful we must engage our employees, empowering them to share 


the rich content that sits within each school and department. If we are successful at unleashing that potential 


we will be able to engage and serve our clients in increasingly more powerful ways.   


 Employees 


 Stakeholders/Clients 


o Current students 


o Prospective students 


o Alumni 


o Employers 


H.  SOCIAL MEDIA STRATEGIES  
To deliver on our goals we have identified six key strategies.  
 


I. Tell the Algonquin Story  
Critical to the success of our social media efforts is the College’s ability to produce great content. The 


challenge for the College is acquiring that content in a timely and cost effective manner. Specifically, 


Algonquin will; 


 Support the launch of 5 school, department or program blogs annually 


 Produce “how to guides” for generating content 


 Develop a comprehensive College events calendar 


 Produce 25 College videos per year 


 Keep an up-to-date list of College Twitter users 


 Establish minimum Posts per Week measures for each of the College’s primary social media 


channels 


 Host monthly brown bag social media round tables with the College’s social media leaders  


 


II. Train employees to use social media 
To be successful, we must develop the social media capacities of our employees, cognizant that the 


solutions we propose must be able to satisfy a growing interest in a resource challenged time. To deliver 


on this goal we will implement a “train the trainer” model Algonquin which will; 
 Provide managers/deans/directors an overview of ways to support employees in engaging in 


social media  


 Identify members in schools and departments to serve as a social media champion 


 Deliver a social media course through the COL which will cover; 


o Social media basics 


o Managing social media for business/academics 


o Content creation 


 Create college-wide social media guidelines 







DRAFT – April 29, 2012  9 
 


 Create social media user guide to assist social media teams with their use popular tools 


 Invest in technology that will allows users to publish to multiple channels with only one post 


 


III. Focus on 5, Empower 100s 
The number of potential social media channels is daunting. This plan does not attempt to master all. 


Rather it calls on the College to focus, building 5 primary Algonquin social media channels; 


 Twitter - http://twitter.com/#!/algonquincolleg 


 Current Students Facebook - http://www.facebook.com/algonquincollege 


 Future Students Facebook - http://www.facebook.com/algonquincollegefuturestudents 


 You Tube - http://www.youtube.com/user/AlgonquinVideos 


 LinkedIn - http://www.linkedin.com/company/algonquin-college 


This primary focus will be complemented by support for those departments and groups who wish to 


build networks of their own, fostering an ecosystem that builds on the strength of each other.   


IV. Integrate Social Media into the College Website 
We will work to integrate social media into the College’s website, creating opportunities for cross-


promotion. Specifically, Algonquin will;  


 Integrate the ability to share content on the College website via social networks into the College 


web templates 


 Make the ability to access the College’s primary social media accounts more noticeable on the 


College website 


 Develop social media widgets for use on program pages within the College website 


 Create online hub for all “official” college activity across sever social networks (one-stop service 


model) 


 


V. Invest in Advertising and Promotion that Leverages the Social Graph 
To take full advantage of the power of social media we must leverage our advertising and promotion 


resources in support of the development of the College social media networks. Specifically, Algonquin 


will; 


 Launch two annual Facebook ad campaigns aimed at increasing FB engagement 


 Integrate Facebook and LinkedIn into our recruitment advertising campaigns 


 Pilot the use of mobile advertising 


 


VI. Invest in Scalable Systems 
While people are the backbone of robust social networks, investment in social media management 


technology is critical to the College’s ability to improve productivity and reap the greatest of rewards 


from its human capital investment. Specifically, Algonquin will; 


 Continue the development of Hootsuite as the College’s current social media management tool 


 Pilot the investment in social media measurement platforms (Sysomos, Navantis) 


 Pilot the use of competitive benchmarking software (Compete, Hitwise) 



http://twitter.com/#!/algonquincolleg

http://www.facebook.com/algonquincollege

http://www.facebook.com/algonquincollegefuturestudents

http://www.youtube.com/user/AlgonquinVideos

http://www.linkedin.com/company/algonquin-college





DRAFT – April 29, 2012  10 
 


 Investigate enterprise level listening and social media management platforms (Radian6, 


ExactTarget, Awareness, etc…)  


 


VII. Learn to Measure 
All institutions continue to struggle with ensuring social media investments provide a measurable return 


on investment. The effectiveness of social media resides not in the number of people who have 


expressed casual interest in the College (Likes, Followers, etc…) but rather the number of stakeholders 


who actively engage with the institution (Active users, Impressions, sentiment) compared to other like 


institutions. Transitioning to measures that provide greater insight into the quality of the engagement is 


critical to our long term success. Toward that end, Algonquin will; 


 Participate in industry competitive benchmarking exercises 


 Distribute social media measurement thought leadership and best practices to senior 


management 


 Refine the quality of our social media measures over time 


I. BUDGET 
This plan will be funded through Advancement’s base funding, setting aside $50,000 annually for social media 


investments. Sufficient staffing is already in place to support the plan. Additional one-time funding will be 


requested on annual basis. 


 


  







DRAFT – April 29, 2012  11 
 


APPENDIX 1 – ALGONQUIN COLLEGE SOCIAL MEDIA NETWORKS 


 
Facebook 


 Advertising Program 


 Algonquin College  
 Algonquin College Alumni Association G 
 Algonquin College Group (Students - Residence - Books - Frosh) G 
 Algonquin College International Alumni G 
 Algonquin College Students G 
 Algonquin College Tourism & Travel Students and Alumni G 
 Algonquin/OttawaU Journalism G 


 Animation Program G 


 Applied Museum Studies 


 Architecture!! G 


 Architecture Alumni G 


 Bartending G 


 Blackboard Help 


 Business Marketing Students 


 Chinese Students Association 


 Distance Education 


 Documentary Production Program G 


 DSW G 


 ECE G 
 ePublishing G 


 ESL G 


 Event Management G 


 Faculty of Arts, Media and Design 
 Financial Aid, Algonquin College 


 First Class Bookstore 


 Forestry G 


 Future Students 


 Game Development G 


 Graphic Design Alumni G 


 Heritage Masonry G 


 HVAC G 


 Interior Decorators G 


 Interior Design G 


 International Alumni G 
 International  
 LipDub Video G 


 MKTG 2315/2316 


 MT (Massage Therapy) G 


 Native Centre G 
 New Technology Store G 
 Ottawa U/Algonquin College NURSING STUDENTS!!! G 


 Ottawa Valley (Pembroke) G 



http://www.facebook.com/help/?search=Algonquin+College#!/pages/Algonquin-College-Advertising-program/104359732972240

http://www.facebook.com/algonquincollege?v=app_4949752878

http://www.facebook.com/home.php?sk=group_128747531480

http://www.facebook.com/group.php?gid=2208781595

http://www.facebook.com/group.php?gid=177369283998

http://www.facebook.com/group.php?gid=5181384726

http://www.facebook.com/group.php?gid=2227773764

http://www.facebook.com/pages/AlgonquinOttawaU-Journalism/169220249453

http://www.facebook.com/help/?page=778#!/group.php?gid=60535589181

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Allgonquin+College&type=all&init=srp#!/pages/Applied-Museum-Studies-Algonquin-College/124874674213111

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin%20College&init=quick&tas=0.8014096124579018&search_first_focus=1299350944828&type=groups#!/group.php?gid=2243015444

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin+College&init=quick&tas=0.012952868195570177&search_first_focus=1299349932718&type=pages#!/group.php?gid=2233230946

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Allgonquin+College&type=all&init=srp#!/pages/Bartending-Algonquin-College/23560910981

http://www.facebook.com/help/?search=Algonquin+College#!/pages/Blackboard-Help-Algonquin-College/139917026049854

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Allgonquin+College&type=all&init=srp#!/pages/Business-Marketing-Students-Algonquin-College/185292876268

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin+College&init=quick&tas=0.012952868195570177&search_first_focus=1299349932718&type=pages#!/pages/%E4%BA%9A%E5%B2%97%E6%98%86%E5%AD%A6%E9%99%A2%E4%B8%AD%E5%9B%BD%E5%AD%A6%E7%94%9F%E4%BC%9A-Algonquin-College-Chin

http://www.facebook.com/AlgonquinCollegeDE

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin%20College&init=quick&tas=0.8014096124579018&search_first_focus=1299350944828&type=groups#!/group.php?gid=33531671144

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin%20College&init=quick&tas=0.8014096124579018&search_first_focus=1299350944828&type=groups#!/group.php?gid=2321174184

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin%20College&init=quick&tas=0.8014096124579018&search_first_focus=1299350944828&type=groups#!/group.php?gid=2224319137

http://www.facebook.com/pages/Algonquin-ePublishing/116881888338889

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin%20College&init=quick&tas=0.8014096124579018&search_first_focus=1299350944828&type=groups#!/group.php?gid=2404438024

http://www.facebook.com/help/?page=778#!/group.php?gid=36522218191

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin+College&init=quick&tas=0.012952868195570177&search_first_focus=1299349932718&type=pages#!/pages/Algonquin-College-Faculty-of-Arts-Media-and-Design/180353618663793

http://www.facebook.com/pages/Financial-Aid-Algonquin-College/126758550669608

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Allgonquin+College&type=all&init=srp#!/AlgonquinCollegeBookstore

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin%20College&init=quick&tas=0.8014096124579018&search_first_focus=1299350944828&type=groups#!/group.php?gid=2229502810

http://www.facebook.com/home.php#!/algonquincollegefuturestudents

http://www.facebook.com/group.php?gid=4500392470

http://www.facebook.com/#!/group.php?gid=2229226310

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin%20College&init=quick&tas=0.8014096124579018&search_first_focus=1299350944828&type=groups#!/group.php?gid=19538461753

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin+College&init=quick&tas=0.012952868195570177&search_first_focus=1299349932718&type=pages#!/group.php?gid=2228464044

http://www.facebook.com/group.php?gid=22254014604

http://www.facebook.com/group.php?gid=2224808191

http://www.facebook.com/help/?page=778#!/group.php?gid=177369283998

http://www.facebook.com/AlgonquinInternational

http://www.facebook.com/ACLipDub

http://www.facebook.com/help/?search=Algonquin+College#!/pages/MKT2315MKT2316-Algonquin-College/251264367694

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin%20College&init=quick&tas=0.8014096124579018&search_first_focus=1299350944828&type=groups#!/group.php?gid=2234225276

http://www.facebook.com/help/?search=Algonquin+College#!/pages/Native-Center-at-Algonquin-college/96787236562

http://www.facebook.com/pages/New-Technology-Store/370475073851

http://www.facebook.com/group.php?gid=2223855220

http://www.facebook.com/pages/Algonquin-College-in-the-Ottawa-Valley/173420589366111





DRAFT – April 29, 2012  12 
 


 Outdoor Adventure Program G 
 Outdoor Adventure Programs- Algonquin College - Alumni & Staff G 


 Paramedic Program G 


 Pembroke G 


 Perth G 


 Photography Graduates G 


 Police Foundations G 


 Public Relations Grads G 


 Public Relations Program 


 Radio Broadcasting Alumni 
 Radio Broadcasting Program 


 Residence Life 


 Residence Outreach Services 


 Respiratory Therapy G 


 Robotics G 
 SA (Students' Association) G 


 Scriptwriting G 


 Spa Management Program 


 SSW (Social Service Worker) G 


 Television Broadcasting G 


 Television Broadcasting Folks G 


 Theatre Arts 


 Theatre Arts Graduates G 


 Theatre Program G 


 Toolmakers G 


 Tourism and Travel Alumni and Networking G 
 Algonquin College Virtual Tour G 


 Web Services 
 
Facebook – Official College 


 Algonquin College G 
 Algonquin College - Future Students G 
 Algonquin College Alumni Association G 


G – Denotes group page 
 
LinkedIn 


 Accelerated Project Management 12 members  


 Alumni Association 1, 072 members 


 3rd Year Advertising Students 1 member 


 Business Administration HR Program 2010 17 members  


 Business Marketing Alumni 1 member 


 Carleton University BIT 53 members 


 CMC Games 3 members 


 Computer Systems Technicians/Technologists 27 members  


 Event Management Program 17 members 



http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin%20College&init=quick&tas=0.8014096124579018&search_first_focus=1299350944828&type=groups#!/group.php?gid=9144135055

http://www.facebook.com/home.php?sk=group_9144135055

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin%20College&init=quick&tas=0.8014096124579018&search_first_focus=1299350944828&type=groups#!/group.php?gid=2222437308

http://www.facebook.com/help/?page=778#!/group.php?gid=2236372054

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin%20College&init=quick&tas=0.8014096124579018&search_first_focus=1299350944828&type=groups#!/group.php?gid=14738820466

http://www.facebook.com/group.php?gid=2231349409

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin%20College&init=quick&tas=0.8014096124579018&search_first_focus=1299350944828&type=groups#!/group.php?gid=2223328847

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin%20College&init=quick&tas=0.8014096124579018&search_first_focus=1299350944828&type=groups#!/group.php?gid=2256807067

http://www.facebook.com/help/?search=Algonquin+College#!/pages/Algonquin-College-Public-Relations-Program/435563395244

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin%20College&init=quick&tas=0.8014096124579018&search_first_focus=1299350944828&type=groups#!/group.php?gid=2256053024

http://www.facebook.com/AlgonquinRadio

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Allgonquin+College&type=all&init=srp#!/algonquinrl

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin+College&init=quick&tas=0.012952868195570177&search_first_focus=1299349932718&type=pages#!/pages/Algonquin-College-Residence-Outreach-Services/364676081705

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin%20College&init=quick&tas=0.8014096124579018&search_first_focus=1299350944828&type=groups#!/group.php?gid=5982479245

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin%20College&init=quick&tas=0.8014096124579018&search_first_focus=1299350944828&type=groups#!/group.php?gid=31399353708

http://www.facebook.com/algonquinsa

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin%20College&init=quick&tas=0.8014096124579018&search_first_focus=1299350944828&type=groups#!/group.php?gid=164003315574

http://www.facebook.com/help/?search=Algonquin+College#!/pages/Algonquin-College-Spa-Management-Program/69973959969

http://www.facebook.com/group.php?gid=2224243633

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin%20College&init=quick&tas=0.8014096124579018&search_first_focus=1299350944828&type=groups#!/group.php?gid=2228751759

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin%20College&init=quick&tas=0.8014096124579018&search_first_focus=1299350944828&type=groups#!/group.php?gid=2226684370

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin+College&init=quick&tas=0.012952868195570177&search_first_focus=1299349932718&type=pages#!/pages/Algonquin-College-Theatre-Arts-Program/104644606277548

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin%20College&init=quick&tas=0.8014096124579018&search_first_focus=1299350944828&type=groups#!/group.php?gid=2230137402

http://www.facebook.com/help/?page=778#!/group.php?gid=2224147377

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin%20College&init=quick&tas=0.8014096124579018&search_first_focus=1299350944828&type=groups#!/group.php?gid=35761380711

http://www.facebook.com/search.php?q=Algonquin%20College&init=quick&tas=0.8014096124579018&search_first_focus=1299350944828&type=groups#!/group.php?gid=79368762790

http://www.facebook.com/pages/Algonquin-College-Virtual-Tour/193115607397156

http://www.facebook.com/help/?search=Algonquin+College#!/pages/Algonquin-College-Web-Services/143550702355586

http://www.facebook.com/group.php?gid=21399133733&v=wall

http://www.facebook.com/algonquincollegefuturestudents

http://www.facebook.com/pages/Algonquin-College-Alumni-Association/173074082747848

http://www.linkedin.com/groupsDirectory?itemaction=mclk&anetid=3467884&impid=&pgkey=anet_search_results&actpref=anetsrch_name&trk=anetsrch_name&goback=.gdr_1299372936091_2

http://www.linkedin.com/groups?mostPopular=&gid=2020914

http://www.linkedin.com/groupsDirectory?itemaction=mclk&anetid=1937833&impid=&pgkey=anet_search_results&actpref=anetsrch_name&trk=anetsrch_name&goback=.gdr_1299368523334_3

http://www.linkedin.com/groupsDirectory?itemaction=mclk&anetid=2979257&impid=&pgkey=anet_search_results&actpref=anetsrch_name&trk=anetsrch_name&goback=.gdr_1299372936091_2

http://www.linkedin.com/groupsDirectory?itemaction=mclk&anetid=1937833&impid=&pgkey=anet_search_results&actpref=anetsrch_name&trk=anetsrch_name&goback=.gdr_1299368523334_3

http://www.linkedin.com/groupsDirectory?itemaction=mclk&anetid=2064183&impid=&pgkey=anet_search_results&actpref=anetsrch_name&trk=anetsrch_name&goback=%2Egdr_1309267070579_1

http://www.linkedin.com/groupsDirectory?itemaction=mclk&anetid=2682574&impid=&pgkey=anet_search_results&actpref=anetsrch_name&trk=anetsrch_name&goback=%2Egdr_1309267584987_3

http://www.linkedin.com/groupsDirectory?itemaction=mclk&anetid=1948035&impid=&pgkey=anet_search_results&actpref=anetsrch_name&trk=anetsrch_name&goback=.gdr_1299372936091_2

http://www.linkedin.com/groupsDirectory?itemaction=mclk&anetid=3698093&impid=&pgkey=anet_search_results&actpref=anetsrch_name&trk=anetsrch_name&goback=.gdr_1299368523334_2





DRAFT – April 29, 2012  13 
 


 Game Development 8 members 


 Green Business Management Program 14 members 


 Heritage Institute 3 member 


 IFAP Alumni 11 members 


 Internet Application Programmers 16 members  


 Mature Student Club at Algonquin College 3 members 


 MBIR 20 members 


 Public Relations Program Alumni 100 members 


 Student Employment Services 13 members 


 Sport Business Management Alumni 91 members 


 Television Broadcasting 2011 9 members 


 TESL 70 members 


 School of Advanced Technology 27 members 


 School of Business 108 members 


 School of Transportation and Trades 4 members 


 Sommelier Program Alumni 17 members 


 Wireless / Mobility Telecommunications Engineering Technicians and Technologists 4 members 
 
Flickr 


 Algonquin College’s Photostream 


 Alumni Association 


 Algonquin College Photography 1 member 


 Algonquin Innovation's Photostream  
 
Official Blogs 


 Algonquin Advertising Blog 


 Algonquin College Documentary Program Blog 


 SAO 


 Ombuds Blog 


 Photography Program 


 Students’ Association BOD  Blog 


 Algonquin Without Borders (international) 


 Innovation Station 


 Algonquin Reads Blog 


 Algonquin Live, Laugh, Learn 
                 
YouTube 


 Student Affairs & Orientation channel  


 Residence Life Channel 


 Algonquin Animation's Channel 


 Algonquin College Channel 


 Algonquin Social Media Channel 


 Algonquin School of Advanced Technology Channel 


 Algonquin Global Channel 


 Algonquin Robotics Channel 


 Project Blue - Algonquin Water's Channel 



http://www.linkedin.com/groupsDirectory?itemaction=mclk&anetid=1892347&impid=&pgkey=anet_search_results&actpref=anetsrch_name&trk=anetsrch_name&goback=.gdr_1299368523334_2

http://www.linkedin.com/groups/Algonquin-Green-Business-Management-Program-3868686?itemaction=mclk&anetid=3868686&impid=&pgkey=anet_search_results&actpref=anetsrch_name&trk=anetsrch_name&goback=%2Egdr_1309267584987_2

http://www.linkedin.com/groupsDirectory?itemaction=mclk&anetid=3082009&impid=&pgkey=anet_search_results&actpref=anetsrch_name&trk=anetsrch_name&goback=.gdr_1299368523334_3

http://www.linkedin.com/groupsDirectory?itemaction=mclk&anetid=3708280&impid=&pgkey=anet_search_results&actpref=anetsrch_name&trk=anetsrch_name&goback=.gdr_1299368523334_2

http://www.linkedin.com/groupsDirectory?itemaction=mclk&anetid=1450897&impid=&pgkey=anet_search_results&actpref=anetsrch_name&trk=anetsrch_name&goback=.gdr_1299368523334_2

http://www.linkedin.com/groups/Mature-Student-Club-Algonquin-College-3957884?itemaction=mclk&anetid=3957884&impid=&pgkey=anet_search_results&actpref=anetsrch_name&trk=anetsrch_name&goback=%2Egdr_1309267584987_3

http://www.linkedin.com/groupsDirectory?itemaction=mclk&anetid=2739736&impid=&pgkey=anet_search_results&actpref=anetsrch_name&trk=anetsrch_name&goback=.gdr_1299368523334_2

http://www.linkedin.com/groupsDirectory?itemaction=mclk&anetid=1859256&impid=&pgkey=anet_search_results&actpref=anetsrch_name&trk=anetsrch_name&goback=.gdr_1299368523334_1

http://www.linkedin.com/groupsDirectory?itemaction=mclk&anetid=3004879&impid=&pgkey=anet_search_results&actpref=anetsrch_name&trk=anetsrch_name&goback=.gdr_1299368523334_2

http://www.linkedin.com/groupsDirectory?itemaction=mclk&anetid=45529&impid=&pgkey=anet_search_results&actpref=anetsrch_name&trk=anetsrch_name&goback=.gdr_1299368523334_1

http://www.linkedin.com/groupsDirectory?itemaction=mclk&anetid=1892347&impid=&pgkey=anet_search_results&actpref=anetsrch_name&trk=anetsrch_name&goback=.gdr_1299368523334_2

http://www.linkedin.com/groupsDirectory?itemaction=mclk&anetid=2639644&impid=&pgkey=anet_search_results&actpref=anetsrch_name&trk=anetsrch_name&goback=.gdr_1299368523334_1

http://www.linkedin.com/groupsDirectory?itemaction=mclk&anetid=1953845&impid=&pgkey=anet_search_results&actpref=anetsrch_name&trk=anetsrch_name&goback=.gdr_1299368523334_1

http://www.linkedin.com/groupsDirectory?itemaction=mclk&anetid=2533313&impid=&pgkey=anet_search_results&actpref=anetsrch_name&trk=anetsrch_name&goback=.gdr_1299368523334_1

http://www.linkedin.com/groupsDirectory?itemaction=mclk&anetid=1892347&impid=&pgkey=anet_search_results&actpref=anetsrch_name&trk=anetsrch_name&goback=.gdr_1299368523334_2

http://www.linkedin.com/groupsDirectory?itemaction=mclk&anetid=1049107&impid=&pgkey=anet_search_results&actpref=anetsrch_name&trk=anetsrch_name&goback=.gdr_1299368523334_1

http://www.linkedin.com/groupsDirectory?itemaction=mclk&anetid=2604508&impid=&pgkey=anet_search_results&actpref=anetsrch_name&trk=anetsrch_name&goback=.gdr_1299368523334_3

http://www.flickr.com/photos/35744274@N02/

http://www.flickr.com/photos/50988125%40N07/

http://www.flickr.com/groups/pho5587/

http://www.flickr.com/photos/algonquininnovation/

http://www.advertisingatalgonquin.com/2011/01/keep-your-eyes-on-these-fries.html

http://algonquindocprod.weebly.com/3/archives/06-2011/1.html

http://algonquinsao.blogspot.com/

http://ombuds-blog.blogspot.com/2011/03/ombuds-office-at-algonquin-college-will.html

http://algonquinsao.blogspot.com/

http://sabodblog.com/

http://algonquinwithoutborders.blogspot.com/

http://lyceum.algonquincollege.com/innovation/innovationstation/?cat=56

http://algonquincollegereads.blogspot.com/

http://lyceum.algonquincollege.com/livelaughlearn/

http://www.youtube.com/user/algonquinsao

http://www.youtube.com/user/algonquinrl

http://www.youtube.com/user/AlgonquinAnimation

http://www.youtube.com/user/AlgonquinVideos

http://www.youtube.com/user/algonquinsm

http://www.youtube.com/user/AlgonquinSAT

http://www.youtube.com/user/AlgonquinGlobal

http://www.youtube.com/user/AlgonquinRobotics

http://www.youtube.com/user/AlgonquinWater





DRAFT – April 29, 2012  14 
 


 Gonq TV's Channel 


 Algonquin Part-Time Production 


 Algonquin Docs's Channel 


 Algonquin Times's Channel 


 Algonquin College Computer Studies 


 Algonquin CKDJ's Channel 


 Algonquin4Innovation 
 


Twitter 


 Algonquin College - @AlgonquinColleg 


 Media/Newsroom - @ACnewsroom 


 Algonquin Events - @AlgonquinEvents 


 Prospective students - @ACnewstudents 


 Algonquin Alumni - @ACgrads 


 General Arts - @ACgeneralarts  


 School of Advanced Technology - @ACadvancedtech 


 School of Business - @ACbusiness_ 


 School of Hospitality - @AChospitality 


 School of Media and Design - @ACschoolofmedia 


 School of Transportation and Trades - @ACtrades 


 AODA/Accessibility - @ACaccessibility (Department)   


 Bookstore - @FirstClassBkst (Department)   


 Food and Beverage Services - @ACeating (Department) 


 ITS Department - @ACitservices (Department) 


 Innovation - @AlgonquinInnovn (Department) 


 Library - @AC_Library (Department)  


 Residence - @AlgonquinRes (Department) 


 Student Affairs and Orientation - @AlgonquinSAO (Department) 


 Community Studies - @ACcommstudies (Program) 


 Design - @ACdesignschool (Program) 


 Marketing - @Business_Mkting (Program) 


 Photography - @algonquinphoto (Program) 


 Spa Management - @AlgonquinSpa (Program) 


 Theatre - @GonkTheatre (Program) 


 OCMC '10 - @AlgonquinsOCMC (Program) 


 Algonquin Internet Radio - @AIR_Classic 


 Algonquin SSC - @AlgonquinSSC 


 Algonquin Reads - @AlgonquinReads 


 Algonquin Theatre - @AlgonqnTheatre 


 Algonquin Times - @AlgonquinTimes 


 Students' Association - @AlgonquinSA 


 CKDJ OttawasNewMusic - @CKDJ1079 


 Algonquin Thunder - @ALGThunder 


 Jen Beaudoin-Brandt (@AlgonquinCo_op) 
 



http://www.youtube.com/user/GonqTV

http://www.youtube.com/user/algonquinproductions

http://www.youtube.com/user/AlgonquinDocs

http://www.youtube.com/user/AlgonquinTimes

http://www.youtube.com/user/algonquincs

http://www.youtube.com/user/AlgonquinCKDJ

http://www.youtube.com/user/Algonquin4Innovation

http://twitter.com/#!/AlgonquinColleg

http://twitter.com/#!/ACnewsroom

http://twitter.com/#!/AlgonquinEvents

http://twitter.com/#!/ACnewstudents

http://twitter.com/#!/ACgrads

http://twitter.com/#!/ACgeneralarts

http://twitter.com/#!/ACadvancedtech

http://twitter.com/#!/ACbusiness_

http://twitter.com/#!/AChospitality

http://twitter.com/#!/ACschoolofmedia

http://twitter.com/#!/ACtrades

http://twitter.com/#!/ACaccessibility

http://twitter.com/#!/FirstClassBkst

http://twitter.com/#!/ACitservices

http://twitter.com/#!/AlgonquinInnovn

http://twitter.com/#!/AlgonquinRes

http://twitter.com/#!/AlgonquinSAO

http://twitter.com/#!/ACcommstudies

http://twitter.com/#!/ACdesignschool

http://twitter.com/#!/Business_Mkting

http://twitter.com/algonquinphoto

http://twitter.com/#!/AlgonquinSpa

http://twitter.com/#!/GonkTheatre

http://twitter.com/#!/AlgonquinsOCMC

http://twitter.com/#!/AIR_Classic

http://twitter.com/#!/AlgonquinSSC

http://twitter.com/#!/AlgonquinReads

http://twitter.com/#!/AlgonqnTheatre

http://twitter.com/#!/AlgonquinTimes

http://twitter.com/#!/AlgonquinSA

http://twitter.com/#!/CKDJ1079

http://twitter.com/#!/ALGThunder

http://www.twellow.com/AlgonquinCo_op





DRAFT – April 29, 2012  15 
 


APPENDIX 2 – COMPETITIVE ANALYSIS BY SOCIAL MEDIA NETWORKS 


 
Facebook 


 


 
 
 
  


School Link Likes


Algonquin College http://www.facebook.com/algonquincollege 1,914


College Boreal http://www.facebook.com/CollegeBoreal 878


Cambrian College http://www.facebook.com/cambriancollege 1,645


Canadore College http://www.facebook.com/canadorecollege 3,044


Centennial College http://www.facebook.com/centennialcollege 13,377


Conestoga College http://www.facebook.com/pages/Conestoga-College/109587415727492 3,974


Confederation College http://www.facebook.com/confederation 2,147


Durham College http://www.facebook.com/durhamcollege 2,998


Fanshawe College http://www.facebook.com/FanshaweCollege 8,701


Fleming College http://www.facebook.com/flemingcollege 5,683


George Brown College http://www.facebook.com/georgebrowncollege 15,240


Georgian College http://www.facebook.com/GeorgianCollege 9,838


Humber College http://www.facebook.com/humbercollege 20,423


La Cite collegiale http://www.facebook.com/pages/La-Cit%C3%A9-coll%C3%A9giale/1097723457149792,141


Lambton College http://www.facebook.com/lambtoncollege.ca 3,062


Loyalist College http://www.facebook.com/loyalistcollege 1,162


Mohawk College http://www.facebook.com/mohawkcollege 3,881


Niagara College http://www.facebook.com/niagaracollege 8,984


Northern College http://www.facebook.com/northernc 163


Sault College http://www.facebook.com/pages/Sault-College/108985565786754 2,081


Seneca College http://www.facebook.com/pages/Seneca-College/107674175922664 7,236


Sheridan College http://www.facebook.com/sheridaninstitute 10,371


St. Clair College http://www.facebook.com/StClairCollege 3,685


St. Lawrence College http://www.facebook.com/stlawrencecollege.ca 4,605


Carleton University http://www.facebook.com/carletonuniversity 14,478


University of Ottawa http://www.facebook.com/uottawa 8,050







DRAFT – April 29, 2012  16 
 


Twitter 


 
 


  


School Link Tweets Following Followers Klout


Algonquin College https://twitter.com/#!/algonquincolleg 2978 5535 6856 48


College Boreal https://twitter.com/#!/borealapp 37 1 160


Cambrian College https://twitter.com/#!/cambriancollege 281 266 712 37


Canadore College https://twitter.com/#!/canadorecollege 487 39 503 32


Centennial College https://twitter.com/#!/centennialc 9646 33 2555 43


Conestoga College https://twitter.com/#!/conestogac 265 57 1081 38


Confederation College https://twitter.com/#!/Confederation 290 71 681 26


Durham College https://twitter.com/#!/durhamcollege 781 25 2027 43


Fanshawe College https://twitter.com/#!/fanshawecollege 3427 3948 5301 47


Fleming College https://twitter.com/#!/flemingcollege 884 66 1649 42


George Brown College https://twitter.com/#!/gbcollege 1 198 890


Georgian College https://twitter.com/#!/georgiancollege 3469 1421 3148 43


Humber College https://twitter.com/#!/humbercollege 3738 2956 6159 49


La Cite collegiale https://twitter.com/#!/citecollegiale 442 335 598 30


Lambton College https://twitter.com/#!/LAMBTONCOLLEGE 1187 192 667 38


Loyalist College https://twitter.com/#!/loyalistcollege 583 173 856 33


Mohawk College https://twitter.com/#!/mohawkcollege 1089 498 2745 41


Niagara College https://twitter.com/#!/niagara_college 1062 30 3327 43


Northern College https://twitter.com/#!/northernc_on_ca 91 110 100 18


Sault College https://twitter.com/#!/saultcollege 653 126 646 37


Seneca College https://twitter.com/#!/seneca_college 1034 155 4849 45


Sheridan College https://twitter.com/#!/sheridancollege 1491 222 3975 44


St. Clair College https://twitter.com/#!/stclaircollege 152 89 464 33


St. Lawrence College https://twitter.com/#!/whatsinsideslc 738 556 977 39


Carleton University http://twitter.com/#!/carleton_u 3460 769 7279 53


University of Ottawa https://twitter.com/#!/uottawanow 4496 3003 5358 46







DRAFT – April 29, 2012  17 
 


YouTube 


 


 


  


School Link Subscribers Views


Algonquin College http://www.youtube.com/user/AlgonquinVideos 142 133,862


College Boreal http://www.youtube.com/user/CollegeBoreal 19 61,644


Cambrian College http://www.youtube.com/user/CambrianCollege 69 43,259


Canadore College http://www.youtube.com/user/CanadoreLiaison 43 11,879


Centennial College http://www.youtube.com/user/CentennialCollegeON 350 391,248


Conestoga College http://www.youtube.com/user/conestogapolytechnic 45 32,138


Confederation College http://www.youtube.com/user/confederationcollege 58 67,321


Durham College http://www.youtube.com/user/DurhamCollege 102 88,451


Fanshawe College http://www.youtube.com/user/MyFanshawe 193 154,247


Fleming College http://www.youtube.com/user/FlemingCollege 42 18,793


George Brown College http://www.youtube.com/user/georgebrowncollege 489 1,102,167


Georgian College http://www.youtube.com/user/georgianvideos 62 53,273


Humber College http://www.youtube.com/user/humberlive 331 139,848


La Cite collegiale http://www.youtube.com/user/LaCitecollegiale 35 27,712


Lambton College http://www.youtube.com/user/LambtonCollegeSarnia 52 38,473


Loyalist College http://www.youtube.com/user/loyalistcollege 0 1,040


Mohawk College http://www.youtube.com/user/mohawkcollege 133 61,088


Niagara College http://www.youtube.com/user/niagaracollegecanada 68 18,880


Northern College


Sault College http://www.youtube.com/user/TheSaultCollege 2 624


Seneca College http://www.youtube.com/user/VideoSeneca 199 305,964


Sheridan College


St. Clair College http://www.youtube.com/user/stclairmarketing 41 39,897


St. Lawrence College http://www.youtube.com/user/aboutslc 15 16,685


Carleton University http://www.youtube.com/user/CarletonUvideos 679 510,687


University of Ottawa http://www.youtube.com/user/TheOttawaU 94 88,462







DRAFT – April 29, 2012  18 
 


LinkedIn 


 


  


School Link Followers


Algonquin College http://www.linkedin.com/company/algonquin-college 2,413


College Boreal http://www.linkedin.com/company/college-boreal 89


Cambrian College http://www.linkedin.com/company/cambrian-college 498


Canadore College http://www.linkedin.com/company/canadore-college 264


Centennial College http://www.linkedin.com/company/centennial-college 2,205


Conestoga College http://www.linkedin.com/company/conestoga-college-institute-of-technology-and-advanced-learning1,674


Confederation College http://www.linkedin.com/company/confederation-college 321


Durham College http://www.linkedin.com/company/durham-college 1,309


Fanshawe College http://www.linkedin.com/company/fanshawe-college 1,493


Fleming College http://www.linkedin.com/company/fleming-college 605


George Brown College http://www.linkedin.com/company/george-brown-college 2,965


Georgian College http://www.linkedin.com/company/georgian-college 1,601


Humber College http://www.linkedin.com/company/humber-college 4,194


La Cite collegiale http://www.linkedin.com/company/la-cit-coll-giale 363


Lambton College http://www.linkedin.com/company/lambton-college-sarnia 298


Loyalist College http://www.linkedin.com/company/loyalist-college 643


Mohawk College http://www.linkedin.com/company/mohawk-college 1,364


Niagara College


Northern College http://www.linkedin.com/company/northern-college-of-applied-arts-and-technology131


Sault College


Seneca College http://www.linkedin.com/company/seneca-college-of-applied-arts-and-technology3,396


Sheridan College http://www.linkedin.com/company/sheridan-college 476


St. Clair College


St. Lawrence College http://www.linkedin.com/company/st.-lawrence-college 889


Carleton University http://www.linkedin.com/company/carleton-university 3,295


University of Ottawa http://www.linkedin.com/company/university-of-ottawa 4,993







DRAFT – April 29, 2012  19 
 


APPENDIX 3 – SOCIAL MEDIA BEST PRACTICES 
 Twitter 


 Facebook 


 LinkedIn 


 SEO 


 Blogs 


 








BOARD OF GOVERNORS UPDATE


KPI – Key Performance Indicators 2011‐12
MYAA – Multi‐Year Accountability Agreement 2010‐11MYAA  Multi Year Accountability Agreement 2010 11


May 14, 2012


Caring.     Learning.     Integrity.     Respect. 1







KPI Purpose
KPIs were established in 1998 within the Ontario CAAT system to:


• Provide accountability


• Be understandable to the public


• Encourage colleges to pursue relevance to job market and quality 
in programs services and facilities through public disclosure ofin programs, services and facilities through public disclosure of 
results


• Provide funding incentives for 3 of 5 KPI measures:
– Graduate Employment


– Graduate Satisfaction


– Employer SatisfactionEmployer Satisfaction


• Use a common set of measures


• Be consistently collected by all colleges


Caring.     Learning.     Integrity.     Respect. 2







Use of KPI DataUse of KPI Data
Internal External


bl • Web posting
– Algonquin


– Colleges Ontario


• Annual Program Mix Review


• Cyclical Program Quality 
Review g


– MacLean’s magazine


• Multi‐Year Accountability 
A t ith MTCU


Review


• Strategic Program and 
Services Implementation


Agreement with MTCU


• Environmental Scan –
Colleges Ontario


• Identify employers of 
graduates


• Performance Contracts g• Performance Contracts


Caring.     Learning.     Integrity.     Respect. 3







KPI Results - Two Year Comparison (Current 2011-12 to Previous 2010-11)


College Year


KPI Graduate and Employer Surveys KPI StudentSatisfactionSurvey - Capstone Questions and Score
KPI 


Graduation
Rate %Graduate 


Employment 
%


Graduate 
Satisfaction 


%


Employer 
Satisfaction 


%


Q14
Career


Q26
Quality


Q44
Facilities


Q45
Services


KPI SSS
4 Capstone 


Qs


Algonquin 2011-12 85.7 80.1 91.1 89.5 82.9 74.9 73.8 80.3 64.2


Algonquin 2010-11 84.9 79.3 92.1 89.5 82.7 73.1 73.8 79.8 62.9


Year to Year Change 0.8 0.8 -1.0 0.0 0.2 1.8 0.0 0.5 1.3


Province 2011-12 83.0 78.9 92.8 87.4 80.8 70.1 68.8 76.8 65.0


Province 2010-11 83.0 79.1 93.2 87.1 80.2 68.8 68.1 76.1 64.2


Year to Year Change 0.0 -0.2 -0.4 0.3 0.6 1.3 0.7 0.7 0.8g 0.0 0.2 0.4 0.3 0.6 1.3 0.7 0.7 0.8


Caring.     Learning.     Integrity.     Respect. 4







2011-12 KPI Results of Large Colleges - Peer Comparisons


College


KPI Graduate and Employer Surveys KPI Student Satisfaction Survey – Capstone Questions and Overall Score KPI 
Graduation


RateGraduate 
Employment


Graduate 
Satisfaction


Employer 
Satisfaction Q14 – Career Q26 - Quality Q44 - Facilities Q45 - Services KPI SSS Score


% Rank % Rank % Rank % Rank % Rank % Rank % Rank % Rank % Rank


Algonquin 85.7 8 80.1 8 91.1 14 89.5 6 82.9 7 74.9 7 73.8 6 80.3 6 64.2 15


Centennial 72.8 20 75.8 21 93.0 8 84.7 20 76.4 22 64.3 19 61.7 21 71.8 19 61.3 21


Fanshawe 85.5 9 79.8 10 93.4 7 86.8 13 80.4 15 75.7 5 72.7 7 78.9 9 69.3 5


George 
Brown 81.4 16 77.6 18 91.1 14 85.2 18 76.7 21 60.2 21 59.4 22 70.4 20 67.0 10


Humber 83 1 12 78 6 14 92 4 12 86 8 13 80 2 17 67 5 16 66 0 17 75 1 15 63 5 18Humber 83.1 12 78.6 14 92.4 12 86.8 13 80.2 17 67.5 16 66.0 17 75.1 15 63.5 18


Mohawk 82.7 13 78.2 17 92.6 11 89.1 8 83.3 6 78.4 2 76.9 2 81.9 3 60.8 22


Seneca 77.1 19 78.3 16 93.5 6 85.4 17 77.7 20 67.6 15 65.5 18 74.0 16 54.6 23


Sheridan 82.1 14 78.7 13 93.4 7 86.5 14 81.8 10 67.8 14 66.8 16 75.7 14 70.9 2


Province 83.0 78.9 92.8 87.4 80.8 70.1 68.8 76.8 65.0


Caring.     Learning.     Integrity.     Respect. 5







2010‐2011 Multi‐Year Accountability Agreement
(MYAA) Report Back( ) p


• “……… a tool for publicly reporting on the performance 
of Ontario postsecondary institutions on the principles 
of access, quality and accountability …….


• Maintains the strategic system‐wide performance 
indicators that reflect current government priorities 
f t d d ti i O t ifor postsecondary education in Ontario …….


• Provides institutions with the opportunity to tell their• Provides institutions with the opportunity to tell their 
unique story of how they are driving system‐wide 
priorities.”


Caring.     Learning.     Integrity.     Respect.


priorities.


6







Multi‐Year Accountability Agreement
Report‐Back Processp


• June, 2011 ‐MTCU releases guidelines for preparing  the Multi‐
Year Accountability Agreement Report‐Back


S t 2011 E ti i f t i t ll• Sept, 2011 – Executive review of report internally


• Oct, 2011 – College submits report online via web‐posting 
applicationpp


• Jan to March, 2012 – Ministry reviews and approves report


• March, 2012 – Algonquin posts 36‐page MYAA Report on web‐
site located at: www.algonquincollege.com/reports/


• March, 2012 – MTCU sends 8‐page System‐Wide Summary 
based on their review and approval of college reportsbased on their review and approval of  college reports


• March 31, 2012 – MTCU releases GPOG MYAA ‘Hold‐Back’ to 
Colleges (for Algonquin ~$3 million).


Caring.     Learning.     Integrity.     Respect. 7







2010‐11 Colleges' MYAA Report Back ‐ System‐Wide Summary


Section Heading  Algonquin Compared to System‐Wide Summary


1) Enrolment ‐ Full‐Time Headcount by Age 
Group


Algonquin has 7.7% of System Share of enrolment. By age group, Algonquin has a 
younger student body, i.e. more students under the age of 18 and less students aged 
25+


2)
Under‐Represented Students ‐ students 
ith disabilities First Generation st dents


Among the 3 target populations, Algonquin reports a higher incidence of Under‐
Represented Students compared to the system average. At Algonquin, 13% of 


2) with disabilities, First Generation students, 
Aboriginal students


students report a disability, primarily learning in nature, 31% report coming from a 
First Generation family and 4% report being of Aboriginal background


3) Student Access Guarantee (SAG) 
Compliance


All 24 colleges reported that they met students' tuition/book shortfall.


Based on KPI Graduate Survey results, 233 Algonquin Graduates indicated they were


4) Credit Transfer (to other PSE Institutions)


Based on KPI Graduate Survey results, 233 Algonquin Graduates indicated they were 
pursuing further PSE education. In total, these Algonquin Graduates constituted 7% 
of graduates in the total system transferring to further PSE activities. 


College narrative provided on 1) Expanding Transfer Pathways; 2) Providing Support 
Services for Transfer Students; c) Improving Transparency and Access to Information 
About Credit Transfer and Transfer Pathways.


5) Class Size ‐ Proportion of First, Second, Third 
or Fourth Year Classes by class size


For all years, Algonquin reported a much lower proportion of classes with fewer than 
30 students compared to the system, i.e. Algonquin's course section sizes are larger 
than the system average.


To be considered eLearning, all teaching and learning activities had to be conducted 


6) eLearning


totally online. As a result, Algonquin's Hybrid courses that provide eLearning with 
periodic face‐to‐face classroom time with professors are excluded.  Despite this 
limitation, Algonquin has a system share of 4% of eLearning courses, 7% of 
eLearning programs and 12% of eLearning registrations, the latter achieved through 
Algonquin's substantial participation in the Ontario Learn consortium.


Caring.     Learning.     Integrity.     Respect. 8







2010‐11 Colleges' MYAA Report Back ‐ System‐Wide Summary


Section Heading  Algonquin Compared to System‐Wide Summary


7)


International ‐ FT & PT international student 
headcount in programs and ESL courses, gross 
revenues from international student tuition, 
offshore activities


Reflecting the increasing dominance of the GTA region and colleges, Algonquin has 
a 5.2% Market and Revenue Share of International student enrolment. Algonquin 
has a dominant position in ESL courses reporting 26% of total system registrations. 
Algonquin has a small share of Inbound and Outbound students undertaking 
student exchanges/study abroad programs.


8) Supply Chain Compliance
All colleges have adopted the Government's Supply Chain Code of Ethics. 
19 of 24 colleges have participated in the Ontario Education Collaborative 
Marketplace (OECM)


9) Space Utilization 21 of 24 colleges have a space utilization planning process in place.


KPI St d t S ti f ti 4 C i Compared to the system Algonquin is strong in factors contributing to Student
10) KPI Student Satisfaction x 4 Capstone questions 


and total score
Compared to the system, Algonquin is strong in factors contributing to Student 
Satisfaction


11) KPI Graduation Rate With a Graduation  Rate of 62.9%, Algonquin is below the system average of 64.2%. 


12) KPI Graduate Employment Rate
Compared to the system, Algonquin is strong in factors contributing to Graduate 
EmploymentEmployment


13) Retention Rates by Program Year


System Range from Low to High relative to Algonquin (in Bold font)
•Year 1 to 2 ‐ 66%, 74%, 93%.
• Year 2 to 3 ‐ 30%, 90%, 100%.
• Year 3 to 4 ‐ 84%, 93%, 100%


Colleges provided examples of improvements to In Class Experience Engagement
14) Quality of Learning Environment 


Colleges provided examples of improvements to In‐Class Experience, Engagement 
and Support. In turn, the Ministry reported selected examples in their System‐Wide 
Summary to illustrate, not prescribe best practice.


15)
Ten Percent Reduction in Executive Office 
Costs beginning in 2011‐12


All 24 colleges report that they are in compliance


Caring.     Learning.     Integrity.     Respect. 9








 
Presentation to:  Board of Governors 


Subject:  Board Policy Update 
Date:  May 14, 2012 
Presenter(s):   Jim McIntosh, Chair Governance Committee 


Purpose:     


The  Algonquin  College  governance  processes  are  substantively  documented  within  the  Board  bylaws, 
standing  committee  terms of  reference  and  its existing 30 Board policies.  The Algonquin College Board 
policies, however, are not current and are in need of updating. 


Background:  


A review of the Board policies has been undertaken by the Governance Committee, as communicated  in 
the Board minutes of February, May and June, 2011. This review leveraged the College’s recent review of 
its Administrative  policies,  particularly  the  expertise  of Raymonde Hanson.  The Governance  Committee 
met a number of times completing the following activities. 


• The Governance Committee reviewed the current 30 Board policies and revised four of them  


(into three policies) , converted one policy into a new bylaw and recommended rescinding 26 policies 
(including the policy converted into the bylaw). 


• Approximately  20  new  policies  were  considered  by  the  Governance  Committee,  based  on  the 
consultation  of  other  Colleges  policies  and  identified  Algonquin  College  needs.  Following  this 
consultation, three new policies were selected and refined. One of these (Financial Management) is to 
be reviewed by the Audit Committee in May 2012, before coming to the Board.  A second new policy 
dealing with  the Responsibilities of  the Board requires  further review by  the Governance Committee 
and will be brought  forward  in  the  fall. A  third policy dealing with  the Responsibilities of  the Board 
Chair is being brought forward for approval. 


• The Standing Committees Terms of Reference were also  reviewed  to ensure  they were current, and 
have  a  common  format with  other  standing  committees.   Minor  revisions  are  proposed.  The Audit 
Committee Terms of Reference is to be reviewed by the Audit Committee at their May 2012 meeting, 
before coming to the Board. 


• The College  lawyers were asked  to  review  the Board bylaws,  the  revised and proposed new policies 
and  the Committee Terms of Reference. A  final package was  then prepared  for consideration by  the 
Board of Governors. 


 Discussion/Considerations:   
1. The  Algonquin  Board  Current  Policy  Review  document  presents  each  of  the  30  current  Board 


policies,  the detailed  rationale  for  the proposed change, and  the  recommended change  for each 
policy. The Governance Committee members and Raymonde Hanson are prepared to answer any 
questions about the recommended changes. 


2. Three  new  policies  have  been  drafted.  The  rationale  for  the  first  two  of  these  new  policies  is 
presented below. The third new policy ‘BG II‐05 Financial Management’ is expected to come to the 
Board in June, 2012. 


 BG I‐01   Responsibilities of the Board of Governors. This new policy enunciates the role of 
the Board based on the OCAAT Act, Ontario Regulation 34/03, Bylaw 1 and Minister’s 
Binding Directives.     


 BG I‐04   Responsibilities of the Board Chair.  This new policy defines the role of the Board 







Chair based on the OCAAT Act, Ontario Regulation 34/03, Bylaw 1, policy BG I ‐01 and the 
Terms of Reference of the Executive and Governance Committees. 


3. Bylaw  1  on  the  Conduct  of  the  Board  of  Governors  has  changes  that  are  editorial  and  reflect 
changes to the Executive Committee Terms of Reference. 


4. Bylaw 3 on the Election of Internal Governors has changes that are editorial in nature as suggested 
by legal counsel. 


5. Bylaw 4 on the College Academic Council has changes that are editorial in nature as suggested by 
legal counsel. 


6. Bylaw 5 is the conversion of an existing Board policy on Program Advisory Committees to a bylaw 
as required by the Minister’s Binding Directive. 


7. Executive Committee Terms of Reference changes are to clarify the role of the Committee.    


8. Governance  Committee  Terms  of  Reference  have  been  rewritten  in  a  similar  format  as  the 
Executive  Committee,  using  the  January  14th,  2008,  Board  of  Governors  minutes  when  the 
Committee was established.  The responsibilities of the Committee have not changed.   


Tab  Recommendation 


A.  1. That  the Board of Governors  rescind  the  26 policies  so  identified  in  the Algonquin Board 
Current Policy Review document. 


  2. That the Board of Governors approve the proposed revisions to the existing Board policies, 
now titled:  


B.  • BG I‐02 Appointment/ Reappointment Of External Governors 


C.  • BG I‐03   Communication with the Board of Governors 


D.  • BG II‐01 Programs of Instruction  


  3. That the Board of Governors approve the proposed new policy, titled: 


E.  • BG I‐04   Responsibilities of the Board Chair. 


F.  4. That the Board of Governors approve the shown proposed changes to Bylaw 1. 


G.  5. That the Board of Governors approve the shown proposed changes to Bylaw 3. 


H.  6. That the Board of Governors approve the shown proposed changes to Bylaw 4. 


I.  7. That the Board of Governors approve the proposed new Bylaw 5. 


J.  8. That  the Board  of Governors  approve  the  proposed  changes  to  the  Executive  Committee 
Terms of Reference. 


K.  9. That the Board of Governors approve the proposed changes to the Governance Committee 
Terms of Reference. 


 







Page 1 


 


Algonquin Board Current Policy Review 


The summary of the recommendations of the Governance Committee for the existing Board policies is shown below. 


 
Policy Title  Recommended Change 


A1 ‐ Advisory Committees; 1984.10.31  Rescind Board policy A1; Replace with Bylaw #5 


A4 – Executive Committee Meetings And Minutes , 2001.10.09  Rescind Board policy A4 


A5 ‐ Expenses For College Governors , 2003.10.14  Rescind Board policy A5. 


A6 –In Camera Meetings, 2003.10.14  Rescind Board policy A6.  


A8 – Harassment/ Discrimination, 1995.10.10  Rescind Board policy A8. 


A9 ‐ Award Of Merit ,1988.06.14  Rescind Board policy A9 


A10 – Oral Presentations To The Board Of Governors, 1988.10.11  Revise And Rename  BG I‐03 Communication With The Board Of Governors 


A11 ‐ Infectious Diseases. 2003.10.14  Rescind Board policy A11 


A12 – Theft, 1992.10.13  Rescind Board policy A12. 


A13‐ Board Appointment/ Reappointment Protocol, 2003.10.14  Revise And Rename  Board policy A13 rename as BG I‐02 Appointment/ 
Reappointment Of External Governors 


A14 ‐ College Occupational Health & Safety System, 1998.04.13  Rescind Board policy A14. 


B2 ‐ General Education, 1984.10.31  Rescind Board policy B2. 


B3 – Program Evaluation, 2001.10.09  Revise And Rename  BG II‐01 Programs of Instruction 


B4 – Program Proposals And Modifications, 2001.10.09  Revise And Rename  BG II‐01 Programs of Instruction 


C1‐ Resource Centre, 1980.01.30  Rescind Board policy C1. 


D1‐ Audit Committee, 2003.10.14  Rescind Board policy D1. 


D2 – Investment Of Funds, 2003.10.14  Rescind ‐Admin policy 


D5‐ Capital Fixed Asset Capitalization, 1998.02.09  Rescind ‐Admin policy 


D6 ‐ Cheque Signing, 1998.10.13  Rescind ‐Admin policy 


E1 ‐ College Facilities, 1969.03.12  Rescind ‐Admin policy 


F1 – Appointment Of Family Members, 1970.05.06  Rescind Board policy F1. 


F2 – Collective Agreements, 2003.10.14  Rescind Board policy F2 


F3 – Conflict Of Interest, 2003.10.14  Rescind Board policy F3 


F4 ‐ Freedom Of Expression, 1978.03.29  Rescind Board policy F4 







Page 2 


 


Policy Title  Recommended Change 


F5 – Professional Development, 1984.10.31  Rescind Board policy F5 


F7 ‐ Performance Review, 1988.06.14  Rescind Board policy F 7 


F8 ‐ Employment And Education For Equity Groups, 2003.10.14  Rescind Board policy F8  


G1 ‐ Diplomas And Certificates, 2001.1.09  Rescind Board policy G1 


G2 ‐ Scholarships And Prizes, 1987.3.24  Rescind Board policy G2 


G3 ‐ Student Activity And Non‐Academic Sports Fee, 2003.10.14  Rescind Board policy G3 


 


The  full policy  text and  the  rationale  for each policy change  is presented below. For  reference, Board Policies and Committee Terms of Reference  found 
online  at  http://www.algonquincollege.com/board/.  The  Algonquin  College  Administrative  Directives  &  Policies  are  found  online  at 
http://www2.algonquincollege.com/directives/. 
 


Policy Title  Policy Text  Recommended 
Change 


Rationale  


A1 ‐ ADVISORY 
COMMITTEES  


1984.10.31 


It is the policy of the Board of Governors of 
Algonquin College that, in accordance with the 
directive of the Ministry of Colleges and 
Universities, there shall be an advisory 
committee for each program, or cluster of 
programs that shall report annually to the Board 
of Governors on matters pertaining to each 
committee's responsibilities, as detailed in the 
Guidelines for Advisory Committees. 


Rescind Board 
policy A1 


 


Replace with 
Bylaw #5 


 


Replaced by Administrative Policy AA01: Advisory Committees 
and new Bylaw 5. 


“2. In accordance with O. Reg. 34/03 under the Ontario Colleges 
of Applied Arts and Technology Act, the Board of Governors of 
Algonquin College has, through the President, directed that there 
shall be an Advisory Committee for each program, or cluster of 
programs, and that the Advisory Committees shall report annually 
to the Board of Governors through the Vice President, Academic.” 


AA_01_Advisory_Co
mmittee.PECApprove


bylaw 5 


The Minister’s Binding Policy Directive Framework for Programs 
of Instruction indicates: “The board of governors is to ensure that 
an advisory committee for each program of instruction or cluster 
of related programs offered at the college is established and is 
made up of a cross‐section of persons external to the college who 
have a direct interest in and a diversity of experience and 
expertise related to the particular occupational area addressed by 
the program. The board of governors is to establish in by‐law the 



http://www.algonquincollege.com/board/

http://www2.algonquincollege.com/directives/





Page 3 


 


Policy Title  Policy Text  Recommended 
Change 


Rationale  


structure, terms of reference, and procedures for program 
advisory committees. 


FrameworkforProgra
ms.pdf


 
A4 – EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE 
MEETINGS AND 
MINUTES   


2001.10.09 


Minutes will be sent to members of the 
Executive Committee. A report of each meeting 
of the Executive Committee will be presented to 
the Board at its next meeting. 


Meetings will be held in camera. 


Rescind Board 
policy A4 


Redundant with EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE: TERMS OF REFERENCE 
(attached below) 


“•Meetings will be held in camera (with the exception of acting 
on behalf of the Board due to lack of quorum).  


•Minutes will be sent to Executive Committee members (with the 
exception noted above). 


•The Chair will present a report of each meeting at the 
subsequent Board meeting.” 


A5 ‐ EXPENSES FOR 
COLLEGE 
GOVERNORS  


2003.10.14 


 


It is the policy of the Board of Governors that all 
reasonable travel and living expenses incurred 
by Board members while on Board business be 
paid by the College. 


Rescind Board 
policy A5. 


 


Replaced by Administrative Policy AD 12 Travel, Meals and 
Hospitality   


“This policy sets forth the guidelines for allowable travel, meal 
and hospitality expenses to ensure the expenditure of College 
funds is properly authorized and supports College business, 
initiatives and goals and is of an appropriate standard. 


This policy applies to all College employees, Board of Governors 
members, appointees, volunteers, and all consultants and 
contractors engaged by the College.” 


AD_12_Travel_Meals
_and_Hospitality_Poli


 







Page 4 


 


Policy Title  Policy Text  Recommended 
Change 


Rationale  


A6 –IN CAMERA 
MEETINGS 


2003.10.14 


In accordance with By‐law No. 1 ‐ articles 6.5 
and 6.6, all regular meetings of the Board of 
Governors of Algonquin College and Standing 
Committees of the Board will normally remain 
open. Exceptions to this are as follows: 


When the Board is addressing individual 
personnel matters, strategic labour relations, 
such financial matters as may affect human 
resources, real and personal property 
transactions, litigation in which the Corporation 
is involved and other matters which by their 
nature require confidentiality so as to preserve 
the legitimate interests of the Corporation, such 
matters may be addressed "in camera". 


Every effort will be made to ensure that the "in 
camera" section of a meeting of the Board is 
scheduled at the end of the regularly scheduled 
meeting. 


Meetings of the Audit and Executive 
Committees. 


Rescind Board 
policy A6.  


 


 


Redundant with Bylaw 1 article 6.6 and committee terms of 
reference. 


“6.5 Meetings to be Public: Subject to section 6.6 below, 
meetings of the Board shall be open to the public and no person 
shall be excluded from such a meeting except for improper 
conduct as determined and expressed by resolution of the Board. 


6.6 In Camera: The Board may conduct that part of its meeting in 
camera as 


concerns: 


6.6.1 such items as individual personnel matters, strategic labour 
relations, real and personal property transactions, litigation in 
which the Corporation is involved and other matters which by 
their nature require confidentiality so as to preserve the 
legitimate interests of the Corporation; 


6.6.2 matters of a personal nature concerning an individual unless 
such individual requests and the Board agree that the matter may 
be discussed in public. 


All governors shall keep all information, discussions and 
proceedings at in camera sessions of the Board strictly 
confidential.” 


Audit Committee – “Meetings shall be held in camera” 


Executive Committee – “Meetings will be held in camera” 







Page 5 


 


Policy Title  Policy Text  Recommended 
Change 


Rationale  


A8 – HARASSMENT/ 
DISCRIMINATION 


1995.10.10 


It is the policy of the Board of Governors that as 
an educational institution, every member of the 
College community can expect a work/learning 
environment free from harassment and 
discrimination. Toward this end, the College will 
not tolerate harassment and discrimination. 


Algonquin College is committed to take 
whatever action is necessary to prevent 
behaviour which results in discrimination 
and/or harassment of any member of the 
College community, either by the employer, by 
another employee, or by another student. 


This policy applies both on and off campus to all 
members of the college community in the 
pursuit of college duties or while engaged in 
college related activities. 


Rescind Board 
policy A8. 


Replaced by Administrative Policy HR22: Harassment and 
Discrimination 


“Harassment and discrimination as defined above will not be 
tolerated by the College in its educational, employment or 
business dealings…This policy applies both on and off campus, to 
all members of the College community in the pursuit of College 
duties or while engaged in College related activities.” 


HR-22-Harassment-D
iscrimination.pdf


 


A9 ‐ AWARD OF 
MERIT  


1988.06.14 


It is the policy of the Board of Governors of 
Algonquin College that the College will 
recognize its receipt of outstanding 
contributions from individuals or groups, not in 
receipt of remuneration from the College, by 
granting an Award of Merit to those making the 
contribution(s). 


Rescind Board 
policy A9 


Replaced by  


AA 16 : Honorary Degrees and Diplomas.  


AA 16 Honorary 
Degrees and Diplomas


 
“The College recognizes that there are extraordinary individuals in 
our community…The College is able to recognize and honour 
some of these individuals by awarding honorary degrees and 
diplomas” 


   







Page 6 


 


Policy Title  Policy Text  Recommended 
Change 


Rationale  


A10 – ORAL 
PRESENTATIONS TO 
THE BOARD OF 
GOVERNORS 


1988.10.11 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


It is the policy of the Board of Governors of 
College that any group or individual may make a 
request to address the Board of Governors. 


In the case of a group or individual from within 
the College community, a written request 
should be submitted to the Chair of the Board 
at least seven days prior to the date of the 
meeting. 


In the case of a group or individual from outside 
the College community, a written request 
should be submitted to the Chair of the Board 
at least ten days prior to the date of the 
meeting. The Chair of the Board shall decide 
whether the presentation is to be made to the 
Board or a Standing Committee of the Board. 


In both instances the Chair may request that a 
text of the presentation be submitted to the 
Board office at least two days in advance of the 
meeting.  


Revise And 
Rename  BG I‐03 
Communication 
With The Board 
Of Governors 


Minor editing and formatting to be consistent with the other 
Board policies.  







Page 7 


 


Policy Title  Policy Text  Recommended 
Change 


Rationale  


A11 ‐ INFECTIOUS 
DISEASES 


2003.10.14 


PREAMBLE 


Due to the uncertain and rapidly emerging 
nature of newly‐identified infectious illnesses, 
the College acknowledges its duty to implement 
precautionary measures, a communication and 
awareness program, and protocols for 
prevention, screening and response to 
suspected cases or contamination. 


POLICY 


It is the policy of the Board of Governors that 
the College will develop and provide an ongoing 
program directed to students and staff on the 
nature of infectious diseases such as HIV 
infection, AIDS and SARS designed to educate 
and protect members of the College 
community. 


Algonquin College will undertake to keep itself 
and its community aware of the latest medical 
information on infectious diseases and their 
spread. In collaboration with the Medical 
Officer of Health, it will put into place protocols 
for preventative measures, screening and 
response to both exposure and possible 
exposure to these diseases. This will include a 
communications strategy and an educational 
campaign 


Rescind Board 
policy A11 


The rights of affected individuals are protected under the Charter. 
The need to educate the College Community is addressed by 
HS01: Occupational Health & Safety. 


“To implement of an effective Occupational Health and Safety 
(OHS) Management System (defined as) The OHS management 
system refers to the totality of all safety related organizational 
policies, OHS standards, OHS programs, safe work practices,  
procedures and organizational statements which are structured in 
an interrelated fashion so as to achieve implementation of the 
policy….The internal responsibility system puts in place an 
employee‐employer partnership in ensuring safe and disease free 
workplace.” 


HS-01-Occupational-
Health-and-Safety.PE


 







Page 8 


 


Policy Title  Policy Text  Recommended 
Change 


Rationale  


A12 – THEFT 


1992.10.13 


It is the policy of the Board of Governors of 
Algonquin College that when a theft is 
discovered, a preliminary investigation will be 
carried out by the College Protection Services 
Department. 


The information gathered therefrom will be 
turned over to the police, who in turn, will make 
the decision whether or not further action is 
warranted. 


Rescind Board 
policy A12. 


Practice is imbedded in the procedures of Safety & Security 
Department. Administrative policy has also been rescinded.  


A13‐ BOARD 
APPOINTMENT/ 
REAPPOINTMENT 
PROTOCOL 


2003.10.14 


When vacancies are to occur the Board of 
Governors will either ask the Executive 
Committee or appoint annually a Selection 
Committee to recommend the 
appointment/reappointment of Board members 
and bring this recommendation to the Board for 
approval. The Executive Committee or the 
Selection Committee will follow the procedures 
set out in the Protocol for Board Nominations 
and Appointments issued by the College 
Compensation and Appointments Council, April 
1, 2003. 


Revise And 
Rename  Board 
policy A13 and 
rename as BG I‐
02 Appointment/ 
Reappointment 
Of External 
Governors 


Appointments of Board members in By‐law #1.Also deals with 
removal of members. By‐law #3 deals with Internal members 
Election.  


The essence of this Board policy is now defined in the Governance 
Committee terms of reference. 


“3. To act as the nomination committee for vacancies in the 
Board and to develop selection criteria and profiles for the 
nomination and performance of Board members.” 


This policy was revised to comply with the Minister’s Binding 
Policy Directive on Protocol for Board Nominations and 
Appointments, revised January 2011. 


BoardAppointProtoco
l.pdf


 







Page 9 


 


Policy Title  Policy Text  Recommended 
Change 


Rationale  


A14 ‐ College 
Occupational Health 
& Safety System 


1998.04.13 


It is the policy of the Board of Governors of 
Algonquin College that safe working conditions 
be maintained at College locations; that the 
College comply with health and safety 
legislation; and, that appropriate directives be 
in place to ensure a safe learning and working 
environment for students and staff of the 
College. 


Further, in accordance with the Occupational 
Health and Safety Act of Ontario and its 
regulations, the College will implement a 
comprehensive Occupational Health and Safety 
System. 


Rescind Board 
policy A14. 


Replaced by Administrative Policy HS01: Occupational Health & 
Safety (inserted above) 


“The College will implement an Occupational Health and Safety 
(OHS) Management System” 


B2 ‐ GENERAL 
EDUCATION 


1984.10.31 


It is the policy of the Board of Governors of 
Algonquin College that the College shall ensure 
that an appropriate segment of General 
Education is a component of all postsecondary 
programs. 


Rescind Board 
policy B2. 


Replaced by Administrative Policy AA27: General Education 


“PURPOSE 


To comply with the Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities’ 
Binding Policy Directive: Framework for Programs of Instruction  
which requires the inclusion of discrete General Education 
courses in programs of study” 


AA_27_General_Edu
cation_Feb_25_PEC_A


 


FrameworkforProgra
ms.pdf


 
B3 – PROGRAM 
EVALUATION 


2001.10.09 


It is the policy of the Board of Governors of 
Algonquin College that the College shall, on an 
annual basis, review the effectiveness, 
relevance and cost of all programs. 


Revise And 
Rename  BG II‐01 
Programs of 
Instruction 


This policy has been revised to meet the requirements of the 
MTCU Framework for Programs of Instruction (inserted above).  


 


B4 – PROGRAM 
PROPOSALS AND 
MODIFICATIONS 


2001.10.09 


It is the policy of the Board of Governors that 
proposals for new programs and modifications 
to existing programs requiring Ministry approval 
shall be submitted to the Board for approval. 
College approved and Apprenticeship programs 
will be brought forward for information. 


Revise And 
Rename  BG II‐01 
Programs of 
Instruction 


This policy has been revised to meet these requirements of the 
Minister’s Binding Policy Directive Framework for Programs of 
Instruction (inserted above). 







Page 10 


 


Policy Title  Policy Text  Recommended 
Change 


Rationale  


C1‐ RESOURCE 
CENTRE  


1980.01.30 


It is the policy of the Board of Governors that 
the services of the Resource Centre System be 
available to College students and staff as well as 
to the residents of the Area 1 community 
served by Algonquin. 


Rescind Board 
policy C1. 


Replaced by Administrative Policy AA 31 Learning Resource 
Centre. 


AA 31 Learning 
Resource Center Oct 


 
“The Learning Resource Centre provides resources and services 
which support the learning needs of all members of the College 
community.” 


 


D1‐ AUDIT 
COMMITTEE 


2003.10.14 


That the Board of Governors establish a 
separate Audit Committee with the following 
Terms of Reference: 


The Audit Committee shall be composed of five 
members of the Board of Governors: four 
external members and the Chair of the Board. 
The President of the College shall be a non‐
voting member of the Audit Committee. 


Each Audit Committee member shall be 
appointed by the Board for a term of one year, 
and such term may be extended for one year at 
a time while the Audit Committee member 
continues as a Governor of the College. 


The Nominating Committee of the Board of 
Governors will bring forward an annual 
recommendation for the Chair of the Audit 
Committee. 


The Board shall fill a vacancy on the Audit 
Committee by appointing a new external 
member to the Committee. 


Rescind Board 
policy D1. 


Redundant with Bylaw 1 


“15.1 The Audit Committee heretofore established by resolution 
of the Board is hereby confirmed and continued to assist the 
governors in connection with all matters that may be properly 
referred to it by the Board. The Audit Committee shall be 
composed of four external governors and the Chair of the Board. 
The President of the College shall be a non‐voting member of the 
Audit Committee. 


15.2 Each Audit Committee member shall be appointed by the 
Board for a term of one (1) year, and such term may be extended 
for one (1) year at a time while the Audit Committee member 
continues as a governor of the College. The Board shall fill a 
vacancy on the Audit Committee by appointing a new member to 
the Committee. 


16.1 The Governance Committee is established to assist the 
governors in …the nomination for vacancies in the Board” 







Page 11 


 


Policy Title  Policy Text  Recommended 
Change 


Rationale  


D2 – INVESTMENT 
OF FUNDS 


2003.10.14 


In order to ensure that the investment of 
surplus funds will in no way compromise the 
availability of such funds for their intended 
purpose, the College will follow the policies as 
laid out in 3.3 (1) of the Financial Administration 
Act, R.S.O. 1980, C. 161 and the Ministry of 
Training, Colleges and Universities binding 
policy directive on Banking and Investments. 


Rescind ‐Admin 
policy 


Addressed by Financial Administration Act for surplus operating 
funds and the Trustee Act for Endowment Funds as directed by 
MTCU. 


D5‐ CAPITAL FIXED 
ASSET 
CAPITALIZATION 


1998.02.09 


BACKGROUND 
The  College  is  required  to  capitalize  and 
amortize capital assets as recommended  in  the 
CICA  Handbook  for  Not‐For‐Profit 
Organizations:  Section  4400.  It  is  the  policy  of 
the  Board  of  Governors  of  Algonquin  College 
that the College will maintain a detailed Capital 
Fixed  Assets  sub‐ledger  of  individual  items, 
which will be  reconciled on a monthly basis  to 
the control accounts in the general ledger. 
 


Rescind ‐Admin 
policy 


Redundant with Accounting practices and  is  included  in Financial 
statements. 


D6 ‐ CHEQUE 
SIGNING 


1998.10.13 


It  is  the  policy  of  the  Board  of  Governors  of 
Algonquin  College  that  the  College  Banking 
Officers  designated  by  Board  resolution,  will 
adhere to the Cheque Signing 
Guidelines  as  set  out  in  the  following 
procedures: 
!  College  cheques  issued  for  amounts  of 
$10,000  or  less  will  require  two  machine 
signatures. 
!  College  cheques  issued  for  amounts  greater 
that $10,000 will require two hand signatures. 


Rescind ‐Admin 
policy 


Not  covered  in  Bylaw  1,  12  EXECUTION  OF  DOCUMENTS. 
Addressed  in  Financial  Guidelines  May  need  to  develop  as  a 
Financial policy   







Page 12 


 


Policy Title  Policy Text  Recommended 
Change 


Rationale  


E1 ‐ COLLEGE 
FACILITIES 


1969.03.12 


In  line  with  its  declared  aim  of  providing 
educational  service  to  the  whole  community 
within  the  Algonquin  College  area,  it  is  the 
policy  of  the  College  to  make  its  physical 
facilities  available  to  outside  groups,  for 
activities  allied with  education  and  community 
service, provided  that  the operational needs of 
the  College  itself  are  first  served  and  fees 
assigned  in  accordance  with  College 
Administrative Guidelines.  
 


Rescind Board 
policy E1. 


 


Addressed in Physical Resources 
Guidelines. 


F1 – APPOINTMENT 
OF FAMILY 
MEMBERS 


1970.05.06 


It  is  the policy of  the Board of Governors  that 
provided  there  is  no  conflict  of  interest,  the 
appointment  of  immediate  family members  of 
present College staff to positions on the College 
staff  should  be  left  to  the  discretion  of  the 
President. 


Rescind Board 
policy F1. 


Replaced by Administrative Policy HR 07: Full Time Hiring Process 
“6.1         The hiring manager will not  select a member of his/her 
family  into  a  position  that  reports  directly  to  them  or  through 
their reporting chain.” 


 


F2 – COLLECTIVE 
AGREEMENTS 


2003.10.14 


It  is  the policy of  the Board of Governors  that 
the College Administration  shall adhere  strictly 
to  the  Collective  Agreements  and  the  College 
Compensation  Committee  Guidelines  as 
provided  by  the  College  Compensation  and 
Appointments  Council  in  respect  of  personnel 
and salary administration. 


Rescind BG IV‐2 
COLLECTIVE 
AGREEMENTS 


Addressed in legislation.  







Page 13 


 


Policy Title  Policy Text  Recommended 
Change 


Rationale  


F3 – CONFLICT OF 
INTEREST 


2003.10.14 


It  is  the policy of  the Board of Governors  that 
the private  interests of College employees shall 
neither conflict nor appear to conflict with their 
duties and responsibilities to the College. 
Members of the Board of Governors will comply 
with  the  Ministry  of  Training,  Colleges  and 
Universities binding policy directive on Conflict 
of Interest. 


Rescind Board 
policy F3 


Part one of this policy is replaced by Administrative Policy HR 12 : 
Conflict Of Interest. 
“It  is  the  responsibility  of  all  College  employees  to  ensure  that 
their private  interests do not  conflict or appear  to  conflict with 
their duties and responsibilities at the College.” 


 
Part two of this policy is replaced by the Minister’s Binding Policy 
on Conflict of Interest. 


ConflictofInterestDir
ective.pdf


F4 ‐ FREEDOM OF 
EXPRESSION 


1978.03.29 


Preamble: 


At Algonquin College, we encourage the 
creation of a milieu in which freedom of 
expression is of paramount importance. Such 
freedom is felt to be essential to the learning 
process and to the self‐development of the 
individual. Moreover, input obtained by open 
dialogue is indispensable as a positive element 
in the decision‐making process. 


This liberty, indeed, this right, must apply 
equally at all levels in the college community 
and should include dialogue both inside and 
outside of the College confines. 


Policy: 


Concomitant with the above approach it is the 
expectation that staff will react in a responsible 
manner. It is anticipated that once open 
dialogue has taken place, resulting in decisions 
affecting the College operation, these decisions 
will be implemented by all members of the 
College staff, even when, as individuals, they 
may disagree. 


Rescind Board 
policy F4 


Superseded   by rights and freedoms found in Canadian Charter of 
Rights and Freedoms and Ontario Human Rights.  


 







Page 14 


 


Policy Title  Policy Text  Recommended 
Change 


Rationale  


F5 – PROFESSIONAL 
DEVELOPMENT 


1984.10.31 


It is the policy of the Board of Governors that 
staff members be encouraged to participate in 
activities that will enhance their professional 
contribution to the College and maintain and 
improve the quality of education in the 
Institution. 


Rescind Board 
policy F5 


Replaced by Administrative Policy HR 02 Professional 
Development Leave, HR 03 Tuition Assistance ‐  Algonquin College 
Courses, HR 04 Tuition Assistance‐ Degree Completion 


HR 02 Professional 
Developement Leave 


HR03Tuition 
AssistanceCollegeCou


HR 04  Tuition 
Assistance - Degrees 


 
F7 ‐ PERFORMANCE 
REVIEW 


1988.06.14 


Algonquin College recognizes employee 
performance to be a key factor in its ongoing 
success. The College further supports the view 
that the excellence of educational offerings, the 
quality and effectiveness of decision making and 
the growth/improvement of employees are 
enhanced by systematic evaluation of employee 
performance. 


It is the policy of the Board of Governors of 
Algonquin therefore, that the College maintain 
systems of performance review for all College 
employees. 


 Rescind Board 
policy F 7 


This is addressed as administrative procedures 


This does not appear in any of the Administrative Policies. 


F8 ‐ EMPLOYMENT 
AND EDUCATION 
FOR EQUITY 
GROUPS 


2003.10.14 


It is the policy of the Board of Governors that 
Algonquin College will provide educational and 
career opportunities throughout all services, 
divisions and campuses which are equally 
available to women and to men. 


It is the policy of the Board of Governors that 
Algonquin College actively support the principle 
of equality of access to education, employment, 
training and promotion, and fair treatment in 
matters of recruitment and remuneration to 
enable women, visible minorities, people with 
disabilities and Aboriginal peoples to share fully 
in expanding employment opportunities. 


Rescind Board 
policy F8  


Principle of equality of access to education, employment, training 
and promotion, and fair treatment is addressed Human Rights 
legislation.  


G1 ‐ DIPLOMAS AND 
CERTIFICATES 


It  is  the policy of  the Board of Governors  that 
diplomas  and  certificates  should  bear  the 


Rescind Board 
policy G1 


Replaced by Administrative Policy AA15: College Credentials. 
“4. All forms of certification are official only when the College seal 







Page 15 


 


Policy Title  Policy Text  Recommended 
Change 


Rationale  


2001.1.09  College seal.  is affixed by the Registrar's Office.” 


AA15.pdf


G2  ‐  SCHOLARSHIPS 
AND PRIZES 
1987.3.24 


It  is  the  policy  of  the  Board  of  Governors  to 
encourage  the  continued  development  of  a 
portfolio of scholarships and prizes, to be made 
available  to  students  under  terms  and 
conditions  set by  the donors and agreed  to by 
the College. 


Rescind Board 
policy G2 


Replaced by Administrative Policy SA05: Scholarships, Prizes, 
Awards.  
“1.4.  Three  levels  of  awards  recognize  student  academic 
achievement: Donor‐based awards, School awards of excellence, 
College awards: 
1.4.1  Donor‐Based  Awards:  The  College  recognizes  students' 
achievement at the level of a program or program cluster through 
the administration of scholarships and awards given by donors.” 


SA05.pdf


G3  ‐  STUDENT 
ACTIVITY AND NON‐
ACADEMIC  SPORTS 
FEE 
2003.10.14 


In compliance with the Ministry of Training, 
Colleges and Universities binding policy 
directive on Tuition and Ancillary Fees, the 
Board of Governors will approve the 
compulsory ancillary fees for all programs of 
instruction and courses operated by the College.


Rescind Board 
policy G3 


Replaced by Administrative Policy AD04: Fees 
“Fees schedules for College courses and programs and AD 11 
Students’ Association  Fees and Levies    are determined within 
the context of Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities 
(MTCU) directives….Fees Schedules are reviewed / updated 
annually and approved by the Board of Governors.” 


AD04 - B01.pdf AD 11 Student 
Activity Fees and Buil


  
  
 







   


Board Governance Policy  


BG I‐02  Appointment/ Reappointment Of External 
Governors


Policy Type:  Board Process   


Date First Approved:  2003‐10‐14  Date Last Reviewed:  2012‐05‐14 


Board Meeting Number:  356  Mandatory Review Date:  2017‐05‐14 


PURPOSE 


This policy  establishes  a process  for  the  appointment or  reappointment of  external members of  the 
Board of Governors  (the “Board”)  in compliance with Ontario Regulation 34/03  ( the “Regulation”  ) of 
the Lieutenant Governor in Council (“LGIC”) under the Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology 
Act, 2002,  the Minister’s Binding Policy Directive:  Protocol  for Board Nominations and Appointments 
(the “MTCU Directive ‐  Board Nominations”) and Algonquin College Board of Governors By‐law #1.       
  


POLICY 


1. In  the  appointment  of  Board  members,  the  College  shall  comply  with  the  Regulation,  MTCU 
Directive – Board Nominations and By‐law #1. The Regulation stipulates in part that one third (4) of 
the external members are  to be appointed by  the  LGIC and  two  thirds  (8) directly by  the Board.  
Every  reasonable effort will be made  to have external members of  the Board  represent men and 
women equally or be at least 7:5 either way.  
 


2. The Board shall ask the Governance Committee to conduct annually a skills analysis of its members, 
referred  to  as  a  skills  matrix,  to  identify  any  critical  deficiencies  in  the  skill  sets  necessary  to 
complement the College’s strategic direction and to balance the overall composition of the Board.  


 
3. When vacancies of external governors are to occur, the Board shall ask the Governance Committee 


to bring recommendations for appointments or reappointments of external governors for approval.  
 


4. In making  its  recommendations  regarding  future  appointments,  the Governance Committee  shall 
take account of  the  skills and expertise  required by  the Board of Governors at any one  time,  the 
gender balance and the need to have a membership which reflects and represents the stakeholders 
of the local community and the overall strategic direction of the College.  


 
5. The Governance Committee shall develop professional development activities for newly appointed 


members.  


PROCEDURE 


This procedure defines  the  roles and  responsibilities of  the Governance Committee,  the Board Office 
and the Board  in the recruitment and recommendation for appointment or reappointment of external 
governors. 







 
1. Database  
 


1.1 The Secretary to the Board will maintain a database of individuals interested in becoming a    
member  of  the  Board  through  application.    The  database will  be  updated  annually  and 
those listed with the required skill sets identified by the skills matrix in any given year may 
be contacted in the event of a vacancy.  


 
2. Skills Analysis  
 


2.1 In the event of a vacancy on the Board, the Governance Committee will refer to the latest 
skills matrix to identify any skills shortage on the Board. 


 
3. Selection Process  


 
3.1 When  a  vacancy  on  the  Board  is  to  occur,  or  when  additional  names  are  required  to 


replenish  the  database  of  individuals  interested  in  becoming  future Board members,  the 
Governance Committee will  initiate a recruitment campaign using the College website and 
social media. Current Board members may also introduce potential candidates.    


 
3.2 In making its recommendations regarding future appointments, the Governance Committee 


will take account of the skills and expertise required by the Board, the gender balance, and 
the need to have a membership which reflects and represents the stakeholders of the local 
communities and the overall strategic direction of the College.  


 
3.3 Interested  individuals will complete a nomination form and provide their curriculum vitae 


together with the requisite forms required for LGIC appointments, if applicable.  
 
3.4 For  interested  applicants  or  nominees,  the  Board  Office will make  available  a  range  of 


College  governance  information,  including  the  Ontario  Colleges  of  Applied  Arts  and 
Technology Act, the Ontario Regulation 34/03 the College by‐laws, and Board policies. 


 
3.5 The Board Office will provide all potential  candidates with documentation  clearly  setting 


out  the  roles  and  responsibilities  of  a  Board member.  The  documentation may  include 
reference to specific background required as highlighted in the latest Skills Matrix.  


 
3.6 The Governance  Committee will  invite  potential  new members  to  a meeting  to  explore 


their  skills  and  expertise.   At  that meeting,  the Governance Committee will highlight  the 
need to be able to devote sufficient time to the duties of a Board member.   


 
4. Member Reappointment 


 
4.1 The Governance Committee will review the performance of Board members opting to put 


their names forward for renewal of membership and will bring forward a recommendation 
to the Board to accept or reject the Board member request for renewal.   
 







4.2 The Chair of the Governance Committee will notify Board members of the recommendation 
on their request to renew their membership   going forward to the Board and  indicate the 
rationale if denied.    


 
4.3 A board member cannot vote on the renewal or extension of his or her own term.  


 
5. Short Listing and Governance Committee Recommendation 


 
5.1 The  Governance  Committee  will  develop  a  short  list  of  up  to  a  maximum  of  three 


candidates  per  vacancy.  These  three  candidates  will  be  interviewed  by  the  Governance 
Committee  giving  consideration  to  the  principles  of merit,  diversity,  and  support  for  the 
College strategic directions. 


 
5.2   The Governance Committee will then make a recommendation for approval to the Board: 


one nominee  for each Board appointed external member, and up  to a maximum of  three 
nominees for each LGIC‐appointed external member. 


 
5.3 The  Board  Office  will  submit  the  documentation  and  forms  of  the  LGIC  nominees  as 


required by the MTCU Directive ‐ Board Nominations to the Public Appointment Secretariat. 
Members of the public may also nominate candidates for consideration directly through the 
Public Appointments Secretariat 


 
5.4 Nominees  for  LGIC‐appointed  external  member  will  be  informed  that  if  selected  for 


appointment  their  name,  qualifications  and/or  application  form will  be  submitted  to  the 
Standing Committee on Government Agencies for review and may result  in an appearance 
before  that Committee.    If selected  for appointment, an LGIC‐appointed external member 
may be  required  to  take an Oath of Office and Oath of Allegiance  in accordance with  the 
Public Service of Ontario Act, 2006. 


 
6. Board Recommendation 


 
6.1 Where  the  Board  accepts  the  recommendation(s)  of  the  Governance  Committee  for 


appointments  or  reappointment  of  members,  the  Board  will  recommend  these 
appointments as detailed in the MTCU Directive ‐ Board Nominations. 


 
6.2 Once appointed, the candidate will receive a  letter of appointment  from  the College. The 


letter will include an orientation package and a request to sign the Code of Ethical Conduct 
and Governors’ Agreement (By‐law#1, Attachment 1).   New members will also be required 
to participate in the Colleges Ontario orientation sessions. Applicants who are not selected 
for appointment are notified by the College unless they are nominees submitted directly to 
the Public Appointments Secretariat. 


MONITORING 


The Board will monitor its compliance with this policy after a Board vacancy has been filled as part of the 
Board  Evaluation.  The  success  of  the  Board  in  appointing members  consistent with  this  policy  and 
procedure will be a performance measure. 
 







RELATED MATERIALS 
 
Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology Act, 2002 
http://www.e‐laws.gov.on.ca/html/statutes/english/elaws_statutes_02o08f_e.htm 
 
Ontario Regulation 34/03  
http://www.e‐laws.gov.on.ca/html/regs/english/elaws_regs_030034_e.htm 
 
Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities:  Protocol for Board Nominations and Appointments, 
Revised January 2011 
http://caat.edu.gov.on.ca/Documents/Gov&Acc_Current/English/BoardAppointProtocol.pdf 
 
Algonquin College By‐law #1 
http://www.algonquincollege.com/board/bylaws.htm 
 
 
 


  



http://www.e-laws.gov.on.ca/html/statutes/english/elaws_statutes_02o08f_e.htm�

http://www.e-laws.gov.on.ca/html/regs/english/elaws_regs_030034_e.htm�

http://caat.edu.gov.on.ca/Documents/Gov&Acc_Current/English/BoardAppointProtocol.pdf�

http://www.algonquincollege.com/board/bylaws.htm�





 


Board Governance Policy  


BG I‐03  Communication with the Board of Governors 


Policy Type:  Board Process   


Date First Approved:  1988.10.11  Date Last Reviewed:  2012‐05‐14 


Board Meeting Number:  88‐82  Mandatory Review Date:  2017‐05‐14 


PURPOSE 


To provide a mechanism for College stakeholders to attend a Board meeting and/or to raise an issue to 
the attention of the Board of Governors (the “Board”) 


POLICY 


1. Meetings of the Board are open and anyone can attend to observe the Board's proceedings. 
2. Any individual or group may make a request to present a brief or address the Board of Governors on 


an issue relevant to the responsibilities of the Board.  


PROCEDURE 


1. Attending a Meeting of the Board   


nd times of Board meetings are posted on the College’s website and are available from 
the Board Office.  


ontact the Board Office at least 
twenty‐four (24) hours prior to the meeting to ensure there is space available. 


nda, without supporting materials, will be made available    


1.4 Members of the public are not permitted to speak at the meetings unless invited to do so by the 


1.5 Attendance at Board meetings during  in‐camera sessions will be restricted  to members of  the 
ited attendees.  


 the Board will submit a 


 is to be included with the request: 
rd; 


 
1.1 Dates a


 
1.2 Anyone interested in attending a meeting of the Board should c


 
1.3 A limited number of copies of the age


to members of the public, upon request. 
 


Board Chair. 
 


Board of Governors and any Board inv
 
2. Request to Address the Board of Governors  
 


2.1 Individual(s) or groups from the College community wanting to address
written  request  to  the  Board  Chair  at  least  seven  (7) working  days  prior  to  the  date  of  the 
meeting. The following information


a.   The name of the individual(s) or group wishing to address the Boa







b.   The name of  the  individual  chosen  as    spokesperson  for  the  group  and  the  contact  
information for that individual ; 
c.   A summary of the purpose of


   


 the address and topic(s) to be discussed. 


s of  the 
Boar and  if not, will  inform the  individual(s) or group their request to address the Board has 


2.4 If the Board Chair believes the presentation is relevant to the responsibilities of the Board, he or 


 
2.6  Board Chair may request that a written synopsis setting out the subject matter and content 


esentation be submitted to the Board Office at least five (5) working days in advance of 
the meeting so it can be included as part of the package for the Board meeting.    


2.7 When the Board makes a decision on the issue raised by the presentation, the Board Chair will 
inform the spokesperson of the response taken by the Board. 
 


    
2.2 Individuals or groups outside the College community wanting to address the Board will submit a 


written request to the Board Chair ten (10) working days prior to the date of the meeting and 
include the information listed in section 1.1 above.  


 
2.3 The Board Chair will decide whether  the presentation  is relevant  to  the responsibilitie


d 
been denied. The Board Chair will inform the Board at its next meeting of the decision.  


 


she will decide if the presentation is to be made to the Board or to a standing committee of the 
Board.   


  
2.5 The Board Chair will notify the individual(s) or group of the time and date of the presentation to 


the Board or standing committee and the time allocated for the presentation.   


The
of the pr


 


MONITORING 


The Board Office will track annually requests to make a presentation to the Board and their outcome. 







 


Board Governance Policy  


BG II‐01  Programs of Instruction  


Policy Type:  Board Directives    


Date First Approved:  2001‐10‐09  Date Last Reviewed:  2012‐05‐14 


Board Meeting Number:  471  Mandatory Review Date:  2017‐05‐14 


PURPOSE 


The Ministry of Training, Colleges and University (MTCU) recognizes that a college, through its Board of 
Governors (the Board), is best positioned to determine the Programs of Instruction it should offer based 
on  the  College’s  own  strategic  direction,  the  needs  of  the  communities  the  College  serves  and 
government directions and priorities.   This policy sets out  the process  for program approval, program 
quality assurance and program suspension/cancellation in compliance with the MTCU Minister’s Binding 
Policy Directive Framework  for Programs of  Instruction  (the  “MTCU Programs Framework Directive”), 
the MTCU Minister’s Binding  Policy Directive      Funding Approval  of  Programs  of  Instruction  and  the 
MTCU Minister’s Binding Policy Directive Program Suspension and Cancellation: Operating Procedures. 
  
DEFINITIONS 


Word/Term  Definition 


Program of Instruction 
(Program) 


A  group  of  related  courses  leading  to  a  bachelor’s  degree,  graduate 
certificate,  advanced  diploma,  diploma,  certificate  or  other  document 
awarded by the Board  


Program‐at‐risk  Program  that  is  not meeting  the  financial  and/or  quality  performance 
indicators.   


Program Intake Deferral  Program  intake  is  deferred  for  a  specific  term  based  on  low  student 
demand and  financial viability, and program  intake  is  to be offered  in a 
subsequent term.  


Program Suspension  Program  recommended  to  the Board  for  suspension by management as 
the  intent  is to ultimately cancel the program, based on consistently not 
meeting performance indicators. 


Program Cancellation  Program  cancelled  once  all  students  have  completed  the  Program  of 
Instruction. 


Academic Administrator  Administrative staff who is a Program Chair,  Academic Manager, or Dean. 


POLICY 


1. PROGRAM APPROVAL 
 







1.1  The Board shall approve new Programs that : 
a. align with the College  mission and strategic plan; 
b. address the economic and social needs of the communities the College serves; 
c. respond to government directions and priorities; 
d. comply with the MTCU Programs Framework Directive.   


 
1.2 The  Board  shall  be  informed  of  joint  college‐university  programs  that  lead  to  the  awarding  of  a 


degree by the university partner as approved by their Senate.   
  
1.3 The Board shall be informed of new apprenticeship programs to be offered by the College.  


 
2. PROGRAM QUALITY ASSURANCE 
 
2.1 The Board, through the President, shall implement a Program Quality Assurance process conducted 


on  a  regular  basis  to  ensure  ongoing  quality,  relevance,  currency  and  financial  viability  of  all 
Programs. The Program Quality Assurance Process will consist of the following: 


a. Annual Curriculum Review: annual process used to review and revise curriculum based on 
College  strategic  directions,  feedback  from  professors,  advisory  committee  members, 
program councils, and analysis of survey and other data. This results in the development of 
a new version of the curriculum to be offered in the next academic year. 


b. Annual Program Mix Review: annual review of the Quality Index and Financial Contribution 
of all full‐time College programs against established benchmarks. 


c. Program Quality Review: a  five‐year comprehensive program quality review process which 
assesses  each  program  against  established  quality  criteria  including  the  College  strategic 
directions  and  results  in  recommendations  for  program  improvement,  and  an 
implementation plan.  


 
3. PROGRAM INTAKE DEFERRAL 
 
3.1 The  Board  shall  delegate  to  the  President  the  authority  to  defer  the  intake  of  a  program  for  a 


specific term as a result of low student demand and financial viability, with the program intake to be 
offered in a subsequent term. 


 
4. PROGRAM SUSPENSION/CANCELLATION 


 
4.1 The Board shall approve a program suspension with the  intent to cancel all delivery modes of the 


Ministry  funded program, based on  consistently not meeting performance  indicators  reflected by 
the Quality Assurance Process. 


4.2 The  Board  will  make  reasonable  efforts  to  provide  students  in  the  suspended  program  the 
opportunity  to  complete  the  program within  the  normal  allotted  time  period,  usually  twice  the 
length of the program.  


PROCEDURE 


1. PROGRAM APPROVAL 
 
1.1 In  its analysis of new Program proposals submitted  for approval,  the Board shall  review elements 


such as the:   







a. strategic alignment of the new program; 
b. background and program rationale; 
c. employment demand for the graduates; 
d. applicant demand for the program; 
e. program of study, delivery model and credential to be awarded; 
f. capital investment requirements;  
g. space, technology, learning resources requirements; 
h. ongoing financial viability; 
i. accreditation or regulatory requirements of external bodies, if applicable; 
j. consideration  for  internal  laddering  and  transferability  to  other  postsecondary 


institutions; 
k. advisory committee support. 


 
1.2 Following Board approval,  the President’s Office will forward the new  Program proposal to: 


a. the Credentials Validation Service  for validation  that  the new program aligns with  the 
MTCU Programs Framework Directive and    is consistent with accepted college  system 
nomenclature.   


b. MTCU for a funding decision, if applicable.     
 
2. PROGRAM QUALITY ASSURANCE  
 
2.1 Normally, Programs shall undergo a comprehensive  review every  five years. This  review builds on 


the results of the Program annual reviews of the past five years, and the feedback of stakeholders, 
including  the  Program Advisory  Committee  and  students  in  the  Program.  Based  on  the  findings, 
recommendations shall be made to maintain and improve the Program over the next five years or to 
suspend and ultimately cancel the Program.  The President, through the Vice‐President, Academic, is 
responsible  for ensuring  that Program   Quality Reviews are undertaken  in a  timely and  thorough 
manner as stated in the Administrative Policy AA 38 Program Quality Assurance. 


 
3. PROGRAM INTAKE DEFERRAL 
 
3.1 The Academic Administrator, as part of the Enrolment Management process, will monitor admission 


data for  low enrolment on a regular basis and at  least one month prior to the program start date.  
Where a program  intake will not meet  its enrolment projection,  the Academic Administrator will 
recommend to the Dean, and ultimately to the Vice‐President, Academic and President to defer the 
program intake. The President will inform the Board of Program Intake Deferrals. 


 
4. PROGRAM SUSPENSION /CANCELLATION 


 
4.1  On  an  annual  basis,  Academic  Administrators  will  review  financial  and/or  quality  performance 


indicators  for  all  Programs  under  their  jurisdiction  to  identify  Programs‐at‐risk.  Programs‐at‐risk 
normally will be given a two to three year period to address their deficiencies. 


 
4.2 Where a Program‐at‐risk  is unsuccessful  in addressing  its deficiencies within the timeline specified 


above,  a  recommendation  will  be  brought  forward  to  the  Board  for  suspension/cancellation 
following consultation with appropriate stakeholders. 


 







4.3 Once students enrolled in the program at the time of the suspension have completed their studies, 
the  Board  will  inform  the  Ministry  of  Training,  Colleges,  and  Universities  of  the  program 
cancellation. 


 


MONITORING  


No monitoring required by the Board. 
  
RELATED MATERIALS 
 
MTCU Minister’s Binding Policy Directive   Framework for Programs of Instruction: 
MTCU Minister’s Binding Policy Directive   Program Suspension and Cancellation: Operating Procedures 
MTCU Minister’s Binding Policy Directive   Funding Approval of Programs of Instruction 
MTCU Minister’s Binding Policy Directive   Funding Approval of Programs of Instruction Procedures: 
College Administrative Policy AA 38 Program Quality Assurance 
College Administrative Policy AA 30 Program Suspension 
 
 







  


Board Governance Policy  


BG I‐04  Responsibilities of the Board Chair 


Policy Type:  Board Process   


Date First Approved:  2012‐05‐14  Date Last Reviewed:  2012‐05‐14


Board Meeting Number:  473  Mandatory Review Date:  2017‐05‐14


RATIONALE 


This policy outlines  the  responsibilities of  the Algonquin College Board Chair  in  conjunction with  the 
responsibilities of the Executive Committee, the Governance Committee, the Board and the President. 


POLICY 


The responsibilities of the Board Chair are to:   
1. Provide guidance to  the Board governance process, as follows:  


a. Preside at all meetings of the Board and the Executive Committee; 
b. Interpret the resolutions of the Board and the intent of the By‐laws; 
c. Foster teamwork among Board members and solve problems and resolve conflict that may 


arise; 
d. Ensure that the Broader Public Sector Procurement Directive: Mandatory Requirement # 24 


Conflict of Interest is followed;  
e. Ensure the Board prepares an annual schedule of activities and monitors the Board’s 


progress towards it; 
f. Maintain focus on issues relevant to the responsibilities of the Board;  
g. Lead the annual Board strategic planning session; 
h. Facilitate an understanding of issues raised by Board members and determine how the 


Board will address them; 
i. Ensure that the Board behaves consistently in accordance with its own rules and those 


legitimately imposed upon it from outside the organization. 
 
. Represent and speak on behalf of the Board when official representation is required.2   


 


ecure  strategic  partnerships  and  college  funding 


dback 


  the Executive Committee  in conducting  the President’s annual performance 
ation review. 


 
3. Facilitate the Board‐President relationship, as follows: 


a. Lead the selection process and establish the President’s compensation on behalf of the
Board, subject to the Board bylaws and the Executive Committee terms of reference;  


b. Assist  and  support  the  President  to  s
essential to the operation and advancement of the College;  


c. Maintain  close  communication with  the President by offering advice,   providing  fee
from Board members, and providing  encouragement to the President and staff on behalf of 
the Board;  


d. Lead as chair,
and compens







RELATED MATERIALS  


1. Colleges Ontario The Board Chair and President Relationship.   


 


High Performance Boards, March 2010.  
nt:  Effective  Organization  Call  for  Effective 


rg/media/766/BD_effectiveorgs.pdf


2. Strategic Leverage Partners National Study of Board Governance Practices In the Non‐Profit and 
Voluntary Sector In Canada 2006. 


3. Fredric  L.  Laughlin  and  Robert  C.  Andringa  Good  Governance  for  Nonprofits:  Developing  
Principles and Policies for an Effective Board American Management Association 2007. 


4. Canadian Coalition for Good Governance Building 
5. Board  Development  Program  Board  Developme


Chairs Edmonton, Alberta 2009. 
               http://www.rcvo.o  


6. MTCU Policy Framework on Board‐President Relations. 
7. Government of Ontario Broader Public Sector Procurement Directive: Mandatory Requirement # 


24 Conflict of Interest. 
 







 
 


   
  BYLAW #1 
   
 
THE  BOARD  OF  GOVERNORS  OF  THE  ALGONQUIN  COLLEGE  OF  APPLIED  ARTS  AND 
TECHNOLOGY 
 
BE  IT ENACTED as a bylaw of THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF 
APPLIED ARTS AND TECHNOLOGY (herein called the Corporation) for the general conduct of the 
affairs of the Corporation as follows: 
 
 
1. INTERPRETATION 
 
1.1 In this bylaw, the following terms shall have the indicated meanings: 
 


1.1.1 “academic  staff  member”,  “administrative  staff  member”,    “support  staff 
member”  and  “student”  shall  have  the  same  meanings  as  defined  in  the 
Regulations; 


 
1.1.2 “Act” shall mean the Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology Act, 2002,   


as amended from time to time; 
 
1.1.3 “Board” shall mean the Board of Governors of the Corporation; 
 
1.1.4 “Regulations” shall mean the regulations made under the “Act”; 
 
1.1.5 “spouse” and “same sex partner” shall have the same meanings as defined in the 


Regulations.  
 
1.2 In  these    bylaws  and  in  all  other    bylaws  and  special  resolutions  of  the  Corporation 


hereafter passed unless  the  context otherwise  requires, words  importing  the  singular 
number  or  the  masculine  gender  shall  include  the  plural  number  or  the  feminine 
gender, as the case may be, and vice‐versa, and references to persons shall include firms 
and corporations. 


 
2 HEAD OFFICE:  The Head Office of the Corporation shall be in the City of Ottawa in the 


Province of Ontario and at such place therein as the governors may from time to time 
determine. 


 
3 SEAL:  The seal, an impression whereof is stamped at the end of this  bylaw, shall be the 


corporate seal of the Corporation. 







Bylaw No. 1 Page 2  
 
4 BOARD OF GOVERNORS 
 
4.1 Size and Constitution of Board: Subject  to  the  transition procedure set out  in section 


4(10) of the current Ontario Regulation 34/03 the Board shall consist of seventeen (17) 
governors  of  whom:  twelve  (12)  governors,  hereinafter  referred  to  as  "external" 
governors,  shall be  appointed  in  the manner provided  in  section 4.2 below;    four  (4) 
additional governors, hereinafter referred to as "internal" governors, shall be elected as 
provided  in section 4.3 below; and the President of the Corporation (who shall for the 
purposes  of  the  Regulations  be  regarded  as  "the  President  of  the  College")  shall  be 
appointed by  the Board pursuant  to  section 11.5.4 hereof  and who  shall be  a  voting 
member of the Board by virtue of office.  


 
4.2 Appointment  of  External  Governors:  The  external  governors  shall  be  appointed  as 


follows: 
 
4.2.1 Four  (4) governors are  to be appointed by  the  Lieutenant Governor  in Council 


(“LGIC”).    For  each  governor  to  be  appointed  by  the  LGIC,  the  College  shall 
forward  to  the  Colleges  Unit  of  the  Ministry  of  Training,  Colleges  and 
Universities, up to three (3) nominees; 
 


4.2.2 Eight  (8) governors are  to be appointed by  the members of  the Board holding 
office at the time of appointment;  
 


4.2.3 A member  of  the  Board  appointed  under  sections  4.2.1  and  4.2.2  shall  not 
participate in a vote of the Board relating to a renewal or extension of his or her 
appointment. 


 
4.3 Election of Internal Governors:  The  internal governors shall comprise one student, one 


academic  staff  member,  one  administrative  staff  member,  and  one  support  staff 
member,    each  of whom  shall  be  elected  by  the  students,  academic  staff members, 
administrative staff members and support staff members, respectively,    in accordance 
with the procedures established in Bylaw No. 3 of this Corporation. 


 
4.4 Eligibility  Requirements  of  External  Members:    No  person  shall  be  eligible  for 


appointment as an external governor  if such person  is a student or an employee of a 
College of Applied Arts and Technology. 


 
4.5 Term and Term Limits: 
 


4.5.1 Each  external  governor  and  each  internal  governor  (other  than  the    student 
governor) shall be appointed or elected, as applicable, for a term not to exceed 3 
years; 


 
4.5.2 Each student governor shall be elected for a term of 1 year; 


 







Bylaw No. 1 Page 3  
 


4.5.3 Each  governor  shall  take  office  on  the  first  day  of  September  in  the  year  of 
appointment or election; 


 
4.5.4 Notwithstanding  the  length of  the  term  to which an  internal governor may be 


elected,  such  term  shall  immediately  terminate  upon  such  governor  ceasing 
temporarily  or  permanently  to  be  a  student,  academic  staff  member, 
administrative staff member or support staff member, as applicable.   Provided 
that a student governor who graduates prior  to  the expiration of such student 
governor’s  term may  continue  to  serve  until  the  31st  day  of  August  in  such 
student’s year of graduation; 


 
4.5.5 No person shall serve as an external governor or  internal governor  (other than 


the  student governor) for more than 6 consecutive years provided that after an 
absence  of  2  years  such  person  shall  again  be  eligible  for  re‐election  or  re‐
appointment, as applicable, for successive terms not to exceed 6 years;   
 


4.5.6 No person shall serve as the student governor for more than 4 consecutive years 
provided that after an absence of 2 years such person shall again be eligible for 
re‐election for successive terms not to exceed 4 years. 


 
4.6 Vacancies: 
 


4.6.1 Where a vacancy occurs among the external governors of the Board appointed 
by the LGIC pursuant to section 4.2.1, the College shall forward to the Colleges 
Unit of the Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities (MTCU), up to three (3) 
nominees for each vacant position in accordance with the direction provided by 
MTCU  in  the  October  12,  2010, memo  from  Nancy  Naylor,  Assistant  Deputy 
Minister providing direction on the New Appointment Processes  for Lieutenant 
Governor In Council‐appointed College Governors; 
 


4.6.2 Where a vacancy occurs among the external governors of the Board appointed 
by the Board pursuant  to section 4.2.2, the Board shall appoint a person to  fill 
the vacancy; 


 
4.6.3 Where a vacancy occurs among the internal governors of the Board, such of the 


students,  academic  staff members,  administrative  staff members,  or  support 
staff members  as  originally  appointed  the  governor whose  position  is  vacant 
shall  elect  a  person  to  fill  the  vacancy;  such  election  to  be  conducted  in 
accordance with the procedures set forth in Bylaw No. 3; 


 
4.6.4 The term of the person appointed or elected pursuant to section 4.6.1 or 4.6.2 


shall be for the remainder of the term of the governor whose position became 
vacant,  and  shall  commence  upon  such  appointment  or  election  and  shall 
terminate on August 31st in the year in which such term expires. 


 
5 POWERS OF THE BOARD 







Bylaw No. 1 Page 4  
 
 
5.1 The Board shall oversee the direction and management of the College. 
 
5.2 The  Board may make,  or  cause  to  be made,  in  the  Corporation’s  name  any  kind  of 


contract  which  the  Corporation  may  lawfully  enter  into  and,  save  as  hereinafter 
provided, generally may exercise all such powers and do all such other acts and things as 
the Corporation is authorized to exercise and do, as provided by any applicable statute 
or law. 


 
5.3 Without  in any way derogating from the foregoing, the Board  is expressly empowered 


from  time  to  time  to purchase,  lease or otherwise acquire, alienate, sell, exchange or 
otherwise dispose of shares, stocks, rights, warrants, options and other securities, lands, 
buildings, and other property movable or  immovable, real or personal, or any right or 
interest therein owned by the Corporation for such consideration and upon such terms 
and conditions as it may deem advisable. 


 
6 MEETINGS OF THE BOARD 
 
6.1 Calling  of Meetings:  Except  as  otherwise  required  by  law,  the  Board  may  hold  its 


meetings at  such place or places as  it may  from  time  to  time determine.   Governors' 
meetings may  be  formally  called  by  the  Chair  or  Vice  Chair  or  by  the  Secretary  or 
Treasurer on the direction of the Chair, or of the Vice Chair or of any two (2) governors.  
 


6.2 Notice of Meetings:   The Board may appoint a day or days in any month or months for 
regular meetings of  the Board at an hour  to be named and  in  respect of such  regular 
meetings no notice need be given to the governors but notice of the days and times so 
appointed  shall  be  posted  in  the  foyer  of  the main  administration  building.   Where 
urgent conditions prevail, notice of a Board meeting shall be delivered, telephoned or 
sent by electronic mail to each governor not less than one (1) day before the meeting is 
to take place or shall be mailed to each governor not less than four (4) days before the 
meeting is to take place.  Notice of all meetings of the Board shall be given to the public 
by posting of a notice  in the foyer of the main administration building concurrent with 
the giving of notice  to  the governors.   The certificate of  the Secretary or Treasurer or 
Chair that notice has been given pursuant to this bylaw shall be sufficient and conclusive 
evidence  of  the  giving  of  such  notice.    The  governors may  consider  or  transact  any 
business, either special or general, at any meeting of the Board. 


 
6.3 Disclosure of Conflict of  Interest:   At the opening of each meeting, the Chair shall ask 


for disclosures of any actual, potential, or perceived conflicts of interest of any governor 
relating  to  any  agenda  item.  Any  such  declared  conflicts  shall  be  recorded  in  the 
minutes. 


 
6.4 Quorum: Ten (10) governors shall form a quorum for the transaction of business at any 


meeting  of  the  Board.  No  business  shall  be  transacted  at  any  meeting  unless  the 
requisite quorum shall be present.   


 







Bylaw No. 1 Page 5  
 
6.5 Meetings  to be Public:  Subject  to  section  6.6  below, meetings  of  the Board  shall  be 


open  to  the  public  and  no  person  shall  be  excluded  from  such  a meeting  except  for 
improper conduct as determined and expressed by resolution of the Board.  


 
6.6 In Camera:  The Board may conduct that part of its meeting in camera as concerns: 


 
6.6.1 Such  items as  individual personnel matters,  strategic  labour  relations,  real and 


personal  property  transactions,  litigation  in which  the  Corporation  is  involved 
and other matters which by their nature require confidentiality so as to preserve 
the legitimate interests of the Corporation;  


 
6.6.2 Matters  of  a  personal  nature  concerning  an  individual  unless  such  individual 


requests and the Board agree that the matter may be discussed in public. 
 


All  governors  shall  keep  all  information,  discussions  and  proceedings  at  in  camera 
sessions of the Board strictly confidential.  


 
6.7 Adjournments:  Any meeting of governors may be adjourned to any time and from time 


to time and such business may be transacted at such adjourned meeting as might have 
been transacted at the original meeting from which such adjournment took place.  Such 
adjournment may be made notwithstanding that no quorum is present.  In the event of 
an adjournment to a future date, notice of the rescheduled meeting shall be given in the 
same manner as provided in section 6.1. 


 
6.8 Errors in Notice:  No error or omission in giving such notice for a meeting of governors 


shall invalidate such meeting or invalidate or make void any proceedings taken or had at 
such meeting and any governor may at any time waive notice of any such meeting and 
may ratify and approve of any or all proceedings taken or had thereat. 


 
6.9 Voting:   
 


6.9.1 Except for votes to amend or adopt bylaws, questions arising at any meeting of 
governors shall be decided by a majority vote.  Votes to amend or adopt bylaws 
shall require a two‐thirds majority.  In the case of an equality of votes, the Chair 
shall have a second or casting vote; 


 
6.9.2 All votes at any  such meeting  shall be  taken by ballot,  if  so demanded by any 


governors present; but  if no demand be made,  the  vote  shall be  taken  in  the 
usual way by assent or dissent. 


 
           6.93  Unless there  is a demand for a recorded vote, a declaration by the Chair that a 


resolution has been carried or carried unanimously or by a particular majority or 
lost or not  carried by  a particular majority,  and  an entry  to  that effect  in  the 
minutes shall be admissible in evidence as prima facie proof of the fact without 
proof of the number or proportion of votes recorded in favour of or against such 
resolution.  In the absence of the Chair, the Chair’s duties may be performed by 







Bylaw No. 1 Page 6  
 


the Vice Chair or such other external governor as  the Board may  from  time  to 
time appoint for the purpose. 


 
 


6.10 Meetings by Electronic Means:   Meetings of the Board may be held by means of such 
telephone,  electronic,  or  other  communication  facilities  as  will  permit  all  persons 
participating  in  the  meeting  to  communicate  with  each  other  simultaneously  and 
instantaneously  and  a  member  of  the  Board  participating  by  such  means  shall  be 
deemed to be present at that meeting and shall be counted for the purposes of quorum. 


 
 
7 COMPLIANCE WITH CONFLICT OF INTEREST OBLIGATIONS 
 


The  Board  of Governors  shall  comply with  the Minister’s  Binding  Policy Directive  on 
Conflict  of  Interest  issued  under  the  Act.    Should  any  provision  in  this  section  be  in 
conflict with this Policy Directive or any further Policy Directives issued by the Minister, 
the  conflicting  provision  shall  be  ineffective  to  the  extent  of  such  conflict  without 
invalidating  the  remaining provisions of  this  section.   Notwithstanding  the above, any 
provisions  of  this  section  that  exceed  the minimum  requirements  contained  in  the 
aforementioned Policy Directive are not in conflict with such and shall remain in force. 


 
7.1 Definitions: 
 


7.1.1 Actual conflict of interest: a situation where a governor has a private or personal 
interest  that  is  sufficiently  connected  to  the  governor’s  duties  and 
responsibilities as a governor that  it  influences the exercise of these duties and 
responsibilities. 


 
7.1.2 Internal governor: For the purpose of this section 7, the president of the college 


shall be deemed to be an internal governor. 
 


7.1.3 Perceived  conflict  of  interest:  a  situation  where  reasonably  well‐informed 
persons could properly have a  reasonable belief  that a governor has an actual 
conflict of interest, even where that is not the case in fact.  


 
7.1.4 Potential  conflict  of  interest:  a  situation  where  a  governor  has  a  private  or 


personal  interest that could  influence the performance of the governor’s duties 
or responsibilities, provided that the governor has not yet exercised that duty or 
responsibility. 


 
7.2 Principles  


 
7.2.1  Members  of  the  Board  are  expected  to  act  honestly  and  uphold  the  highest 


ethical standards. 
 







Bylaw No. 1 Page 7  
 


7.2.2 Members of the Board are obligated to perform their official duties and conduct 
themselves  in  a  manner  that  will  bear  the  closest  public  scrutiny  because 
colleges are part of the broader public sector and are subject to greater public 
scrutiny than private organizations. 


 
7.2.3 Members  of  the  Board  shall  not  have  private  interests  (other  than  those 


permitted pursuant to the Minister’s binding policy directive, or applicable laws, 
or  statutes)  that  would  be  affected  particularly  or  significantly  by  college 
decisions or actions in which they participate as governors. 


 
7.2.4 When appointed, members of the Board must arrange their private  interests to 


prevent conflicts of interest. If a conflict does arise between the private interests 
of  a  governor  and  the  official  duties  of  that  individual,  the  conflict  shall  be 
resolved in favour of the public interest. 


 
7.2.5 Each governor (regardless of how the governor becomes a member of the Board) 


has a responsibility first and foremost to the welfare of the institution and must 
function primarily as a member of the Board, not as a member of any particular 
constituency.  


 
7.2.6 All  governors  shall  annually  complete  the  Code  of  Ethical  Conduct  and 


Governor’s  Agreement  being  Appendix  1  to  the Governor’s  Code  of  Ethics  in 
which,  among  other  things,  they  shall  agree  to  comply  with  the  Minister’s 
Binding  Policy  Directive  on  Conflict  of  Interest  issued  under  the  Act  and  to 
comply with their obligations respecting the Governor’s Code of Ethics and the 
Code of Ethical Conduct. 


 
 


7.3 Minister’s Binding Policy Directive 
 


7.3.1 A  conflict  of  interest  arises  when  a  governor’s  private  or  personal  interest 
supersedes  or  competes with  that  governor’s  duties  and  responsibilities  as  a 
member  of  a  Board.  This  could  arise  from  an  actual,  potential,  or  perceived 
conflict of interest of a financial or other nature. 


 
7.3.2 At  the beginning of every Board meeting,  the Chair of  the Board  is  to ask and 


have recorded in the minutes whether any member of the Board has a conflict to 
declare in respect to any agenda item.  


 
7.3.2.1 When the agenda item arises in the open portion of the Board meeting, 


the  member(s)  of  the  Board  with  an  actual  conflict  of  interest  may 
remain in the room for the duration of the discussion and not participate 
in the vote on this  item. The minutes are to record that the member(s) 
of  the  Board  in  conflict  of  interest  remained  in  the  room  for  the 
discussion and did not vote on this item. Should the matter occur in the 
in  camera  portion  of  a  meeting,  the  member(s)  of  the  Board  shall 







Bylaw No. 1 Page 8  
 


withdraw  while  the  matter  is  being  discussed  or  voted  on  and  the 
minutes should reflect this. 


 
7.3.2.2 When  the  conflict  of  interest  is  perceived  or  potential,  the Board will 


determine whether  the member or members of  the Board  remain  for 
the  discussion  and  vote  on  agenda  items.  The minutes  should  reflect 
what takes place.  


 
7.3.3 In  cases where  a  conflict  cannot be  avoided,  a Board member  is  to declare  a 


conflict  of  interest  at  the  earliest  opportunity  and,  at  the  same  time,  should 
declare the general nature of the conflict. Where a conflict of interest is declared 
prior to a Board meeting, the declaration is to be made to the Chair of the Board 
and the Board is to be informed. 


 
7.3.4 Where a Board member  is unsure whether  the member  is  in conflict,  the  said 


member  is  to  raise  the  perceived  potential  conflict  with  the  Board,  and  the 
Board  is  to  determine  by majority  vote whether  or  not  a  conflict  of  interest 
exists.  The  said Board member must  refrain  from  voting on whether or not  a 
conflict of interest exists.  


 
7.3.5 Where a conflict of interest is discovered after consideration of a matter, it is to 


be declared to the Board and appropriately recorded at the first opportunity.  If 
the Board determines that involvement of said member of the Board influenced 
the  decision  of  the matter,  the  Board  is  to  re‐examine  the matter  and may 
rescind, vary, or confirm its decision.  


 
7.3.6 Any member of the Board who perceives another member of the Board to be in 


conflict of  interest  in a matter under consideration  is to raise this concern with 
the  Chair  of  the  Board.  The  Chair,  in  turn,  is  to  discuss  the matter with  the 
member of the Board who  is perceived to be  in conflict and, as appropriate, to 
hold  further  discussion with  the  reporting  governor.  If  the  discussions  do  not 
lead to a resolution, the matter is to be brought to the Board and the Board is to 
determine  by majority  vote  whether  or  not  a  conflict  of  interest  exists.  The 
member of the Board perceived to be in conflict is to refrain from voting.  


 
7.3.7 Where there has been a failure on the part of a member of the Board to comply 


with  this binding policy directive, unless  the  failure  is  the  result of a bona  fide 
error in judgment, the Board is to: 


 
7.3.7.1 Issue a verbal reprimand; or 


 
7.3.7.2 Issue a written reprimand; and/or 


 
7.3.7.3 Request that a member of the Board resign; and/or  


 







Bylaw No. 1 Page 9  
 


7.3.7.4 Remove the member of the Board through processes established 
in Board bylaws. 


 
7.4 Without  limiting  the  general  application  of  the Minister’s  Binding  Policy Directive  on 


conflict of  interest,  the Board shall recognize  the  following circumstances as an actual 
conflict  of  interest  requiring  the  affected  Board  member  to  conduct  themselves  in 
accordance with s. 7.3.2.1. hereof: 
 
7.4.1  President: 
 


7.4.1.1 Agenda  items  relating  either  directly  or  indirectly  to  the 
President’s compensation, perquisites, and/or benefits;  


 
Note:  the  Board  may  require  certain  information  from  the 
President to assist their deliberations, but these queries must be 
of the general nature or relate to providing performance related 
information concerning the President’s success in meeting agreed 
to objectives and must not in anyway, either directly or indirectly, 
influence  decisions  on  his  or  her  compensation,  perquisites, 
and/or benefits. 


 
7.4.2 Internal Governors: 


 
7.4.2.1 Agenda  items  relating  either  directly  or  indirectly  to  collective 


bargaining  and/or  compensation  and  terms  and  conditions  of 
employment  and/or  academic  programs    in  relation  to  their 
constituent group; 


 
Note: this would not apply to agenda  items that are of a general 
nature occurring  in  the open  to  the public portion of  the Board 
meeting; 


 
7.4.2.2 Agenda  items  relating  to  the  President’s  evaluation  or 


performance review;  
 
  Note:  this  does  not  prevent  the  Chair  or  evaluation  committee 


asking  for  their  input as part of a general  information‐gathering 
process in preparing the President’s evaluation. 


 
7.4.3 Student Governor: 


 
7.4.3.1 Agenda  items  relating  to  an  increase  in  the  tuition  fees  for  the 


particular program in which the student is enrolled; 
 
7.4.3.2 Agenda  items  relating  to  the  President’s  evaluation  or 


performance review; 







Bylaw No. 1 Page 10  
 


 
  Note:  this  does  not  prevent  the  Chair  or  evaluation  committee 


asking  for  their  input as part of a general  information‐gathering 
process in preparing the President’s evaluation; 


 
7.4.3.3 Agenda  items  relating  either  directly  or  indirectly  to  collective 


bargaining  and/or  compensation  and  terms  and  conditions  of 
employment for college staff. 


 
  Note: this would not apply to agenda  items that are of a general 


nature occurring  in  the open  to  the public portion of  the Board 
meeting.   


 
7.5 Insignificant Conflicts   


 
The Minister’s Binding Policy Directive does not apply where the interest is so remote or 
insignificant  that  it  cannot  reasonably  be  regarded  as  likely  to  influence  the  Board 
member or where a pecuniary or other  interest  is  in  common with a broad group of 
which  the  governor  is  a  member  (e.g.,  students,  support  staff,  academic  staff, 
administrative staff).  This Binding Policy Directive does not apply where the issue is one 
of general or public information. 


 
7.6 Disclosure of Interests in Contracts 
 


7.6.1 Every governor who  is  in any way directly or  indirectly  interested  in a proposed 
contract or a contract with the Corporation or any subsidiary of the Corporation 
shall  declare  the  governor’s  interest  and  conflict  in  accordance  with  the 
Minister’s Binding Policy Directive. 


 
7.6.2 If a governor has made a declaration of his or her interest in a proposed contract 


or contract  in compliance with this section and has not voted  in respect of the 
resolution which  awards  the  contract  (or,  in  the  case of  a  conflict declared  in 
accordance  with  section  7.3.5  hereof,  the  governor  has  not  voted  on  the 
resolution  confirming  the  award  of  the  contract),  the  governor  is  not 
accountable  to  the Corporation or  to  any of  its members or  creditors  for  any 
profit realized from the contract, and the contract is not voidable by reason only 
of the governor’s holding that office or of the fiduciary relationship established 
thereby. 


 
8 REMOVAL OF GOVERNORS 
 
8.1 The Board may remove a governor (other than the President or members of the Board 


appointed by the Lieutenant Governor in Council) from the Board by a resolution of the 
governors (enacted pursuant to section 8.2 below) if: 
 







Bylaw No. 1 Page 11  
 


8.1.1 The governor has failed to attend, without leave of the Board, at least 50% of the 
regular meetings of the Board in any 12 month period or 4 successive meetings 
of the Board; 


 
8.1.2 The  governor  has  neglected  or  refused  to  participate  on  Board  committees 


and/or to contribute to effective discussion and decision making at the Board; 
 
8.1.3 The governor has failed to comply with the Minister’s Binding Policy Directive on 


Conflict of Interest which is set forth in section 7 of this Bylaw; 
 
8.1.4 The  governor  has  failed  to  maintain  the  confidentiality  of  any  and  all 


information, discussions, or proceedings at in camera sessions of the Board;  
 


8.1.5 The governor has failed to observe and perform the governor’s fiduciary duty to 
the Corporation  in that the governor has not acted with honesty,  in good  faith 
and in the best interests of the Corporation; 


 
8.1.6 The governor has,  in the opinion of the Board, committed one of the following 


grounds  of misconduct  and  in  consequence would,  if  such  governor were  to 
continue  as  a  member  of  the  Board,  adversely  affect  the  image  and/or 
operations of the Board or of the College:  


 
8.1.6.1 Harassment (including activities that would constitute harassment 


under College directives); 
 
8.1.6.2 Violence    (including  activities  that  would  constitute  violence 


under College directives); 
 


8.1.6.3 Conviction of a criminal offense; 
 


8.1.6.4 Conduct unbecoming of a member of the Board; 
 


8.1.6.5 Discrimination as defined under  the Ontario Human Rights Code 
(including  activities  that  would  constitute  discrimination  under 
College directives). 


 
8.1.7 The  governor  has  refused  or  is  unable  to  comply with  the  provisions  of  the 
  Governor’s Code of Ethics being Appendix A to this Bylaw #1; and, 
 
8.1.8 The  governor  has  failed  to  observe  and  comply  with  the  provisions  of  the 


Governor’s Code of Ethics being Appendix A to this Bylaw #1. 
 
8.2 Prior to the Board voting to remove a governor (the “Subject Governor”),   the Chair or 


the Vice‐Chair  is  to discuss  the matter with  the  Subject Governor  to explain why  the 
removal is being considered and to seek a satisfactory explanation of or solution to the 
alleged  grounds  for  removal    (the  “Grounds”).    If  the  discussions  do  not  result  in  a 







Bylaw No. 1 Page 12  
 


satisfactory explanation or solution,  the matter  is  to be brought  to  the Board  in an  in 
camera  session, and  the Board  is  to determine by  resolution, passed by at  least  two‐
thirds of the votes cast, whether the Subject Governor is to be removed. The notice for 
the  in  camera  session  is  to  specify  the  intention  to  pass  a  resolution  removing  the 
Subject Governor and the Grounds therefore.   The Subject Governor  is to be given an 
opportunity  to  respond  to  the  Grounds  by  addressing  the  Board  at  the  in  camera 
session, but  is to refrain from voting.   The Subject Governor  is to be clearly notified of 
the final consideration and decision of the Board and any action that will be taken.  


 
8.3 Any person who  is removed as a governor from the Board may apply to the Executive 


Committee to review the decision to remove the person from the Board.  As provided in 
the Regulations, the Executive Committee’s review shall be subject to the following: 


 
8.3.1 The  Executive  Committee’s  review  is  limited  to  determining  whether  the 


removal  was  for  a  reason  set  out  in  this  Bylaw  and  in  accordance  with  the 
procedure established  in  this Bylaw and does not  include a  review of whether 
the Board was correct in removing a governor of the Board; 


 
8.3.2 The Chair of the Board and the President shall sign a written attestation that the 


removal process was carried out in accordance with this Bylaw; 
 
8.3.3 The decision of the Executive Committee on whether the decision of the Board 


was  made  for  a  reason  set  out  in  this  Bylaw  and  in  accordance  with  the 
procedure established in this Bylaw is final and binding. 


 
8.4 With  respect  to  any member  of  the  Board  appointed  by  the  Lieutenant Governor  in 


Council pursuant  to  section 4.2.1 of  this Bylaw,  if  the Board believes  that  there exist 
reasons for  justifying the removal of such member from the Board, the Board may set 
those reasons out  in a report to the Minister of Training, Colleges and Universities  for 
referral to the Lieutenant Governor in Council. 
 


 
9 REMUNERATION OF GOVERNORS AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS 
 
9.1 The  governors of  the Corporation  shall  serve without  remuneration  and no  governor 


shall directly or  indirectly receive any profit  from his position as such; provided that a 
governor may  be  paid  reasonable  travel  and  living  expenses  incurred  by  him  in  the 
performance of his duties. 


 
9.2 The  provisions  of  section  9.1  shall  apply  equally  to  all members  of  committees  and 


subcommittees of the Board.  
 
10 PROTECTION OF GOVERNORS AND OFFICERS   
 
10.1 Indemnification  by  Corporation:    Every  governor  of  the  Corporation  and  such 


governor’s  heirs,  estate  trustees,  and  estate  and  effects,  respectively,  and  all  Senior 







Bylaw No. 1 Page 13  
 


Officers who report directly to the President shall from time to time and at all times, be 
indemnified and saved harmless, out of the funds of the Corporation from and against: 


 
10.1.1 All  costs,  charges  and  expenses  whatsoever  which  such  governor  or  officer 


sustains  or  incurs  in  or  about  any  action,  suit  or  proceeding  that  is  brought, 
commenced or prosecuted against such governor or officer in respect of any act, 
deed, matter or thing whatsoever made, done or permitted by such governor or 
officer  in  or  about  the  execution  of  the  duties  of  such  governor’s  or  officer’s 
office. 


 
10.2 No governor or officer for the time being of the Corporation shall be liable for the acts, 


receipts, neglects or defaults of any other governor or officer or employee or for joining 
in any receipt or act for conformity or for any loss, damage or expense happening to the 
Corporation through the  insufficiency or deficiency of title to any property acquired by 
the Corporation for or on behalf of the Corporation or for the insufficiency or deficiency 
of any security in or upon which any of the moneys of or belonging to the Corporation 
shall be placed out or  invested or for any  loss or damage arising from the bankruptcy, 
insolvency or tortuous act of any person, firm or corporation with whom or which any 
moneys, securities or effects shall be lodged or deposited or for any other loss, damage 
or misfortune  whatever  which may  happen  in  the  execution  of  the  duties  of  such 
governor’s or officer’s respective office or  trust or  in relation  thereto unless  the same 
shall happen by or through such governor’s or officer’s own wrongful and wilful act or 
through such governor’s or officer’s own wrongful and wilful neglect or default. 


 
10.3 The  governors  for  the  time  being of  the Corporation  shall  not  be  under  any  duty  or 


responsibility  in respect of any contract, act or transaction whether or not made, done 
or entered  into  in the name or on behalf of the Corporation except such as shall have 
been  submitted  to and authorized or approved by  the Board.    Subject  to  compliance 
with the provisions of section 7 hereof, If any person who is a governor or officer of the 
Corporation  shall  be  employed  by  or  shall  perform  services  for  the  Corporation 
otherwise than as a governor or officer or shall be a member of a firm or a shareholder, 
director  or  officer  of  a  company which  is  employed  by  or  performs  services  for  the 
Corporation,  the fact of such person being a governor or officer of the Corporation shall 
not disentitle such person or such firm or company, as the case may be, from receiving 
proper remuneration for such services. 


 
11 OFFICERS OF THE CORPORATION  
 
11.1 Officers:   There shall be a Chair, a Vice Chair, a President, a Secretary and a Treasurer, 


and such other officers as  the Board may determine by  resolution  from  time  to  time.  
The Chair and Vice Chair shall be external governors of the Board.  The other officers of 
the Corporation  (excepting  the President who  is a member of  the Board by  virtue of 
office) need not be members of the Board. 


 
11.2 Appointment:   At  the May or  June meeting of  the Board  each  year,  the Nominating 


Committee shall bring forward a recommendation for appointment of the Officers and 







Bylaw No. 1 Page 14  
 


Committee  Chairs  requiring  annual  appointment.    Following  their  appointment  by 
resolution  of  the  Board,  the  Officers  and  Committee  Chairs  will  assume  their 
responsibilities on the 1st of September each year.  If the Board shall fail to appoint any 
or all of such officers by September 1st, the incumbents for whom no replacements have 
been appointed  shall  continue  in office until  their  successors are appointed except  in 
the case of a Chair or Vice Chair whose term as governor has expired.  


 
11.3 Remuneration:  The governors may, in accordance with, and subject to the obtaining of 


such  approvals  as  may  be  required  by  any  applicable  statutory  provision,  fix  the 
remuneration to be paid to Officers of the Corporation.  


 
11.4 Removal:  All Officers, in the absence of agreement to the contrary, shall be subject to 


the removal from that office of the Corporation by resolution of the Board at any time 
with or without cause. 


 
11.5 Duties of Officers: The duties of the Officers are as follows: 
 


11.5.1 Chair.  The Chair shall be appointed annually and shall, when present, preside at 
all meetings of the Board.  He or she shall, together with the Secretary or other 
officer appointed for the purpose, sign all bylaws of the Corporation; and he or 
she shall sign such contracts, documents or instruments in writing as require his 
or her signature.  The Chair shall also have such other powers and duties as may 
from time to time be assigned to him or her by the Board or as are incidental to 
his or her office and shall interpret the resolutions of the Board and the intent of 
the Bylaws. 


 
11.5.2 Vice  Chair.    The  Vice  Chair  shall  be  appointed  annually  and  shall  have  such 


powers and perform such duties as may be assigned to him or her by the Board, 
and in the absence or inability to act of the Chair, shall perform all the duties and 
have  all  the  powers  of  the  Chair  and  if  a  Vice  Chair,  or  such  other  external 
governor as the Board may from time to time appoint for the purpose, performs 
any such duty or exercises any such power,  the absence,  inability or  refusal  to 
act of the Chair shall be presumed with reference thereto. 


 
11.5.3 President.   The Board shall appoint a President for such term as the Board may 


consider appropriate  from  time  to  time and hereby delegates  to  the President 
such authority to manage and direct the business and affairs of the Corporation, 
except such matters and duties as by  law must be  transacted or performed by 
the Board, and  further  to employ  and discharge agents and employees of  the 
Corporation  as  the  President may  from  time  to  time  decide.  He  or  she  shall 
conform to all lawful orders given to him or her by the Board of the Corporation 
and/or  by  the  Chair  thereof  and  shall  at  all  reasonable  times  give  to  the 
governors or any of them all information they may require regarding the affairs 
of the Corporation. 


 







Bylaw No. 1 Page 15  
 


11.5.4 Secretary:  The Secretary shall be the President unless the Board shall otherwise 
determine  in  which  event  the  Secretary  shall  be  appointed  annually.  The 
Secretary shall: 


 
11.5.4.1 Be ex‐officio clerk of the Board; 


 
11.5.4.2 Attend all meetings of  the Board and  record, or cause  to 


be recorded, all facts and minutes of all proceedings in the 
books kept for that purpose; 


 
11.5.4.3 Give, or cause to be given,  all notices required to be given 


to governors; 
 


11.5.4.4 Be the custodian of the corporate seal of the Corporation 
and  of  all  books,  papers,  records,  correspondence, 
contracts  and  other  documents  belonging  to  the 
Corporation which  he  or  she  shall  deliver  up  only when 
authorized by a resolution of the Board to do so; 


 
11.5.4.5 Perform  such  other  duties  as may  from  time  to  time  be 


determined by the Board. 
 


11.5.5 Treasurer.    The  Treasurer  shall  be  the  Vice  President,  Finance  unless  the 
Board shall otherwise determine in which event the Treasurer shall be appointed 
annually. The Treasurer shall: 


 
11.5.5.1  Keep  full  and  accurate  accounts  of  all  receipts  and 


disbursements  of  the  Corporation  in  proper  books  of 
account; 


 
11.5.5.2  Deposit all moneys or other valuable effects  in  the name 


and to the credit of the Corporation in such banks as may 
from time to time be designated by the Board; 


 
11.5.5.3  Disburse the funds of the Corporation under the direction 


of the Board, taking proper vouchers therefore; 
 


11.5.5.4  Render  to  the  Board  at  the  regular meetings  thereof  or 
whenever required of him or her, an account of all his or 
her transactions as Treasurer, and of the financial position 
of the Corporation; 


 
11.5.5.5  Co‐operate  with  the  auditors  of  the  Corporation  during 


any audit of the accounts of the Corporation; 
 







Bylaw No. 1 Page 16  
 


11.5.5.6  Perform  such  other  duties  as may  from  time  to  time  be 
determined by the Board. 


 
11.5.6 Other Officers.   The duties of all other Officers of the Corporation shall, subject 


to the provisions of any applicable statute or regulation, be such as the terms of 
their engagement call for or the Board or the President require of them. 


 
11.6 Vacancies 


11.6.1 If  the office of  the Chair or Vice Chair, or one or more of  them,  shall become 
vacant  by  reason  of  death,  resignation,  and  disqualification  or  otherwise,  the 
Board shall appoint one of the external governors to fill such vacancy.  


 
11.6.2 If  the office of  the Secretary, Treasurer or President, or one or more of  them, 


shall become vacant, such vacancy shall be filled as the Board may appoint. 
 
11.7 Delegation of Duties of Officers.  In case of the absence or inability to act of the Chair, a 


Vice  Chair  or  any  other Officer  of  the  Corporation  or  for  any  other  reason  that  the 
governors may deem sufficient, the governors may delegate all or any of the powers of 
such Officer to any other Officer or to any external governor for the time being. 


 
12 EXECUTION OF DOCUMENTS 
 
12.1 Cheques, Drafts, Notes, Etc.   All cheques, drafts or orders  for  the payment of money 


and all notes and acceptances and bills of exchange shall be signed by such Officer or 
Officers  or  person  or  persons,  whether  or  not  Officers  of  the  Corporation,  in  such 
manner as the Board may from time to time designate by resolution. 


 
12.2 Contracts, documents or instruments in writing:  
 


12.2.1 Contracts,  documents  or  instruments  in writing,  required  to  be  signed  by  the 
Corporation,  may  be  signed  by  any  two  of  the  Chair,  the  Vice  Chair,  the 
President,  the  Secretary  (where  the  Secretary  is  someone  other  than  the 
President),  and  the  Treasurer  and  all  contracts,  documents  or  instruments  in 
writing  so  signed  shall  be  binding  upon  the  Corporation without  any  further 
authorization or formality; 


 
12.2.2 The  corporate  seal  of  the  Corporation  may,  when  required,  be  affixed  to 


contracts,  documents  or  instruments  in writing  signed  as  aforesaid  or  by  any 
Officer  or  Officers,  person  or  persons  appointed  by  resolution  of  the  Board 
pursuant to section 12.2.5 hereof; 


 
12.2.3 The term "contracts, documents or  instruments  in writing" as used herein shall 


include  deeds,  mortgages,  hypothecs,  charges,  conveyances,  transfers  and 
assignments,  releases,  receipts  and  discharges  for  the  payment  of money  or 
other  obligations,  conveyances,  transfers  and  assignments  of  shares,  bonds, 
debentures or other securities and all paper writings; 







Bylaw No. 1 Page 17  
 
 


12.2.4 In  particular without  limiting  the  generality  of  the  foregoing,  any  two  of  the 
Chair,  the  Vice  Chair,  the  President,  the  Secretary  (where  the  Secretary  is 
someone  other  than  the  President),  and  the  Treasurer  are  authorized  to  sell, 
assign,  transfer,  exchange,  convert  or  convey  any  and  all  shares,  bonds, 
debentures,  rights, warrants or other  securities owned by or  registered  in  the 
name of  the Corporation  in  its  individual  capacity or  any other  capacity or  as 
trustee or otherwise and  to  sign and execute  (under  the corporate  seal of  the 
Corporation  or  otherwise)  all  assignments,  transfers,  conveyances,  powers  of 
attorney and other instruments that may be necessary for the purpose of selling, 
assigning,  transferring,  exchanging,  converting  or  conveying  any  such  shares, 
bonds, debentures, rights, warrants or other securities; 


 
12.2.5 Notwithstanding any provisions  to  the contrary contained  in  the bylaws of  the 


Corporation,  the  Board may  at  any  time  by  resolution  direct  the manner  in 
which, and the person or persons by whom, any particular instrument, contract 
or obligations of the Corporation may or shall be executed. 


 
13 BOOKS AND RECORDS 
 
13.1 The Board shall ensure that all necessary books and records of the Corporation required 


by the bylaws of the Corporation or by any applicable statute or  law are regularly and 
properly kept. 


 
13.2 Without  limiting  the generality of section 13.1  immediately preceding, the Board shall 


keep minutes and records of  its proceedings that accurately reflect the proceedings of 
the Board. 


 
13.3 The Bylaws of the Corporation: 
 


13.3.1  Shall be open to examination by the public during the normal office hours of the 
Corporation; and  


 
13.3.2 Whenever  possible,  shall  be  available  to  the  public  at  no  charge  on  the 


Corporation’s website. 
 
14 STANDING COMMITTEES 
 
14.1 The Board may,  from time to time, appoint committees, consisting of such persons as 


may  from  time  to  time  be  appointed members  thereof  by  the  Board,  to  act  in  an 
advisory capacity to the Board in connection with the particular field of activity referred 
to each of such committees.  The members of such committees shall hold office during 
the pleasure of the Board, and the Chair and the President shall be ex‐officio members 
of each such committee. 


 







Bylaw No. 1 Page 18  
 
14.2 The Board may  fill any vacancies occurring  from  time  to  time  in such committees and 


may abolish and from time to time re‐appoint any such committee. 
 
14.3 The Secretary shall  record or cause  to be  recorded  the minutes of  the proceedings of 


any such standing committee which shall be confirmed under the signature of the Chair 
of that meeting and a report shall be forwarded to the Board. Any such committee so 
appointed may meet for the transaction of business, adjourn and otherwise regulate its 
meetings  as  it  thinks  fit.    The  quorum  for  any  such  standing  committee  shall  be  a 
majority  of  the  governors  on  the  committee. Questions  arising  at  any meeting  of  a 
committee  shall be decided by  a majority of  votes  and,  in  the  case of  an equality of 
votes, the Chair of the meeting shall have a second or casting vote. 


 
 
15 AUDIT COMMITTEE   
 
15.1 The  Audit  Committee  heretofore  established  by  resolution  of  the  Board  is  hereby 


confirmed and continued to assist the governors in connection with all matters that may 
be properly referred to it by the Board.  The Audit Committee shall be composed of four 
external governors and the Chair of the Board.   The President of the College shall be a 
non‐voting member of the Audit Committee.  


 
15.2 Each Audit Committee member shall be appointed by  the Board  for a  term of one  (1) 


year,  and  such  term may  be  extended  for  one  (1)  year  at  a  time  while  the  Audit 
Committee member  continues  as  a  governor  of  the  College.    The  Board  shall  fill  a 
vacancy on the Audit Committee by appointing a new member to the Committee. 


 
16 GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 


 
16.1   The Governance  Committee  is  established  to  assist  the  governors  in  carrying  on  the 


affairs  of  the  Corporation  in  connection  with  matters  relating  to  governance 
performance,  the  review  and  assessment  of  Board  governance  practices,  the 
recommendation  of measures  to  employ  in  assessing  governance  performance,  the 
nomination  for  vacancies  in  the Board  and  the development of  selection  criteria  and 
profiles  for  the  nomination  and  performance  of  Board  members  as  well  as  the 
management  and  assessment  of  the  Board’s  continuing  orientation,  education  and 
development activities, and all other matters  that may be properly  referred  to  it. The 
Governance Committee may also be responsible for the annual nomination of the Chair, 
Vice  Chair,  Secretary  (if  other  than  the  President),  Treasurer  (if  other  than  the  Vice 
President,  Finance),  such  other  Officers  as  the  Board  may  determine  are  to  be 
appointed annually, Chair of the Audit Committee, Chair of the Governance Committee, 
Chair  of  any  other  standing  committees which  the  Board may  constitute  and which 
require  the  annual  appointment  of  a  Chair.  The  Governance  Committee  shall  be 
composed of up to five governors who shall be appointed by the Board,  in addition to 
the Chair of the Board and the President who shall be ex officio members. The Chair of 
the Governance Committee shall be an external governor and a majority of members of 
the Governance Committee shall be external governors. 







Bylaw No. 1 Page 19  
 
 
16.2    Each Governance Committee member shall be appointed for a two year term subject to 


an annual review, removal and renewal by the Board. 
 
 
17.  EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE   
 
 
17.1  The Executive Committee, heretofore established by resolution of the Board  is hereby 


confirmed  and  continued  to  assist  the  governors  in  carrying  on  the  affairs  of  the 
Corporation  in connection with all matters  that may be properly  referred  to  it by  the 
Board. The Committee shall consist of the Chair, the Vice Chair, the Chair of the Audit 
Committee, the Chair of the Governance Committee, and the Past Chair, or in the event 
that  there  is no past Chair,  the Chair of  the Governance Committee this position shall 
remain vacant.  In the event of any such offices other than the Past Chair being vacant, 
one  other  external  governor will  be  appointed  by  the  Board  to  fill  such  vacancy.  In 
addition,  the President  shall be an ex‐officio member of  the Executive Committee by 
virtue of office. The Executive Committee  is empowered to act on behalf of the Board 
during the summer as well as on other occasions when a quick decision is required and 
it is not possible to achieve the requisite quorum of Governors.  


 
18.  MEMBERS   
 
18.1  The members of the Corporation shall consist of such persons as are from time to time 


appointed  governors  of  the  Corporation  in  accordance with  the  provisions  of  these 
Bylaws.   The  interest of  a member  is not  transferable  and  lapses  and  ceases  to exist 
when he or she ceases to be a member of the Board of the Corporation by his or her 
resignation,  expiration  of  his  or  her  term  of  office  as  a  governor  or  otherwise  in 
accordance with these Bylaws or as provided by any applicable statute or law. 


 
19.  MEETINGS OF MEMBERS 
 
19.1 Annual and Other General Meetings.   
 


19.1.1 The annual or any other general meeting of  the members  shall be held at  the 
head  office  of  the  Corporation  or  elsewhere  in  Ontario  as  the  Board  may 
determine and on such day as the said governors shall appoint. 
 


19.1.2 The  annual  meeting  shall  be  the  meeting  at  which  the  audited  financial 
statements  are  received,  in  addition  to  any  other  business  that  may  be 
transacted.  The members may consider and transact any business either special 
or  general without  any  notice  thereof  at  any meeting  of  the members.    The 
Board or the Chair or Vice Chair shall have power to call at any time a general 
meeting of the members of the Corporation. 


 
19.2 Notice of Meetings 







Bylaw No. 1 Page 20  
 
 


19.2.1 Notice of  the  time  and place of every  annual or  general meeting of members 
shall be made by sending notice of the time and place of any such meeting which 
shall be delivered or  telephoned not  less  than  ten  (10) days prior  to  the  time 
fixed for the holding of any such meeting.  Provided always that any meeting of 
members may be held for any purpose at any date and time and any place within 
Ontario without notice  if all the members are present  in person at the meeting 
or if all the absent members waive notice thereof or otherwise signify in writing 
their consent to such meeting being held in their absence.  Such waiver of notice 
or consent may be given either before or after the meeting. 
 


19.2.2 No error or omission  in giving notice of any annual or general meeting or any 
adjourned  meeting,  whether  annual  or  general,  of  the  members  of  the 
Corporation  shall  invalidate  such meeting or make void any proceedings  taken 
thereat and any members may at any time waive notice of any such meeting and 
may ratify, approve and confirm any or all proceedings taken or had thereat. 


 
19.3 Adjournments. Any meeting of the members of the Corporation may be adjourned to 


any time and from time to time and such business may be transacted at such adjourned 
meeting  as  might  have  been  transacted  at  the  original  meeting  from  which  such 
adjournment  took  place.    Such  adjournment may  be made  notwithstanding  that  no 
quorum is present.  In the event of adjournment a notice of the re‐scheduled meeting is 
required. 


 
19.4 Quorum. Ten (10) governors shall form a quorum for the transaction of business at any 


meeting of  the members. No business  shall be  transacted  at  any meeting unless  the 
requisite quorum shall be present. 


 
19.5 Voting 


 
19.5.1 Except for votes to amend or adopt bylaws, questions arising at any meeting of 


members shall be decided by a majority vote.  Votes to amend or adopt bylaws 
shall require a two‐thirds majority.  In the case of an equality of votes, the Chair 
of the meeting shall have a second or casting vote. 
 


19.5.2 All votes at any meeting of members shall be taken by ballot, if so demanded by 
any members present, but if no demand be made the vote shall be taken in the 
usual way by assent or dissent.  Unless there is a demand for a recorded vote a 
declaration by  the Chair of  the meeting  that  a  resolution has been  carried or 
carried  unanimously  or  by  a  particular  majority  or  lost  or  not  carried  by  a 
particular majority and an entry to that effect in the minutes of the Corporation 
shall  be  conclusive  evidence  of  the  fact  without  proof  of  the  number  or 
proportion of votes recorded in favour of or against the motion. 


 







Bylaw No. 1 Page 21  
 
19.6 Chair. In the absence of the Chair and the Vice Chair of the Board, the external members 


present at any meeting of members shall choose one of their members to be Chair of 
the meeting. 


 
19.7 Polls. If at any meeting a poll is demanded on the election of a Chair of the meeting or 


on the question of adjournment  it shall be taken  forthwith without adjournment.    If a 
poll  is demanded on any other question  it shall be taken  in such manner and either at 
once or  later at the meeting or after adjournment as the Chair of the meeting directs.  
The result of a poll shall be deemed to be the resolution of the meeting at which the poll 
was demanded.  A demand for a poll may be withdrawn. 


   
20.  FINANCIAL YEAR  


 
Unless  otherwise  ordered  by  the  Board,  the  fiscal  year  of  the  Corporation  shall 
terminate on the 31st day of March in each year. 


 
Enacted this 13th day of December, 2010. 
 
 
                 
Chair    Secretary 







 
 
Appendix A to Bylaw #1 


 


GOVERNOR’S CODE OF ETHICS 
 


BACKGROUND 
 
Since  public  trust  and  confidence  are  vested  in  the  Board  of  Governors,  the  Board  and 
individual  Governors  have  a  commitment  to  discharge  their  responsibilities  and  duties  in  a 
manner  that  inspires  respect and adheres  to  the highest standards of conduct.   This Code of 
Ethics outlines the specific conduct required of Governors.    It  is closely  linked with sections 7 
and  8  of  Algonquin  College  Bylaw  #1  and Minister’s  Binding  Policy  Directive  on  Conflict  of 
Interest  issued April 1, 2003 under the provisions of the Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and 
Technology Act as amended from time to time. 
 
CODE OF ETHICS 
 
1.   Governors will consistently comply with the fiduciary duty of a college Governor to act 


honestly, in good faith, and in the best interest of the college. 
 
2.  As representatives of the citizens of Ontario, Governors must avoid conflict of  interest 


with  respect  to  their  fiduciary  responsibility.    Specific provisions  regarding  conflict of 
interest  are  outlined  in  College  Bylaw  #1  section  7  and  the Minister’s  Binding  Policy 
Directive on Conflict of Interest issued under the Act. 


 
3.  Governors will  respect  the  confidentiality  appropriate  to  issues of  a  sensitive nature, 


and  all  information  in‐camera must  be  kept  confidential.    Subsequent  discussions  of 
confidential  issues may  only  involve  those  participants  who  attended  or  who  were 
eligible to attend the original confidential discussions. 


 
Issues  determined  to  be  confidential will  remain  confidential  until  they  are  released 
publicly through appropriate means. 


 
4.  Governors will promote Board policies and  support Board decisions.   Once a decision 


has  been made,  the  Board will  speak with  one  voice with  respect  to  that  decision.  
Governors will only speak on behalf of the Board when requested to act on behalf of the 
Chair. 


 
5.  Governors will respect each other and the democratic process. 
 
6.  Governors  are  volunteers  and  are  expected  to  attend  all  regularly  scheduled  Board 


meetings  and  planning  workshops.    Notification  for  unavoidable  absence  should  be 
provided to the Chair via the Board Secretary before the meeting. 


 







 
 


The Chair is responsible for addressing attendance problems.  Unacceptable attendance 
could  result  in  the  Chair  requesting  the  Governor’s  resignation.    The  following 
attendance patterns are unacceptable and constitute a breach of the Governor’s Code 
of Conduct: 


 
    ‐  missing  a  total  50%  of  regular  Board meetings  in  a  year  or  4  successive 


meetings of the Board without leave of the Board;  
 
  ‐  frequent  late  arrivals  at  Board  meetings  or  early  departures,  unless  the 


reason for the late arrival is deemed justifiable. 
 
  Note:  Under  extenuating  circumstances,  Board  members  may  submit  a  written 


request  for  a  leave of  absence which will be  considered by  the Board  in  the 
closed portion of the Board meeting. 


 
7.  Governors will  not  attempt  to  exercise  individual  authority within  the  College.    Any 


interactions with the President or staff must occur in accordance with Board policy and 
the  Role  of  the Governor.   Governors who  are  approached  about  operational  issues 
should refer the person/issue to the President. 


 
8.  Governors  in  their  interactions with  the public, press or other groups must  recognize 


that an individual Governor cannot speak for or represent the Board on Board matters, 
College  business,  College  administration  or  College  governance  without  specific 
authority granted by  the Board and  that  they have no  legal or moral authority as an 
individual  outside  of  Board meetings  to  represent  the  Board  or  comment  on  Board 
matters,  College  business,  College  administration  or  College  governance  except  that 
authority as is specifically granted to the individual Governor by the Board. 


 
9.  Each  Governor  shall  annually  sign  the  Code  of  Ethical  Conduct  and  Governors’ 


Agreement (Attachment 1 hereto). 
 
10.  It  is  the  responsibility  of  the  Board  Chair  to  ensure  that  Governors  have  had  the 


opportunity to review the Code of Ethical Conduct before the first meeting of the Board 
in September and to secure their signatures on the Governors’ Agreement  included  in 
Attachment  1  hereto  at  that meeting,  or  before  the  next  scheduled meeting  of  the 
Board, at the latest. 


 
 







 
 
Attachment 1 to Bylaw #1 


 


Code of Ethical Conduct and Governors’ Agreement 
 
Algonquin  College  of  Applied  Arts  and  Technology  has  an  outstanding  reputation  in  the 
community  for  its  integrity,  loyalty,  dedication  and  commitment  as well  as  its  high  quality 
training  and  educational  programs.    In  support  of  this  positive  image,  it  is  expected  and 
required  that  the  Governors  conduct  themselves  in  a  professional,  respectful  and  collegial 
manner while carrying out their responsibilities as Board Members. 
 
As a Governor of Algonquin College, I hereby commit myself to the highest ethical conduct as 
an individual and a member of the Board and will strive at all times to: 
 


1. Comply with the Minister’s Binding Policy Directive on Conflict of Interest issued under 
the Act , the Governor’s Code of Conduct being Appendix A to Bylaw  #1 and this Code 
of Ethical Conduct. 


 
2. Work with fellow Governors and the College President in a co‐operative and respectful 


manner, remembering that  I am accountable  to  the community as a whole, and not 
any special interest group(s). 


  
3. Support my fellow Governors in fulfilling ethical, fiscal and professional obligations. 
 
4. Participate  actively  in  Board  and  committee meetings,  respecting  the  opinions  of 


others. 
 
5. Practice and uphold openness and transparency  in the conduct of Board business as 


demanded  by  the  legislation  and  regulations  governing  colleges  in  Ontario  while 
respecting confidentiality when required by law, regulation or policy. 


 
6. Honour and follow the rules of order and procedure adopted by the Board to facilitate 


meetings and decision‐making. 
 
7. Base  my  decisions  on  the  facts  of  each  situation,  vote  with  honest  conviction, 


unswayed by any special interests and honour and uphold all majority decisions taken 
by the Board. 


 
8. Ensure the College’s mission, values and strategic plan and objectives are achieved in a 


democratic  and  fiscally  responsible  manner  which  meets  the  needs  of  learners, 
enables  staff  to  carry out  their  responsibilities  competently and ethically and which 
enhance the College’s public image. 


 
9. Treat my fellow Governors, College staff, students and the general public in a fair and 


equitable manner, regardless of race, religion, gender, sexual orientation, disabilities, 
age or national origin. 


 







 
 


10. Accept  the  consequences  of  any  of my  actions  which  violate  this  Code  of  Ethical 
Conduct,  the  Governors’  Code  of  Conduct  or  the  MTCU  Minister’s  Binding  Policy 
Directives on Conflict of Interest and abide by the resulting decisions. 


 
11. Participate  fully  in  any  review  conducted  under  this  Code  of  Ethical  Conduct,  the 


Governors’  Code  of  Conduct  or  the MTCU Minister’s  Binding  Policy  Directives  on 
Conflict of Interest and any revisions decided upon. 


 
12. Generally  be  guided  by  high  ethical  standards  in  my  performance  of  Board 


responsibilities. 
 


 
I, <                                             > hereby acknowledge receipt of a copy of and agree to abide by 
this  Algonquin  College  Code  of  Ethical  Conduct,  the Governors’  Code  of  Conduct  and  the 
MTCU Minister’s Binding Policy Directives on Conflict of Interest at all times in exercising my 
responsibilities as a Governor. 
 
Signature of Governor:________________________  Date:_____________________ 
 
   
 
To ensure that Governors have been duly informed of their obligation and that they understand 
this obligation and the consequences associated with violating the Code of Ethical Conduct and 
supporting policies and guidelines, the following written sign off is required: 
 
This is to confirm that a copy of the Code of Ethical Conduct, Governors’ Code of Conduct and 
the MTCU Minister’s  Binding  Policy Directives  on  Conflict  of  Interest  have  been  provided, 
reviewed and explained to <                                                          > who has pledged to honour all 
obligations under it, and has provided his/her signature as confirmation of that pledge. 
 
Signature of Board Chair:________________________    
 
Date:____________________ 







 
 
 


  BYLAW #3 
   
THE  BOARD  OF  GOVERNORS  OF  THE  ALGONQUIN  COLLEGE  OF  APPLIED  ARTS  AND 
TECHNOLOGY 
 
BE IT ENACTED as a Bylaw of the Board of Governors of The Algonquin College of Applied Arts 
and Technology (the “College”) for the Election of College Constituent Groups to the Board of 
Governors as follows: 
 
 
1.  POLICY 
 


1.1  In  accordance  with  the  Regulation  emanating  from  the  Ontario  Colleges  of 
Applied Arts and Technology Act, all members of the constituent groups of the 
College  (Academic Staff Members, Administrative Staff Members, Students and 
Support Staff Members) shall have an opportunity  for effective participation  in 
the nomination and election process for membership on the Board of Governors 
(the “Board”) of the College.   


 
1.2  In support of this policythe Regulation, the following procedures Bylaw has been 


developed after consultation with representatives of the constituent groups. 
 
 
2.  DEFINITION 
 


There are four constituent groups at the College: 
 


• Academic Staff Member  member means a person who is employed by the Board 
of GovernorsCollege as a teacher, counsellor or librarian;   


• Administrative Staff Member member means a person who  is employed by the 
Board of GovernorsCollege and who is not an Academic Staff Member, a Support 
Staff member or a Student;   


• Student means a person who is enrolled in a course or program of instruction at 
the Algonquin College;  


• Support Staff Member member means a person who  is employed by the Board 
of GovernorsCollege as a member of  the office, clerical,  technical, health care, 
maintenance,  building  service,  shipping,  transportation,  cafeteria  or  Early 
Learning Centre. 


 
 
3.  ELECTORAL COMMITTEE 
 


3.1  The Board has established an Electoral Committee to ensure the observance of 







Bylaw # 3                                                                Page 2  
 


this policy bylaw and the implementation of the Regulation. 
 


3.2  The Electoral Committee is composed of the presidents of the: 
• Students' Association 
• Support Staff Local 
• Academic Employees Staff Local 
• Administrative Staff Association. 


 
3.3  The  presidents may  each  designate  a member  of  their  respective  constituent 


groups to replace them on the Electoral Committee. 
 


3.4  In  addition,  the  Board  will  appoint  the  President  of  the  College  or  his/her 
designate as the Chair of the Electoral Committee. 


 
3.5  The Electoral Committee reports to the Chair of the Board of Governors. 


 
3.6  The  Electoral  Committee  recognizes  the  rights  of  part‐time members  of  the 


constituent  groups  as defined  in  the Regulation  and will endeavour  to  ensure 
their participation in the electoral process. 


 
3.7  The members of  the  Electoral  Committee  recognize  that  sShould  a  conflict of 


interest  arise  concerning  a member  of  the  Electoral  Committee,  the  affected 
member will declare  such  conflict, propose a  replacement and withdraw  from 
participation on the Electoral Committee. 


 
 
4.  PROCEDURE ‐ NOMINATION PROCESS 
 


4.1  The Electoral Committee will supervise a call  for nominations addressed to the 
specific constituent group. 


 
4.2   Information for each group will be available on the internet at 


www.algonquincollege.com/bog_elections and will provide details of the 
nomination/electoral process (including dates and deadlines).  Candidates will be 
directed to the Board of Governors website at 
www.algonquincollege.com/board/manual where they can access this Board By‐
law #3 as well as other information pertaining to the Algonquin College Board.  
of Governors. 


 
 


4.3  The Electoral Committee will distribute an electronic call  for nominations.   The 
call will also be addressed to the part‐time members of the constituent groups. 


 
4.4  Nominees  and  nominators  for  a  governor  position  on  the  Board  from  a 


constituent group must be members of that constituent group.   
 



http://www.algonquincollege.com/bog_elections�

http://www.algonquincollege.com/board/manual�





Bylaw # 3                                                                Page 3  
 


4.5  Nominations  must  be  supported  by  at  least  ten  (10)  nominators  for  each 
nominee of the constituent groups. 


 
4.6  The  nomination  paper  must  indicate  the  name,  signature  and  student  or 


employee number of each nominator as well as the name, signature, student or 
employee number and contact information for the nominee. 


 
4.7  A member of a constituent group may sign a nomination paper  for more  than 


one nominee of the constituent group. 
 


4.8  The  nomination  paper must  be  submitted  online  and  the  official  signed  copy 
must be received by the Office of the Electoral Committee by the date and time 
specified by the Electoral Committee. 


 
4.9  The Electoral Committee will review all nomination papers for conformity to this 


procedure. 
 
4.10   The Electoral Committee will  then post  the  list of  candidates on myAlgonquin 


and the Learning Management SystemBlackBoard and an e‐mail will be sent out 
notifying the constituent group(s) of the candidates. 


 
 
5.  PROCEDURE ‐ CANVASSING PROCESS 
 


5.1  Candidates  may  commence  their  campaign  the  day  after  the  close  of 
nominations and continue until the close of the election. 


 
5.2  Candidates may use the College General Interest bulletin boards to display their 


posters in accordance with the posting rules of the College. 
 
5.3  All candidates will be provided the opportunity to participate in one broadcast e‐


mail to be sent globally to their constituent group. The email will be sent by the 
College and the information for each candidate’s message must be submitted to 
the  Electoral  Office  by  the  deadline  specified  by  the  Electoral  Committee.  
Should the candidate not submit his or her message by the date specified,  the 
opportunity  to  have  participated  in  the  broadcast message will  have  passed, 
resulting in the candidate’s message not being communicated to the constituent 
group. 


 
5.4  The Office of the Board Office of Governors will reimburse each candidate up to 


$100  for  the  cost of  their  campaign.   Receipts must be provided  to  the Board 
Office within four weeks following the election. 


 
5.5  Complaints with regard to the conduct of nominees must be addressed in writing 


to the Electoral Committee. 
 







Bylaw # 3                                                                Page 4  
 


 
 


6.  PROCEDURE ‐ ELECTION PROCESS 
 


6.1  The elections will be supervised by the Electoral Committee which will determine 
supplementary procedures that are not addressed in this policybylaw. 


 
6.2  The  Electoral  Committee  will  work  with  Information  Technology  Services  to 


ensure that information is posted in a timely manner. 
 
6.3  All voting will be done electronically  in a secure manner.   The system will only 


allow one vote per person.  If voters do not have access to a computer, they may 
contact the office of the Electoral Committee who will arrange for a computer to 
be available so they are able to vote. 
 


6.4  Candidates will be informed of the results as soon as possible following the close 
of the election process.  Candidates are to keep the results confidential until the 
official results are released. 
 


6.5  Subject  to Section 7 below,  the Chair of  the Electoral Committee will post  the 
results of  the election on myAlgonquin and  the  Learning Management System 
BlackBoard the day following the election. 


 
6.6  Subject  to Section 7 below, an e‐mail will go out on behalf of  the Chair of  the 


Electoral  Committee  to  the  constituent  group(s)  informing  them  of  their  new 
representative on the Board of Governors the day following the election. 


 
6.7  The  electronic  voting  process  and  workflow  will  be  validated  by  the  College 


auditors to ensure the integrity and authenticity of the process. 
 


 
7.  PROCEDURE ‐ DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
 


7.1  Any  individual who has a complaint relating to the application or breach of the 
procedures referred to  in this Bylaw #3 has the right to address such complaint 
to the Chair of the Electoral Committee.  This complaint must be received by the 
Chair of  the Committee by no  later  than 12:00 p.m. on  the day  following  the 
election. 


 
7.2  The  complaint must be  in writing and must  indicate  the details of  the alleged 


violation of procedure. 
 
7.3  The Chair will forward the complaint to the Electoral Committee for review. 
 
7.4  The Electoral Committee will investigate the complaint and attempt to resolve it. 
 







Bylaw # 3                                                                Page 5  
 


7.5  Failing resolution by the Electoral Committee, the complaint may be referred by 
either  the  complainant  or  the  Electoral  Committee  to  the  Chair  of  the  Board  
who shall, within 5 days of such referral, appoint an  independent third party to 
investigate the complaint. 


 
7.6  The  third  party's  mandate  is  restricted  to  a  determination  as  to  whether 


procedures of this bylaw have been correctly applied or adhered to and if not: 
 


7.6.1  If  the  election  has  not  yet  been  completed,  that  remedial  measures 
should  be  undertaken  to  remedy,  so  far  as  is  reasonably  possible,  the 
impact  of  the  acts  or  omissions  upon which  the  complaint was  based; 
and, 


 
7.6.2  If  the election has been completed, whether  the will of  the constituent 


group is nevertheless reflected in the election results and if not, whether 
the election must be repeated. An election will not be declared invalid by 
reason of an irregularity if it appears that the irregularity would not have 
materially affected the outcome of the election. 


 
7.7  The  third  party will  commence  the  dispute  resolution  process within  ten  (10) 


working days of appointment and  shall complete  the dispute  resolution within 
20 working days of the third party’s appointment.  


 
7.8  The  third  party  will  establish  appropriate  procedures  and  the  College  and 


representatives  of  the  constituent  groups  will  comply  with  all  reasonable 
requests by the third party for information relating to the complaint. 


 
7.9  The report of the third party will be binding on the College, the complainant, and 


the affected constituent group. 
 
    


8.  PROCEDURE ‐  EQUALITY OF VOTES 
 


8.1  In  the  event  that  the  election  shall  result  in  a  tie  vote  between  two or more 
candidates,  then  the  tie  shall be  resolved by  the drawing of  straws under  the 
supervision of the Chair of the Electoral Committee.  The winner of such drawing 
shall be declared to have been elected. 


 
 
9.  PROCEDURE ‐ OTHER 
 


9.1  In the event of a mid‐term vacancy, the Electoral Committee will reconvene and 
supervise a nomination and election process for the constituent group affected 
by the vacancy. 


 
9.2  The  term  of  the member  elected  in  Section  9.1  commences  on  the  date  of 







Bylaw # 3                                                                Page 6  
 


election  and  shall  be  for  the  remainder  of  the  term  of  the  governor  whose 
position became vacant. 


 
  


10.   CODE OF CONDUCT 
 
10.1   Throughout  the election process, all candidates are expected  to adhere  to  the 


College  administrative  policies  related  to  conduct  including  Policy  HR  18: 
Employee  Code  of  Conduct  and  SA  07:    Student  Conduct.  and  Directive  A21:  
Rights,  Freedoms,  Responsibilities  and  Code  of  Conduct  for  the  Algonquin 
College Community.  


 
 
 
 
 
 
Enacted this 1XX3th day of XXXXJune, 2011X.  
 
 
 
 
                         
   
    Chair, Board of Governors      Secretary, Board of Governors 


Comment [H1]: A 21 has been rescinded during 
review of administrative policies 







Bylaw No. 4 Page 1  


 


 
 
 


BYLAW #4 
   
 
THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE ALGONQUIN 
COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS AND TECHNOLOGY 
 
This bylaw is pursuant to the Minister of Training, Colleges and University (MTCU) Binding Policy 
Directive Governance and Accountability Framework made under the Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts 
and Technologies Act, 2002 (OCAAT Act) regarding the establishment of an Advisory College 
CouncilAcademic Council . 
 
BE IT ENACTED as a bylaw of THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED 
ARTS AND TECHNOLOGY as follows:  
 
 
1. POLICYESTABLISHMENT of the COUNCILACADEMIC COLLEGE ADVISORY  COUNCIL 
 
In accordance with the Minister Binding Policy Directive, Algonquin College of Applied Arts and 
Technology shall establish an Advisory College Academic Council to be called the College Academic 
Council, hereinafter referred to as the "Academic Council". 
 
2. DEFINITIONS 


 
2.1 Academic  Administrator means  an  Administrative  Staff  who  is  a  Program  Chair, 


Course Chair, Academic Manager or Dean.An academic employee is a person who is 
employed by the College as a teacher, counsellor or librarian.   


 
2.2 Academic  Staff  means  a  person  who  is  employed  by  the  College  as  a  teacher, 


counsellor or librarian. 
 


2.22.3 Administrative Staff is means a person who is employed by the College in a function 
other than as an academic or support staff. 


 
2.32.4 Support Staff means a person who  is employed by the College as a member of the 


office,  clerical,  technical,  health  services, maintenance,  building  service,  shipping 
transportation, cafeteria or nursery staff. 


 
2.5 Staff means Academic Staff, Administrative Staff and Support Staff, collectively. 
 
2.6 Student means a person who is enrolled in a program of instruction on a full‐time or 


part‐time basis., whether it be post‐secondary or adult training. 
 


 
 
 
3. PURPOSE  
 







Bylaw No. 4 Page 2  


 


The purpose of  the Academic Council  is  to establish a  forum  for Students and employees Staff of  the 
College  to provide advice  to  the President on matters of  importance  to Students and employeesStaff. 
The Academic Council acts in an advisory capacity to the President.   
 
 
 
4. MANDATE 
 
4.1  The Academic Council  shall  review, monitor and make  recommendations  to  the President on 
such issues as: 


a. pedagogy; 
b. course and program evaluation; 
c. teaching methodology and standards; 
d. evaluation and promotion policies; 
e. standards of student conduct and discipline; 
f. admission policies and practices; 
g. student awards and scholarships; 
h. academic equivalencies. 


 
4.2 Consistent with the consultative function of the Academic Council, its members shall endeavour 


to consult and report to their relevant constituency groups.  At least one member of the  College 
Academic Council shall sit on each School Academic Council. These members are   to 
share information between the College Academic Council and the School  Academic Council.   


 
5. MEMBERS   
 
5.1 The  Academic  Council  shall  consist  of  23  voting members  from  the  following  constituency 


groups: 
 


Academic Employees  Staff  ‐ 14 representatives 
one Academic Staff  representative  from each of  the  twelve    (12)  schools,institutes,or  centres 
and one representative each from the librarians and counsellors. 
 
Support Staff Employees ‐ 1 representative 


 
Students ‐ 3 representatives  


 
Academic Administrators ‐ 3 representatives 
 
Chair/Past Chair‐ 2 representatives 
 
The Academic Council shall also have the following non‐voting members: 
 
Ex‐officio Non‐Voting Members ‐ 3 members 


• Vice President, Academic 
• Vice President, Student  Services 
• Registrar 


 
5.2.  The Chair of Academic Council shall be elected by the members of the Academic   Council from 


among themselves at  its first meeting of the academic year, for a term of one year, renewable 
once.    A  vacancy  in  one  of  the  constituencies  constituency  groups will  be  created with  the 







Bylaw No. 4 Page 3  


 


appointment of the Chair of Academic  Council will  which is to be filled as stated in article 6.36 
below. 
 


5.3 The  Academic    Council may  appoint  non‐voting members  to  serve  as  resource  persons,  as 
required. 


 
5.4 The Academic  Council may appoint task forces as deemed necessary. 


 
5.45.5 Academic Staff Election 
 
5.5.1   The Faculty Union  shall be  responsible  for  the establishment of electoral procedures and  the 


supervision of the election of the academic staff to sit on the Academic Council.   
   
 
5.6  Support Staff Election 
 
5.6.1  The Support Staff Union shall elect one support staff member to serve on the College Academic  


Council. 
 
5.7  Student Appointment  
 
5.7.1  The Board of Directors of the Students' Association shall name three students to serve on the 


Academic Council.     
 
5.8  Academic Administrators Selection 
 
5.8.1  The Deans Academic Council shall request nominations from the academic administrators to sit 


on the College Academic  Council and .  
   
5.8.2  The  Deans    shall  sselect  from  the  nominations  received  two  academic  administrators  from 


different Schools to serve on the Academic  Council.  
The process to be followed to elect or select Council members is found in the College Administrative 


Policy AA 02 Academic Council. 
 
6. TERMS OF OFFICE 
 
6.1  The  terms of office of Academic Council members  shall commence September 1 of each year 


and continue for two years. 
 
6.2  No member representing a constituency group shall serve more than four consecutive years but 


on the expiration of two years after having served on the Academic  Council, a person shall again 
be eligible for election. 


 
6.3  A member of the Academic Council may resign at any time by submitting a written resignation 


to the Chair of the Academic Council. 
 


6.4       Where  an Academic Council  representative member  is  absent  from  two  consecutive meetings 
without  regrets  to  the  Chair  of  the Academic  Council  or  the  Secretary,  or  three  consecutive 
meetings with regrets, not having notified the Chair of the  or the Secretary, and is absent from 
two  consecutive meetings without  regrets,  or  three  consecutive meetings with  regrets,  that 
position shall be declared vacant. 


        







Bylaw No. 4 Page 4  


 


6.5      If  an  Academic  Council  member  changes  status  and  can  no  longer  represent  the  group  or 
constituency, the position shall be declared vacant. 


 
 
 


       If a member  changes  status and  can no  longer  represent  the group or  constituency,  the position 
shall be declared vacant. 
 
6.6 Vacancies, however caused, shall be filled in the following manner: 
 


6.6.1  After March 31, at the time of the next election. 
 
6.6.2  Before March 31, by appointment by the Students' Association, Support Staff Union, 


Faculty  Union,  the Management  Committee  of  the  Vice  President,  Academic,  as 
appropriate for the vacancy from their respective constituency group. 


 
7.  MEETINGS 
 
7.1  The Academic Council shall meet at least twice each fall and winter term.. 
7.2  The meetings shall normally be held at 4:30 p.m. on a week day. 
 
7.37.2  All meetings shall be open to the cCollege staff and students. community. 
 
7.47.3  Fifty percent (50%) of the members plus one excluding vacancies shall constitute a quorum. 
 
7.5  In  the event  that  the Chair or any members of  the Council believes  that a meeting should be 


cancelled  or  re‐scheduled,  such  change  in  schedule will  only  take  place  after  approval  by  a 
majority of the members, which may be determined by a telephone or e‐mail poll. 


 
8.  EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF THE COUNCILACADEMIC COUNCIL 
 
8.1  The Executive Committee of the Academic Council is composed of six five members:  the Chair, 


the past Chair and one Academic Council member representing the Academic Staff, the Support 
Staff, the Administrative Staff and Student constituency groups respectively.    


 
8.2 The role of the Executive Committee is to: 


• report to the President annually or sooner if needed; 
• follow‐up on College Academic Academic Council recommendations; 
• prepare an annual report for submission to the President and the Board of Governors.  


The Academic Council annual report shall form part of the College annual report. 
 
   
 
 
Enacted this xxth day of xx, 20XX 
 
 
  ___________________________  ___________________________ 
  Chair  Secretary 







 


BYLAW #5 


THE  BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF  THE  ALGONQUIN  COLLEGE OF  APPLIED  ARTS  AND
TECHNOLOGY 


This bylaw is pursuant to Ministry of Training, Colleges and University (MTCU) Binding Policy 
Directive Framework for Programs of Instruction (the “MTCU Programs Framework Directive”) 
made under the Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and Technologies Act, 2002 (OCAAT Act) 
regarding the establishment of Advisory Committees for Programs of Instruction. 


BE  IT  ENACTED  as  a bylaw of THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF  THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF
APPLIED ARTS AND TECHNOLOGY  as follows: 


1. DEFINITIONS 


1.1 Program  of  Instruction:  A  group  of  related  courses  leading  to  an  bachelor’s  degree, 
diploma, certificate or other document awarded by the Board of Governors (the Board). 


2. TERMS OF REFERENCE 


2.1      In  accordance with MTCU  Programs  Framework,  the  Board  of  Algonquin  College  (the 
College) has, through the President, directed that there shall be an Advisory Committee
for each program, or cluster of programs, and that the Advisory Committees shall report
annually to the Board through the Vice President, Academic. 


2.2      Advisory  Committees  are  to  provide  advice  and  assistance  on  Programs  of  Instruction
relevant to the needs of the  labour market and the community. The role of the Advisory 
Committees  include  a  number  of  responsibilities  on  specific  Programs  of  Instruction
related areas, including: 


2.2.1.          Assist  in  defining  and/or  revising  the  learning  outcomes  of  a  Program  of 
Instruction,  including  the  specific  skills  needed  by  graduates  for  future
employment; 


2.2.2.           Assist  in  the development of  a Program of  Instruction  to meet  the program 
learning outcomes; 


2.2.3.         Participate in the formal quality assurance processes of Programs of Instruction
to ensure on‐going relevance of curriculum and course materials; 


2.2.4.         Assist in identifying student field placements, co‐op opportunities, and student 
international experiences where applicable; 


2.2.5.           Assist  in  identifying employment opportunities  for  graduates of Programs of 
Instruction; 


           2.2.6.         Advise the College on the equipment required in labs, shops and other facilities;


            2.2.7.       Provide information on current industry trends, technological changes and skills







in the labour market which could affect the employment of graduates; 


         2.2.8.         Advise on opportunities to introduce new Programs of Instruction; 


         2.2.9.        Assist in establishing scholarships and bursaries for students; 


         2.2.10.      Assist the College to develop partnerships and training opportunities. 


2.3      New  program  proposals  sent  to  the  Board  for  approval  must  demonstrate  Advisory
Committee support.  Where appropriate, an existing Advisory Committee may be used to 
advise regarding the development of a new Program of Instruction. 


 


3. STRUCTURE AND MEMBERSHIP 


3.1 Each Advisory Committee  shall have between eight and  fifteen members, external  to 
the  College. More members may  be  added  if  required,  but  an  Advisory  Committee 
should not have fewer than eight members. 


3.2 To be eligible  for appointment as an Advisory Committee member, a  candidate must
have  knowledge,  skills  and  experience  related  to  the  profession,  industry,  business, 
sector or  service  relevant  to  the Program(s) of  Instruction.  In addition,  the  candidate 
must meet one of the following: 


3.2.1 the  candidate’s  business  or  employer  is  within  the  region  within  which
graduates will pursue employment; 


3.2.2 the candidate, or the business he/she represents, has a positive and  influential
standing within the broader industry, business, sector or service; 


3.2.3 represents the diversity of employers within the profession,  industry, business,
sector or service; 


3.2.4 represents a school board or other post‐secondary institution. 


3.3 Each Advisory Committee  shall have a Chair and Vice‐Chair  (the “Advisory Committee 
Chair”  and  “Advisory  Committee  Vice‐Chair”,  respectively)who  shall  be  elected  from 
members of the Advisory Committees for a two year term, renewable at the discretion 
of  the Chair of  the  respective Program of  Instruction  (the  “Program Chair”). The past 
Chair  of  the  Advisory  Committee  would  support  the  new  Chair  of  the  Advisory 
Committee, where possible. 


3.4 The term of office of an Advisory Committee member is for two years, and is renewable.


3.5 Membership  on  Advisory  Committees  should  strive  for  gender  and  equity  group
representation. 


3.6 Following consultation with the Advisory Committee Chair, the Program Chair will 
recommend to the Dean of the School the appointment of new members or the 
reappointment of existing members whose term is about to expire. 


4. ADVISORY COMMITTEE OPERATING GUIDELINES AND PROCEDURES 


4.1 Advisory Committees are to meet at least once per term, with the option of meeting 
more frequently at the request of the Advisory Committee Chair, the Program Chair or







the majority of Advisory Committee members. Meetings should be held  in a  location
and at a time agreeable to Committee members. 


4.2  Quorum  shall  consist  of  the  majority  of  the  voting  members  of  the  Advisory 
Committee.   Quorum  is  required  for matters  that  require a motion or vote, such as
changes to programs of instruction or the creation for new programs.  


4.3 Advisory Committee meetings may be held by means of telephone, electronic or other 
communication  facilities  as  permit  all  persons  participating  in  the  meeting  to
communicate  with  each  other  either  simultaneously  or  asynchronously,  and  a
member  the Advisory Committee participating  in  such  a meeting by  such means  is 
deemed for the purposes of this bylaw to be present at that meeting. 


4.4 The President, through the Vice President Academic, will be responsible to ensure that 
the practices of the Advisory Committees as stipulated by this bylaw and the College 
administrative policy AA 01 Advisory Committees meet the requirements of the MTCU 
Programs Framework Directive . 


4.5 The President shall present a summary of the Advisory Committee Annual Reports to 
the Board by the end of December of each year. 


 


ENACTED BY THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS of Algonquin College of Applied Arts and Technology 
and sealed with the corporate seal the XX day of XXXX,  2012 


 


Michael Dunlop                             Robert C. Gillett 
Chair                                                Secretary 


  


 


 







  ALGONQUIN COLLEGE BOARD OF GOVERNORS 
  EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
The Executive Committee is a standing committee of the Board of Governors established to assist 
the governors in carrying on the affairs of the College (Article  17 of By‐law 1) 
 
Responsibilities     
The Executive Committee is empowered to: 


1. Act on all matters that may properly be referred to it by the Board; 
2. Act on behalf of  the Board during  the  summer as well as on other occasions when a 


decision is required and it is not convenient to assemble the full Board such as during the 
Christmas break or not possible to achieve the requisite quorum of ten Governors. When 
the Executive Committee acts on behalf of the Board due to lack of quorum, this meeting 
will be held in an Open Session for items which would normally be discussed by the Board 
in an Open Session and the minutes of the meeting will be published the same way as the 
Board minutes; 


3. Advise the President on matters of urgency;  
4. Conduct the President’s annual performance and compensation review.; and 
5. Negotiate and ratify all contractual arrangements for the employment of the President, and 


to approve, from time to time, any amendments to the President’s  contract or additional 
contracts as  deemed to be in the best interests of the College. 


 
Membership   
In accordance with By‐law 1, the Committee will comprise: 


1. Board Chair; 
2. Vice‐Chair; 
3. Chair of the Audit Committee; 
4. Chair of the Governance Committee  
5. Past Chair of the Board or in the absence of a Past Chair, this position shall remain vacant;; 
6. President (ex officio). 


Vacancy 
In the event of any such offices being vacant, one other external governor will be appointed by the 
Board to fill such vacancy. 
 
Meetings     


1. Meetings will be held in camera (with the exception of when the Executive Committee is is 
acting on behalf of the Board during a regular meeting of the Board due to lack of quorum). 


2. Minutes of the Executive Committee will be sent only to the Executive Committee members 
unless the Executive Committee is acting on behalf of the Board due to a lack of quorum). 


3. The Chair will present a summary of the Executive Committee decisions at the subsequent 
Board meeting. 


 
Approved by the 
Board of Governors 
November 10, 2003 
Revised  xx xx xx 
 







  ALGONQUIN COLLEGE BOARD OF GOVERNORS 
  GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
The Governance Committee, a standing committee of the Board of Governors (the Board), was 
established to assist the governors in carrying on the affairs of the College in connection with 
matters relating to governance (Article 16 of By‐law no. 1 of the Board of Governors). 
 
Responsibilities       


1. To review and assess Board governance practices and make recommendations to the Board 
regarding ways in which governance practices can be improved and enhanced by proposing 
policies to the Board for deliberation and appropriate action. 


2. To recommend measures to be employed in assessing the governance performance and the 
contributions of Board members. 


3. To act as the nomination committee for vacancies in the Board and to develop selection 
criteria and profiles based on the skills matrix for the nomination of Board members. 


4. To be responsible for the annual nomination of the Chair, Vice Chair, Secretary (if other 
than the President), Treasurer (if other than the Vice President, Administration), any  other 
Officers as  the Board may determine to be appointed annually, the Chair of the Audit 
Committee, the Governance Committee, and the Chair of any other standing committees 
which the Board may constitute which require the annual appointment of a Chair. 


5. To oversee and assess the Board’s orientation, and the need for professional  development 
activities, and make recommendations for action to the Board, as appropriate.  


6. To perform other tasks related to governance performance as assigned by the Board or as 
deemed necessary by the Governance Committee.   


 
Membership     
The Governance Committee shall be composed of up to five governors who shall be appointed by 
the Board, in addition to the Chair of the Board and the President who shall be ex officio members. 
A majority of members of the Governance Committee shall be external governors. 
 
Term of Appointment   
Each Governance Committee member shall be appointed for a two year term subject to an annual 
review, renewal and removal by the Board. 
 
Chair       
The Chair of the Governance Committee shall be an external governor. 
 
Approved by the 
Board of Governors 
January 14, 2008 
Revised May 14, 2012 





		05.1 Board Policy Update

		05.1  Board Policy Update - For Decision May 14 2012 v 5

		05.1a.  Board Current Policy Recommendation

		05.1b.  BG I-02 Appointment Reappointment of External Board Members - Final

		BG I-02

		Appointment/ Reappointment Of External Governors

		PURPOSE

		POLICY

		MONITORING

		RELATED MATERIALS





		05.1c.  BG I -03 Communication with the Board Final

		BG I-03

		Communication with the Board of Governors

		PURPOSE

		POLICY

		PROCEDURE

		MONITORING





		05.1d.  BG II -01 Programs of Instruction Final 

		BG II-01

		Programs of Instruction 

		PURPOSE

		DEFINITIONS

		Word/Term

		Definition



		POLICY

		1. PROGRAM APPROVAL

		2. PROGRAM QUALITY ASSURANCE

		3. PROGRAM INTAKE DEFERRAL

		1. PROGRAM APPROVAL

		2. PROGRAM QUALITY ASSURANCE 

		3. PROGRAM INTAKE DEFERRAL



		MONITORING 

		RELATED MATERIALS





		05.1e  BG I-04 Responsibilities of the Board chair

		BG I-04

		Responsibilities of the Board Chair

		RATIONALE

		POLICY





		05.1f  By-Law No  1 revised 2012 May 14 DO v1

		05.1g  By-Law No. 3 Mar 26 Governance Committee Final

		05.1h  By-Law No. 4 Revised feb 15 2012 LRB (mark-up) revised Mar 27 Final

		3. PURPOSE 

		4. MANDATE

		5.5.1  The Faculty Union shall be responsible for the establishment of electoral procedures and the supervision of the election of the academic staff to sit on the Academic Council.  

		5.6 Support Staff Election

		5.7 Student Appointment 

		5.8 Academic Administrators Selection

		The process to be followed to elect or select Council members is found in the College Administrative Policy AA 02 Academic Council.

		8. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF THE COUNCILACADEMIC COUNCIL



		05.1i  Bylaw 5 (rev. LRB Feb 16,2012 Final

		05.1J  Terms of Reference - Executive Committee April 16 12 FINAL



		05.1K  Terms of Reference - Governance Committee






G = On Target for Completion          Page 1 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


 
2011/12 Business Plan Update to the Board of Governors 


May 14, 2012 
 
1.  RECRUITMENT:  The College will increase the number of applications for programs outside of the top sixty high demand programs by 10%.


 


Goals  Initiatives  Measures  4th Quarter Report  Status 


1.1  Continue to 
seek productivity
improvements in
all areas of 
College 
operations. 


 
 


Introduce follow‐up
client survey as 
standard operating 
process for 
recruitment 
presentations, 
campus tours, and 
recruitment events. 


 200 client surveys 
completed. 


Completed: An additional 37 surveys have been completed for March 
30th Spring Open House, raising the total number of client surveys 
completed in 2011‐12 to 235 covering recruitment events, campus tours 
and training sessions.  
 


G 


Pilot Recruitments 
Salesforce CRM and
email marketing 
automation. 


 
Results presented to 
PEC by December 
31, 2011. 


Completed: Salesforce is now an integral element of the College’s 
recruitment effort.  


G 


Automate 
production of 
printed 
monographs using 
GeneSIS data. 


Project completed 
by December 31, 
2011. 


Partially completed: Process mapping for Advancement`s portion has 
been completed and solutions identified. Additional process mapping is 
required to ensure upstream activities performed through the Vice‐
President Academic`s Office are taken into consideration.  Project 
expected to be completed in next fiscal year.  


G 


1.2  Increase 
College 
recruitment 
efforts to 
targeted groups 
where growth is 
possible and 
there are good 
employment 
prospects. 


Implement College 
Recruitment and 
Marketing Plans. 
 


Increase to 42% in 
first choice Fall 
semester 
applications in 
target areas. 


First Choice applications for Fall term have increased 2.5% year‐over‐
year to reach 38.5%. Unfortunately, an inaccurate benchmark was 
established the year previous that resulted in the College setting an 
unattainable target.  


Y 


Increase by 7% 
applications for 
programs outside 
the top sixty high 
demand programs. 
Increase 
applications for all 
other programs by 
3%. 


The shift in Canadian demographics is beginning to be felt across the 
College education system. Algonquin continues to significantly 
outperform the system.  As of April 5th, Algonquin Fall 2012 applications 
are 3.7% above the system average, while showing a decline of 0.1% 
year‐over‐year.   


Y 


Increase by 15% the 
number of unique 
website visits to 
program websites 
outside the top sixty 
high demand 
programs. Increase 
by 6% the number 
of unique website 
visits to all other 
program websites, 
school websites and 
the prospective 
student website. 


Completed: Changes made in mid‐year made a significant difference, 
turning around trends and permitting the College to have a net increase 
year‐over‐year.  Prospective Student website traffic increased 4.5% year‐
over‐year, with unique website unique visits increasing 2%, below the 
6% target. Program website traffic increased above the 15% for all 
schools . 


G 


Annual Recruitment  Completed: The College recruitment and marketing plans presented to  G 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 2 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


Plans presented and 
approved by the 
College Enrolment 
Management 
Committee by 
October 31, 2011. 


SEMC March 26, 2012. 


Stage 3 of College 
branding exercise 
completed by July 
31, 2011. 


Completed: Final designs presented and approved by PEC on February 1, 
2012. 


G 


1.3  Identify 
post‐secondary 
best practices in 
recruitment, 
marketing and 
communications.


Best practices 
reports drafted 
annually. 


5 Best practices 
reports submitted 
to the College 
Enrolment 
Management 
Committee by 
December 31, 2011.


Completed: 6 best practices reports completed in 2011‐12; including 
Facebook, Program Blog, ZenDesk, Webinar, Prospective Student 
website (update), Information Architecture.  


G 


1.4 Commit to 
the introduction 
of new 
technologies in 
the recruitment 
of prospective 
students. 


Develop a College 
virtual tour 
environment. 


Phase 1 of Virtual 
Tour microsite 
launched by July 31, 
2011. 


Completed: Phase 1 of Virtual Tour microsite launched by July 31, 2011.   G 


Review College 
website 
information 
architecture and 
identify benefits of 
moving to portal 
environment for 
prospective 
students, current 
students, 
employees and 
alumni.  


Website 
Information 
Architecture and 
Portal Strategy 
presented to CTC by 
Dec. 31, 2011. 
 


The Information Architecture project was broken into five steps. Step 1. 
Analytic Review of College Web traffic and Step 2. IA Best Practices have 
been completed. The final Steps are to be completed by the end of June 
in 2012. The Portal Strategy re‐design has been completed with 
agreement reached with ITS and LTS to implement in Beta mode by 
August 2012. 


Y 


Develop online 
recruitment virtual 
open house 
capabilities. 


Host minimum of 5 
online recruitment 
virtual open houses.


Completed: 5 webinars completed resulting in 87 participants.   G 


2.  ENROLMENT:  The College will find unique ways to create more access to the top sixty high demand programs while also increasing 
enrolment in the middle ninety programs by 10%. 


Goals  Initiatives  Measures  4th Quarter Report  Status 


2.1  Support the 
academic area’s 
initiatives 
related to 
Curriculum 
Design and 
Strategic 
Enrolment 
Management. 


Identify the 
implications for 
academic 
scheduling of: 
● Common core 
courses 
● Smart Classroom 
2.0 
● Mobile program 
conversion 
● SPSP 
recommendation
s re: programs 


Implications 
identified and 
evaluated and a 
plan developed to 
accommodate 
appropriate changes 
in academic 
offerings and 
delivery modalities 
by October, 2011. 


Algonquin College increased Dual Credit seats by 250 seats.  The total 
now rests at 999 seats.  This is a benefit to high school students, 
however it has served as a wonderful recruiting tool as well as an 
academic preparation strategy for the College.   


G 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 3 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


2.2  College‐wide
Strategic 
Enrolment 
Management 
Plan and 
structure 
developed and 
in place. 


 Develop and 
implement a 
strategic enrolment
management plan. 


  


Framework ready by 
September, 2011. 


1. The College recruitment and marketing plans presented to SEMC 
March 26, 2012.   
 
The College’s Strategic Enrollment Management Committee has been 
reinstituted.  The Committee has developed a new framework and a 
number of SEMC activities are underway.  These include a:  
 
1). New Marketing plan that was presented to SEMC in Feb 2012,  
(2) Longitudinal study on student persistence (in collaboration with Dr. R 
Finnie from U of O).  The results will inform the retention strategy and 
plans,  
(3) Student survey related to retention (in collaboration with the College 
Students Association),  
(4) Pilot project using a Business Intelligence (BI) software to integrate 
our myriad databases related to enrolment and provide more user‐
friendly information that can be used for evidence‐based decision 
making, and  
(5) Multi‐year academic programming plan that will inform enrolment 
plans and align with the new 2012‐16 Strategic Plan.  
 
 
Second BI pilot project completed using another business intelligence 
software to enable a comparison of results  


G 


Develop an optimal 
growth model (to 
include WFUs and 
premiums attached 
to International, 
Second Career and 
WSIB). 


Increase the 
projected average 
WFUs for the 
College within two 
years from 1.20 to 
1.24.   


Program costing model updated to include WFU values and implications.   G 


2.3  Increase 
international 
student 
enrolment to 
become 4th 
largest Ontario 
College by 2013. 


Develop an 
International 
student enrolment 
plan to guide 
recruitment 
activities.  


Plan developed by 
June 30, 2011. 
 


International enrolment plan set by identifying international seats by 
program. 2012‐13 enrolment targets reviewed with Deans and Chairs. 
Final projections for 2012‐2013 completed and sent to India and China 
Offices and agents. Five year plan is under development.  


G 


Increase 
International 
student enrolment 
in FTPS and ESL 
programs through 
expansion of 
pathway 
agreements with 
international 
partners and 
increased use of 
web recruitment. 


1047 FTE 
International post‐
secondary students 
enrolled by March 
31, 2012. 


1032 FTE International post‐secondary students enrolled as of March 31, 
2012.  Short‐fall of 20 students in International post‐secondary 
enrolment made up by additional students in International ESL.  


G 


2511 FTE ESL 
students enrolled by 
March 31, 2012. 


2770 ESL students enrolled in 2011‐12, an increase of more than 12% 
over 2010‐11 exceeding the 2011‐12 target of 2511 ESL students.  


G 


2.4  Expand 
opportunities to 
provide staff,  
students and 
clients with 
international 
and inter‐
cultural 
experiences. 


Increase the 
overseas presence 
of the Algonquin 
Language Institute. 


ESL assessment and 
delivery launched by 
March 31, 2012 at 
one new overseas 
campus. 


ESL assessment of 435 students completed at Jazan Economic City 
Polytechnic (JEC PT) at end of March, 2012. Two Language Institute 
instructors will remain at the  JEC PT for the first two weeks of April to 
provide in‐service consulting services on the creation of a language lab 
and the review of ESL curriculum.  
 
The Academic area developed a 10 day experiential learning program at 
Earth University and at the Algonquin Rainforest campus (Costa Rica) for 
20 Algonquin faculty and staff.  


G 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 4 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


  Deliver 
international 
programs in 
partnership with 
off‐shore 
institutions. 


Two new programs 
offered in 
partnership with 
off‐shore 
institutions by 
March 31, 2012. 


By March 31, 2012, agreements finalized for four additional programs to 
be offered in partnership with off‐shore institutions.  MOU completed 
with Belgrade Business School to deliver the International Business 
Management Graduate Certificate. Program delivery will commence in 
September, 2013. 
 
MOU signed with Liaoning Forestry Vocational‐Technical College, 
Liaoning, China to deliver joint hospitality program beginning in 
September, 2012.   


G 


2.5  Expand 
applied research 
opportunities for
staff, faculty and 
students.  


 


Engage faculty and 
clients to work 
towards more 
applied research 
projects involving 
students. 


500 students 
engaged in applied 
research projects by 
March 31, 2012. 


By March 31, 2012, a total of 517 students engaged in 412 in‐class 
applied research projects.  
 
Student sustainability project completed with recommendations for 
recycling and reuse in health laboratories. Ongoing research projects 
underway. 
 
Additional projects are underway, many of which are embedded in the 
programs of study as capstone projects.  These will be presented at the 
annual April Applied Research day.  


G 


2.6  Create an 
Algonquin 
College Personal 
Development 
Institute (PDI).  


Implement PDI 
business plan. 


PDI business plan 
Phase 1 
implemented. 
Secured $1.5 M in 
revenue by March 
31, 2012. 


78.5 % of revenue ($1, 339,018) from PDI activities has been secured for 
2011‐12. Exceeded contribution margin target by $62K.  


G 


 
  3.  RETENTION:  The College will increase its semester retention rate from 81.9% to 83%. 


 


Goals  Initiatives  Measures  4th Quarter Report  Statu
s 


3.1  Increase 
student 
retention to 
83% and 
graduation rate 
to 64%. 
 
 


Provide 
initiatives which 
enhance faculty 
competence for 
dealing with 
retention 
challenges. 


Deliver PD for faculty 
based on the 
Professor of the 21st 
Century to help 
increase student 
engagement and 
increased retention. 


Retention Rate:  Algonquin College has exceeded both the 2010‐11 retention 
rate of 81.9% and the projected increase to 83%, with a 2011‐12 retention 
rate of 84%.  
 
Key Performance Indicator (KPI) Graduation Rate:  Algonquin College has 
exceeded both the actual 2010‐11 Graduation Rate of 62.9% and the 
projected increase to 64%, with a 2011‐12 KPI Graduation Rate of 64.2%.  


G 


Implement the 
Student Success 
Centre, 
including 
Student Success 
Specialists and 
Academic 
Advisors, as 
well as key 
additional 
services during 
peak times. 


Client service 
enhancements in 
place and client 
demand tracked.  
Design plans 
finalized for Student 
Success Centre in 
Student Commons. 


The Student Success Centre continues to track detailed information regarding 
in‐person client service and client service delivered through the Live Chat 
application.  SPSP metrics for Winter Term reveal that more promotion of this 
service is needed. 
 
With launch of integrated Student Services web presence, every department 
in Student Support Services offers Live Chat option. 
 
At fiscal year‐end, expansion of the Academic Advisors’ database to meet the 
needs of the Student Success Specialists had been completed and the new 
functionality was ready for implementation. 
 
Process mapping (using LEAN Value Stream methodology) for the in‐person 
One‐Stop Service model in the Student Commons has continued throughout 
the Winter Term in preparation for launch in the new facility.  
 
Client service enhancements are now in place and client demand by the 
student success specialists are being tracked. The design plans have been 
finalized for Student Success Centre in Student Commons.  


G 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 5 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


3.2  Work 
collaboratively 
with Student 
Success 
Specialists and 
Academic 
Advisors to 
promote 
student 
retention. 


Provide one‐
stop service 
where students 
go for help and 
information, as 
well as student 
success 
strategies. 


Services tracked and 
measured against 
improved enrolment 
and retention 
targets.   


Collaboration of the student success specialists and the academic advisors 
continues in the Student Success Centre.   Academic advising and coaching 
activities monitored by the Student Success Committee on a monthly basis. 
 


G 


3.3  Work 
collaboratively 
with 
appropriate 
college 
departments 
and individuals 
to promote 
student 
retention. 


Academic 
identification 
and tracking of 
students at risk 
established 
within the first 
3 weeks of 
class.  Student 
Services will 
provide the 
appropriate 
follow‐up 
services (some 
of which are 
available 
online) to 
students 
identified at 
risk, within the 
first 5 weeks of 
class. 


Analysis of results of 
outreach contacts to 
at‐risk students and 
subsequent 
academic 
performance 
provided within 
three weeks of term 
end. 


In collaboration with Vocantas, the Registrar’s Office Contact Centre 
conducted a telephone campaign to identify and provide follow‐up assistance 
to ‘at risk’ students. 
 
These automated telephone outreach campaigns, with individual follow‐up 
to those seeking assistance, have contributed to improved term‐to‐term 
retention – from 2011 Fall to 2012 Winter, overall retention rate was 84%, as 
compared to 81.9% from 2010 Fall to 2011 Winter.  
 
A telephone campaign to all Level 01 students (~8,000 students, of which 
~25% were deemed as at‐risk) was completed.  Successfully automated 
phone contact with ~60% of the 8,000 students occurred. Personal follow‐up 
telephone calls to at‐risk students who had indicated their request for 
assistance took place.  Of this group, Student Success Specialist/Student 
Success Centre contacted 53% of these students.   


G 


  Enhance Client 
Service and 
“closing” rates 
through the 
expansion of 
the electronic 
Late Applicant 
Process and 
online fee 
deferrals. 


Increase of 10% in 
“closing” rates of 
Late Applications.   
 


Completed, as reported in November 2011.  .  Moved from manual to online 
process for late applicants and uptake on this process has exceeded 
expectations by >100%. 
 
Online fee deferral process for OSAP recipients has been completed and 
implemented on ACSIS. 


G 


  Increase the 
number of 
students 
involved in 
volunteering 
experiences on 
campus to help 
improve 
student 
retention and 
utilize 
Community 
Learning. 


Number of ongoing 
student volunteers 
increased from 25 to 
50 by December, 
2011. 


Completed.  As reported in November 2011, 50 Student Leader volunteers 
were recruited and trained to provide assistance during Fall Orientation 2011 
and Winter Orientation 2012.  These volunteers also provided assistance with 
the delivery of student‐oriented events during the academic year.   


G 


3.4  Enhance 
service 
provided to 
students via 


Increase 
services 
provided in the 
Student Success 


Monitor student 
activity.  Develop an 
at‐risk student list 
and follow‐up on 


The Student Success Centre continues to track detailed information regarding 
in‐person client service and client service delivered through the Live Chat 
application.  SPSP metrics for Winter Term reveal that more promotion of this 
service is needed. 


G 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 6 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


the Student 
Success Desk 
by opening the 
Student 
Success Centre 
in appropriate 
space. 


Centre, 
including 
Student Success 
Specialists, 
Academic 
Advisors, IEC 
rep and other 
key services 
during peak 
times.  


requests for 
assistance. 


 
With launch of integrated Student Services web presence, every department 
in Student Support Services offers Live Chat option. 
 
At fiscal year‐end, expansion of the Academic Advisors’ database to meet the 
needs of the Student Success Specialists had been completed and the new 
functionality was ready for implementation. 
 
Process mapping (using LEAN Value Stream methodology) for the in‐person 
One‐Stop Service model in the Student Commons has continued throughout 
the Winter Term in preparation for launch in the new facility.  


Foster cross‐
learning 
amongst the 
various 
services; clarify 
the roles of 
Student Success 
Specialists, 
Academic 
Advisors, 
Coordinators; 
and 
Counsellors; 
and provide 
data for 
ongoing update 
of ASK 
Algonquin 
(FAQ) 
application. 


ASK Algonquin 
implemented as a 
mobile application 
and updated on a 
regular basis, by 
tracking of questions 
being asked at the 
Student Success 
Centre and through 
Live Chat. 


Cross‐training is ongoing, as is continual review and update of ASK Algonquin 
(FAQ) application.  


G 


3.5  Define and 
promote the 
One‐Stop 
Service model, 
engaging other 
related services 
in the 
discussion. 


One‐Stop 
Service model 
defined for 
telephone, 
virtual and in‐
person service.  
 
 


One‐Stop Service 
model defined for 
telephone, virtual 
and in‐person 
service, with 
consequent business 
and software 
requirements 
documented by 
October, 2011. 


ACSIS functionality increased through ACSIS re‐design project – ACSIS 
branded as online ‘One‐Stop Service Shop’ – and is AODA compliant. 
 
As reported in November, 2011, progress on process‐mapping and defining of 
the ‘One‐Stop Service’ delivery model for the Student Commons was delayed 
with the retirement of the Director, Student Support Services.; however, now 
this process review and redesign exercise is well underway for 
implementation in the new facility. 
 
Full integration of the Student Information Desk and Student Success Centre 
was achieved in November, 2011.  


G 
 
 
 
 


With allocation 
of 
Advancement 
resources for 
web 
development 
and social 
media, 
implement a 
Student 
Services web 
presence to 
ensure direct 
access to one‐
stop service for 
all Student 
Services 


Fully integrated 
Student Services web 
presence, enabling 
one‐stop online 
service implemented 
by November, 2011. 


Integrated Student Services web presence launched, creating online ‘One‐
Stop Service’ environment for clients.  Web links to ‘single‐source owner’ of 
information ensure accuracy and currency of online information.  All 
departments in Student Support Services offer Live Chat option, as well as 
numerous other online service options.  Inevitable enhancements to the new 
websites (in response to client feedback) will be made during 2012‐13.  


G 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 7 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


departments. 


Develop short 
videos to 
market online 
the Student 
Support 
Services in the 
Residence.  This 
will help many 
students 
prepare better 
for move‐in as 
well as give 
information to 
students before 
they move in 
(e.g. 
International 
students). 


Videos descriptive of 
Student Support 
Services in Residence 
launched online by 
mid‐April.  Track the 
number of hits. 


Video descriptive of Student Support Services  in Residence was  launched  in 
Spring 2011.   Plans are  in place to build on this success and develop videos 
for  International students and Aboriginal students to be posted online, with 
the goal of increasing college familiarity/readiness for these client groups. 


G 


Every Student 
Support Service has a
specific email inquiry 
link.  Inquiries are 
tracked and 
actioned. 


Online live‐agent support is available through the Student Success Centre 
during the following hours: Monday‐Thursday from 8:30 a.m. – 9 p.m.; Friday 
from 8:30 a.m. – 7 p.m.; and Saturday from 10 a.m. – 3 p.m. 
Enhancement of online FAQ’s is ongoing and will be a focus in Student 
Support Services in 2012‐13.  


G 


Develop and 
deliver a CSD 
Podcast 
providing 
information on 
the services in 
an online 
“learning‐on‐
demand” 
format.  
Delivery will be 
interactive with 
“avatars” so 
that new and 
returning 
students will be 
familiar with 
the CSD 
offerings. 


Measure volume of 
usage on the site.  
Solicit feedback from 
students on the 
prototype and 
implement changes 
as required.   


As reported in February 2012, this project is now fully completed. “CSD Up 
Close” is launched on website, and is also televised on large screen in CSD 
enabling students and parents to view the information and learn more about 
our services and college readiness. This podcast was showcased at Make the 
Cut transition program to 65 educators from across the Ottawa Carleton 
region, and promotional information was emailed to all Eastern Ontario 
School Boards.  
 
Since the launch of the ‘CSD Up Close’ podcast in November 2011 through to 
March 31, 2012, there have been 859 visits to the site (723 unique visitors).  


G 


3.6  Explore 
and evaluate 
new model for 
Health Services 
with 
implementatio
n date Fall, 
2013. 


Hire interim 
Health Services 
Administrator 
for transition 
years 2011‐
2013. 


Administrator hired 
by July, 2011 and 
Plan developed to 
address space and 
service level issues in 
Health Services by 
December, 2011, for 
implementation in 
2012/13. 


Focus groups held, key informant interview completed, visioning session held 
on February 6.  Operational review of Health Services has been completed 
and the Phase 1 Report, including 56 recommendations, was presented to 
PEC in March.  
 
Planning for Phase 2 is completed and will be presented to Health Services 
Steering Committee on April 13.  Phase 2 report and recommendation for 
long‐term service delivery model for Health Services will be presented to PEC 
in June.  


G 


3.7  Begin to 
introduce more 
post‐admission 
testing to 
ameliorate the 
admission 
process. 


Using 
Accuplacer, 
support post‐
admission 
testing by 
introducing new
inclusive 
(accessible) and 
innovative 
practices for 
post‐admission 


 


Track and report 
success rates for 
students identified 
as “at risk” and 
implement support 
initiatives.   


Post‐Admission pilot project launched and Accuplacer baseline test data 
finalized.  Expansion of current pilot to School of Business undertaken during 
Winter Term.  
 
Post –admission testing was explored including a symposium held in the 
Spring 2011.  For the 2011‐2012 year, two test were completed; 
 
1. MathXL,a product from Pearson Education Canada, was used in the 2‐year 
Business Accounting program to enable students to self‐test and be directed 
to specific modules using the publisher’s software. 
 


G 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 8 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


Math and 
English 
diagnostic 
testing to 
support student 
success. 


2. Accuplacer Reading Comp, Accuplacer Arithmetic and Bennett Mechanical 
Reasoning tests were being used in 5 programs in the Trades area in fall 
2011. 
 


3.8  Integrated 
communication
s strategy for 
new and 
returning 
students to 
increase the 
likelihood of 
their success. 


Cross‐College 
collaboration to 
develop a new 
template for 
ACSIS that will 
serve as the 
student portal 
(One‐Stop 
Shopping). 


The look, feel and 
functionality of ACSIS 
will be updated and 
expanded to ensure 
new Algonquin 
students are better 
informed of and 
have access to both 
online and face‐to‐
face services. 


ACSIS Re‐design Project testing has been finalized.  ACSIS re‐branded as 
online ‘One‐Stop Service Shop’ with increased functionality and AODA 
compliance.  
 
  


G 


3.9  Enhance 
support for 
students and 
clients who 
require services 
at non‐
traditional 
times. 
 


Strategy 
developed and 
implemented to 
maximize the 
effectiveness of 
in‐person and 
online student 
support 
(evenings, 
weekends, 
summer and 
online). 


Student support 
services available to 
7:30 pm Monday to 
Thursday, and to 
4:30 p.m. on Friday, 
and weekend hours. 


Extended service hours have been in place again throughout this academic 
year.   An example of the increased number of mobile apps offered for 
students: ACSIS online timetables developed as colour‐coded grid timetables 
where the faculty member’s name is actually a hyper link to his/her email, 
and hovering the cursor over the course generates a hyper‐link to a pdf 
version of the course outline on the COMMs system.  
 
Student support services are available to 7:30 am Monday to Thursday, and 
to 4:30 pm on Friday, and weekend hours.  In addition, online, live agent 
support was made available during normal operational hours, and online 
FAQ's were made available and in place for September 2011.  To better serve 
part‐time and online students, the CCOL Online Learning office was opened 
from 8:00 a.m. to 7:30 p.m. for the first three weeks of each semester to 
better assist students and clients. 


G 


Online, live agent 
support available 
during normal 
operational hours, 
and online FAQ's 
available and in 
place for September, 
2011. 


Online live‐agent support is available through the Student Success Centre 
during the following hours: Monday‐Thursday from 8:30 a.m. – 9 p.m.; Friday 
from 8:30 a.m. – 7 p.m.; and Saturday from 10 a.m. – 3 p.m. 
Enhancement of online FAQ’s is ongoing and will be a focus in Student 
Support Services in 2012‐13.  


G 


3.10  A 
comprehensive 
pan‐College 
retention plan 
will address, 
measure and 
evaluate key 
determinants 
of student 
success. 


Develop a 
customized 
retention plan 
for each 
Faculty/School 
by June, 2011. 


First phase of 
retention plan 
customized for each 
Faculty by June, 
2011, with specific 
target metrics for 
improvement. 


Retention plans were put in place for all schools.  Additional funds and cross 
college efforts were also implemented.  The College was successful in its 
efforts to increase student retention from Fall to Winter to 84%.  


G 


Develop 
College‐wide 
support for 
retention 
strategy.   
 
 


All College 
Departments have 
communicated their 
understanding and 
commitment to 
support appropriate 
efforts within the 
College retention 
plan to achieve 
retention target.   


Retention of students has become a pan‐college responsibility.  A variety of 
efforts have been implemented including retention efforts at a department 
and school level and broader college initiatives.  These include the Student 
Success Committee (comprised of cross‐college representation) developing 
additional strategies to further align academic and service department efforts 
to support retention strategies and a renewed College Enrollment 
Management capacity that is establish more clear priorities that reflect a 
longer‐term perspective.  


G 


High enrollment Convert 20 high  All courses were reviewed to identify high enrolment and high failure rates.   G 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 9 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


and high failure 
rate courses 
developed in 
modular format 
to assist with 
credit recovery 
options and as 
alternatives for 
traditional in 
class delivery. 


enrolment/high 
failure rate courses 
to fully online 
modular format 
delivery by 
December, 2011.   


The pass rates for all courses were then analyzed as part of their mid‐
semester reviews with Deans and Chairs.  Any course with a failure rate 
higher than 30% underwent a full review.  Not all of these courses were 
converted, but rather other changes took place in addition to conversion 
including curriculum changes and professional development requirements.  
Ongoing review and online development continues.  
 


Improve pass 
rate (student 
success) of 
targeted 
courses where 
failure rate 
exceeds 30%. 
 


Increase the pass 
rate by 10% for all 
courses that have a 
failure rate higher 
than 30% to achieve 
70% pass rate.   


High failure – high enrolment courses have been analyzed and identified. 
Trend analysis over 3 years revealed 47 courses that have not reflected 
appropriate improvements over that time. Student success initiatives have 
been identified to address those courses and Learning and Teaching Service’s 
CIS team is working with schools to initiate improvement strategies including 
development of online courses.  


G 


Augment the 
quality 
assurance 
processes for 
targeted 
programs with 
an independent 
external review. 


All targeted program 
reviews include an 
external review 
component. 


Three Ontario College Credentials were scheduled to pilot the external 
review component this Winter/Spring.  These include Advertising (OCAD), 
Baking and Pastry Arts (OCC) and Biotechnology Technologist (OCAD).  
Additionally, an external review by a Program Evaluation Committee will be 
undertaken for the BAA ‐ Interior Design in late March as part of its Degree 
Consent Renewal.  


G 


Resource the 
roll‐out of 
academic 
advising 
College‐wide. 
 


Select College 
coordinators, 
support staff and 
faculty assigned 
release time to roll‐
out College‐wide 
academic advising. 


A 25% increase in the number of programs (20 to 25) took place. In addition, 
a 38% increase in academic advisors participating in the controlled study is 
planned.  (40 to 55).  An academic advising manual will be available for Fall 
2012.  


G 


Pilot post‐
admission 
success testing 
for all students 
for January, 
2012 intakes. 


Post‐admission 
success testing 
developed and 
piloted and impacts 
measured. 


Post‐admission testing continued to be piloted in the Winter 2012 term in 
selected programs (construction trades, aviation techniques).  Once the 
results are understood, a decision will be made concerning wider 
implementation.  


G 


3.11  Promote 
student 
retention and 
increase 
graduation rate 
through 
bursaries and 
scholarships. 


Increase 
endowments 
through the 
renewal of 
pledges and the 
creation of new 
awards and 
scholarships. 


$1.2 M (matched) 
raised by March 31, 
2012.  


$ 2,150,630 M (matched ) confirmed in cash and pledges by March 31, 2012.   G 


Increase annual 
awards and 
scholarships 
through the 
renewal of 
pledges and the 
creation of new 
awards and 
scholarships. 


$250K in annual 
awards and 
scholarships by 
March 31, 2012. 


$291,924 K confirmed in annual awards and scholarships by March 31, 2012.   G 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 10 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


Analyze 
international 
student 
retention and 
develop and 
execute a plan 
to improve 
retention. 


Increased retention 
by 40 students over 
2010/11‐ level. 


International post‐secondary student Fall to Winter retention increased from 
83% in 2010‐11 to 88% in 2011‐12. International Student Barometer Survey 
for ESL and Programs of Study completed in 
January 2012. Results to be presented by iGraduate.org to staff on April 12, 
2012.  


G 


Increase the 
retention of 
Aboriginal and 
First Generation 
students. 


Increased retention 
by 5% from current 
KPIs of Aboriginal 
and First Generation 
students. 


Retention rate for Aboriginal students who are enrolled in their second 
choice program has increased by 5% compared to 2010‐11.  
 


G 


3.12  Define 
and promote 
the One‐Stop 
Service model, 
engaging other 
related services 
in the 
discussion to 
improve 
retention.   


Implement a 
student service 
focused web 
presence to 
ensure direct 
access to one‐
stop service. 


Student Services 
website and Phase 1 
of Student Portal 
launched by August 
31, 2011.  


Integrated Student Services web presence launched, creating online ‘One‐
Stop Service’ environment for clients.  Web links to ‘single‐source owner’ of 
information ensure accuracy and currency of online information.  All 
departments in Student Support Services offer Live Chat option, as well as 
numerous other online service options.  
 
Completed: Nine Student Services websites re‐designed and launched.  


G 


3.13  Promote 
student 
retention and 
increase 
graduation 
rate. 
  
 


Support the 
orientation of 
students 
through the 
deployment of 
a broad “Here 2 
Help”  
communication 
effort at the 
start of the Fall 
and Winter 
terms. 


“Here 2 Help” 
Communication plan 
drafted and 
approved by PEC by 
July 30, 2011, 


Completed: Here 2 Help campaign launched in January with full campaign to 
be re‐launched in Fall 2012.  


G 


Approved “Here 2 
Help” 
Communication Plan 
deployed first two 
weeks of Fall and 
Winter term. 


Completed: Here 2 Help campaign launched in January with full campaign to 
be re‐launched in Fall 2012.  


G 


Host College 
forum on 
opportunities 
and challenges 
surrounding 
possible move 
from “equal 
access” to “best 
fit” student 
recruitment 
model. 
 
 
 


50 participants 
attend forum. 
 


Completed: Over 1000 College stakeholders contributed to the drafting of the 
College`s new Strategic Plan.  


G 


    4.  GRADUATION RATE:  The College will increase its graduation rate from 62.9% to 64% by 2011. 
 


Goals  Initiatives  Measures  4th Quarter Report 
 


Statu
s 


4.1  Participate 
in the Data 


Undertake 
credit transfer 


Completion of 
activities by June 30, 


The Registrar’s Office, in collaboration with Area 5, has undertaken Phase I 
credit transfer activities in accordance with MTCU and Algonquin College 


G 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 11 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


Collection and 
Reporting 
Provincial 
Credit Transfer 
Project by 
scoping the 
requirements 
for the 
preliminary 
data system 
changes to 
facilitate the 
tracking of 
transfer 
students and to 
build toward 
long‐term 
accountability 
system for 
credit transfer.  
System must 
ensure 
measurable 
and auditable 
data including 
making 
provisions for 
the use of the 
OEN in 
connection 
with the credit 
transfer 
system. 


activities in 
accordance 
with the MTCU 
and Algonquin 
College 
contractual 
agreement 
dated January 
17, 2011.  
Complete 
eligible 
activities as 
outlined in the 
Credit Transfer 
Institutional 
Grants Transfer 
Payment 
Agreement and 
timelines.   


2011.  contractual agreement dated January 17, 2011.  
 
Submission of institution’s Credit Transfer 2011‐12 Status Update completed.   
MTCU has advised that that they are “pleased to see progress your institution 
is making on projects that were proposed in the 2011‐12 Annual Plan” and 
that “your institution’s Status Update is satisfactory and meets the 
requirements to receive the third payment under the April 1, 2011 Transfer 
Payment Agreement for 2011‐12 activities. Funds in the amount of $42,885 
are expected to flow to your institution on March 28, 2012 as part of the 
regular bi‐weekly transfer payment schedule.”   
 
A new Annual Activities Plan was submitted to the Ministry.  Unfortunately, 
on December 7th Ontario Colleges were advised that the majority of the 
activities proposed were ineligible for the Institutional Credit Transfer Grant 
due to an MTCU request that the Ontario Council on Articulation and 
Transfer (ONCAT) develop a new model for a course equivalency database to 
reside on the provincial student credit transfer database, ONTransfer.  
Algonquin continues to adjust the Annual Activities Plan to align with the 
Ministry’s changes.    
 


4.2  Target 
specific 
programs with 
retention/grad
uation 
concerns and 
establish 
success 
strategies to 
address 
concerns or 
phase out 
programs. 


Success 
strategies are 
defined and a 
plan proposed 
to resource, 
implement or 
phase out 10 
programs with 
the lowest 
retention and 
graduate rate. 


Plans implemented.    Updates on SPSP1 Program recommendations have been obtained for 
programs and implementation plans have been identified.   A full review to 
identify program suspensions is ongoing and was communicated to the BOG 
in Winter 2012.  


G 


   







G = On Target for Completion          Page 12 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


  5.  MOBILE LEARNING:  The College will continue to embrace the trend to mobile access by ensuring that all licensed software can 
be downloaded to mobile devices and that new apps are created to facilitate mobile access, learning and service acquisition. 


 


Goals  Initiatives  Measures  4th Quarter Report  Statu
s 


5.1  Student 
mobile 
computing will 
be part of all 
College 
programs by 
2015. 


27 programs 
with mobile 
learning 
launched for 
September, 
2011. 


27 programs 
launched by 
September, 2011. 


The 27 programs were launched successfully and this included 2300 full‐time 
Algonquin students.  


G 


Phase Two 
Mobile Learning 
rollout to 
include an 
additional 40 to 
50 programs to 
transition to a 
mobile format 
as determined 
by Deans’ 
Council. 


Specific 
identification of 50 
Phase Two programs 
by October, 2011 for 
September, 2012 
implementation. 


A total of 71 programs were identified as mobile learning programs for Fall, 
2012 (existing and new programs).  Meetings with chairs, coordinators and 
faculty will continue through the winter and spring terms to ensure faculty 
and other appropriate college staff are prepared for this broader rollout.  This 
program will now include over 6200 full‐time students at Algonquin College.  


G 


Strategy for 
infrastructure 
and technology 
acquisition and 
faculty 
PD/training 
requirements 
for Phases 2 
and 3 to 
developed in 
consultation 
with Phase 1 
faculty. 


Mobile learning 
Phases 2 and 3 roll‐
out strategy 
presented to PEC by 
October, 2011. 


Classroom planning being completed as part of Space and One Time 
Investments for 2012/13.   


G 


5.2  Develop a 
strategy for 
increased use 
of student 
mobile 
computing to 
support the 
College’s 
direction of 
going mobile 
by 2013. 


Mobile website 
strategy 
developed. 


Mobile website 
strategy presented 
to CTC by June 30, 
2011. 


Completed.  Presentation made to College Technology Committee in Fall 
2011.  


G 


Phase 2 of 
mobile app 
development 
completed. 
(Including ASK 
Algonquin). 


Phase 2 of mobile 
app development 
completed and 
deployed by August 
31, 2011. 


Completed: Phase 2 of mobile app development completed and deployed by 
August 31, 2011. LTS designed Room Finder function added to website and 
mobile environment permitting user to access internal floor‐by‐floor maps of 
campus buildings 


G 


5.3  Target 
specific 
programs with 
retention/grad
uation 
concerns and 
establish 
success 
strategies to 


Success 
strategies are 
defined and a 
plan proposed 
to resource, 
implement or 
phase out 10 
programs with 
the lowest 


Plan implemented.  Updates on SPSP1 Program recommendations have been obtained for 
programs and implementation plans have been identified.   A full review to 
identify program suspensions is ongoing and was communicated to the BOG 
in Winter 2012. 


 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 13 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


address 
concerns or 
phase out 
programs. 


retention and 
graduation 
rates. 


  6.  ONLINE LEARNING:  The College will expand its online learning offerings through hybrid and full online modules by reviewing 
and adapting 20% of all courses and programs in each of the next five years. 


Goals  Initiatives  Measures  4th Quarter Report  Statu
s 


6.1 Commit to 
creating a 
student‐
centred, 
flexible 
learning 
environment 
enhanced 
through the 
virtual delivery 
of programs 
and services 
within a 
mobile 
environment 
by September, 
2013. 


Top 40 
programs 
reviewed and 
assessed for 
development 
of online 
courses. 
 


25 additional, fully 
online programs 
identified for 
development by 
2012. 


To‐date, 51 programs (full‐time and part‐time) are delivered online.   An 
additional 15 full‐time programs have been identified for development. In 
addition to these 15, new programs are being identified as part of the 
curriculum review process and the college continues to convert theory course 
into hybrid or online delivery. 


G 


Convert 3 high 
enrolment in‐
class programs 
to fully online 
offerings to 
better meet 
student 
demands. 


3 new programs 
developed for full‐
time online offering 
by December, 2011. 


Three fulltime programs have been identified for development into online 
delivery format.  These programs are in high demand by students and have 
been determined to be appropriate for online delivery.   


G 


Identify 
suitable 
courses for 
hybrid and 
online 
development. 


100 hybrid and 20 
online courses 
developed by 
December, 2011. 


Completed.  Presentation made to College Technology Committee in Fall 2011.   G 


Re‐design the 
College’s 
technical 
support model 
to address the 
needs of the 
mobile client. 


Technical support 
model re‐designed 
and implemented 
by December, 2011. 


Client Service standards have been defined. Daily and weekly service 
performance reports (inter‐department) completed. Templates have been 
completed for documenting Service Level Agreements (SLA) for each ITS 
supported system and solution with a focus on service expectations. 
Realignment planning for consolidating Blackboard support group, moving 
resources from LTS, as part of larger organization for IIRTS, ready to implement.  


G 


6.2  The 
Academic Area 
will lead in the 
development 
of new 
standards and 
processes for 
ensuring that 
the learning 
environment 
and technology 
supports for 
students and 
faculty are of 
the highest 
quality. 
 


Under the 
leadership of 
Dean’s 
Council, the 
Learning 
Environment 
Quality (LEQ) 
committee will 
be re‐
established 
and 
will provide 
guidance and 
recommendati
on related to 
the standards 
and service 
support 


LEQ standards 
report presented to 
PEC by November, 
2011. 
 
A detailed faculty/ 
student technology 
supports (FSTS) 
report on the level 
of service area 
support 
requirements to 
accommodate 
traditional, mobile 
and digital learners 
presented to PEC by 
November, 2011, 
for inclusion in 


Within the resources available, the College will add space upgrades and 
technology to meet the requirements for 2012/13. 


G 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 14 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


requirements 
for all learning 
environments 
and common 
study spaces. 
This will 
include the 
required 
technologies 
and SLA's 
required to 
support 
traditional, 
mobile, and 
digital learning 
environments. 


budget and 
business plans for 
2012/13. 


LEQ report used by 
the College Space 
and Infrastructure 
Committee to 
determine priority 
investments for 
2012/2013. 


This committee (Learning Space Planning Group) continues to be involved in 
executing the mobile strategy.  Strategies related to wireless connectivity and 
power supply in the planned mobile classrooms is a primary priority at this 
time.   


G 


6.3  Provide 
integrated 
communicatio
ns to new and 
returning 
students to 
increase the 
likelihood of 
their success. 


Expand the use 
of 
Salesforce/Mar
keto broadcast 
email 
functionality to 
Student 
Services and 
additional 
interested 
College 
departments.  


CRM based 
broadcast email 
functionality 
implemented 
within Student 
Services by August, 
2011. 


CRM planning completed.    Project awaiting permission from College 
stakeholders to be completed. 


G 


6.4  Improve 
the access and 
quality of the 
College’s 
online 
information. 


Expand the 
College’s Social 
Media efforts. 
 


College Social 
Media Strategy 
drafted and 
presented to PEC by 
September 30, 
2011.   


Completed: Strategy drafted and receiving feedback. Full presentation to BOG 
set for May, 2012. Facebook campaign launched generating 900,000 additional 
impressions, doubling Facebook Likes from 1,500 to over 3,000, and increasing 
Facebook lead generation by 345%.   


G 


Prospective Student 
Facebook level of 
engagement 
increases from 700 
to 1500 monthly 
active users. 


Completed: Facebook Likes have increased 156% year‐over‐year, climbing to 
3,839 likes by March 31, 2012. Overall reach is now averages over 6,500 
monthly users.  


G 


Referrals to College 
website by Social 
Media increase by 
25%. 


Completed: As of March 31, 2012, 22.4% increase in year‐over‐year referrals, 
with a 37% increase in new visits.  


G 


2 Academic 
Program Blogs 
launched by 
departments by 
November, 2011. 


Partially Completed:  1 admin blog and 1 program blog launched.   G 


6.5  Assess 
current 
Enterprise 
Resource 
Planning (ERP) 
and corporate 
systems and 


Assess new 
corporate 
systems 
models 
including 
Software ‐As‐
A‐Service 


New corporate 
systems models 
assessed and 
strategy developed 
by March 31, 2012. 


Draft project plan for PeopleSoft migration to supported version has been 
completed pending 2012‐13 funding for migration and ERP strategy 
development working group.   
Draft project plan for Ingres (GeneSIS, HR/PAY etc.), migration to stable and 
supported versions complete, pending 2012‐13 budget. ERP working group 
completed in draft form, pending 2012‐13 budget.  


G 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 15 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


develop a 
strategy for 
the acquisition 
or 
development 
of new 
systems.  


(SaaS), open–
source ERP 
systems and 
consumer‐
based apps and 
develop an 
acquisition 
and/or 
development 
strategy. 


  7.  EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT:  The College will, through professional development, training, mentorship, and coaching, prepare its 
employees for new ways of delivering education and training and for leadership opportunities in the College. 


 


Goals  Initiatives  Measures  4th Quarter Report  Statu
s 


7.1  Maximize 
professional 
development 
opportunities, 
(including 
mentoring, 
job‐
shadowing, 
cross‐training) 
for each 
employee who 
expresses an 
interest in 
additional 
development. 


Examine all 
leadership 
training 
initiatives to 
align with the 
College’s 
succession 
planning and 
business plan 
objectives. 


Identify employees 
who have expressed 
interest and offer 
appropriate training, 
mentoring, coaching 
and one‐time special 
assignments. 


A mentoring program in support of succession planning has been initiated and will 
be piloted in 2012‐13.   
  
All new, full‐time support staff are paired with a mentor for a 6‐month period. 
  
A mentorship program is a component of ALEI III.  All participants in this program 
self‐select a mentor and engage in a mentorship relationship for the duration of 
the program. 


G 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
G 


7.2  Ensure all 
full‐time and 
part‐time 
employees are 
appropriately 
trained 
including 
mandatory 
AODA and 
WHMIS 
training. 


AODA and 
WHMIS 
training have 
been added to 
new employee 
orientation.  
Monitor 
compliance on 
a weekly basis. 


100% of all full‐time 
employees have 
completed this 
training. 


WHMIS training continues to be delivered to new employees.   The process is 
linked to the HRIS system for managers to oversee training requirements for their 
staff.  
 
Total number certified ‐ 2082 
91% FT Academic (525) 
75% FT Admin (152) 
88% of FT Support (483) 


 
 


G 


7.3  Examine 
the 
requirements 
for AODA 
Employment 
Accessibility 
Standard. 


HR to take lead 
role in 
establishing 
the AODA 
Employment 
Accessibility 
Standard 
Working Group 
Committee. 


Government 
compliance achieved 
for all AODA 
requirements.  
Report training 
progress using AODA 
annual accessibility 
report. 


Full compliance achieved on roles to date.  G 


7.4  As part of 
the succession 
plan, identify 
positions that 
require a 
critical skill set 


Implement 
cross‐training 
for “at risk” 
positions with   
backup plans 
for each 


Positions identified 
and cross‐training 
initiatives are in 
place. 


The first cohort (of 12) in ALEI III will be finished on April 19 upon presentation of 
their Leadership Challenge papers to PEC. Topics include: Facilities and 
Infrastructure Planning, Junior College and Retention.  


G 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 16 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


that are at‐risk 
due to limited 
human 
resource 
capacity and 
determine the 
essential skill 
set of each, 
thereby 
ensuring 
sustainability 
of operations. 
 


position. 


Complete 
Phase 1 of the 
Succession 
Plan for the 
remainder of 
the College 
and Launch 
Phase 2 call. 


 Self 
Assessment. 


 Manager 
Assessment. 


 Employee/M
anager 
Meeting 


 Performance 
Developmen
t Plan 


Phase 1 completed.   
Phase 2 launched.   
 


Phase 1 of the Succession Plan has been successfully completed with an overall 
participation rate of 98% for the pilot group.  This included the self‐assessments, 
Manager assessment, employee/manager meeting and the development of 
career development plans for each incumbent.  The overall talent assessment 
review meeting was completed by the President’s Executive Committee. 
 
Phase 2 is currently in planning phase. 


G 


7.5  Build the 
capacity to 
ensure internal
resources are 
prepared for 
additional 
leadership 
roles. 


 


Complete the 
administrative 
evaluations 
and provide 
relevant 
workshops 
through Centre 
for 
Organizational 
Learning to 
align with the 
College’s 
business plan 
and succession 
opportunities. 


Evaluations 
completed. 
Appropriate 
workshops offered. 


With the roll‐out of the Administrative Staff training in February HR developed the 
on‐line tool to support the self appraisal process and manager appraisal. 
Departmental training was completed with each area of the College, explaining 
Halogen and providing further guidance on how to evaluate objectively.   


G 


7.6  Foster an 
environment 
where 
opportunities 
to lead are 
available to all 
employees. 
 
 
 
 
 


Increase 
leadership 
capacity and 
capabilities 
within the 
College by 
supporting 
those 
expressing 
interest via the 
Talent 
Assessment. 
 
Provide 
employees 
with the 
opportunity to 
lead a special 
project and/or 
assignment. 


Employees provided 
with opportunities 
for the following: 
 
● Leadership 
training, as 
available. 


● Taking a 
leadership role in 
special projects 
and/or 
assignments. 


Target initiatives achieved.  G 


7.7  Establish 
faculty 
credential and 
experience 
hiring 


Establish and 
communicate 
faculty 
credential and 
experience 


New faculty 
credential and 
experience hiring 
guidelines 
established by April, 


This particular initiative is in place and is now built in to the process as a 
standard.  Anything on the PDF or JFS currently listed as a credential or experience 
is included on the job postings.  
 
Completed.  This has been communicated to staff and faculty through Deans and 


G 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 17 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


guidelines.  hiring 
guidelines to 
appropriate 
individuals and 
departments 
for hiring for 
Fall 2011.   


2011.  Chairs.    


7.8  
Professional 
developmen
t and 
technologica
l training 
opportunitie
s will align 
with the 
strategic 
directions of 
the College. 


Develop a 
specific 
training 
strategy to 
meet the 
needs of the 
College’s 
digital 
programmin
g and mobile 
learning 
initiatives. 


Training modules 
available to staff 
and faculty by 
September, 2011 
with additional 
modules deployed 
by December 31, 
2011. 
 
Professional 
Development with 
a focus on 
diversity, digital 
programming and 
mobile learning 
available 
beginning 
September 1, 
2011. 


The following courses, focused on Accessibility were run in conjunction with COL:
• Procuring Accessible Goods and Services 
• Accessibility and Organizational Change 
• Strategies to Effectively Remove Barriers to Employment 
• Web Accessibility WCAG 2.0 


 Professional development supporting faculty (full and part‐time) teaching in 
MLPs in Fall 2012 is planned for May 14‐June 15.  Several forms of assessments 
have been completed to determine faculty needs most notable a cross‐College 
survey (posted on MyAlgonquin and advertised through the Chairs) from March 
26‐April 5.   Approximately 400 responses were collected. (GAB) 
 
In addition, a website listing all available online resources has been 
developed:  www.Algonquincollege.com\onlineresources  
 


G 


Provide 
professional 
development 
opportunities 
in the use of 
online tools 
and resources 
with a focus on 
collaborative 
tools, and 
social 
networking.  


Professional 
development in 
online collaborative 
tools and social 
networking 
resources provided 
by March 31, 2012. 


The May/June PD will be developed and offered in conjunction with our partners 
in CI, LTS and ITS and will addresses questions from faculty around faculty and 
student expectations in MLPs. Ways of engaging students and managing the 
classroom and online environments and leveraging the educational technology to 
enrich the learning experience for students  in MLPs.  
 


G 


Develop and 
deploy College 
training 
programs/cour
ses for 
WordPress 
CMS and social 
media best 
practices, in 
collaboration 
with the COL. 


Curricula for 
Beginner, 
Intermediate and 
Advanced levels of 
WordPress and 
social media 
presented to COL by 
August 31, 2011. 


WordPress training and video tutorials launched. Social Media course 
development still in progress.  


G 


25 cross College 
staff registered for 
each stream 
(WordPress & Social 
Media) by March 31, 
2012. 


Partially completed:  Second class of Wordpress training held in March with 18 
registrants.  


G 


Provide 
professional 
development 
opportunities 
in the use of 


Pilot the use of 
Salesforce Chatter 
within the 
Advancement 
Division and present 


Salesforce/Chatter Presentation made to Administrative Association.   G 



http://www.algonquincollege.com/onlineresources





G = On Target for Completion          Page 18 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


online tools 
and resources 
with a focus on 
collaborative 
tools, and 
social 
networking. 


findings to CTC by 
December 31, 2011. 


100% of recruitment 
staff, satellite 
College recruiters, 
and FLMOs have 
completed a 
minimum of 2 
Salesforce Training 
sessions by Fall, 
2011. 


The Support Staff strike caused the initial training sessions to be re‐scheduled to 
the Winter. Salesforce training presentations were delivered to all campuses and 
FLMOs as well as the Algonquin College Administrative Staff Association and the 
Personal Development Team.   


G 


All recruiters 
attend the 
provincial 
recruitment 
Annual 
Business 
Meeting. 


100% attendance.  Day long sales training provided Recruitment staff as alternative to Annual 
Business Meeting attendance cancelled due to strike.  


G 


7.9  
Continuously 
review and 
update formal 
departmental 
orientation 
program for all 
new full‐time 
and part‐time 
employees. 


Enhance and 
update 
departmental 
orientation 
program 


Departmental 
orientation review 
completed by 
August 31, 2011 and 
new program 
implemented. 


The design and development of an online orientation tutorial for new full time 
employees is underway and will be completed by May 31, 2012.  
 
Completed.  In addition, full‐time and part‐time faculty orientation sessions are 
being reviewed again to ensure new expectations are understood and practiced.  


G 


7.10  Continue 
to seek 
productivity 
improvements 
in all areas of 
College 
operations. 


Establish 
automated 
reports for 
recruitment, 
marketing and 
communicatio
ns. 


Solutions to be 
identified and 
scoped by August 
31, 2011. 


All units report weekly via automated reporting.   G 


  Establish Cost 
per 
Recruitment 
and Marketing 
Generated 
Lead formula. 


Formula established 
and approved by 
College Enrolment 
Management 
Committee by 
September, 2011. 


The College recruitment and marketing plans were presented to SEMC March 26, 
2012.Full set of metrics presented.  


G 


7.11 Develop 
an 
engagement 
survey for all 
employees for 
implementatio
n in January, 
2012. 


Work with a 
consultant and 
other colleges 
to prepare and 
administer an 
engagement 
survey. 


Survey completed in 
January, 2012. 


The survey was approved by PEC and is scheduled to proceed in October, 2012.   G 


  8.  FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY:  The College will target opportunities for increasing revenue, decreasing expenses and improving 
overall operating margins through new business opportunities, process automation, program and service efficiencies and 
productivity improvements. 


 


Goals  Initiatives  Measures  4th Quarter Report  Status 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 19 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


8.1  Physical 
Resources will 
initiate 
analysis of the 
impact of the 
AODA new 
Built 
Environment 
draft standards
on upcoming 
College capital 
construction 
and renovation 
projects.  


 


Individual 
projects will be 
analyzed by 
the Planning 
and Design 
teams and 
decisions made
regarding 
investment in 
the new AODA 
requirements. 


 


 
 
 
 


Analysis presented 
to PEC with each 
Capital Project.   
 
 


To date, all major projects delivered have included selected items from the 
new AODA Draft (not legislated) Standards. These inclusions, where 
significant, have been reviewed by PEC as part of the overall project approval.  


G 


All Capital projects 
are AODA 
compliant. 


All current College projects include selected items from the AODA Built 
Environment (proposed) Standards.  


G 


8.2  Continue 
to implement 
Human 
Resources 
Four‐Year 
Transformatio
n Plan. 
 


2011‐2012 is 
Year 3 of HR 
four‐year 
Transformatio
n Plan.   
Develop new 
HR Business 
Plan which 
includes three 
priorities: 
Workforce 
Effectiveness, 
Talent 
Management, 
and alignment 
of all 
Leadership 
Training 
initiatives to 
the College’s 
direction. 


Human Resources 
Business Plan 
developed, 
approved and 
implemented. 


Successful completion of 2011‐2012 HR Business Plan.   G 


8.3  Continue 
to seek 
productivity 
improvements 
in all areas of 
College 
operations 


Examine both 
Collective 
Agreements to 
determine how
the College can
achieve 
productivity 
improvements. 


 
 


Report tabled with 
PEC in October, 
2011, indicating the 
changes required to 
improve 
productivity. 


The completed Labour Analysis report was remitted to PEC at the end of 
January and presentations were made in early February. The report was a 
complete examination of our labour and the outcomes of this study included: 
1. a trend analysis of labour costs as compared to business growth; 
2. examination of the utilization of part‐time labour to fill work requirements 
3. the identification of factors, drivers and anomalies which have led to the 
increased use of part‐time labour; 


4. the validation of needs for part‐time labour against the 2011‐12 budget 
projections  


5. and, the recommendations of next steps. 


G 


8.4  Build a 
baseline and 
monitoring 
procedures to 
reduce 
reliance on 
part‐time 
resources. 


Complete a 
workforce 
audit of all 
part‐time 
resources. 
 
Development 
of an audit tool 
for future 
organizational 
design 
exercises. 
 


Baseline developed 
and monitoring 
process in place and 
targeted 
productivity metrics 
established.   


Workforce audit of all PT resources was completed by HR.  Finance completed 
financial analysis of PT costs.  Both reports were presented to PEC review in 
February, 2012.   Results have been used to further reduce reliance on PT staff 
in the 2012/13 draft annual budget.  
 
As noted in 8.3, this project was completed in early February. PEC requested 
minor revisions which were undertaken during the remainder of the quarter. 
With this project complete Human Resources will further work to build on the 
data and trends analyzed in the report and exploration of the structural 
elements of departments with a view to maximize the College's human 
resources would be the focus of 2012‐13.  
 


G 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 20 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


Hire a 
dedicated HR 
Specialist to 
focus on 
workforce 
complement 
strategy for 
full‐time and 
part‐time. 


 
 


Develop a plan 
to mitigate the 
risks of relying 
on a part‐time 
labour force 
while 
enhancing the 
College’s 
ability to retain 
necessary skill 
sets. 


Multi‐year plan 
developed to 
transition the 
College’s operations 
and resource 
capacity to support 
a workforce with 
enhance 
productivity, 
continuity and 
retention. 


As outlined in 8.3   G 


8.5  Revision 
and updating 
of training 
session for 
Academic 
Chairs on 
Collective 
Agreement 
provisions on 
staffing and 
management 
of the staffing 
process. 


Delivery of 
training 
program to all 
managers on 
managing 
staffing to 
meet all of the 
terms and 
conditions of 
the Collective 
Agreement. 
 
 


Chairs, Deans, 
Directors and 
Academic Managers 
up to date on all 
obligations of the 
Collective 
Agreement. 


Workload audits were continued during the fourth quarter and two 
presentations were made to the Chair's Council on the SWF portal and 
productivity issues. Article 11.09 will be explored with the Chairs for 
alternative assignment issues.  
 
LR continues to provide training and facilitate discussion on specific topics on 
a regular basis at Academic Chairs and Deans meetings.  We provided 4 one‐
on‐one LR orientation sessions with new managers and support existing and 
potential managers with a general LR overview at the Leadership 2 training 
once per quarter, with the latest session in March, 2012. 
 
Human Resources has a standing invitation to all Dean and Chair Council 
meetings.  Information has been provided regularly by Human Resources and 
hardcopy and electronic distribution occurs on a regular basis.  


G 


8.6  Increased 
support for 
managers in 
grievance/ 
arbitration 
process. 


Grievance file 
is reviewed 
with 
appropriate 
manager in all 
cases in 
advance of 
step meetings 
and support is 
provided to 
manager 
throughout the 
process. 


Support services in 
place.   


We continue to provide support at Article 2 hearings and WRA’s.    G 


8.7  Continue 
the Value 
Stream 
initiatives to 
achieve service 
improvements 
and savings 
and/or 
redeployment 
of resources. 


Implementatio
n of value 
stream 
initiatives to 
achieve service 
improvements 
and savings/re‐
deployment of 
resources. 


Measure overall 
usage of sick leave 
and develop 
wellness initiatives. 
 
Monitor reduction in 
vacation 
accumulation and 
temporary payroll 
dollars. 


As noted in previous report, vacation liability has decreased by $800k and is 
projected to continue decreasing over the next year. Finance and HR 
completed detailed analysis reports on temporary staffing costs and the 
College has further reduced its reliance on PT staff in the 2012/13 proposed 
annual budget.  
 
Total reduction of 1922 vacation days was achieved in 2011.  A HRIS tracking 
roll out will be implemented in June 2012 to replace the manual excel 
worksheets.  A $45K savings was achieved in regards to a third party sick leave 
management provider and approximately an additional $25K was saved by 
implementing new direction with regard to Maternity Parental leave for 


G 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 21 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


Academic staff.  Savings achieved in 2011 was in excess of $1M.  
 
Value Stream analysis continues, with the Quality Assurance processes being 
examined (i.e. Annual Curriculum Review, Program Mix Review as well as 
Program Quality Review and the Program Development process) to ensure 
that the current state is understood, with overlaps and gaps identified, before 
the processes are refined. The Price Waterhouse Coopers CDC analysis may 
also need to be considered in conjunction with the Value Stream 
recommendations.  


  Conduct 
business 
process review 
of Co‐op 
Department 
and 
Employment 
Services to 
maximize the 
benefit to 
Algonquin, its 
students and 
its employer 
contacts. 
 
Continue to 
work with 
Finance to 
implement and 
refine e‐
commerce 
online 
payment 
functionality. 
 
Realize 
improved 
operational 
efficiencies 
and client 
service 
enhancements 
within selected 
processes. 


Service 
improvements 
realized and 
resources 
redeployed (if 
applicable), based 
upon Value Stream 
project results. 


Finance has fully implemented online banking as an option for tuition fee 
payment at all major banks.  


G 


8.8  Phase 2 
SPSP Services 
Review: 
Measure and 
report service 
performance 
for each 
service 
offered. 


Implement 
service 
performance 
metrics (as 
established by 
March 31, 
2011 through 
SPSP review). 
 
 


Baseline service 
performance data 
available for each 
service. 
 


Area 3: Complete.  Reports reviewed at Director and VP level and submitted 
to SPSP Office.  
 
The Steering Committee for the College Services Analysis and Reporting 
launched its activity in November, 2011, and developed the Service Analysis 
and reporting template.   The Academic Office Services Task Group report is 
being developed by the Steering Committee for review by the Board in June 
2012.  


G 


    SPSP2 launched for 
completion target of 
June, 2012. 


The Steering Committee for the College Services Analysis and Reporting 
launched its activity in November '11.  This work continues.  Templates 
complete and reports are being compiled.  Final report scheduled for the BOG 
in June, 2012.  


G 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 22 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


8.9  Implement 
recommendati
ons from 
Phase 1 of 
SPSP review. 


Action taken 
on all 
recommendati
ons of Phase 1 
SPSP as 
approved June 
28, 2010. 


Report provided to 
the Board of 
Governors on the 
implementation of 
recommendations 
for Phase 1 SPSP by 
June, 2011. 
 


Several service areas have implemented recommendations from Phase 1 SPSP 
including Physical Resources, Vending Operations, Print Shop, Business 
Process Review, Procurement, Shipping/Receiving and Accounts Payable.  
 
Student Services has implemented recommendations from Phase 1 SPSP, 
including the review of Health Services delivery model, completion of several 
automation projects in the Registrar’s Office, in collaboration with ITS – for 
example, students are now able to access their Student Progress Report 
online – including grades; term and cumulative GPA’s; and the courses 
completed, exempted and/or outstanding on their Program of Study.  That 
students have access to this information, clearly and at their fingertips, is a 
significant improvement in service. 


G 
 
 
 
G 


8.10  Continue 
to support 
Strategic 
Programs and 
Services 
Planning 
Project 
implementatio
n. 


Implement 
recommendati
ons emerging 
from value 
stream 
assessment to 
automate 
disbursement 
of bursaries. 
 


Recommendations 
implemented to 
automate 
disbursement of 
bursaries by March 
31, 2012. 


Automation of uploading of all bursaries is now a project identified by the 
Registrar’s Office as a result of the success of the pilot project. Pilot project 
underway for the disbursement of Plant Some Roots bursaries from Genesis 
for students’ cheques. The automation of larger funds to be rolled out in the 
2012‐2013 academic year.  


G 


Conduct value 
stream 
assessment of 
international 
agreement 
process. 


Assessment 
completed by March 
31, 2012. 


Process completed. Exploring possibility of streamlining secondary process 
used by International Education Centre and Finance.  


G 


Develop and 
begin 
implementatio
n of a five‐year 
plan to cover 
the cost of the 
Foundations 
operations 
through funds 
raised. 


Cost recovery plan 
developed and 
implementation 
initiated by 
December, 2011. 


The Algonquin College Foundation Board of Directors passed a motion at its 
March 29, 2012, meeting to accept a proposed model to move the 
Foundation towards self‐sufficiency. An independent legal opinion is being 
sought for one tier of the self‐sufficiency model. This opinion will be 
presented at the June 7 Foundation AGM meeting and if the opinion supports 
the proposed model ‐ the Foundation Board will pass a motion to fully adopt 
the Self‐Sufficiency model as presented at the March, 2012 Foundation 
meeting.  


G 


Support the 
SPSP 
secretariat 
with 
communicatio
n support.  


SPSP II 
Communication Plan 
drafted and 
approved by SPSP 
Secretariat by June 
30, 2011. 


Site developed and launched.    G 


Establish an 
annual Service 
Quality Review 
process, similar
to the existing 
Program 
Quality Review 
process, to 
establish a 
framework 
that ensures 
that services 
are regularly 


 


Draft framework 
established and 
resource 
requirements 
identified for next 
year’s budget by 
October, 2011. 


The framework has been completed and will be implemented in future annual 
processes.   


G 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 23 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


assessed, 
measured, 
updated and 
enhanced. 


Establish a 
strategy to 
maintain and 
increase the 
College’s 
system share 
of WFUs is 
reported in the 
annual General 
Purpose 
Operating 
Grant 
calculation. 


In conjunction with 
the SPSP project, 
establish metrics 
that will identify 
programs with the 
highest WFU values. 


Program costing methodology updated to ensure WFU values are assigned to 
new and existing programs so that existing program grant values are not 
affected by introduction of new programs.  


G 


8.11 Realign 
procurement 
and expenses 
processes to 
comply with 
the Ministry’s 
Broader Public 
Sector 
Accountability 
Act. 


Develop 
updated 
policies and 
business 
processes, 
train staff on 
new 
procedures 
and implement 
practices to 
monitor 
College 
compliance 
with the new 
Broader Public 
Sector 
Procurement 
and Expenses 
directives. 


New policies 
approved and 
posted on the 
College web‐site and 
facilitated training 
sessions for staff 
conducted. 


Goal has been completed with ongoing training taking place for College staff 
to reinforce processes and procedures under BPS Accountability Act.  
 


G 


8.12  Deliver 
$150M of new 
academically 
focused 
facilities by Fall 
2012. 


1. Woodroffe: 
ACCE and 
associated City 
Transit 
Infrastructure: 
$107M‐
September, 
2011 
2. Perth: 
Renewal/Expa
nsion: $12.3M‐
September, 
2011 
3. Pembroke 
Relocation: 
$36.3M‐
September, 
2012 


All budget 
requirements and 
client needs met.   


Close out audits on ACCE and Perth were completed on schedule, with no 
adjustments required. Both buildings were completed on time. ACCE 
continues to be under budget, whereas Perth has been completed within the 
approved revised budget. Pembroke remains on budget, with substantial 
performance scheduled on time.   


G 


8.13  Ensure 
that the 
College is 
compliant with 


Implement 
systems and 
processes to 
secure and 


Attestation 
prepared that 
confirms that the 
College is compliant 


The PCI project continues to progress.  In addition to establishing a new 
contract with the card payment services provider the College has endorsed 
the decision to cease acceptance of credit cards for tuition fee payments 
starting with fee payments for the Winter 2013 term.   Students will be 


Y 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 24 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


the Payment 
Card Industry 
Data Security 
Standard (PCI‐
DSS). 


protect 
payment 
cardholder 
data and 
mitigate the 
risk of fraud. 


with PCI‐DSS.  directed to use the online banking option to pay fees.  Other business 
processes and systems continue to be reviewed as the PCI project progresses.  
 
Projects were more complex than originally estimated and will be completed 
over the next fiscal year. 
 
 


8.14  Launch a 
one‐card 
program 
incorporating 
appropriate 
College 
services across 
all campuses. 


Students will 
be able to use 
their ID cards 
as a tender 
type for most 
financial 
transactions 
taking place at 
the College, 
including Perth 
and Pembroke. 


Program launched 
throughout Ancillary 
Services and a 
number of College 
departments at all 
campuses August 
31, 2011.  Students 
will have the option 
to use their one card 
for all fiscal 
transactions at the 
College by March 
31, 2012. 


The Test Centre is now able to accept the One Card as a tender type.  Planning 
has commenced to launch the use of the One Card in the Savoir Fair and the 
International Restaurant for the opening of the Student Commons.  The staff 
identification card has been updated to the new look of the program and the 
new word mark and will be launched at the May BBQ.  
 


G 


8.15  Continue 
the project to 
prepare a 
Campus 
Development 
Plan for the 
Woodroffe 
Campus by 
June, 2011. 


Campus 
development 
plan to address
the City of 
Ottawa 
requirements 
including 
storm water 
management, 
sanitary and 
storm sewer 
conditions, 
land use 
planning, and 
projected 
growth needs.  
Guidelines to 
address the 
sustainable 
development 
plan for the 
College. 


 


City of Ottawa 
requirements met 
for issuing a site 
plan approval for 
the Student 
Commons facility.  
Meets the College 
planning needs for a 
Sustainable 
Development Plan 
for the next 20 
years. 


At the March Board of Governor's meeting, in conjunction with Directors ITS 
and LTS who set the stage for Digital College from an IT and pedagogical 
perspective, respectively, the Board approved our proposed Integrated 
College Development Planning framework, to be delivered in twelve months. 
This proposal has been overwhelming and positively received by PEC, affected 
Deans and Directors, and our consultant partners as a new, innovative way 
ahead. Preliminary discussions with the City of Ottawa officials has similarly 
been positive, with active work commencing in Q1 FY 12/13. Work to carry 
over to FY 12/13, with revised deadline of March, 2013 for update to Board. 
PEC will be kept apprised of progress throughout the year.   


G 


Identify 
strategies to 
further reduce 
the reliance on 
bricks and 
mortar 
expansion to 
accommodate 
growth while 
leveraging 
technology 
solutions as a 
means to 
increase 
enrolment and 
graduation 
rates. 


Strategy developed 
for consideration by 
the Alternative 
Growth Strategies 
Working Group by 
October, 2011. 


Through the Integrated College Development Framework and revised 
strategic   plan (pending Board approval), the College will establish additional 
strategies to increase access to post‐secondary education at Algonquin while 
enhancing quality, leveraging technology and maintaining its existing physical 
footprint.  


G 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 25 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


8.16  Continue 
to work on a 
strategy to 
address the 
current 
parking excess 
demand. 


Continue to 
assist TDM 
initiatives as 
identified by 
Physical 
Resources.  
Investigate and
support 
alternatives to 
parking in 
order to 
alleviate 
current 
demand on 
parking 
resources. 


 


Complete 
transportation 
demand analysis for 
the Woodroffe 
Campus. 
Development of a 
transportation 
management 
strategy compiled by 
December, 2011. 


Transportation Demand Analysis will be completed as part of the Integrated 
College Development Plan presented to the Board on March 12, 2012.  
College continues to work with OC Transpo to increase ridership to and from 
Woodroffe campus and reduce demand for parking.  
 
Marketing plan implemented for VirtuCar and a hybrid vehicle is now offered 
at the Algonquin Centre for Construction Excellence.   


G 


8.17  Initiate 
the 
development 
of an 
Enterprise Risk 
Management/ 
Business 
Continuity Plan 
framework. 


The College 
has an 
established 
ERM/BCP 
framework 
that includes a 
prioritized risk 
catalog to 
support 
strategic and 
operational 
decision 
making. 


Enterprise Risk 
Management policy 
drafted and 
presented to PEC for 
approval by 
November, 2011. 


Enterprise Risk Management project is underway and is due to be completed 
by June 2012.   Deloitte has been contracted to develop an ERM framework 
and has completed the following: 


‐ Presented workplan to Audit Committee 
‐ Surveyed all VPs, Deans and Directors 
‐ Conducted Risk Assessment Workshop 


 


Y 


Complete 
assessment of 
disaster 
recovery in the 
cloud and 
implement 
business 
continuity and 
disaster 
recovery 
strategy 


Business Continuity 
Plan drafted and 
presented to PEC by 
November, 2011 
and implemented by 
March 31, 2012.   


Planning will continue into 2012/13 due to complexity and integration 
challenges.   


G 


8.18  Continue 
to reduce 
paper 
consumption. 
 


Implement 
online fee 
deferral for 
OSAP 
recipients (via 
ACSIS) and 
online Late 
Application 
process. 


10% reduction in 
paper usage 
achieved. 
 


Completed, as reported at Q2 in November 2011. Moved from manual to 
online process for late applicants.  
 
Completed, as reported at Q2 in November 2011. Online fee deferral process 
for OSAP recipients has been completed and implemented on ACSIS.   


G 


  Provide data 
electronically, 
whenever possible, 
to the College 
community.  Post 
increased amounts 
of information to 
the web. 


All media being used to share information.    G 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 26 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


  All student support 
services publications 
will be available 
electronically in 
accessible format.  
Printing of these 
publications will be 
on‐demand only. 


Student Services continues to move to providing electronic copies only e.g. 
Graduate Employment Report, New Staff Orientation Manual, departmental 
promotional brochures. 
 
Student Employment Services has achieved the goal of implementing an 
electronic invoice system with the Finance Department to streamline the 
payment system for ‘Career Fair’.  


G 


  Explore other 
scanning 
opportunities within 
all departments. 


Ongoing.    G 


  Implement online 
system in the entire 
School of Business in 
Fall, 2011, with 
expansion to all 
Schools by Fall, 
2012. 


A test was conducted in October for the School of Business.  This online 
format was adapted for implementation January, 2012.  Paper consumption is 
also being reduced through reduced budget allocations in most areas.   


G 


Elimination of 
hard copy 
transcripts 
(annual savings 
of $30K), 
completion of 
numerous 
automation 
projects. 


Paper transcripts 
eliminated. 


Continued reduction in paper consumption across Area 3. Increased number 
of reports available electronically. Automatic mail‐out of paper transcripts to 
students eliminated and automated on ACSIS. Unofficial transcripts available 
to staff and students 24/7. Official transcripts available from the Registrar's 
Office, on request.  


G 


Pilot an 
Electronic 
Document 
Management 
System that 
will scan all 
full‐time 
employee HR 
files.   


Pilot completed by 
September, 2011.   


Pilot has been implemented and progressing but completion date is now the 
end of march 2013 due to limited PT resources that are doing the scanning. 
 


Y 


Re‐develop the 
prototype for 
CSD online 
system for 
scheduling 
tests. 


Increase the number 
of tests/exams 
booked online. 


In Winter 2012, the CSD Online Booking System was expanded to include all 
students in the School of Business, Department of Nursing and Vet 
Tech/Assistant programs.  In the fiscal year April 2011 – March 2012, 860 tests 
and 150 final assessments were scheduled using the system, for a total of 
1,010 bookings.  This number will increase significantly during the Final 
Assessment Week for Winter 2012.   The launch of the survey to request 
feedback from students and staff using the Online Booking System was 
delayed to late April/Early May after Final Assessment Week.  


G 


8.19  College 
program 
development 
will be guided 
by a multi‐year 
programming 
strategy. 
 


Identify and 
define program
growth 
clusters, 
program roll‐
out to include 
degrees, 
certificates, 
diplomas, 
advanced 
diplomas, and 


 
College‐wide 
Programming 
Strategy will be 
developed and 
presented to VPA by 
June 30, 2011. 


Full program development plan in place for 2012/13.    G 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 27 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


graduate 
certificates for 
both domestic 
and 
international 
audiences. 


8.20  
Represent the 
expectations 
of a 
polytechnic by 
providing 
students with 
a full range of 
Ministry‐
approved 
credentials. 


Initiate 
development 
of 3 new 
baccalaureate 
degree 
programs.  
Finalize the 
development 
of the four 
degrees 
currently in 
development. 


3 new baccalaureate 
degree program 
proposals 
developed. 
 


Degree development has been delayed due to unexpected recommendations 
in the recent Drummond Report.  However, 12 graduate credentials have 
been identified to meet international demand.  Further, a full range of 
programs (and credentials) are under review at the school level.   


G 


4 baccalaureate 
degrees, currently 
under development, 
completed and 
submitted to PQAB 
by October, 2011. 
 


Degree development has been delayed due to unexpected recommendations 
in the recent Drummond Report.   


G 


8.21  
Internationaliz
ation will be 
integrated into 
all College 
programs (as 
part  of The 
Algonquin 
Experience).  


Continue to 
integrate 
internationaliz
ation learning 
outcomes 
within new 
programs and 
programs 
undergoing 
cyclical PQR. 


Internationalization 
learning outcomes 
integrated within a 
minimum of 30 
programs. 
 


The new sustainability and internationalization outcome was approved by the 
Credentials Validation Service for inclusion as a vocational learning outcome 
in Ontario College credential programs going forward for validation.   


G 


Establish an 
implementatio
n strategy to 
integrate 
internationaliz
ation learning 
outcomes 
within Annual 
Curriculum 
Review. 


Implementation 
strategy to integrate 
internationalization 
learning outcomes 
within Annual 
Curriculum Review 
completed and 
approved by June 
30, 2011. 


The new sustainability and internationalization outcome was approved by the 
Credentials Validation Service for inclusion as a vocational learning outcome 
in Ontario College Credential programs going forward for validation.  


G 


8.22  Expand 
applied 
research 
opportunities 
for staff, 
faculty and 
students.  


Build a culture 
of innovation 
through 
increased 
opportunities 
for research 
and 
experimentatio
n with new 
teaching 
methodologies 
and research 
projects. 


Each Faculty and 
School will engage in 
one new research 
project or 
experiments with a 
new teaching 
methodology and be 
ready to present at 
the Applied 
Research Day in 
April, 2012. 


Completion of student sustainability project with recommendations for 
recycling and reuse in health laboratories.  Ongoing research projects 
underway. 
 
Additional projects are underway, many of which are embedded in the 
programs of study as capstone projects.  These will be presented at the 
annual April Applied Research day.  


G 


8.23  Prepare 
for potential 
future funding 
reductions. 


Develop a 
College 
financial 
contingency 


Plan completed and 
presented to PEC by 
October 28, 2011. 


2012/13 Proposed Annual Budget completed for Board presentation on April 
9th.  Alignment of College operating expenditures within the Province’s 
funding and tuition fee framework has been achieved.  This has resulted in an 
additional $5 million in capacity to fund strategic investments and/or 
establishes an additional contingency provision should funding be 


G 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 28 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


plan.  unexpectedly reduced.  Through the year‐end process for 2011/12, 
discussions will occur on potential to establish a ‘contingency reserve fund’ 
within the internally restricted net assets.   
 


8.24  Develop 
a general IT 
strategy for 
the College. 


Conduct 
stakeholder 
consultation 
and develop an 
Information 
Communicatio
ns Technology 
(ICT) strategy 
for the College. 


ICT strategy 
completed by 
August 31, 2011. 


The ICT strategy was completed in Fall 2011 and is the foundation for all 
planning work underway for 2012‐13. As a "living document" it is subject to 
change on a constant basis. The plan will become a SharePoint dashboard in 
Q1 2012‐13, where it will be updated in real time by performance measures 
and the PMO status report.  


G 


8.25  Develop 
new training 
programs to 
address needs 
identified by 
key sectors. 


Assess industry 
training needs 
through 
selected Sector
Councils and 
develop 
training to 
address needs 
identified. 


 


New training 
initiatives 
undertaken in 
partnership with 
two Sector councils 
by March 31, 2012. 


 


In 2011‐12, ACCT undertook new training initiatives with the International 
Facilities Management Association (Facilities Management Professional 
Certificate) , the  Building Owners and Managers Association (Building 
Systems Essentials for Operators) and the Greater Ottawa Homebuilders 
Association ( Building Better Service: A Blueprint for Excellent Customer 
Service; and Essential Customer Service Skills).  


G 


Identify and 
prioritize high 
value industry 
training 
requirements 
aligned with 
expertise and 
resources of 
the College to 
develop new 
training 
offerings. 


Ten new customized 
training offerings 
developed by March 
31, 2012 with key 
industry sector 
associations/council
s. 


Developed and delivered nine new corporate training offerings across four 
targeted economic sectors including: Writing for the web, Creativity in the 
Workplace, Emotional Intelligence in the Workplace, Creating a Service 
Mindset, Cost Estimation, Plan Reading, Understanding Adult Learning 
Principles, Managing Employee Performance, Cultural Awareness and 
Sensitivity Training. 
 
A total of twenty (20) new custom offerings developed and delivered in 
targeted economic sectors. 
 
A total of (15) new custom training offerings were developed with key 
industry sector associations/councils.  


G 


8.26  Create 
the foundation 
for  the virtual 
delivery of 
Corporate 
Training 
Services. 


Implement 
new digital 
design and 
delivery 
methodologies 
for the delivery 
of public and 
custom 
training 
offerings. 


Three new 
technology‐enabled 
training offerings 
delivered by March 
31, 2012. 


Expanded the automation of the sales process within Salesforce CRM, 
including e‐commerce online registration. Developed online post‐course 
evaluation survey using Timba. This online assessment is integrated with 
ACCT’s online CRM system (Salesforce) enabling targeted sales follow‐up.  
Partnership developed with iPal Interactive Learning of Ottawa to develop 
technologically advanced blended and e‐training solutions for ACCT clientele.  


G 


8.27  Build and 
strengthen 
relationships 
with 
employment 
sectors and 
increase 
revenue 
through 
contract and 
non‐traditional 


Increase 
annual 
corporate 
training 
revenue to $4 
M. 
 
 


Secured $4 M in 
corporate training 
revenues by March 
31, 2012. 
 


$2, 400, 883 secured in corporate training revenues for 2011‐12. ACCT is 
entering 2012‐13 in a strong financial position, with more than $500K in pre‐
sold corporate training business, and another $750K in scheduled/contract 
pending corporate training business. Shortfall in 2011‐12 corporate training 
revenue has been made up by other lines of business. 
 
In 2011‐12 ACCT was successful in securing several multi‐year training supply 
arrangements with prominent corporate clients, including:  Contract to 
provide Project Management training for National Defence, valued at 
approximately $1.2million through Jan 2016, with room for expansion.  
Contract secured with Hydro One for delivery of AZ Truck Driver Training 


G 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 29 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


revenue 
activity. 


valued at approx $900K through to Dec 2015.  


Secure $875 K 
in revenue 
from 
government 
funded 
contract 
activity. 


$875 K secured by 
March 31, 2012 in 
revenue from  
government funded 
contract activity. 


Target exceeded ($1,440,022) for revenue from government‐funded contract 
activity.  


G 


8.28  
Strengthen 
relationship 
with regional 
office of 
Employment 
Ontario to 
become the 
lead agency for 
labour market 
development 
initiatives in 
Eastern 
Ontario. 


Partner with 
Employment 
Ontario in the 
execution of 
two labour 
market 
initiatives. 
 
 


Two labour market 
initiatives executed 
by March 31, 2012. 
 
 


Two labour market initiatives  completed: Talent Bridge program evaluation 
and the Light Rail Trade Show.  


G 


8.29  Expand 
business 
development 
opportunities. 


Work with 
Employment 
Ontario to 
develop and 
implement a 
new labour 
market 
planning 
model. 


Model developed 
and implemented by 
March 31, 2012. 


New labour market planning model developed with industry and community 
stakeholders. Ministry funding for Algonquin’s leadership of the Local Labour 
Market Planning project extended for one more year ($200 K). 


G 


Liaise with 
community 
agencies, 
Employment 
Ontario and 
unemployed 
clients to 
maximize 
participation 
under the 
Second Career 
Strategy and 
achieve SCS 
revenue target. 


$1.25 M Second 
Career Strategy 
revenue target 
achieved by  
March 31, 2012. 


$1,224,057 in revenue has been achieved in 2011‐12.  193 new Second Career 
students were enrolled in 2011‐12.  
 


G 


Increase 
number of 
clients 
(industry, 
government, 
non‐profits, 
and College 
departments) 
served. 


165 employer clients 
receive corporate 
training services by 
March 31, 2012 for 
re‐skilling of their 
workforce. 


ACCT provided training services to 235 client organizations, an increase of 
20% from 2010‐2011.   876 employees of public and private sector 
organizations completed ACCT public workshops, a 20% increase over 2010‐
11.  


G 


Develop and 
implement a 


Five strategic 
partnerships 


A strategic partnership model was developed and presented to the 
Foundation Board and Deans Council. One strategic partnership has been 


G 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 30 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


Strategic 
Partnership 
Model. 


implemented by  
March 31, 2012. 


implemented with Hydro One, which has a total value of $750K and includes a 
capital campaign gift, equipment, endowment, applied research  and program 
funding. Three other partnerships are awaiting final approvals/agreements.  


8.30 Increase 
efforts to seek 
external 
funding for 
applied 
research. 


Submit 
applications to 
targeted 
research 
funding 
agencies. 
 
 


One application to 
the Canada 
Foundation for 
Innovation’s College 
program submitted 
by September 30, 
2011. 


The Construction Research Centre proposal submitted to CFI was declined.ARI 
is awaiting Ontario adjudication.  The proposal may be submitted in the next 
competitive round. 
 
An application submitted to NSERC ‘s CCI Industrial Research Chair for 
Colleges program was approved. Included in the approval is funding of $1 M 
over 5 years to support a Chair in Digital Media, salary administration, and 
research project costs. This funding will be matched by industry, cash and in‐
kind contributions.  


G 


8.31  
Strengthen 
alumni 
outreach 
activities, 
including 
fundraising, by 
aligning 
Foundation 
and Alumni 
Office 
operations.  


Review and 
update the 
Alumni 
Strategy. 


Revised strategy 
implemented by 
March 31, 012. 


Alumni update provided to PEC and the Foundation Board outlining next steps 
to develop the Alumni strategy.  The Algonquin Alumni Association was 
dissolved in February, 2012.  The Algonquin Foundation passed a motion in 
March, 2012 to form an Algonquin Alumni Advisory Council to focus on 
Alumni outreach and to build Alumni Affinity.   


G 


Develop a plan 
for e‐
fundraising. 


Plan completed and 
implemented by 
March 31, 2012. 


E‐fundraising incorporated in the Alumni Strategy.   G 


Redevelop 
College Alumni 
website in 
accordance 
with the 
Alumni Tactical 
Plan. 


Alumni website 
launched by July 31, 
2011. 


Alumni Website redesigned and launched September, 2011.  
 
Completed: Re‐designed Alumni website launched September, 2011.  


G 


Increased 
attendance at 
Alumni events. 


100 guests attend 
the Alumni AGM in 
June, 2011. 


Over 100 guests attended the Alumni AGM in June, 2011. (JM)  G 


Transition to 
the use of 
Salesforce as 
the Alumni 
CRM. 


Alumni Salesforce 
CRM installed, 
operational and 
handed over to the 
satisfaction of the 
Foundation by 
August 31, 2011. 


Continuing to evaluate use of Salesforce for advancing Alumni engagement in 
place of the prospect management component of Raiser’s Edge software 
currently used by the Foundation.  Preliminary research has not identified any 
post‐secondary institutions using Salesforce for Alumni/Fundraising data.   


G 


Develop an 
online giving 
capacity as 
part of the 
Alumni website 
redesign. 


Online giving 
launched by June 30, 
2011. 


Launched online giving as part of the Alumni website re‐design.    G 


8.32 Develop a 
Business 
Intelligence 
strategy to 
support 
strategic 
decision 
making. 


Complete 
Phase I of the 
business 
intelligence 
strategy and 
assess business
intelligence 
models and 
technologies 
for future 
implementatio


 


Phase I of business 
intelligence strategy 
completed by 
September 30, 2011. 
Assessment of BI 
models and 
technologies 
completed by 
December 31, 2012. 


Evaluation of Cognos Express has been completed and comparison results are 
being prepared for recommendation.  A number of analysis reports and 
models were completed in Q4 including assessment of College performance 
through student surveys and College departmental performance through 
metrics and measures provided to most SPSP assessment reports.   


G 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 31 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


n. 
 
 


8.33  Raise the 
awareness of 
challenges and 
opportunities 
with the 
internal 
community.  


Engage the 
College 
stakeholders in 
the 2013‐2015 
Strategic Plan 
development.  


Strategic Plan 
Stakeholder 
Engagement Plan 
submitted to PEC 
April 30, 2011. 


Completed: Strategic Plan Stakeholder Engagement Plan submitted to PEC 
April 30, 2011.  


G 


500 College 
stakeholders 
participate in 
Strategic Plan 
Stakeholder 
engagement 
activities. 


Completed: Over 1000 stakeholders participate in Strategic Planning 
engagement activities. Strategic Plan approved in principle subject to final 
presentation on financial implications by April, 2012.  


G 


8.34  Engage 
the external 
community to 
increase 
contributions 
through gifts‐
in‐kind and 
activities 
associated 
with the 
College’s 
capital 
development 
plans. 


Conclude 
capital 
campaigns for 
Perth ($ 1 M), 
ACCE ($7 M) 
and Pembroke 
($2.5 M). 
 
 
 


Additional $1.5 M 
raised for the ACCE 
capital campaign by 
March 31, 2012 
achieving the $7M 
campaign goal. 


ACCE Campaign has reached $7,600,501.20 (less direct expenses), which is 
108.58% of the goal.  


G 


Additional $670 K 
raised for Perth 
capital campaign by 
March 31, 2012 to 
reach 100% of the 
target. 


Perth Campaign raised $147,570 in cash and pledges to date since April, 
2011.  Campaign total to date is $456,570 which is 46% of $1M goal. It will 
require a number of years to achieve this Capital Campaign target. 


Y 


Additional $900 K 
raised for the 
Pembroke capital 
campaign by March 
30, 2012 to reach 
100% of the target. 


Pembroke Campaign has reached $1,930,939.22, which is 77.24% of the goal 
($2.5M); adjusted from Q3 to accurately reflect cash/pledges to date.  


G 


Establish new 
gifts‐in‐kind 
through 
corporate 
linkages and 
strategic 
partnerships. 


$1M in gift‐in‐kind 
donations raised by 
March 30, 2012. 


Gifts‐in‐kind received as of March 31, 2012, stand at $112,013.  A confirmed 
gifts‐in‐kind pledge valued between $300‐$500K will be installed in Q1 of 
2012‐13.  The Algonquin Foundation is waiting for approval of another 
partnership that will include over $1.7M in gifts‐in‐kind to be donated over 
three years.  


G 


8.35  
Investigate and
action 
opportunities 
to establish 
partnerships 
with external 
organizations 
and leverage 
resources. 


 
Collaborate 
with the 
Students’ 
Association in 
delivering the 
Student 
Commons 
Project by Fall, 
2012. 


Project is on budget 
and on schedule by 
March 31, 2012. 


Student Commons project remains on budget and on schedule for opening by 
start of Fall, 2012.  
 


G 


Examine 
Alternative 
Financing and 
Procurement 
options to 


Report with options 
identified for 
consideration for 
future capital 
expansion projects. 


On March 20th, visited Seneca College to learn about their experience with 
Infrastructure Ontario.  On same day visited Infrastructure Ontario to share 
and review a potential development that may be suitable for AFP process.  On 
February 9th visited PPP Canada to investigate potential for PPPs and how to 
access federal seed capital funding for PPPs.  Will continue to investigate 


G 







G = On Target for Completion          Page 32 
Y = Delayed or at Risk     
R = Not Complete 


identify 
strategies to 
leverage other 
public sector 
and private 
sector 
resources with 
the objective 
of increasing 
the College’s 
programming 
and service 
capacity. 


  these opportunities over the next year.  


Identify 
options for 
partnerships 
with other 
organizations 
to provide 
services to 
students. 
 


Review of services 
to students available 
at other post‐
secondary 
institutions and 
potential 
opportunities 
identified. 


On March 2nd, St. Lawrence College visited Algonquin and 
discussions/presentations took place around sharing best practices 
particularly for program costing, space management and business process 
review.  Agreed to pursue potential to share enterprise resource planning 
services with other PeopleSoft colleges.  Algonquin joined the Ontario 
Colleges PeopleSoft consortium to share best practices.  Ontario Colleges VPs 
of Finance and Administration are working with Colleges Ontario to 
participate on a Shared Services committee.  


G 


Review the 
market for 
corporate 
services that 
may be 
provided by 
outside 
partners that 
enhance 
service levels 
while 
containing or 
reducing costs. 


Completed review of 
payroll services with 
recommendations 
identified and 
presented for 
decision. 


HR Management System Business Case review was accepted by PEC in Winter 
’12.  Next steps are to perform business process reviews, including payroll 
processes, to determine the direction forward in migrating to a new HRMS 
system.  Potential to partner with a payroll service provider is pending 
outcome of business process review.   
 
The Human Resources Systems Review / Business Case Report is complete.  A 
presentation was provided to PEC in February, 2012.   


G 


 








  


Revised Endowment Fund Investment Policy 23/04/2012 Financial Services 


 


 


Report to: Board of Governors 


Subject: Revised Endowment Funds Statement of Investment Policies 
and Goals 


Date: May 14, 2012 


Prepared by:  Duane McNair, Vice-President, Administration 


 
Purpose 
 
To provide the Board of Governors with an updated ‘Statement of Investment 
Policies & Goals’ for the Endowment Fund. 
 
Background 
 
On February 13, 2012, a report entitled” Asset Mix and Spending Review” 
prepared by Mercer was presented to Audit Committee for consideration. Mercer 
provided a review of the current asset mix and long-term forecasts of the 
Endowment Fund based on the current asset mix, the spending allocation and a 
recommendation to change the asset mix of the fund.  Several of Mercer’s 
recommendations were endorsed by the Audit Committee. 
 
The Board of Governors has responsibility for approving the investment policies 
of the College, including any amendments, and for monitoring the performance of 
the Endowment fund.  The College does not have a formal Investment 
Committee and, therefore, the Audit Committee as a sub-committee of the Board, 
has assumed this oversight role.   


Endowed funds are held by the College in perpetuity, with the expectation that 
the capital will grow at a rate at least equal to inflation to maintain its value over 
the long term.  Endowed funds are also expected to generate an income stream 
at a level sufficient to meet the annual spending obligations currently set at 4%. 


Discussion/Considerations 
 
The “Statement of Investment Polices & Goals” (Appendix A attached) has been 
amended to reflect the changes resulting from the Mercer recommendation that 
includes a change in the equity mix to 1/3 Canadian equity, 2/3 global equity and 
the elimination or reduction of the direct allocation to cash. 
 


The benchmark has also been changed as recommended by Doherty & 
Associates to the MSCI World ex Canada (in Canadian dollars). 


 


In addition to the proposed changes above, the following proposed amendments 
to the Statement of Investment Policies and Goals are presented for 







  


Revised Endowment Fund Investment Policy 23/04/2012 Financial Services 


consideration: 


 


� Under SECTION 5 – INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE BENCHMARKS the 
following changes are proposed: 


 
• Replace “Scotia McLeod Universe Bond Index” with its re-branded name 


“DEX Universe Bond Index”.  The DEX Universe Bond Index is designed to 
be a broad measure of the Canadian investment-grade fixed income market 
and consists of bonds issued by the Government of Canada, Provincial 
Bonds, Municipal Bonds and Corporate Bonds. 


• Replace “Government of Canada 30 day T-Bills” with “DEX 30-day T-Bills”.  
DEX now owns this 30-day T-Bill index. 


 
� Under Appendix A – Permitted Investments (last page of policy), holdings 


of high quality corporate bonds or debentures may not exceed 20% of the 
market value of the bond portion of the portfolio.  Management reviewed 
the endowment investment policies of five other higher education 
institutions (Carleton, Queens, Dalhousie, Lakehead and Western).  Only 
one institution imposes a limit of 50% on corporate bonds while the other 
institutions do not limit corporate bond holdings within the fixed income 
allocation.   In addition, all 5 institutions allow bond holdings with a 
minimum credit rating of BBB while Algonquin’s policy requires a minimum 
A-.  In order to optimize the yield from the fixed income portfolio while still 
managing risk appropriately it is recommended that the limit on corporate 
bonds be increased from 20% to 50% of the market value of the bond 
portion of the portfolio.   


 


Recommendation:  
 
That the Board of Governors approve the amendments to the Algonquin College 
Endowment Fund – Statement of Investment Policies and Goals 
 
 
 








 


 


 


 


 


 


 
 
 


 ALGONQUIN COLLEGE ENDOWMENT FUNDS 
 
 STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT POLICIES & GOALS 
 


 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Replaces Policy dated June 8, 2009 
Reviewed by Audit Committee: March 12, 2012 
Effective Date: pending Board approval







 2


 
 
 TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
 
 
Section 1  Introduction………………………..................................  3 
 
Section 2  General Philosophy......................................................  3 
 
Section 3  Asset Mix Policy & Its Practical Implementations….....  4 
 
Section 4  Expenditure Rate.........................................................  5 
 
Section 5  Investment Performance Benchmark...........................  5 
 
Section 6  Review Procedures......................................................  6 
 
Section 7   Voting Rights……………………………………………..  6 
 
Appendix A  Permitted Investments…………………………………..  7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 3


SECTION 1 – Introduction 
 


1. This Policy provides guidelines within which the College’s Endowed funds are to be 


effectively maintained, managed and enhanced.  


 


2. The Board of Governors of Algonquin College has responsibility for approving the 


investment policies of the College and for monitoring the performance of the fund’s 


investments relative to established benchmarks.  


 


3. The management of the assets of the Endowment Fund is delegated to the Finance 


Department of the College, who will engage a professional investment consultant through a 


competitive process to act on the College’s behalf with quarterly due diligence monitoring.  


 


4. The Algonquin College Endowment Fund has the following objectives: 


 


• to provide a steady flow of income, in perpetuity, to meet expenditure requirements 


as defined in Section 4 of this policy.  Ideally the income stream should grow each 


year in order to maintain the purchasing power of the funds being disbursed; and 


 


• to increase the market value of the funds so that capital, in real terms, is maintained.  


This is achieved by increasing the balance held in the endowment funds by an annual 


amount that offsets the inflationary erosion of this fund. 


 


5. To meet the above objectives, the College invests its endowed funds in a diversified portfolio 


of Canadian and Global equities and Canadian and US Fixed Income instruments. 


 


6. Endowment funds are invested in accordance with this policy, unless otherwise bound by 


contract or by donor specifications. 


 


 


SECTION 2 - GENERAL PHILOSOPHY 


 


1. Endowed funds are to be held by the College in perpetuity, with the primary objective for the 


portfolio to achieve a rate of return sufficient to meet their annual obligations as defined in 


Section 4 of this policy and grow at a rate greater than inflation to ensure maintenance of 


their value.   


 


2. An asset mix policy of 65% in equities and 35% in Fixed Income will provide an investment 


strategy that will balance the competing needs of a stable income stream and long term 


growth of the endowed funds. 


 


3. External investment counsel will manage the Fund.  The Investment Counsel will report to 


the Finance Department of the College on the performance of the Fund no less frequently 


than quarterly.  The performance of the Fund will be reported at least annually to the Board 







 4


of Governors of the College. 


 


4. All investment activities must be conducted in accordance with the Code of Ethics and 


Standard of Professional Conduct adopted by the Association for Investment Management 


and Research.  


 


5. It is intended that this policy comply with all relevant government legislation and regulations. 


 


6. Assets held in the endowment fund will be classified and accounted for as assets “available 


for sale” (Per CICA Handbook Section 3855) with the exception of those Fixed Income 


assets which are specifically classified as “held to maturity”. 


 


SECTION 3 - ASSET MIX POLICY AND ITS PRACTICAL IMPLICATIONS 


 


1. The table below lists the asset classes that may be used and it presents the total fund asset 


mix policies, referred to as the Benchmark, together with the maximum and minimum 


exposures for each asset class. 


 


Benchmark  Range 


 


Cash or Cash Equivalents..        0%                           0-5% 


Fixed Income …………....                    35%   25-45% 


Canadian Equities………..      22%   12-32% 


 


Global Equities……        43%     33-53% 


 


2. If more than one investment counsel is employed, each will be given an asset mix (which 


may differ from one investment counsel to another), such that the aggregate of the delegated 


asset mixes will be the mix defined above for the total Fund. 


 


3. The asset mix above should be the one followed by the Fund, in the absence of any opinion 


on the part of investment counsel that any asset class offers particularly favorable 


opportunities at any time.  If such opinions are approved, the Fund should deviate 


approximately from the asset mix policy, within limits to be prescribed to each investment 


counsel. 


 


 


 







 5


SECTION 4 - EXPENDITURE RATE 


 


1. The College maintains separate general ledger accounts for all sources of endowed funds. 


 


2. An expenditure rate set by the Board of Governors (currently 4%) of the Fund Book Value at 


the end of the previous fiscal year shall be applied to all endowments listed at that date. 


 


3. The difference between the total fund rate of return and the expenditure rate will be 


reinvested. This is intended to preserve the real value of funds over time.  


 


4. Notwithstanding the above, where required by donor specification, the expenditure rate will 


be in accordance with the specific goals of the program or donor.  


 


5. The expenditure rate will be reviewed by the Board of Governors of the College every five 


years for appropriateness. 


 


 


 


SECTION 5 - INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE BENCHMARKS 


 


1. Given the asset mix policy of the Fund, the return of the Fund will be measured against 


the sum of the benchmarks for each asset class multiplied by the performance of the 


indices as follows: 


 


Canadian Equities   - S&P/TSX Composite Index 


 


Global Equities - MSCI World (ex Canada) Index 


Fixed Income    - DEX Universe Bond Index 


 Cash & Cash Equivalents  - DEX 30 day T-Bills 


 


2. Professional investment counsel have been selected in the expectation that their combined 


judgements will, over time, enable the Fund to earn a return in excess of the neutral return 


specified above, after payment of transaction costs and investment management fees. 


 


3. Accordingly, the most important performance benchmark against which the Fund’s actual 


performance will be compared is the neutral return specified above. 


 


4. While the total performance of the Fund is the main consideration, the Finance 


Department will also monitor the performance of each money manager’s ability to make 


sound judgment calls and investment decisions for the performance of the Fund.  


 


 


 


 







 6


SECTION 6 - REVIEW PROCEDURES 


 


 


1. The Finance Department of the College shall review the performance of each investment 


counsel against the relevant benchmarks and objectives on a quarterly basis, with a view 


to measuring progress towards the relevant investment objectives. 


 


2. The Finance Department of the College shall meet with each investment counsel at least 


annually to discuss their performance and investment strategy. 


 


 


 


 


SECTION 7 – VOTING RIGHTS 


 


 


1. (a) When Fund investments are made, voting rights may be acquired.  The exercise of 


these voting rights is delegated to the Investment Counsel, with the instruction 


that they should be cast in favour of any proposals which, in the opinion of the 


Investment Counsel, secure or enhance the investment value of the relevant 


security, and against any proposals which, in the opinion of the Investment 


Counsel, expose to risk or reduce the investment value of the relevant security. 


 


(b) If the Investment Counsel or any of their officers has any pecuniary interest, direct 


or indirect, in any matter on which the Fund has a right to vote, the Investment 


counsel shall bring this to the attention of the Finance Department, who is given 


discretion to, 


 


(i) instruct the Investment Counsel to exercise the voting right in line with the 


principles described in (a) above, on the grounds that the relevant 


pecuniary interest is not material; or 


 


(ii) instruct the Investment Counsel how to cast the Fund’s vote, having 


considered the principles described in (a) above. 


 


 


 


 


APPENDIX A - PERMITTED INVESTMENTS 


 


1. In general and subject to the restrictions noted below, the Fund may be invested in any of the 


investment instruments listed below. 


 


a) Equities 







 7


 


This asset class is defined as being made up of common shares, mutual funds, 


convertible bonds, convertible and/or preferred shares and index funds.  Derivative 


holdings (option contracts) may not be purchased under any circumstance. Equity 


instruments representing individual corporations or equity related indices must be 


listed on New York, American, National Association of Securities Dealers 


Automated Quotes (NASDAQ), Chicago or Toronto.  


 


b) Fixed Income 


 


This asset class may include bonds (Canada and the United States), debentures, GICs, 


strip bonds and investment grade corporate debt instruments as listed below.  


 


• Provincial bonds and provincial guaranteed bonds, when purchased must 


have a minimum credit rating of A- or A (low) (as rated by the Canadian 


Bond Rating Service and the Dominion Bond Rating Service, respectively) 


 


• Residual or strip coupon instruments representing direct debt obligations to 


the Government of Canada or a Province of Canada must have a minimum 


credit rating of A- or  A(low). 


 


• Corporate bonds or debentures, when purchased, must have a minimum credit 


rating of A- or A (low) with the limitation that holdings of such bonds may 


not exceed 50% of the market value of the bond portion of the portfolio.  


 


c) Cash or Cash Equivalent 


 


This asset class is defined as being made up of cash deposits, money market 


securities, Canada Savings Bonds, GICs, bonds with maturity of one year or less, 


Government of Canada Treasury Bills, bankers’ acceptances and term deposits. 


Money market securities must be rated R-1 or/and may include mutual fund money 


market instruments offered by Canadian Mutual Fund Companies.    


 


2.  The portfolio should hold a prudently diversified exposure to the intended market. 


 


3. Investments may be made in the above asset classes either directly, or by holding units of 


a pooled, segregated or mutual fund investing in one or more of the asset classes.  








 


 


 


 


 


 


 
 
 


 ALGONQUIN COLLEGE ENDOWMENT FUNDS 
 
 STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT POLICIES & GOALS 
 


 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Replaces Policy dated December 12, 2005June 8, 2009 
Reviewed by Audit Committee: June March 8132, 200920112 
Effective Date: June 8, 2009pending Board approval







 2


 
 
 TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
 
 
Section 1  Introduction………………………..................................  3 
 
Section 2  General Philosophy......................................................  3 
 
Section 3  Asset Mix Policy & Its Practical Implementations….....  4 
 
Section 4  Expenditure Rate.........................................................  5 
 
Section 5  Investment Performance Benchmark...........................  5 
 
Section 6  Review Procedures......................................................  6 
 
Section 7   Voting Rights……………………………………………..  6 
 
Appendix A  Permitted Investments…………………………………..  7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 3


SECTION 1 – Introduction 
 


1. This Policy provides guidelines within which the College’s Endowed funds are to be 


effectively maintained, managed and enhanced.  


 


2. The Board of Governors of Algonquin College has responsibility for approving the 


investment policies of the College and for monitoring the performance of the fund’s 


investments relative to established benchmarks.  


 


3. The management of the assets of the Endowment Fund is delegated to the Finance 


Department of the College, who will engage a professional investment consultant through a 


competitive process to act on the College’s behalf with quarterly due diligence monitoring.  


 


4. The Algonquin College Endowment Fund has the following objectives: 


 


• to provide a steady flow of income, in perpetuity, to meet expenditure requirements 


as defined in Section 4 of this policy.  Ideally the income stream should grow each 


year in order to maintain the purchasing power of the funds being disbursed; and 


 


• to increase the market value of the funds so that capital, in real terms, is maintained.  


This is achieved by increasing the balance held in the endowment funds by an annual 


amount that offsets the inflationary erosion of this fund. 


 


5. To meet the above objectives, the College invests its endowed funds in a diversified portfolio 


of Canadian, US and GlobalInternational equities and Canadian and US Fixed Income 


instruments. 


 


6. Endowment funds are invested in accordance with this policy, unless otherwise bound by 


contract or by donor specifications. 


 


 


SECTION 2 - GENERAL PHILOSOPHY 


 


1. Endowed funds are to be held by the College in perpetuity, with the primary objective for the 


portfolio to achieve a rate of return sufficient to meet their annual obligations as defined in 


Section 4 of this policy and grow at a rate greater than inflation to ensure maintenance of 


their value.   


 


2. An asset mix policy of 65% in equities, and 3035% in Fixed Income and 5% in Cash or Cash 


Equivalents will provide an investment strategy that will balance the competing needs of a 


stable income stream and a long term growth of the endowed funds. 


 


3. External investment counsel will manage the Fund.  The Investment Counsel will report to 


the Finance Department of the College on the performance of the Fund no less frequently 







 4


than quarterly.  The performance of the Fund will be reported at least annually to the Board 


of Governors of the College. 


 


4. All investment activities must be conducted in accordance with the Code of Ethics and 


Standard of Professional Conduct adopted by the Association for Investment Management 


and Research.  


 


5. It is intended that this policy comply with all relevant government legislation and regulations. 


 


6. Assets held in the endowment fund will be classified and accounted for as assets “available 


for sale” (Per CICA Handbook Section 3855) with the exception of those Fixed Income 


assets which are specifically classified as “held to maturity”. 


 


SECTION 3 - ASSET MIX POLICY AND ITS PRACTICAL IMPLICATIONS 


 


1. The table below lists the asset classes that may be used and it presents the total fund asset 


mix policies, referred to as the Benchmark, together with the maximum and minimum 


exposures for each asset class. 


 


Benchmark  Range 


 


Cash or Cash Equivalents..        50%                           0-105% 


Fixed Income …………....                    3035%   2025-4045% 


Canadian Equities………..      5022%   4012-6032% 


US Equities………..……..      10%     5-15% 


International Global Equities……        543%     033-


1053% 


 


2. If more than one investment counsel is employed, each will be given an asset mix (which 


may differ from one investment counsel to another), such that the aggregate of the delegated 


asset mixes will be the mix defined above for the total Fund. 


 


3. The asset mix above should be the one followed by the Fund, in the absence of any opinion 


on the part of investment counsel that any asset class offers particularly favorable 


opportunities at any time.  If such opinions are approved, the Fund should deviate 


approximately from the asset mix policy, within limits to be prescribed to each investment 


counsel. 


 


 


 







 5


SECTION 4 - EXPENDITURE RATE 


 


1. The College maintains separate general ledger accounts for all sources of endowed funds. 


 


2. An expenditure rate set by the Board of Governors (currently 4%) of the Fund Book Value at 


the end of the previous fiscal year shall be applied to all endowments listed at that date. 


 


3. The difference between the total fund rate of return and the expenditure rate will be 


reinvested. This is intended to preserve the real value of funds over time.  


 


4. Notwithstanding the above, where required by donor specification, the expenditure rate will 


be in accordance with the specific goals of the program or donor.  


 


5. The expenditure rate will be reviewed by the Board of Governors of the College every five 


years for appropriateness. 


 


 


 


SECTION 5 - INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE BENCHMARKS 


 


1. Given the asset mix policy of the Fund, the return of the Fund will be measured against 


the sum of the benchmarks for each asset class multiplied by the performance of the 


indices as follows: 


 


Canadian StocksEquities   - S&P/TSX Composite Index 


U.S. Stocks    - S & P 500 Index 


Non-Canadian, non-U.S. StocksGlobal Equities - MSCI EAFE World (ex 


Canada) Index 


Fixed Income    - Scotia McLeodDEX Universe Bond Index 


 Cash & Cash Equivalents  - Government of CanadaDEX 30 day T-


Bills 


 


2. Professional investment counsel have been selected in the expectation that their combined 


judgements will, over time, enable the Fund to earn a return in excess of the neutral return 


specified above, after payment of transaction costs and investment management fees. 


 


3. Accordingly, the most important performance benchmark against which the Fund=’s 


actual performance will be compared is the neutral return specified above. 


 


4. While the total performance of the Fund is the main consideration, the Finance 


Department will also monitor the performance of each money manager’s ability to make 


sound judgment calls and investment decisions for the performance of the Fund.  


 


 







 6


 


 


SECTION 6 - REVIEW PROCEDURES 


 


 


1. The Finance Department of the College shall review the performance of each investment 


counsel against the relevant benchmarks and objectives on a quarterly basis, with a view 


to measuring progress towards the relevant investment objectives. 


 


2. The Finance Department of the College shall meet with each investment counsel at least 


annually to discuss their performance and investment strategy. 


 


 


 


 


SECTION 7 – VOTING RIGHTS 


 


 


1. (a) When Fund investments are made, voting rights may be acquired.  The exercise of 


these voting rights is delegated to the Investment Counsel, with the instruction 


that they should be cast in favour of any proposals which, in the opinion of the 


Investment Counsel, secure or enhance the investment value of the relevant 


security, and against any proposals which, in the opinion of the Investment 


Counsel, expose to risk or reduce the investment value of the relevant security. 


 


(b) If the Investment Counsel or any of their officers has any pecuniary interest, direct 


or indirect, in any matter on which the Fund has a right to vote, the Investment 


counsel shall bring this to the attention of the Finance Department, who is given 


discretion to, 


 


(i) instruct the Investment Counsel to exercise the voting right in line with the 


principles described in (a) above, on the grounds that the relevant 


pecuniary interest is not material; or 


 


(ii) instruct the Investment Counsel how to cast the Fund=’s vote, having 


considered the principles described in (a) above. 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 7


 







 8


APPENDIX A - PERMITTED INVESTMENTS 


 


1. In general and subject to the restrictions noted below, the Fund may be invested in any of the 


investment instruments listed below. 


 


a) Equities 


 


This asset class is defined as being made up of common shares, mutual funds, 


convertible bonds, convertible and/or preferred shares and index funds.  Derivative 


holdings (option contracts) may not be purchased under any circumstance. Equity 


instruments representing individual corporations or equity related indices must be 


listed on New York, American, National Association of Securities Dealers 


Automated Quotes (NASDAQ), Chicago or Toronto.  


 


b) Fixed Income 


 


This asset class may include bonds (Canada and the United States), debentures, GICs, 


strip bonds and investment grade corporate debt instruments as listed below.  


 


• Provincial bonds and provincial guaranteed bonds, when purchased must 


have a minimum credit rating of A- or A (low) (as rated by the Canadian 


Bond Rating Service and the Dominion Bond Rating Service, respectively) 


 


• Residual or strip coupon instruments representing direct debt obligations to 


the Government of Canada or a Province of Canada must have a minimum 


credit rating of A- or  A(low). 


 


• Corporate bonds or debentures, when purchased, must have a minimum credit 


rating of A- or A (low) with the limitation that holdings of such bonds may 


not exceed 2050% of the  market value of the bond portion of the portfolio.  


 


c) Cash or Cash Equivalent 


 


This asset class is defined as being made up of cash deposits, money market 


securities, Canada Savings Bonds, GICs, bonds with maturity of one year or less, 


Government of Canada Treasury Bills, bankers’ acceptances and term deposits. 


Money market securities must be rated R-1 or/and may include mutual fund money 


market instruments offered by Canadian Mutual Fund Companies.    


 


2.  The portfolio should hold a prudently diversified exposure to the intended market. 


 


3. Investments may be made in the above asset classes either directly, or by holding units of 


a pooled, segregated or mutual fund investing in one or more of the asset classes.  








    ACADEMIC 
MANAGEMENT REPORT 


May 14, 2012 
Page 1   


 
1.   RECRUITMENT: The College will  increase the number of applications  for programs outside of the top sixty 


high demand programs by 10%. 
The  Academic  Area  continues  to  initiate  and  participate  in  recruitment  activities  for  Fall  2012.  Examples  of 
activities include: 


• The annual General Arts and Science Showcase of the Arts was held on April 18, 2012.   This provided a 
great  forum  to showcase student  learning and achievement.    It  is also an  important  recruitment event 
because next year’s applicants are invited to attend, as are local high school art classes. 


• The  first  monthly  MAD  e‐newsletter  was  distributed  to  applicants  to  School  of  Media  and  Design 
programs  in March. Marketing has  reported  that  the School has achieved an open  rate of 48%. This  is 
extremely high and indicates an interest by our applicants to learn more about these particular programs. 


• A  “Congratulations  on  your  excellent  Health  Occupations  Aptitude  Exam  (HOAE)  results”  video  was 
created by the Allied Health Coordinators and proved to be a successful communications tool.  All but two 
of  the  applicants  have  been  accepted  into  their  program  of  choice. Open House  on March  31  had  a 
number of these same applicants visit the College for a tour of the facilities. 


• On May  1,  the  Police  and  Public  Safety  Institute,  in  conjunction with  the  City  of  Ottawa  Emergency 
Services,  is hosting a one day “Women  in Uniform” session  for grade 10 and 11 high school girls  in an 
effort to attract them to Emergency Services Careers (via Algonquin College). 


• Perth Campus held  its  Spring Open House on April 14, 2012 with approximately 150 attendees. While 
exact numbers were not counted, staff expressed much positive sentiment in that it was well attended in 
comparison  to  previous  years.    The  Campus  has  also  embarked  on  additional  radio  and  print media 
campaign for its local catchment area. Enhancement of its web presence is also on‐going. 


• The Mechanical  and  Transportation  Technology  Department  is making  calls  to  individuals  who  have 
expressed  interest  in our offerings:  ‐ Coordinator  for Mechanical Engineering  Technology program has 
contacted  a  total  of  66  prospective  students  in  the  last  three weeks  and  Coordinator  for Mechanical 
Technician – Toolmaking program has contacted 20 prospective students in the last two weeks.  


2.  ENROLMENT:    The  College will  find  unique ways  to  create more  access  to  the  top  sixty  high  demand 
programs while also increasing enrolment in the middle ninety programs by 10%. 


Academic Upgrading year end results for the Literacy and Basic Skills contract:
• Woodroffe/Pembroke: 930/770 (121% of the target) 
• Smiths Falls: 136/171 (80% of the target) – this percentage has increased over last year. 
• ACElinks: 47/58 (81% of the target) 


3.  RETENTION:   The College will increase its semester retention rate from 81.9% to 83%. 
A variety of retention initiatives are being undertaken by the Academic Area and over the past year, these student‐
oriented practices have positively impacted College retention rates.  Examples include: 


• The  Photography  program  will  run  a  pilot  in  the  spring  for  students  who  have  not  achieved  the 
prerequisites to move  into the third semester. The course will be offered  in a condensed  format  for six 
weeks to allow these students to achieve a passing grade.  


• Continuing  Education  is  offering  credit  recovery  courses  to  support  retention  within  the  full‐time 
programs in the Faculty of Health, Public Safety and Community Studies. 


• A comprehensive retention strategy for Algonquin College  in the Ottawa Valley has been approved. This 
will  allow  the  campus  to  introduce  several  new  strategies  in  the  Fall  2012  term  including  a  student 
perception Noel  Levitz  survey  that will assist  faculty  in providing academic advising and a new  science 
refresher program for new students. 


4.  GRADUATION RATE: The College will increase its graduation rate from 62.9% to 64% by 2011. 
A variety of strategies are being implemented to assist students to graduate:


• The School of Media and Design will offer a fast‐track general education course for graduating students 
who have failed their online elective so that they can graduate with their cohort. 







    ACADEMIC 
MANAGEMENT REPORT 


May 14, 2012 
Page 2   


 
• A separate section of Food, Wine and Culture was put in place in January 2012 for students in the Culinary 


Management program, who have not completed  their Gen Ed course.  It appears  that 16 out of  the 19 
students participating will successfully complete and therefore graduate.   


• Perth  Faculty  and  support  staff  are  keenly  sensitive  to  retention  and  supporting  student  success.  The 
Dean  and  FT  Faculty  are  considering  option  for  remedial  plan  for  some  students.  General  Education 
offerings  are  being  reviewed  to  offer  one  fast  tracked  course  in May  period,  as  a way  to  provide  an 
opportunity to students who are missing one Gen Ed in order to graduate on time. 


• A variety of other credit recovery efforts are undertaken at the professor and department level as a way 
to move students closer to their full credit attainment goals (and therefore graduation). 


5.  MOBILE LEARNING:   The College will continue to embrace the trend to mobile access by ensuring that all 
licensed software can be downloaded to mobile devices and that new apps are created to facilitate mobile 
access, learning and service acquisition. 


Curriculum  Implementation  Services  (CIS)  continues  to work with  faculty  as  they  plan  for  the  shift  to mobile 
learning.  CIS is creating a repository of faculty resources including course delivery best practices, basic Information 
Technology considerations, MLP expectations, and program level curriculum considerations.  As well, professional 
development activities for the May‐June period are planned.  
 
Christopher  Hahn,  Head  of  Apprenticeship  Training,  joined  the  Canadian  Apprenticeship  Forum’s  Technology, 
Innovation,  and  Apprenticeship  Working  Group  with  a  view  to  providing  input  into  the  various  ways  that 
technology is changing the way training is done on the job as well as in training institutions. 
6.  ONLINE  COLLEGE:  The  College  will  expand  its  online  learning  offerings  through  hybrid  and  full  online 


modules by reviewing and adapting 20% of all courses and programs in each of the next five years. 
The following online activity is underway: 


• Levels 01 and 02 of the Police Foundation program are up and running via Distance Education; 
• Level 01 of Community & Justice Services program will launch in the summer; and 
• Level 04 of the Early Childhood Education program will be developed for launch in the fall. 


7.  EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT:   The College will, through professional development, training, mentorship, and 
coaching,  prepare  its  employees  for  new ways  of  delivering  education  and  training  and  for  leadership 
opportunities in the College. 


The Community Studies Department is planning a Community Studies Professional Development session to discuss 
interprofessional areas of interest. 
 
Innovation Station traffic  for the  last 28 days recorded 1026 visits, with the highest spike being 83 views  in one 
day.  Staff are interested in Smartboards, iPad Animation program, Storing & Archiving Info and GoodReader.  70% 
were new users, 4:19 minutes was  the average  time on‐site  (2 minutes  longer  than previous  records), and  the 
average number of viewers per day was about 40. 
 
On March 23, 2012, the Library Technician students completed their final presentations to the Learning Resource 
Centre  staff.  The  students  had  taken  on  the Mobile  Library  and Open  Educational  Resources  (OER’s)  as  their 
marketing project for the term. Aside from being well researched and well presented, the information the students 
brought to the table was invaluable and has had immediate impact on library services.  
8.  FINANCIAL  SUSTAINABILITY:    The  College  will  target  opportunities  for  increasing  revenue,  decreasing 


expenses  and  improving  overall  operating  margins  through  new  business  opportunities,  process 
automation, program and service efficiencies and productivity improvements. 


The Construction Trades and Building Systems Department  is partnering with Corporate Training to deliver a 10‐
day Accelerated House Building course for the Federal Government.  This course will be delivered in the Algonquin 
Centre for Construction Excellence (ACCE) from April 30 to May 4, 2012.  
 







    ACADEMIC 
MANAGEMENT REPORT 


May 14, 2012 
Page 3   


 
Employment  Services  (ES)  in  Perth  completed  its  renovation  project  on  time  and  on  budget  (funded  through 
Ministry  of  Training,  Colleges  and Universities  Transition  Funding).  ES  has  also  enhanced  its marketing  efforts 
through radio and print ads, and has met budget targets over fiscal 2011‐12. As in previous years, ES has launched 
the Summer Job Service. 
 
The Pembroke Campus received a $35K grant from the Eastern Ontario Development Program to support applied 
research projects.    The  funding  is  for  the  fiscal  year 2012‐13.  The  funding  application was  submitted with  the 
support of the Applied Research and Innovation Centre. 
9.  STUDENT ACTIVITY 
Twenty‐two  teams  from  eighteen  colleges  gathered  at  St.  Lawrence  College  for  the  2nd  annual  CGA  Case 
competition. The competition  is a tremendous opportunity to test college students’ analytical and soft skills  in a 
competitive  and  real‐world  environment.  Although  the  Algonquin  team  did  not make  the  top  4  finalists,  the 
comments from the judges were very positive and the team was heartened by these comments. 
 
Students and faculty of the Law Clerk and Paralegal programs participated in Lawyers Feed the Hungry program as 
a community outreach project.  Lawyers Feed  the Hungry  ‐ Ottawa  is a registered charitable project of The Law 
Society Foundation.  The goal was to raise $1,500 to cover the cost of the meal and to provide the full roster of 23 
volunteers required to serve the meal. $1,667.76 was raised and a  full roster of volunteers, with many to spare, 
participated. The meal was served at the Ottawa Mission.  
 
Abhay Tiwari,  Marketing  Business  Intelligence  Research  student,  won  the  A.B.  Blankenship  Award  from  the 
Marketing Research Association of Canada.  He was one of three finalists from accredited Colleges across Canada. 
 
On April 4, 2012, third year Massage Therapy students showcased their case studies on Scars Research. 
 
On  April  15,  2012,  Dental  Hygiene  students  had  a  run/walk  raising  over  $1,500  for  the  dental  clinic  at  the 
Children’s Hospital of Eastern Ontario.   
 
Danielle Robinson, a Library Technician student, received the Student Association Appreciation Award. 
 
An interdisciplinary field placement opportunity has been created between the Library Technician program and the 
Early Childhood Education (ECE) program.  Students are working together to create a virtual library of resources in 
the ECE field for the benefit of the larger community. 
 
Library  Technician  students  completed  a Marketing  Plan  project  and  prepared  presentations  for  the  Learning 
Resource Centre.  Concepts included how to market the mobile applications at the library and the Open Education 
Resources web site.   
 
On March 18, 2012  the 4th Annual Baking Competition was held.   Categories  included Bread, Cake and Cookie 
categories.   Congratulations to Courtney Gilchrist, Carolyn Lavocque, and Chelsea Tough, Bakery and Pastry Arts 
students, who were the overall first, second and third place winners respectfully. 
 
The annual International Food Fair was held on April 10 and 17, 2012 at which 4th semester Culinary Management 
students set up food stations representing foods from around the world. 
   
Four students from our Bachelor of Hospitality and Tourism Management program partnered with students from 
the Ontario  Centres  of  Excellence  Experiential  Learning  Program  through  the Ottawa  Young  Entrepreneurs,  to 
develop an application used through Smartphones and tablets to assist engaged couples with their preparation for 







    ACADEMIC 
MANAGEMENT REPORT 


May 14, 2012 
Page 4   


 
their wedding, called the Virtual Wedding Planner.  The project was supervised by professor Martin Taller.   
 
Randall Kuehl brought home the Silver medal in the Heating Systems Technician category of the ON Technological 
Skills  Competition.    This  year,  two  students  from  the  Heating,  Refrigeration  and  Air  Conditioning  Technician 
program  participated  in  the  competition  held  last  Friday,  at  the  CMX‐CIPHEX  trade  show  in  Toronto.    The 
remaining categories for the ON Technological Skills Competition are held at the end of April/beginning of May and 
attract over 1000 competitors and 35000 visitors.  Algonquin will have a team of 16 at the event. 
 
On  April  4,  2012,  sixteen  students  from  the Mechanical  Technician  –  Toolmaking  program  were  at  Carleton 
University to witness the  launch of the crash test dummy that they helped build. Professor Wayne Palombo was 
interviewed by the Ottawa Sun on the role of the students in manufacturing the crash test dummy.  
 
On March 20, 2012, students from the Aviation cluster (26 from the Aviation Techniques program and 8 from the 
Aviation Management program) undertook a field trip to Bombardier Aerospace  in Dorval, Quebec. The students 
were accompanied by three professors; Bruce Dwyer, Mark Ward and Serge Coté.   
 
Students in the Cook Apprenticeship program at Algonquin College in the Ottawa Valley hosted a Tasting Event on 
April 10th.  The event was the final cooking component of their program where they were in charge of setting up 
their own mini food show table.  Numerous people from the local industry were invited to attend. 
 
10.  FACULTY ACTIVITY 
Kudos  to  the Media  Studies  faculty  as  they  continue  to develop  real‐life experiences  for  students and  to build 
awareness of our  communication  cluster while at  the  same  time building  the Algonquin brand. Here are a  few 
examples that took place in late March or early April: 


• TV Broadcasting students  filmed the East Regional Synchro Championships at the Nepean Sportsplex  in 
March. The event is being broadcasted on PBS Watertown as a one‐hour special.  


• 20 students from the Broadcasting‐Television program volunteered at the 2012 Juno Awards which was 
held in Ottawa in late March with a live primetime broadcast on CTV on April 1st 


•  Public Relations  students  raised $8,091  for  Shepherds of Good Hope, $2,000 more  than  their goal of 
$6,000.  Proceeds will  support  the  Soup  Kitchen  and Grocery  Program  at  Shepherds  and  help  nourish 
some of Ottawa’s most vulnerable families. The story was covered on CBC Radio One, EMC newspapers, 
Apt 613 (Ottawa's most well‐read blog), and Algonquin Times. 


• 2nd  year  Advertising  and Marketing  Communications Management  students  visited  New  York  City  in 
March to experience North America’s largest media and communications market first hand. 


• Scriptwriting  students  visited  film  and  TV  industries  in  Toronto  to  make  pitches  to  executives 
representing HBO, The Movie Network, Corus, Entertainment One, Shaw Media, Global, CBC Comedy, 
TVO, Ontario Media Development Corporation, the Saint Agency and more.  


 
Colin Mills, Coordinator, Music  Industry Arts and Dan Mellon, Professor, Radio Broadcasting attended Canadian 
Music Week. 
 
Gretchen  Reynolds,  Professor,  Early  Childhood  Education,  was  invited  to  present  at  a  Conference  of  Early 
Childhood  Educators  in  Connecticut,  on  play‐based  learning  highlighted  in  her  recently  published  book  on  the 
topic. 
 
Shannon  Robinson,  instructor  in  the  Food Modification  Course,  conducted  an  Iron  Chef  Event  for  Food  and 
Nutrition Management  students on March 26, 2012.  Four  teams were provided with  standard  ingredients  and 
challenged to create a spectacular menu  item for health care clientele. The dish was then minced and pureed to 







    ACADEMIC 
MANAGEMENT REPORT 


May 14, 2012 
Page 5   


 
satisfy the various texture modifications necessary within healthcare. 
The event was a spectacular success, with a  lot of  learning, accompanied by a  lot of  fun, enthusiasm and  team 
building.    
 
11. COMMUNITY ACTIVITY AND DONATIONS







    ACADEMIC 
MANAGEMENT REPORT 


May 14, 2012 
Page 6   


 
In March, 2012, the Respiratory Therapy and Medical Radiation Technology programs had very successful program 
accreditation results from their respective accrediting bodies, the Council on Accreditation for Respiratory Therapy 
Education (CoArte) and the Canadian Medial Association Conjoint Accreditation Services (CMA).  
 
The School of Media and Design, with the assistance of Advancement, will host the Social Capital Conference 2012 
on July 23, 2012. The conference  is a one‐day event geared to social media enthusiasts (individuals, consultants, 
and businesses). This provides an opportunity  to promote and associate Algonquin as a social media “Centre of 
Excellence”. 
 
The  Early  Childhood  Education  program  is working with  the  Forest  Preschool  and Nature Alliance  to  deliver  a 
conference on May 1 and 2, 2012.  The keynote speaker and webinar session will be held at Algonquin.  Individuals 
from across Canada are expected to participate in the webinar. 
 
On March  19,  2012,  21 Ottawa  Culinary Arts  Students  and  professional  chefs  snapped  up  gold medals  at  the 
Second Annual Hot Food Competition at Algonquin College sponsored by Maple Leaf Consumer Foods and High 
Liner Foods.  First place gold student winner was awarded to Samantha Tomlinson.  First place gold faculty winner 
went to Chef Robert Gelanis. 
 
On  Thursday, March  22,  2012,  the  Event Management  Advisory  board  hosted  DINE  &  SHINE:  an  Evening  of 
Etiquette  in the Restaurant  International. Step‐by‐step, Etiquette Expert Julie Blais  lead the audience through an 
interactive, delicious  four‐course dinner, while providing  information and  skills  to help participants  feel at ease 
during business functions, dinner with the Queen, or just at home with the family! This event was hosted to raise 
funds  for  the creation of a bursary  for Event Management  students.     Our  second  surprise  this month was  the 
announcement of a second bursary through a generous donation from a Field Placement Host, Amanda Andrews, 
President of the Wedding Palace Bridal Show.  The generosity of everyone who participated and donated is greatly 
appreciated and will benefit students for years to come! 
 
On April 16, 2012, the Event Management Team held their Children’s Wish Foundation Wrap Up Event to which 
the  attendance  included  the  Board  of  Directors  from  the  Children’s Wish  Foundation.   Max  Keeping was  the 
keynote speaker.  The parents of the wish family attended as well as the Fall and Winter semester students.  The 
Event Management students held over 15 events in the past year raising over $106,000.00.   
 
Algonquin College  in the Ottawa Valley held an Applied Research  information day  in Pembroke  in March.  It was 
attended by more than 50 people and very well received. 
 
A $40K donation from the Ontario Association of Certified Engineering Technicians and Technologist (OACETT) was 
received. This endowment, which replaces the former Carol and George Fletcher award (awarded annually to four 
Colleges  on  a  rotation  basis), will  serve  to  provide  two  scholarship  awards  annually  to  deserving  students  in 
OACETT‐eligible programs in FCTT. 
 
Claude Brulé, Dean, Faculty of Technology and Trades, received a letter from the Canadian Green Building Council 
(CaGBC) recognizing him for his role on the Algonquin Centre for Construction Excellence (ACCE) project. He is to 
receive the national Academic Leadership Award from CaGBC during the annual conference and AGM  in Toronto 
on June 12, 2012. 


 







    ADMINISTRATION 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


May 14, 2012 
Page 1 


 
1.   RECRUITMENT: The College will  increase the number of applications  for programs outside of the top sixty 


high demand programs by 10%. 
N/A 
2.  ENROLMENT:    The  College  will  find  unique  ways  to  create more  access  to  the  top  sixty  high  demand 


programs while also increasing enrolment in the middle ninety programs by 10%. 
N/A 
3.  RETENTION:   The College will increase its semester retention rate from 81.9% to 83%. 
N/A 
4.  GRADUATION RATE: The College will increase its graduation rate from 62.9% to 64% by 2011. 
N/A 
5.  MOBILE LEARNING:   The College will continue  to embrace  the trend to mobile access by ensuring  that all 


licensed software can be downloaded to mobile devices and that new apps are created to facilitate mobile 
access, learning and service acquisition. 


N/A 
6.  ONLINE  COLLEGE:  The  College  will  expand  its  online  learning  offerings  through  hybrid  and  full  online 


modules by reviewing and adapting 20% of all courses and programs in each of the next five years. 
N/A 
7.  EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT:   The College will, through professional development, training, mentorship, and 


coaching,  prepare  its  employees  for  new ways  of  delivering  education  and  training  and  for  leadership 
opportunities in the College. 


N/A 
8.  FINANCIAL  SUSTAINABILITY:    The  College  will  target  opportunities  for  increasing  revenue,  decreasing 


expenses  and  improving  overall  operating  margins  through  new  business  opportunities,  process 
automation, program and service efficiencies and productivity improvements. 


FINANCIAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES
Preparations are underway  for year‐end  financial statement audits of  the College and Foundation  in addition  to 
approximately 20 other program and cost audits.   The auditors are on site April 30th.   
 
9.  OTHER 
PHYSICAL RESOURCES: 
Algonquin Centre for Construction Excellence (ACCE): 
• Commissioning is ongoing.  Expected completion date is August 2012. 
• Deficiencies and minor outstanding issues are being addressed.  Expected completion date is June 2012. 
 
Perth Campus Renewal and Expansion 
• Deficiencies are being addressed.  Expected completion date for landscape is June 2012. 
• Commissioning is ongoing.  Expected completion date is August 2012. 
 
Pembroke Campus Relocation 
Despite delays  in  starting  the project, and  further delays  incurred  since  the  start,  the project  is on budget and 
scheduled for completion and occupancy by start of the academic year in September 2012.   
As of April 24, 2012: 
• Slab on grade is 95% complete. 
• The project is currently about 50% complete. 
• The number of workers on sight has increased to 80‐100, depending on the activities. 
• Major mechanical equipment  is to be delivered starting the 24th of April and continue for the balance of the 


week. 







    ADMINISTRATION 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


May 14, 2012 
Page 2 


 
• The site has had a major clean ‐up (2 days). This will help with productivity and safety. 
• Punch windows will be installed this week.  The glazing will go in when the wind subsides. 
• Drywall is progressing well. 
• The electrical rough‐in should be complete this week on all floors. (walls) 
• Spray foam insulation will begin this week on the exterior walls. 


 
Student Commons 
Despite  initial  delays  in  starting  the  project,  the  contractor  has  been  able  to  advance  the  project  in  a  timely 
manner.  The project is on budget and scheduled for completion and occupancy by the start of the academic year 
in September 2012. 
 
 As of April 24, 2012: 
• Substantial performance still on target for July 31, 2012. 
• Work plan is in place to expedite installation of exterior envelope. 
• Auditorium  structural,  seating,  and  various  ground  slab  portions  ongoing.    Additional  crews  and 


overtime/weekends work. 
•  Mechanical and electrical distribution is ongoing on third floor and theatre back‐of‐house. 
• Interior stud work substantially complete.  Boarding and taping is ongoing on all levels. 
• Atrium and 401 interior slabs to be complete by April 27, 2012. 
• Building link slab to Building D has been poured. 
• Bookstore demolition is substantially completed with under slab, electrical and plumbing rough‐ins started. 
• Starbucks design work is being completed and early coordination has started. 
Safety, Security and Emergency Management 
Colin  Bonang  and  Earl  Green  visited  Virginia  Tech  in  Blacksburg,  Virginia,  to  learn  from  their  experience  in 
Emergency Management. 
 
COLLEGE ANCILLARY SERVICES 
 
Ancillary  Services  finished  the  FY  ‘12  fiscal  period  with  mixed  results,  experiencing  a  number  of  challenges 
including the strike, construction, and a flood in Residence.  Revenues are on target for FY’13. 
 
Helena Ngou, Manager – Front  Line Services/Catering Coordinator  from Food Services, was presented with  the 
Chris Warburton Award of Excellence by the Students’ Association. 
 
The Card Services Office will be rolling out the new Staff ID card after the President’s BBQ on May 10th.   
College departments will be  contacted  and  an  appropriate  time will be determined  to ensure  all  staff have  an 
opportunity to receive a new card that is integrated with the One Card Program. 
 
The Residence has conducted  its year‐end survey and received a 78 % referral rate.   This represents an  increase 
from FY12 of 2 percentage points. 
 
The students who have been working on an accessible  locker prototype with the Parking Office, won 3rd place  in 
the OCE category at the recent Research and Development Showcase.  The Print Shop demonstrated their new 3D 
printer at  the event, eliciting  interest  from a number of College departments  including  the Animation program 
which has begun to use this service. 
 







    ADVANCEMENT 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


May 14, 2012 
Page 1 


1.   RECRUITMENT: The College will  increase the number of applications  for programs outside of the top sixty 
high demand programs by 10%. 


Recruitment Activities 
Presentations & Events to date: 


• September 37 ( 2010 – 45) 
• October 193 (2010 – 85) 
• November 126  (2010 – 105) 
• December 75  (2010 – 11) 
• January 72 (2011 – 14) 
• February 104 (2011 – 36) 
• March 141 (2011‐ 42) 
• April 90 (2011 – 28) 


 
Focus:   Beyond the ongoing presentations to universities, high schools and  in the adult market, the team’s focus 
for April was the Eastern Regional Panel (ERP) presentations to grade 11 students.  We presented alongside other 
colleges at 28 high schools as shown below: 
 


• Ottawa area – 6 schools 
• Cornwall area – 6 schools 
• Kingston / Belleville area – 8 schools 
• Peterborough area – 4 schools 
• Oshawa area – 4 schools 


 
Leads:  Year‐to‐date,  Recruitment  and  Marketing  have  generated  13,814  leads,  52.5%  were  generated  by 
Recruitment, 47.5% generated by Marketing.   
 
Spring Open House 
The first‐ever Saturday Open House was held at the Woodroffe Campus on Saturday, March 31st from 11:00 a.m. 
to 2:00 p.m.   he event was  targeted  towards current applicants, high school  seniors who have not yet applied, 
postsecondary students and graduates, mature students, parents, teachers, and guidance counsellors.  The agenda 
for the day offered a trade‐show style showcase of academic progTram areas and services, as well as ongoing tours 
and presentations. Both internal and external feedback was extremely positive.  Attendance is estimated at around 
1,000 participants. 
 
Recruitment Marketing Initiatives 
The recruitment campaign (digital and traditional tactics – final numbers for Jan 2‐March 30 campaign): generated 
over 23,000 visits to the website (7% over the traffic expectations) at an average cost of $2.62 per visit. 
 
Google Search and Display campaign  in March reached over 5 million searchers and generated 17,400 + visits to 
the Prospective Students site, as well as over 800 conversions.  


Advertising testing on YouTube in March engaged close to 6,000 viewers through our video ads and generated 525 
visits to the Prospective Students website as a result of that engagement. 
 
Media Relations 


 March 29 – The Orleans Star  reported on a documentary,  filmed by Algonquin  film production student 
Wasim Baobaid, being screened at the 2012 Wakefield International Film Festival.  


 April 2 – The Ottawa Citizen reported Project North donated a $10,000 bursary to Algonquin College to 
help Inuit children coming from Nunavut to study.  







    ADVANCEMENT 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


May 14, 2012 
Page 2 


 April 5 – The EMC Arnprior featured a story about Algonquin College’s new Pembroke Campus opening in 
September 2012.  


 April 5 – The EMC Perth  featured a story about  the Perth Museum’s digitization process, a partnership 
with Algonquin College and Perth and District Union Public Library.  


 April 7 – The Ottawa Citizen, CBC Ottawa, CNET News, and Yahoo News Canada  featured stories about 
Web  Alive,  an  online  training  tool  being  used  to  teach  future  police,  paramedics  and  firefighters  at 
Algonquin College.  


 April 14 – CBC Ottawa and Openfile reported the Olympic House, a fundraising construction project built 
with help from Algonquin College Perth students, sold for $285,000 and is funding an athlete’s trip to the 
London Games.  


 April  17  –  The  Ottawa  Citizen  reported  on  the  Algonquin  College  General  Arts  and  Science  student 
showcase.  


 April 20 – GMA News featured a story about a crash test dummy built by Algonquin College and Carleton 
University students.  


 April 20 – The Ottawa Citizen featured a story about the career of Pat Hilborn, Algonquin College Museum 
Studies graduate and Canada Museum of Science and Technology Museum employee. 


 April 20 – The Ottawa Citizen featured a story about reporter and Algonquin College journalism graduate 
Tony Lofaro receiving the Calabrese Community Achievement Award.  


 April 23 – The Ottawa Citizen profiled Algonquin College theatre teacher Donnie Laflamme.  
 April  26  –  The  Ottawa  Citizen  featured  Algonquin  College’s  horticulture  gardens  in  a  list  of  Ottawa 


gardens. 
 April 26 – The Ottawa Citizen published an  interview with Top Chef Canada contestant Curtis Luk, who 


talks about Algonquin graduate and fellow contestant Trevor Bird.  
2.  ENROLMENT:    The  College  will  find  unique  ways  to  create more  access  to  the  top  sixty  high  demand 


programs while also increasing enrolment in the middle ninety programs by 10%. 
N/A 
3.  RETENTION:   The College will increase its semester retention rate from 81.9% to 83%. 
N/A 
4.  GRADUATION RATE: The College will increase its graduation rate from 62.9% to 64% by 2011. 
N/A 
5.  MOBILE LEARNING:   The College will continue  to embrace  the trend to mobile access by ensuring  that all 


licensed software can be downloaded to mobile devices and that new apps are created to facilitate mobile 
access, learning and service acquisition. 


N/A 
6.  ONLINE  COLLEGE:  The  College  will  expand  its  online  learning  offerings  through  hybrid  and  full  online 


modules by reviewing and adapting 20% of all courses and programs in each of the next five years. 
N/A 


7.  EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT:   The College will, through professional development, training, mentorship, and 
coaching,  prepare  its  employees  for  new ways  of  delivering  education  and  training  and  for  leadership 
opportunities in the College. 


Twenty short WordPress training videos have been produced and posted to the Marketing website, furthering our 
efforts to create online training options for web administrators. 
8.  FINANCIAL  SUSTAINABILITY:    The  College  will  target  opportunities  for  increasing  revenue,  decreasing 


expenses  and  improving  overall  operating  margins  through  new  business  opportunities,  process 
automation, program and service efficiencies and productivity improvements. 


N/A 
 







    BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


May 14, 2012 
Page 1 


 
1.   RECRUITMENT: The College will  increase the number of applications  for programs outside of the top sixty 


high demand programs by 10%. 
International Education Centre (IEC) 
During  the month of April,  the  International Education Centre  (IEC) conducted  training and provided updates  to 
agents  in China as well as completed pathway presentations at partner schools JMI and SITC (China) to facilitate 
student transfers.  IEC staff met with representatives  from the Korea Research  Institute  for Vocational Education 
and Training to discuss a Korean overseas study program. Recruiters attended education  fairs and workshops  in 
India, United Kingdom, China, Saudi Arabia and Canada. Over six thousand  invitations to social media were sent 
out and the IEC hosted two Indian counselors from Edwise. 


The  Director  of  the  IEC  and  the Manager,  International  Partnerships  and  Programs  completed  a  project  and 
partnership  trip  to China. The Director and Manager visited existing partners:  JMI  (April 5, 2012); SITC  (April 6, 
2012);  Liaoning  Forestry  Technical  Vocational  College  (April  9,  2012)  and  explored    other  potential  corporate, 
college and recruitment partnerships. 


A Memorandum  of Understanding was  signed  between Algonquin College  and  the  Liaoning  Forestry  Technical 
Vocational College to deliver the Ontario College Diploma, Hospitality Management‐Hotel and Restaurant, Ontario 
College Diploma ‐ 2 yrs.  Program delivery is to begin in September 2013. 
 
The Language Institute 
The April 2012 enrolment for the Language Institute was as follows:  
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
Workforce and Personal Development (WPD) 
ACAP  is working with partners  LASI Worldskills and  la Cite Collegiale  to host  the 2012  Internationally Educated 
Professionals Conference in October 2012.  
  
The Personal Development Institute’s (PDI) enrolment statistics from April 1st  – April 25th , 2012 are as follows: 


• No. of registrations: 184 
• No. of courses offered: 12 
• No. of sections offered: 13 


 
PDI delivered a new luxury experience course entitled “Introduction to Molecular Gastronomy” with 6 clients. 


LANGUAGE INSTITUTE ENROLMENT  March / April


Program  Enrolment Number


ESL International (intake 2)  283 


ESL Canadian (intake 2)  167 


CE Winter (excluding ENL) 910 


Teaching English As A Second 
Language 


33 







    BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


May 14, 2012 
Page 2 


 
During the month of April, the Experienced Worker Centre served 175 clients. The International Biotech program 
has not yet been officially launched, but  57 people have already expressed interest in the program. 
 
PDI  continues  to work on  an online marketing  campaign with Prosar  to  increase  registrations  in  its  Spring  and 
Summer offerings.  A number of video testimonials with clients, instructors and management are being produced 
to be used in the campaign. Prosar designed a poster for PDI that will be distributed to the Ottawa Public Library 
network, City of Ottawa Community Centres and gyms and Loblaws stores throughout the city. An article on PDI’s 
course  Chivalrous  Swordhandling  was  published  in  the  CanCulture  magazine: 
http://www.canculture.com/2012/03/30/10044/. An Algonquin broadcasting  student produced  a  short  video of 
the Chivalrous Swordhandling course to be used in the online marketing campaign. 
2.  ENROLMENT:    The  College  will  find  unique  ways  to  create more  access  to  the  top  sixty  high  demand 


programs while also increasing enrolment in the middle ninety programs by 10%. 
International Education Centre (IEC) 
In cooperation with  the Career and Academic Access Centre,  the  IEC  sponsored    the development of MAT0021 
Mathematics: Functions and Managing Data.  The course will provide an Ontario Grade 12 U Math credit and allow 
domestic and International students to meet the math requirements for the Algonquin College Degree program. 
 
Algonquin College Corporate Training (ACCT) 
During the month of April, 336 employees from 35 private and public sector organizations completed ACCT open 
enrolment or client‐dedicated, customized workshops. 
 
Information, Institutional Research & Technology Services (IIRTS) 
From March 12th until April 1st, 879 Algonquin students participated in the HEQCO Work Integrated Learning (WIL) 
online survey conducted by Academica. Analysis and reporting for the Faculty survey conducted last year and the 
Student  survey  will  be  completed  during  the  Fall  semester.  This  initiative  supports  the  strategic  direction  to 
provide an experiential learning component in every program. 
 
IIRTS worked with  the  Registrar’s Office, OCAS  and  the Ministry  of  Colleges  and Universities  to  correct  issues 
encountered when students’ had submitted an erroneous Ontario Education Number (OEN). 
 
Workforce and Personal Development (WPD) 
ACAP  has  hired  researchers  to  determine  the  barriers  that  prevent  Aboriginal  people  from  entering  into  the 
paramedic field and Trades  industry and are  looking at the opportunities for growth  in these areas. A researcher 
has also been engaged to examine the College’s Service Excellence program and to determine the areas in which 
Aboriginal content and paradigms can be incorporated to support Aboriginal people’s inclusion at the College. 
3.  RETENTION:   The College will increase its semester retention rate from 81.9% to 83%. 
International Education Centre 
The results of the i‐Graduate.org Student Barometer Survey were presented to Algonquin College staff and faculty 
on April 12. 
 
Language Institute 
During the month of April, the Success Specialist provided 96 hours of assistance to students at risk. Discussions 
are underway  to determine  through  statistical  analysis,  the positive effect of  the  Success  Specialist on  student 
retention. A second analysis of the end‐of‐term course evaluations for the TESL hybrid courses is being conducted 
to help improve the delivery mode. 
 
Algonquin College Foundation 
In April, new endowments were established by: the Event Management Program Advisory Committee for students 



http://www.canculture.com/2012/03/30/10044/





    BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


May 14, 2012 
Page 3 


 
enrolled  in  the Event Management program,  the Telecom Hall of  Fame and an anonymous donor  for  students 
enrolled in telecom related programs and the Manotick Kiwanis Club for Algonquin College students who reside in 
Manotick.  
 
Bursaries  have  been  established  by:  the Wedding  Palace  Event  Company  for  students  enrolled  in  the  Event 
Management program, the Helen Stephens Memorial Bursary for students enrolled in the General Arts and Science 
program and the Geoff Mace Bursary which supports students enrolled in the School of Business (specific program 
affiliation is to be decided). 
 
Workforce and Personal Development (WPD) 
 First Generation  funding  has  been  secured  for  another  year  and will  support  a  student  success  specialist  for 
Aboriginal First Generation  students and an employment  coach  to  support  students who  lack a knowledge and 
understanding of the workplace. 
4.  GRADUATION RATE: The College will increase its graduation rate from 62.9% to 64% by 2011. 
Information, Institutional Research & Technology Services (IIRTS)
Detailed KPI results were received in early April from the MTCU after college‐level capstone results were posted on 
the Colleges Ontario web‐site. Compared to last year, Algonquin’s results improved in four of the five KPI metrics. 
The KPI metrics that have improved results include: Student Satisfaction, Graduate Employment, Graduate 
Satisfaction and Graduation Rate. The greatest improvement was in Graduation Rate with an increase to 64.2% 
achieving the target.  
 
The Multi‐Year Accountability Agreement Report‐Back (MYAA) was approved by the MTCU without further 
revisions required and the GPOG Hold‐Back of $3 M was released to the College as of March 31, 2012. 
5.  MOBILE LEARNING:   The College will continue  to embrace  the trend to mobile access by ensuring  that all 


licensed software can be downloaded to mobile devices and that new apps are created to facilitate mobile 
access, learning and service acquisition. 


Information, Institutional Research & Technology Services (IIRTS)
IIRTS has  implemented a new  functionality on ACSIS that allows more students to see their progress against the 
program of study in which they are enrolled.  
 
Technology  projects  (wireless  security  and  core  network  access  to  the  internet)  that  are  required  for  the  Fall 
student intake have been pre‐approved for capital investment to ensure maximum use of the summer slowdown 
in network and infrastructure demand. 
 
Classroom technologies  installed to support mandatory  laptop program (MLP) teaching have been reviewed. The 
standard configuration (technology), manifest (base cost for a new room) and general budget (number of rooms x 
base cost) have been completed.  With the help of Learning and Teaching Services and Physical Resources, specific 
classrooms and inventories are being identified and the macro work plan is being prepared for redevelopment and 
commissioning throughout the summer. 
6.  ONLINE  COLLEGE:  The  College  will  expand  its  online  learning  offerings  through  hybrid  and  full  online 


modules by reviewing and adapting 20% of all courses and programs in each of the next five years. 
Language Institute 
The hybrid  component of  the  FSL  Level 7 was  completed and  launched on April 30.   New products offered by 
Pearson Longman are being examined to assist in finding an online solution for ESL delivery.    
An online placement test solution for FSL and ESL is being investigated to replace the current paper‐based tests. 
 
Algonquin College Corporate Training (ACCT) 
ACCT, in collaboration with School of Advanced Technology, is developing six (6) new online course offerings for a 







    BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


May 14, 2012 
Page 4 


 
select  group  of  approx  100‐120  Canadian  Forces  (CF)  members (current  and  former)  who  have  completed 
Geomatics  Technician Qualification  Level  5A  (Geo  Tech QL5A)  training  program  through  the  CF.    The  courses, 
ranging  from  9‐45  hours  in  duration,  include:    Essential  Mathematics,  GIS  Natural  and  Human  Geography, 
Geoprocessing, Web Design and Publishing, and two GIS Application Project courses.  
 
ACCT developed a custom online group registration system, integrated with ACCT’s Salesforce CRM,  that enables 
ACCT’s clients to have employees register via the web for customized training workshops and programs. This new 
online service simplifies the process for a client to register, record, and track employee participation in training and 
creates increased operating efficiencies. 
 
Information, Institutional Research & Technology Services (IIRTS) 
Technology projects (storage, blackboard, system monitoring, classroom monitoring) required for the Fall student 
intake  have  been  pre‐approved  for  capital  investment  to  ensure maximum  use  of  the  summer  slowdown  in 
network and infrastructure demand. 
 
The administration systems of the Blackboard learning management system (LMS) have been upgraded to 64‐bit in 
advance of the summer period where all production servers will be upgraded to 64‐bit with expanded resources 
(memory and processor capacity).   For  the Fall  term,  IIRTS will be  running Blackboard service pack 8 which has 
significant UI enhancements; this upgrade  is presently  in staging being reviewed by BBHelp and IIRTS and will be 
offered to interested summer faculty for early adopter use. 
7.  EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT:   The College will, through professional development, training, mentorship, and 


coaching,  prepare  its  employees  for  new ways  of  delivering  education  and  training  and  for  leadership 
opportunities in the College. 


International Education Centre (IEC) 
Two professors  from  the Language  Institute  traveled  to  JEC PT  (Jazen, Saudi Arabia) to complete ESL placement 
and exit tests and to provide curriculum consulting services for the Preparatory Year Program at JEC PT. 
 
Workforce and Personal Development (WPD) 
PDI  staff  received  a  briefing  from Ottawa  Kiosk  on  the  use  of  their  services  since  the  entire  PDI  catalogue  is 
currently listed and promoted on the website. The Manager of Workforce Development and Community Outreach 
attended  several  events  to  promote  WPD  services.  These  events  involved  the  following  organizations:  Hire 
Immigrants Ottawa, Canadian  Immigrant  Integration Program Conference, University of Ottawa and  the Chinese 
Community Immigrant Services. The Director attended and presented at a Conference Board of Canada workshop. 
8.  FINANCIAL  SUSTAINABILITY:    The  College will  target  opportunities  for  increasing  revenue,  decreasing 


expenses  and  improving  overall  operating  margins  through  new  business  opportunities,  process 
automation, program and service efficiencies and productivity improvements. 


International Education Centre (IEC) 
A contract has been  signed by Algonquin College and AKALA Education Services  for  the delivery of a  two week 
customized  professional  development  teacher  training  program  for  visiting  professors  from  Rajamangala 
University of Technology, Krungthep, Thailand. The training program was developed to promote sustainability  in 
the industries of: construction, interior design, home decorating and fashion.  
 
Language Institute 
The first IELTS tests have been scheduled for May 12. Since September 2011, the percentage of photocopies has 
been reduced by 31%.  Additional savings resulting from this reduction are: less toner and fewer replacements of 
broken machine parts.     
 
Standardization of the appearance of Blackboard and the developmental shells for every course  in TESL, ESL and 







    BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


May 14, 2012 
Page 5 


 
FSL has been initiated.  
 
On April 30th, tracking of attendance for ESL courses using capabilities in Blackboard commenced. The tracking of 
attendance using Blackboard is already being utilized for TESL courses.  
 
Algonquin College Foundation 
To  date,  the  Constructing OUR  Future  Campaign  has  raised  $7,600,501.  The  Pembroke  Campaign  has  reached 
$1,932,755 and the Perth Campaign has reached $456,571. 
 
Applied Research and Innovation (ARI) 
Algonquin College’s 10th Annual Applied Research Day had the largest attendance in the history of the event with 
over  70  projects  displayed  and  the  participation  of  over  1200  people.    Thought‐provoking  presentations were 
made by Bruce Lazenby (President, Invest Ottawa) and Jason Flick (President, Flick Software and Youi Labs).   This 
year, 190 high school students from three high schools attended the event which provided them with a great view 
of the hands‐on approach of a college education. 
 
The  College  was  notified  that  it  was  successful  in  its  application  for  $750K  in  FedDev  Applied  Research  and 
Commercialization  Program  Extension  funding.    Once  agreements  with  FedDev  are  signed,  projects  will  be 
undertaken with 10‐18 SME partners.   Developing the proposal  led to the  initiation of potential applied research 
partnerships with  the Ottawa Hospital Research  Institute, University of Ottawa Heart  Institute and Queensway‐
Carleton Hospital, in addition to all SMEs. 
 
ARI submitted an application for a Health and Wellness Research Centre to the Natural Sciences and Engineering 
Research  Council  for  its  College  and  Community  Innovation  Program’s  Innovation  Enhancement  stream.    If 
approved,  the $2.3 million  from NSERC will be  leverage with a  similar amount of cash and  in‐kind  to  stimulate 
applied research in Medical Assistive and Analytical Devices. 
 
Algonquin College Corporate Training (ACCT) 
ACCT has secured $507,000 in revenue to date for 2012‐13. 
 
Information, Institutional Research & Technology Services (IIRTS) 
The CTC (Digital College) One‐Time Project submission for 2012‐13 was completed, reviewed and approved by PEC.  
Two significant changes in methodology from previous years were implemented: first, a shift from a general call to 
a workgroup developing the list resulted in tighter alignment of projects to business plan initiatives and second, a 
number  of  previously  disparate  technology‐based  project  planning  activities were  consolidated  under  a  single 
purview which greatly expanded the scope of the effort but ensured that consistency and interdependency of all 
projects based on technology were managed and integrity of systems was a focus. 
 
IIRTS  completed  the  assessment  of  11  services  through  the  SPSP  program.    In  addition,  extensive  technology, 
business  analysis  and  related  support  was  provided  to  SPSP  program  and  users  of  the  resultant  process(es) 
through  the  data  gathering  and  assessment  cycles  and  the  provision  of  one  senior  staff member  by  IIRTS  to 
participate in the aggregation and analysis work cycle.  
 
IIRTS, working closely with the Registrar’s Office, expanded the Student Graduate Audit process within the Student 
Information System to include: simple elective graduation validation, General Education validation and the 3 year 
Business Programs. The new graduate validation processes will be used in the Winter 2012 graduate audit, which 
will significantly reduce the manual audit process employed by the Registrar’s Office. 
 







    BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


May 14, 2012 
Page 6 


 
IIRTS worked with  the Registrar’s Office and OCAS  to  resolve an  issue where OCAS has been  sending  incorrect 
information related to “First Generation” students. OCAS was sending the answer to the question “Have either of 
your parents/guardians attended a university or college?” rather than if they were “first generation: or not”. IIRTS 
is now working on cleaning up the historical information that the College has been sent. 
 
IIRTS helped to ensure the success of the Student Association and Board of Governors online election systems and 
implemented new  functionality on  the Human Resource Applicant  job posting application which allow  for more 
automated messaging  and  reporting.  IIRTS  also  identified  and  resolved  significant performance  issues with  the 
Centre for Students with a Disability (CSD) Clockworks application. 
 
An  ITS Project Management Office (PMO) has been established to define and  implement a Project Management 
Framework  and  standards  that will  improve  the planning, execution,  and monitoring  and  control of  the Digital 
College project portfolio. Accomplishments for the month of April include:  


• establishment of an ITS Project Portfolio Dashboard;  
• initiation of a communication/reporting model  for  ITS Service Managers and  ITS Project Managers  into 


the Project Portfolio Dashboard;  
• F12‐13 Q1/Q2 High Level Work Plan established;  
• Risk Management process initiated for communicating and managing portfolio risks;  
• Project Management  Framework  (PMF)  roll‐out  activities  initiated,  including  the  identification  of  pilot 


projects, development of training material, and initial communication of PMF templates; 
• Definitions established to differentiate project work from operational work; and  
• Plans underway  to move  the management and reporting of operational work  into Service Desk Express 


(SDE). 
 
Workforce and Personal Development (WPD) 
The  Personal Development  Institute’s  (PDI)  earned  revenue  for April  totaled  $  42,829.     Development  of  new 
curriculum is being finalized in the following areas: 


• Arts & Culture 
• Automotive / Transportation 
• Career Planning 
• Entrepreneurship 
• Environment 
• Healthy Living 
• Life Renewal 
• Media and Technology 
• Personal Development and Growth 
• Public Safety and Security  


 
Partnerships are being developed with  two major employers and a  recreational group  in  the Ottawa Region. A 
potential second site for the motorcycle courses has been identified at the Aviation Museum and initial meetings 
have been held with all parties  involved. The anticipated  launch of the new motorcycles courses at the museum 
will be in Spring 2013. 
 
Funding for Second Career for 2011‐12 has been confirmed for $1.9 M.  2012‐13 funding has been confirmed for 
the Labour Market  Information Project  ($200 K), First Generation  initiatives  ($541K) and  the Keeping  It Current 
Program ($ 800K).   
 







    HUMAN RESOURCES 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


May 14, 2012 
    Page 1   


1.   RECRUITMENT: The College will  increase the number of applications  for programs outside of the 
top sixty high demand programs by 10%. 


N/A 
2.  ENROLMENT:    The  College will  find  unique ways  to  create more  access  to  the  top  sixty  high 


demand programs while also increasing enrolment in the middle ninety programs by 10%. 
N/A 
3.  RETENTION:   The College will increase its semester retention rate from 81.9% to 83%. 
N/A 
4.  GRADUATION RATE: The College will increase its graduation rate from 62.9% to 64% by 2011. 
N/A 
5.  MOBILE LEARNING:  The College will continue to embrace the trend to mobile access by ensuring 


that all licensed software can be downloaded to mobile devices and that new apps are created to 
facilitate mobile access, learning and service acquisition. 


 COL  is  promoting  faculty  continuous  professional  learning  in  all  CIS  activities.  In‐house  PD  is 
provided  for  the CIS  team on  the power of using conceptual  frameworks  to plan,  implement, 
and evaluate the effectiveness of CIS support  


 Customized PD planned for May‐June includes Curriculum Mapping for SAT/ACCE coordinators,   
Architecture/Civil faculty – 2 sessions (MLP planning, and program‐level curriculum mapping), 


 Support being provided to SAT & ACCE for their Aug. 24th School Day 
 Smart Board and Smart Podium installed in C134. PD plans for PTT orientation facilitator’s use of 


these technologies during the April‐May PT Faculty orientation sessions.  
 COL  is  liaising  with  publishers  and  vendors  (e.g.,  Routledge  and  Lynda.com)  about  learning 


needs of faculty  (pedagogy, educational technology) 
6.  ONLINE  COLLEGE:  The  College will  expand  its  online  learning  offerings  through  hybrid  and  full 


online modules by  reviewing and adapting 20% of all courses and programs  in each of  the next 
five years. 


Orientation Tutorial for new Administrators: 
The design and development of an online orientation tutorial for new administrators will be completed 
by May 31. 
 
Eight digital videos were completed in Camtasia Relay and will be placed on the HR website, accessible 
to employees.    The  topics  include Academic Professional Development  Leave, Annual  Increments  for 
Academic  Staff,  Administrative  and  Support  Staff  Reduced Workload,  Academic  Reduced Workload, 
Know Your Benefits, Retirement Planning, Retirement Benefits and WSIB Reporting Policies.   
7.  EMPLOYEE  DEVELOPMENT:    The  College  will,  through  professional  development,  training, 


mentorship,  and  coaching,  prepare  its  employees  for  new  ways  of  delivering  education  and 
training and for leadership opportunities in the College. 


New Hires Orientation & Support Staff (SS) Mentoring Program  
Hosting of New Hires to Algonquin College 
COL Hosted a College New Hires Orientation session consisting of seven new hires   
Support Staff Mentoring Program 
Three  Support  Staff mentors  and mentees  were  partnered  as  part  of  the  Support  Staff Mentoring 
program.  Survey  feedback  being  assembled  for  the  information  of mentors, mentees  and  program 
improvements. 







    HUMAN RESOURCES 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


May 14, 2012 
    Page 2   


 
Part‐Time Faculty Orientation 
Held from April 21‐May12 targeting Part‐time Faculty teaching in Spring 2012. 
 
Kaleidoscope 2012 (May 7‐9) 
This year’s theme of “Getting Connected” will feature the College’s move towards digital, mobile, global, 
international, and collaborative learning.  Registration closes April 30. 
 
May/June Professional Development (PD)  
Faculty 


 Using results of the faculty PD survey (approximately 400 replies from FT and PT faculty) to plan 
the May‐June 4‐week PD program using 5 organizers: program/course design,  implementation, 
engagement, evaluation, and educational technology  


 Planning for the 4‐week May‐June PD program  is underway. Facilitators will hail from COL, LTS 
(CIS, Ed Tech team, BB Support, LRC, Innovation), CSD, ITS, and cross‐college faculty. Deliberate 
repetition  of  Kaleidoscope  sessions  in  the  PD  program  to  make  connections  between  the 
conference and PD as part of the COL’s SPSP plan (e.g., Low‐Tech Engagement in the Classroom, 
Online Course Development, Flipped Classroom, Diversity) 


 
Staff 


 June  program  planning  underway  with  “draft”  themes  including  “Connected  through 
Technology”;    Diversity  through  Accessibility  &  Generations”;    “Career  Development”;  and 
“Employee Wellness”. 


 
TALL Program 
We will have 8 graduates  from TALL  this semester.   Three TALL courses beginning  in May – TTA5504, 
Assessment and Evaluation, TTA 5505 Professional Standards and   TTA 5509 Presentation Skills  (being 
delivered in Pembroke) 
 
Performance Institute – Six graduates from the Performance Institute in 12W. 
 
ALEI Program  
Leadership I 
 Sixteen graduates from the Winter 2012 offering.  Level 1 will be offered in May/June. 
Leadership II 
 Winter 2012 cohort of sixteen completing in early April. Presentations scheduled for June 26. 
Leadership III  
Presentations will be brought to PEC on Wednesday, May 2nd.   
 
Service Excellence 
Winter intake of the 24 participates will be completed April 26.    
 
 Employee Engagement Initiatives   
Live Laugh Learn (LLL) Employee E‐Magazine 







    HUMAN RESOURCES 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


May 14, 2012 
    Page 3   


Survey of Interest from Algonquin community was good.   April, 2012 meeting will serve to review roles 
and responsibilities of expanded Editorial team and to plan ahead for future contributions and editions.  
 
Eastern Region CCHRD Activities 
Eastern Region CCHRD 
Strategic planning for the development and delivery of programs is underway and a new strategic plan 
for 2012‐2016 will be in place in Fall 2012.  
Focus on Learning 2 (June 4‐6) 
All FT faculty from Algonquin are returning. 
Celebrating Great Teaching (May 14‐16) 
Fifteen faculty from Algonquin are confirmed to attend. 
Focus on Learning 1(August 13‐17) 
Planning almost complete, registration is live 
Faculty Cyber Connections 
There are 3 FCC sessions scheduled to run in May/June 
Eastern Region Support Staff “Getting Connected” Conference 
Support  Staff  “Getting  Connected”  Conference  –  2012  Theme  confirmed  as:    “Student  Success  in  a 
Changing Learning Environment “.   
 
Brokered Professional Development 
Assisting  a  variety  of  areas  with  their  spring  PD  initiatives  (Safety  &  Security,  Academic  Advising, 
Counseling Services, Purchasing and HR). 
 
Faculty Performance Review 
COL began planning work in March for a performance review process for faculty. 
 
Compensation, Pension & Benefits 
Two employees attended map questing to support  this year’s business re‐engineering project and the 
WSIB Occupational Health and Safety update offered by Emond Harnden. 
 
AODA Office 
The AODA Advisor attended Leading Through Change Management and Dealing with Difficult Behaviors, 
provided by Shepgell.fgi 
 
AODA Advisor hosted 3 accessibility training courses for the college; Procuring Accessible Goods,  
How to Create Accessible Documents and Accessibility and Organizational Change. 
 
Succession Planning 
A talent assessment meeting has been completed at PEC on those participants  in the Phase one group 
for  the  succession planning process.   A pilot process  for  the Mentorship program has been  launched 
with  a  group  of  10 members  out  of  the  original  group  of  80.    Communication  to  all  participants  is 
underway. 
 
 







    HUMAN RESOURCES 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


May 14, 2012 
    Page 4   


8.  FINANCIAL  SUSTAINABILITY:    The  College  will  target  opportunities  for  increasing  revenue, 
decreasing  expenses  and  improving  overall  operating  margins  through  new  business 
opportunities,  process  automation,  program  and  service  efficiencies  and  productivity 
improvements. 


Compensation, Pension & Benefits 
HR continues  to monitor  the Colleges vacation  liability.   As of March 31, 2012 the vacation days have 
been reduced by over 2000 days. 
 
Organizational Effectiveness 
Electronic SWF submission was done for the 2012 Spring Semester with a total of 75 SWF’s being issued 
for the Spring Semester. 
 
HR Web 
During  the one month period ending April 23, 2012, a  total of 29,106 visits were recorded  for  the HR 
website.  A  total  of  8889  (30.53%) were  new  visits while  20,  217(69.46%) were  returning  Visits.  The 
number of unique visitors (people) stands at 13,198. 
 
HRIS and Other HR technology 
The quarterly user  security  audit has  commenced  this April. All HRIS user  accounts College‐wide  are 
being  audited  to  ensure  staff  has  the  appropriate  levels  of  access  and  that  the  internal  control 
safeguards are maintained and effective.  
 
The  system  set  up  and  test  run  of  the  2012/2013  goal  setting  process  has  been  completed  in  the 
Halogen talent management system. The College’s business plan for 2012/13 and the strategic Plan for 
2012‐2017 have been imported into the system to support the performance management process. The 
process has since been launched to the Administrative Staff. 
 







    STUDENT SERVICES 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


May 14, 2012 
Page 1 


 
1.   RECRUITMENT: The College will  increase the number of applications  for programs outside of the top sixty 


high demand programs by 10%. 
REGISTRAR’S OFFICE 
Fall 2012 – Offers of Admission and Confirmations 
Offers of Admission  for  the 2012 Fall Term were distributed  to all eligible applicants who applied  to Algonquin 
College programs by the February 1, 2012 equal consideration date.  Offers for highly competitive programs were 
distributed in early March 2012, on the receipt of grades and following the ranking of files.  Offers which involved 
the ranking of Health Occupation Aptitude  (HOAE) exam results were extended ahead of schedule and previous 
year timelines.   
 
Admissions processing continues as applications are received from the Ontario Colleges Application System (OCAS) 
and applicant confirmation letters are currently being extended to those students who have accepted Algonquin’s 
offer of admission. 
2.  ENROLMENT:    The  College  will  find  unique  ways  to  create more  access  to  the  top  sixty  high  demand 


programs while also increasing enrolment in the middle ninety programs by 10%. 
REGISTRAR’S OFFICE 
 
Registration Statistics 
Full‐time Registration in Post‐Secondary/Post‐Diploma Programs 
For  the  2012 Winter  Term,  as  of April  20,  2012,  the  net  registered  students  numbered  14,395  or  97%  of  the 
projected enrolment.  
 
The breakdown of the 14,395 registered as of April 20, is as follows: 


Faculty/School 


 


Approved Projected  Net Registered 


Entry Level Returning Entry Level  Returning


School of Business  420  2,852  335  2,779 


School of Hospitality & Tourism  327  971  283  940 


Faculty of Arts & Media Design  239  2,992  186  2,842 


Faculty of Technology and Trades  443  2,312  411  2,382 


Faculty  of  Health,  Public 
Safety/Community Studies 


263  3,002  291  2,934 


International  &  Corporate  Business 
Development 


0  28  0  31 


Centre for Continuing & Online Learning  85  69  91  116 


Algonquin College Heritage Institute  0  277  0  233 







    STUDENT SERVICES 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


May 14, 2012 
Page 2 


 


Algonquin College in the Ottawa Valley  0  557  19  522 


College Totals  1,777  13,060  1,616  12,779 


 
Continuing Education Registrations 
For the 2012 Winter Term as of April 20, 2012, registrations stood at 12,965 as compared to 12,668 at the same 
time last year.  The term registrations to April 20, 2012 represent 108.6% of the projected enrolment.   
 
For the 2012 Spring Term as of April 27, 2012, registrations stood at 5,727 as compared to 2,809 at the same time 
last year.  The term registrations to April 27, 2012 represent 55.7% of the projected enrolment.  It should be noted 
that the 2012 Spring Term projections have increased to 10, 274 compared to the 2011 Spring Term projection of 
3,829.  Registration continues throughout the term.  
 
Admissions Statistics  
2012 Spring Term 
As of April 23, 2012, OCAS statistics  for  the 2012 Spring Term  indicate  that,  for College Choices  (i.e. number of 
individual  applicants  to Algonquin College), our Non‐Secondary  School  applicants  are  up  35.8%  from  last  year, 
Secondary School applicants are up 19.4%, with an overall  increase  in applicants of 30.9%.   Province wide,  the 
variances are 10.4%, 24.0% and 13.7% respectively. 
 
As of April 23, 2012, for Program Choices (applicants are allowed a maximum of 5 program choices, with up to 3 at 
any one College), our Non‐Secondary School applicants are up 37.3% from last year, Secondary School applicants 
are up 23.5%, and overall we show an increase of 33.3%.  Province wide, the respective variances are 8.3%, 24.5% 
and 12.2% respectively. 
 
As of April 23, 2012,  for Confirmations, our Non‐Secondary  School  confirmations  are up 90.5%  from  last  year, 
Secondary  School  confirmations  are  19.2%,  and  overall,  we  show  an  increase  of  69.7%.    Province  wide,  the 
respective variances are 16.6%, 22.1% and 17.7% respectively. 
 
2012 Fall Term 
As  of April  23,  2012, OCAS  statistics  for  the  2012  Fall  Term  indicate  that,  for  College  Choices  (i.e.  number  of 
individual  applicants  to  Algonquin  College),  our  Non‐Secondary  School  applicants  are  up  0.5%  from  last  year, 
Secondary School applicants are down ‐1.5%, with an overall decrease in applicants of ‐0.5%.   Province wide, the 
variances are ‐4.0%, ‐4.5% and ‐4.2% respectively. 
 
As of April 23, 2012, for Program Choices (applicants are allowed a maximum of 5 program choices, with up to 3 at 
any  one  College),  our  Non‐Secondary  School  applicants  are  down  ‐2.2%  from  last  year,  Secondary  School 
applicants are down ‐2.9%, and overall we show an decrease of ‐2.5%.  Province wide, the respective variances are 
‐6.0%, ‐6.0% and ‐6.0% respectively. 
 
As  of  April  23,  2012,  for  Confirmations,  our Non‐Secondary  School  confirmations  are  up  6.8%  from  last  year, 
Secondary  School  confirmations  are  up  6.7%,  and  overall, we  show  an  increase  of  6.8%.    Province wide,  the 
respective variances are 4.5%, ‐0.5% and 2.2% respectively. 
 
STUDENT SUPPORT SERVICES 
 
Counselling Services 
In  March,  2012,  the  Academic  and  Career  Information  Specialist  from  Counselling  Services  met  with  166 







    STUDENT SERVICES 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


May 14, 2012 
Page 3 


 
prospective students for a 30 minute information session to address questions and concerns regarding selecting a 
program and applying to Algonquin College.  This represents an increase of 110% from the 79 prospective students 
who met with a counsellor in the same month last year.  
3.  RETENTION:   The College will increase its semester retention rate from 81.9% to 83%. 
REGISTRAR’S OFFICE 
 
2012 Ontario Budget 
In  January  2012,  the  government  announced  the  creation  of  the  new Ontario  Tuition Grant  (OTG).  The  2012 
budget has reaffirmed the government’s commitment to continue this program.  
 
Currently,  the  OTG  grant  provides  up  to  $800  per  term  for  a maximum  of  two  terms  per  year  for  full‐time 
undergraduate university or college degree students and up  to $365 per  term  for a maximum of  two  terms  for 
students  enrolled  in  college  diploma  or  certificate  programs  at  publicly  funded  Ontario  institutions.  Moving 
forward, the grant will be indexed to the annual increase in college and university tuition, beginning in the 2012–
2013 year.  
 
Provision of the Ontario Tuition grant is being offset by reducing funding to non‐core programs. Beginning in 2012–
2013, the Ontario Textbook and Technology Grant and Ontario Trust for Student Support will be eliminated, while 
the Queen Elizabeth  II Aiming  for  the Top Scholarship will be phased‐out gradually over  three years so  that any 
student  currently  receiving  this  award will  not  lose  funding.  Effective  2012‐2013,  there will  be  no  new Queen 
Elizabeth II scholarships will be awarded. 
 
STUDENT SUPPORT SERVICES 
 
Student Employment Services 
Student  Employment  Services  hosted  a  booth  at  the  College’s  Applied  Research  Day  on  April  13,  to  provide 
information to current and prospective students.  During this event, the Employment Outreach Officer spoke to 30 
students, 10 exhibitors, and over 20 other members of the College community. 
 
Two  Employment Officers,  facilitated  an  interactive workshop  at  the  Employability  Skills  Camp,  hosted  by  the 
Strategic Partnerships department.   The officers met with approximately 40 at‐risk teens to provide employment 
coaching/mentoring,  and  to  promote  the  College  as  a  possible  consideration  after  high  school  (and  support 
services available). 
 
The  Student  Employment  Services  Drop‐In  Service  served  176  students  during  the  mid‐March  to  mid‐April 
timeframe.   The majority  of  clients  needed  their  employment  documents  to  be  critiqued  but  some were  also 
looking  for  job search coaching.  The service was relocated  to the C Building second  floor desk  (just outside  the 
LRC) area until March 31.     This  location provides  the space required  for our Peer Reviewer staff, as well as  the 
Student Employment Services Employment Officers, to provide the Just‐in‐time service.  
 
The Aboriginal Student Education to Employment (DevelopMENTOR) Pilot Program came to a close on March 31.  
The program  reports a 70%  success  rate of Aboriginal  students  successfully completing  the program.   With  the 
extension of  the program  for another year, planning  for  student engagement  commenced  focusing on  summer 
work opportunities and  résumés of seven Aboriginal students  registered within  the program were submitted  to 
the City of Ottawa – Summer Employment Program. 


 
Student Affairs and Orientation 
The Student Affairs and Orientation Office interviewed 65 potential candidates for the Student Leader positions for 
the 2012‐2013 Academic year.  55 positions were filled for the 2012 Fall Term Orientation.   
 
The Students’ Association and Student Affairs and Orientation partnered to host the 15th annual “Celebration of 







    STUDENT SERVICES 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


May 14, 2012 
Page 4 


 
Cultures”. This event hosts embassies  representing countries  from all over  the world  to  the College, and allows 
students to explore different cultures and see unique entertainment. Approximately 400 students passed through 
the culture bazaar visiting over 20 embassies.  
 
On March 30, Student Affairs and Orientation, the Students’ Association, and Residence Life hosted the first ever 
Student Appreciation Gala at Lago’s Bar and Grill on Dow’s Lake.   Recipients were nominated by  their peers or 
faculty,  and  selected  for  their  outstanding  achievement  in  the  areas  of  student  leadership,  volunteerism,  and 
academic excellence (not grades but involvement in program).  The event programming included transportation to 
and from the venue,  live food stations, a DJ,  interactive photo booth and an awards show. 71 students attended 
the Gala.   Each nominee  received a  certificate  signed by  the College President and  the Vice President, Student 
Services. The 12 award recipients also received a plaque in recognition of their accomplishments.   
 
Counselling Services 
During the month of March, Counselling Services completed 416 one‐on‐one counselling sessions with registered 
students.  Counselling Services reception received 347 requests for appointments from students, and was able to 
provide an appointment within three days for all but 65 (19%) of those requests. 
 
Mamidosewin Centre 
The Mamidosewin  Centre welcomed  an  average  of  33  student  visits  per  day  during  the month  of March.    A 
number of events were organized, including:  


• A screening of the Aboriginal Documentary, “Children of the Plains”; 
• Celebration of Inuit Culture including a throat singing performance; 
• Guest Speaker Ray Hatfield on “The Real Aboriginal Work Ethic”; 
• Dream Catcher craft session. 


 
Health Services 
Last month, the volume of Health Services visits was 3,759.  Of those 1,064, or 28% were to see a physician. 
 
Residence Life 
On April 15, the Residence featured, The 2nd Annual “Gonquies”. This annual event is to recognize and give back to 
the students  in Residence.   Section and student awards are presented, as voted by the students  in the building.  
Musical entertainment was  featured by  the Resident  students.   Residence Life provides  food and prizes  for  the 
students in attendance and presents a golden letter “G” to all its recipients.  The Students’ Association provided an 
acoustic band for musical entertainment to open the evening.   It was a full house with well over 120 students  in 
attendance. 
 
Also on April 15, the Residence Orientation Leader Campaign was held to begin recruiting for Residence Move‐in 
and Orientation Leaders. Traditionally recruitment does not begin until the summer; however, this year the event 
was held earlier in the hopes of reaching a larger market of returning students who wish to gain more leadership 
experience.  Students applied for the positions through the Residence Life office. This is an ongoing initiative and is 
a poster and banner campaign coupled with promotion booths in the Residence. 
 
Office of the Director 
On  March  30,  Student  Support  Services  Management  staff,  including  the  Director;  Manager  of  Business 
Operations; A/Manager, Centre for Students with Disabilities; Manager, Student Activities and Career Services; and 
Manager, Counselling and Assessment Services attended a meeting and site visit at Mohawk College, to discuss its 
one‐stop  service  delivery model  as well  as  logistics,  challenges,  and  the  opportunities  of moving  into  a  new 
Student Commons Building. 
4.  GRADUATION RATE: The College will increase its graduation rate from 62.9% to 64% by 2011. 
STUDENT SUPPORT SERVICES 
 







    STUDENT SERVICES 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


May 14, 2012 
Page 5 


 
Centre for Students with Disabilities 
The CSD recognized an increase of 18% in final exams coordinated through the CSD Test Room during the month of 
April.   
 
Peer Tutoring 
Peer Tutoring scheduled 1,614  tutoring  sessions  in March.   This  represents a 13%  increase  in  sessions over  the 
same period in 2011.  During the month of March, 16 new Peer Tutors were trained to bring the total number of 
active tutors to 115.  
 
Jeff Agate, Manager, Counselling and Assessment Services facilitated the first Peer Tutor Appreciation Lunch and 
Focus Group, held on March 22.  Eight  tutors participated and provided  suggestions  for  improving  the policies, 
procedures and training for next year.   
 
On  March  26,  Jeff  Agate  and  Dan  Cuddy,  Student  Success  Specialist,  provided  an  informative  tour  to 
representatives  from Durham College’s Peer Tutoring area.     The tour  focused on the spaces that Algonquin has 
created which  promote  collaborative  group work  areas  and  spots  for  peer  tutoring  to  take  place.    The  tour 
included stops in the Learning Resource Centre, B Building, ACCE Building, and the Mobile Learning Centre. 
5.  MOBILE LEARNING:   The College will continue  to embrace  the trend to mobile access by ensuring  that all 


licensed software can be downloaded to mobile devices and that new apps are created to facilitate mobile 
access, learning and service acquisition. 


REGISTRAR’S OFFICE 
 
Registrar’s Office Website 
A new, updated and streamlined Registrar’s Office website was released for April, 2012. 
 
STUDENT SUPPORT SERVICES 
 
Centre for Students with Disabilities 
Jason Timms, Assistive Technologist,  attended  the WCAG 2.0  (Web Content Access Guidelines used  in Canada) 
training  sponsored  through  the  AODA  office  of  Algonquin.    This  two‐day workshop  introduced  the  principles, 
guidelines and success criteria to meet WCAG 2.0 standards and touched on “A” and “AA”  levels of compliance.  
(The College is currently single “A” compliant and will need to move to double “AA” compliance by January 2014).  
Four of  the most common  types of compliance  issues were covered with examples on how  to solve  the  issues.  
Attendees were also provided with additional resources for further information and solutions.  
6.  ONLINE  COLLEGE:  The  College  will  expand  its  online  learning  offerings  through  hybrid  and  full  online 


modules by reviewing and adapting 20% of all courses and programs in each of the next five years. 
STUDENT SUPPORT SERVICES 
 
Student Success Centre 
The Student Success Specialist attended a meeting with the Learning Resource Centre staff to share details about 
the Live Chat program, including its strengths and weaknesses as well as to provide input on the new purchase of 
the LiveHelpNow software. 
 
Student Employment Services 
Optimal  Résumé’s  cumulative  hits  to  date  reflect  8,057  (an  increase  of  400  from  last month)  with  the  total 
accounts created at 593 (February) an increase of 30 from the previous month. 
 
MyCareerZone, the online job posting system and career solution reflected the following statistics for the period of 
March 15 to April 15:  


• Total number of logins: 8,129  







    STUDENT SERVICES 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


May 14, 2012 
Page 6 


 
• Total number of unique logins: 2,356  (students 2,085; alumni 0; employers 264; others 7) 
• Average number of times a user has logged in:  3 
• Total number of new employer accounts created: 253 
• Total number of job postings:  314  
• Total number of times job postings viewed:  15,647  
• Total number of unique job posting views:  12,791  


 
Centre for Students with Disabilities 


 day  long workshop entitled “How to Create Accessible Forms” with Eliquo Two employees  from CSD attended a
Training.   Ensuring  that all online  forms are accessible  to  students  is  imperative as  the College moves  towards 
more online learning modules. 
7.  EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT:   The College will, through professional development, training, mentorship, and 


coaching  prepare  its  employees  for  new  ways  of  delivering  education  and  training  and  for  leadership 
opportunities in the College. 


STU


tudent Employment Services 
Outreach Officer participated in a day‐long seminar entitled “Successful Volunteer 


tudent Affairs and Orientation 
 Orientation took part  in the 1st annual “Algonquin Relay for Life”  in support of 


esidence Life 
 Nethercote‐Devlin  commenced his  role as  the new Acting Residence  Life Coordinator  in  the 


DENT SUPPORT SERVICES 
 
S
On March 28, the Employment 
Engagement” to learn how to better engage volunteers of different generations.   
 
S
On March 23, Student Affairs and
the Canadian Cancer Association.  This was a great team building event and enhanced the office morale.  
 
R
On March 19,  Joel
Residence Life Department.  Joel brings significant educational experience to his new role having held various roles 
in Residence Services at Algonquin College, most recently as a full‐ time Customer Service Representative.  Prior to 
joining the Residence Life Team, Joel worked for the Ottawa Carleton District School Board. Joel holds a BA from 
the University of Guelph, a B Ed from Queens University in Intermediate/Senior division, and is also an Alumni of 
Algonquin’s Theatre Arts program. 
8.  FINANCIAL  SUSTAINABILITY:    The  College  will  target  opportunities  for  increasing  revenue,  decreasing 


expenses  and  improving  overall  operating  margins  through  new  business  opportunities,  process 
automation, program and service efficiencies and productivity improvements. 


REG


lgonquin College Tuition and Ancillary Fees 
 2012‐2013 Tuition and Ancillary  fees  schedules  to  the Algonquin 


TUDENT SUPPORT SERVICES 


est Centre 
tre collected revenues of $28,450 during the month of March, 2012.  This represents an 8% increase 


ISTRAR’S OFFICE 
 
A
On April 9, 2012,  the Registrar presented  the
College Board of Governors  for approval.   The  fees schedules were developed based on a  recent Ministry press 
release advising that Ontario was “extending, for one year, the cap of five percent on overall tuition fee increases.” 
 
S
 
T
The Test Cen
in revenue ($26,158) from the same period in 2011.  The total revenue for 2011‐2012 in the Test Centre ended at 
$290,966, a 23%  increase over the 2010‐2011 annual revenue and a 32%  increase over the projected revenue  in 
the 2010‐2011 budget. This  increase  in revenue  is  largely attributed to the addition of TSSA (Technical Standards 
and  Safety  Authority)  certification  testing  for  the  Heating,  Refrigeration,  and  Air  Conditioning  programs  (249 
administrations);  and  significant  increases  in  the  volume  of  MTCU  exemption  and  certification  testing  (802 
administrations, a 220% increase). 







    STUDENT SERVICES 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


May 14, 2012 
Page 7 


 
9.  Other 
VIC  PRESIDE ENT, STUDENT SERVICES 


lighted to host visitors from the Australian Catholic University which has six 


he  visit was  conducted  in  order  to  share  Algonquin  College  Best  Practices  in  the  areas  of  Business  Process 


EGISTRAR’S OFFICE 
the Manager,  Business  Process  Review,  the  Registrar’s Office  assisted  Algonquin  College 


TUDENT SUPPORT SERVICES 


entre for Students with Disabilities 
 for Students with Disabilities has been awarded the College Committee on 


ffice of the Director 
Management Team, Director, and Vice‐President, Student Services, hosted  the Town Hall 


On April 12, Algonquin College was de
campuses  across  3  states  and  one  territory  in  Australia.    Australian  Catholic  University  visitors  included  the 
Academic Registrar and the Research Project Manager for ACU’s Centre for Indigenous Education and Research.     
 
T
Improvement,  staff  training  for  service points,  the extent performance measures  are used,  as well  as Pathway 
Models.  Algonquin  participants  included  the  Vice  President,  Student  Services;  Algonquin  College  Registrar; 
Director,  Student  Support  Services;  Director, Workforce  and  Personal  Development;  Acting  Director,  Strategic 
Programs  and  Services Planning; Acting Dean, Academic Development; Manager, Business Process Review;  and 
Manager, Counselling and Assessment Services. 
 
R
In  collaboration with 
student teams in the e‐Business Supply Chain Management Program, “Lean” course projects.  On the completion 
of this program, students successfully presented their final submissions. 
 
S
 
C
Toni Connolly, Acting Manager, Centre
Disability  Issues  (CCDI)  Disability  Services  Award  of  Excellence.   Toni was  nominated  by  her  colleagues  at  the 
provincial  level  for  her  leadership,  advocacy  and  dedication  in  serving  students with  disabilities.    This  is well 
deserved recognition for Toni at the provincial level.   
 
O
On April 2 and 3,  the 
meetings for all of Student Support Services Staff.  The presentation was to provide information, awareness and to 
engage staff in the next phase of the developments and move to the new Student Commons Building.  A question 
and answer period was also featured.   
 





		Academic Management Report - May 14, 2012

		Administration Management Summary May 14, 2012

		Advancement Management Summary May 14, 2012

		Business Development Management Summary May 14, 2012

		HR Management Summary May 14, 2012

		Student Services Final Monthly Report May 2012



